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I. The names, titles, telephone numbers and email addresses of the Spokesperson and Deputy Spokesperson 

 

Spokesperson’s Name: Kun-Ming Wu. Title: Chief Financial Officer 

Deputy Spokesperson’s Name: Chung-Yen Wang Title: Executive Assistant of CEO 

TEL:(02) 2751-7878 Fax:(02) 2751-3939 

Email: Spokesperson – Larry.wu@topcocorp.com 

 Deputy Spokesperson – frank.wang@topcocorp.com 

 

II. Company and factory address and telephone: 

 

Company Address: 14F, No.102, Section 4, Civic Blvd., Taipei City 

TEL:(02) 2751-7878 Fax:(02) 2751-3939 

 

III. Name, address, telephone number and website link of the stock transfer agent: 

 

Name: Shareholders Service Dept., Taishin Securities Co., Limited 

Address: B1, No.96, Sec. 1, Jianguo N. Rd., Taipei City 

TEL:(02) 2504-8125 Fax:(02) 2515-4900 

Website: https://www.tssco.com.tw/stocktransfer 

 

IV. The CPA’s name and the accounting firm’s name, address, telephone number and website for the most recent 

annual financial report: 

 

Accounting firm’s name: KPMG 

CPA’s name: Kuan-Ying Kuo, Yu-Ting Hsin 

Address: 68F, No. 7, Section 5, Xinyi Road, Xinyi District, Taipei City 

TEL:(02) 8101-6666 Fax:(02) 8101-6667 

Website: https://www.kpmg.com.tw 

 

V. Name of any exchanges where the Company's securities are traded offshore, and the method by which to access 

information on said offshore securities: N/A 

 

VI. Company website: https://www.topcocorp.com 

https://www.tssco.com.tw/stocktransfer


3 

Table of Contents 
 

1. Letter to Shareholders ............................................................................................................................................ 5 

2. Company Profile ..................................................................................................................................................... 8 

2.1 Company profile..................................................................................................................................... 8 

3. Corporate Governance Report .............................................................................................................................. 9 

3.1 Organization: ............................................................................................................................................ 9 
3.2 Directors, supervisors, general managers, deputy general managers, associates, managers of various 

departments and branches: ................................................................................................................... 11 
3.3 Corporate governance operations: ........................................................................................................ 27 
3.4. Information on auditing fees : .............................................................................................................. 54 
3.5 Information on replacement of certified public accountants: ............................................................... 54 
3.6 Where the company’s chairperson, general manager, or any managerial officer in charge of finance or 

accounting matters has in the most recent year held a position at the accounting fi rm of its certifi ed 

public accountant or at an affiliated enterprise of such accounting fi rm, the name and position of the 

person, and the period during which the position was held, shall be disclosed. .................................. 55 
3.7. Equity transfer and equity pledge changes of directors, supervisors, managers and shareholders with 

a shareholding of more than 10% in the most recent year and up to the publication date of the annual 

report .................................................................................................................................................... 55 

    3.8. Relationship among TOPCO's Top Ten Shareholders…………………………………………………57 

3.9 The total number of shares and total equity stake held in any single enterprise by the Company, its 

directors and managers, and any companies controlled either directly or indirectly by the Company 58 

4. Capital Overview .................................................................................................................................................. 59 

4.1 Capital and shares: ............................................................................................................................... 59 
4.2 Issuance of corporate bonds: ................................................................................................................ 65 
4.3 Issuance of preferred shares: None. ..................................................................................................... 66 
4.4 Issuance of GDRs: None. ..................................................................................................................... 66 
4.5 Issuance of employee stock warrants: None. ....................................................................................... 66 
4.6 Issuance of new restricted employee shares: None. ............................................................................. 66 
4.7 Issuance of new shares upon any merger and acquisition with other companies: None. ..................... 66 
4.8  Implementation of fund utilization plan: .............................................................................................. 66 

5. Operational Highlight .................................................................................................................................... 67 
5.1 Business content: .................................................................................................................................. 67 
5.2 Marketing and production profile: ....................................................................................................... 72 
5.3 Basic information of employees:.......................................................................................................... 76 
5.4 Information of environmental protection expenditure: ........................................................................ 76 
5.5 Labor relations: .................................................................................................................................... 76 
5.6 The management of Information security ............................................................................................ 80 
5.7 Important contracts: ................................................................................................................................ 82 

6. Financial overview ................................................................................................................................................ 83 

6.1 Condensed financial information of the most recent five years: .......................................................... 83 
6.2 Financial analysis of the most recent five years: .................................................................................. 87 
6.3 Audit Committee’s Review Report for the Most Recent Year ............................................................. 91 
6.4 2022 Consolidated financial reports audited by CPA: ......................................................................... 92 
6.5 2022 Individual financial reports audited by CPA: .............................................................................. 92 
6.6 The impact on the Company’s financial status if there are any financial difficulties for the Company 

and its affiliates in the most recent year and up to the date of publication of the financial report shall 

be clarified: None. ................................................................................................................................ 92 



4 

7. Review, analysis and risk of the financial status and financial performance .................................................. 92 

7.1 Comparative analysis of financial conditions: ..................................................................................... 92 
7.2 Comparative analysis of financial performance: .................................................................................. 93 
7.3 Cash flow analysis: .............................................................................................................................. 93 
7.4 Impact of significant capital expenditures on financial and operational conditions for the most recent 

years: .................................................................................................................................................... 94 
7.5 The investment policy for the most recent year, the main reason for profit or loss, improvement plan 

and investment plan for the upcoming year: ........................................................................................ 94 
7.6 Analysis and assessment of risk for the most recent year up to the printed date of the annual report: 95 
7.7 Other important matters: None. ............................................................................................................ 97 

8. Special Disclosures ................................................................................................................................................ 98 

8.1 Information of affiliates: ...................................................................................................................... 98 
8.2 For the private equity securities managing status in the most recent year and as of the publication 

date of the annual report: No such issues happened. .......................................................................... 101 
8.3 Holding or disposal of shares in the Company by the Company's subsidiaries in the most recent year 

and until the date of publication of the annual report: No such issues happened. ............................. 101 
8.4 Other necessary supplementary explanations: No such issues happened. ......................................... 101 
8.5 In the most recent year and as of the publication date of the annual report, if there are any matters 

determined in Item 2, Paragraph 3, Article 36 of the Securities Exchange Act that have significant 

impacts on shareholders’ equity or securities prices：No such issues happened. ............................. 101 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



5 

1. Letter to Shareholders 

Dear shareholders, 

In 2022, the world witnessed economic changes unprecedented for almost a past century. Practically all factors 

negative to economic development happened at the same time and are still ongoing: inflation, the Russia-Ukraine 

war, significant interest rate hikes by central banks around the world, dramatic depreciation of non-USD 

currencies and the U.S.-China technology war. These contributed to pressure on the economy and the possibility 

of recessions or stagflation, particularly during the second half of the year. The supply chain disruption and the 

placing of repeated orders due to the pandemic over the past two years finally manifested in the second half of 

the year. This was why most industries suffered relatively high inventory. Destocking became a goal and an issue 

shared by most industries starting in the second half of the year. 

Inflation, the Russia-Ukraine war, significant interest rate hikes by central banks around the world, dramatic 

depreciation of non-USD currencies and the U.S.-China technology war have caused extreme price volatility for 

stocks, bonds and commodities in the global financial markets. Consumers’ real purchasing power dropped. As 

a result, the demand for many discretionary consumer goods declined significantly.  As the prices of many 

commodities declined due to shrinking demand, the Company had to reduce selling prices in order to de-stock 

the commodities purchased at high costs during the first half of the year. This hurt the Company’s revenues and 

profits starting in the second half of the year. 

 

(1) 2022 Operational Highlights 

Set aside the mild effect of regional lockdowns on economic activities in China, the global economy continued 

its prosperity from 2022 during the first half of 2022. However, sales and profits declined significantly due to the 

aforesaid factors in the second half of the year from the prior half year and compared to the first half of 2021 

(2) 2023 Business Outlook 

It is anticipated that after inventory adjustment, inflation easing and no more drastic interest rate hikes by central 

banks around the world, the economy and the financial markets in 2023 should stabilize from the extreme 

volatility in 2022. Bottoming out and gradual recovery are possible, with the second half of the year 

outperforming the first half. No matter how the economic development evolves, we will continue to focus on 

forward-looking industries such as electric vehicles, mini-LED, esports laptops, server heat dissipation and 5G. 

Looking ahead to 2023, our business plan is summarized as follows: 

1. Continued improvement in the corporate governance evaluation: The Company has been ranked within the 

top 5% among TPEx-listed companies for four consecutive years. It is our goal to maintain this top-ranking 

status in the corporate governance evaluation.  In the future, we will continue to strengthen corporate 

governance so that investors, shareholders, employees, creditors and other stakeholders better understand our 

operational status and business philosophy. 

2. Continued optimization of the internal IT system: introduction of the internal business process 

management (BPM) system for signoffs to enhance efficiency and timeliness of approvals.。 

3. Enhanced inventory management to revert inventory turnover to the normal level. 
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 (3) Operating Performance in 2022: 

Operating Performance： Unit: hundred million/ NT$ 

 2022  2021  Growth rate 

Operating Revenue 87.04 94.34 -7.74% 

Net Income 4.66 5.95 -21.68% 

Earning Per Share( in dollar) 6.30 8.04 -21.64% 

 

Profitability Analysis:  

Item 2022 2021 

Operating Performance 

Analysis 

Account receivable 

turnover (times) 
4.15 4.33 

Inventory turnover (times) 7.46 9.81 

 

Profitability Analysis 

Return on total assets (%) 7.46 10.24 

Return on equity (%) 10.41 14.30 

Net margin (%) 5.45 6.52 

 

(4) Future Development Strategies 

As a special material distributor, Topco Technologies Corp must fully master the market trend, obtain 

support from the suppliers, actively develop new customers, expand new markets and certify new 

materials, apply silicone to the niche of key materials of all industries, develop the in-depth overall 

supply chain solution for customer service, and display the business management advantage of the 

Company in order to bring to the business performance to another peak in the uncertain economics. 

Apart from providing total solutions to customers, the Company also looks forward to being the best 

special material distributor in Asia. As the global economic activities shift, many customers are moving to or 

expanding in Southeast Asia or North America due to a variety of considerations. Hence, we will also evaluate 

the establishment of new sales offices in these regions to serve nearby customers and to access to business 

opportunities.  

 

(5) Impact of External Competition, Regulatory Environment and Overall Operational Environment 

In the aspect of external competitions, due to the ever-changing market of the industry and diversified 

sales mode, the Company continues to focus on the industry operation mode and implement the 

operation analysis and the operation quality management, which should be sufficient to respond to the 

changes in the market. 

In the aspect of laws and regulations, the Company has paid close attention to the domestic and foreign 

important policy and legal amendments that may impact the Company’s finance and business and 

adopted proper response measures to protect its interests. For example, the personnel of the Department 
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of Finance of the Company communicates with the CPA at any time on the important regulations of 

International Accounting Standards to ensure that the Company effectively complies with the Standards. 

Many negative factors such as inflation, geopolitics, large interest rate hikes by central banks around the world 

and dramatic fluctuations of exchange rates add to the uncertainties of the macroeconomy. The Company will 

formulate countermeasures to address the abovementioned uncertainties and to mitigate the impact on sales and 

profits. 

 

Sincerely yours, 

 

Chairman: Chen-Cheng Pan 

 

CEO: Sheng-Ho Chang 

 

CFO: Kun-Ming Wu 

 

April 2, 2023 
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2. Company Profile 

2.1 Company profile 

(I) Company history: 

Years Milestones 

1981: Chun-Chien Wang, Honorary Chairman and others co-founded TOPCO Trading Co., Ltd., and 
began the agency and distribution business of silicone products and other related products of Japan 
Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. 

1986: A joint venture with Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. was established in Hsinchu to form Shin-Etsu 
Chemical Co., Ltd., which engages in the production of silicone products. 

1992: Hong Kong TOPCO Trading Co., Ltd. was established to take charge of the sales of silicone 
products in Hong Kong and South China areas. 

1994: TOPCO Electronics Co., Ltd. was established to design, manufacture, and sell CCTV cameras, 
digital cameras and other related products. 

1997: TOPCO Trading (Shanghai Pudong District) Co., Ltd. was established to take charge of the sales of 
silicone products in East China and North China areas. 

2001: TOPCO (Guangzhou) Trading Co., Ltd. was established to take charge of the sales of silicone 
products in South China area. 

2004: TOPCO Trading Co., Ltd. merged with TOPCO Electronics Co., Ltd. and changed its name to 
TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd. 

2006: The Company’s stocks started to trade at Taipei Exchange. 

2006: TOPGLOW Trading Co., Ltd. was merged and became a subsidiary of the Company. 

2010: The electronic business group split and established TOPVIEW Co., Ltd. (a 100% owned 
subsidiary). 

2010: The Company released 70% shares of TOPVIEW Co., Ltd. 

2011: The original Chairman, Mr. Chun-Chien Wang, was transferred to serve as the Honorary Chairman. 
Mr. Chun-Ming Weng served as the Chairman, and Mr. Zhencheng Pan served as CEO. 

2011: The Company increased its capital in cash. After the capital increase, the paid-in capital amounted 
to NT$ 620 million. 

2012: The Company released the remaining 30% shares of TOPVIEW Co., Ltd. 

2013: The Company expanded the distribution in Mainland China and formally established the Suzhou, 
Ningbo and Xiamen branches. 

2015: TOPCO in Indonesia and Vietnam formally obtained business licenses and began operations. 

2017: Mr. Chen-Cheng Pan began to serve as the Chairman and Mr. Sheng-Ho Chang began to serve as 
the CEO. 

2018: The Company increased its capital in cash. After the capital increase, the paid-in capital amounted 
to NT$ 740,610 thousands. 

2019: The Hanoi branch of TOPCO (Vietnam) Trading Co., Ltd. was established. 

2020: Established Topco Engineering Co., Ltd. 

2021: 
Cooperate with the Department of Chemical and Materials Engineering, Tunghai University to 
establish a laboratory to expand the operation. 

2022: 
Issued the first domestic unsecured convertible bonds 

Established the audit committee 

2022: Ranking in the top 5% of all Listed OTC Companies for four consecutive years. 
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3. Corporate Governance Report 

3.1 Organization: 

(I) Corporate organization: 

1. Organizational structure 

 

 

Sustainable Development 

Committee 

Taiwan Business 

Headquarters 

Sales Department 

Operation 

Management 

Department 

Chairman 

Chief Executive Officer 

Board of Directors 

Shareholders’ Meeting 

South China Business 

Headquarters 

Sales Department 

Operation Management 

Department 

Management 

Department 

East China Business 

Headquarters 

Sales Department 

Operation Management Department 

Management Department 

Financial Division 

Accounting 

Office 

Financial Office 

Auditing Office 

Nomination Committee 

Remuneration Committee 

Administration Division 

Audit Committee 
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2. Department functions: 

 

Department Main responsibilities 

Chairman’s Office 

 Planning for operation and development blueprints for the Company. 

 Implement corporate governance and sustainable development. 

 Supervising the internal control of internal audit. 

CEO Office 

 Planning for medium-and-long-term business strategies and developing new business directions and 

market layout. 

 Operational performance control and benefit evaluation of various domestic and overseas invested 

companies or projects. 

Auditing Office 
 Auditing and evaluating the lack and effectiveness of internal control systems of the Company's 

various departments and subsidiaries, and providing audit reports and suggestions for improvement. 

Financial Division 

 Responsible for financial and investment strategy planning, financial risk assessment of the invested 

items and management of the invested business. 

 Serving as the Company’s spokesperson, managing company image, and operating investor 

relations, shareholder service and legal compliance. 

 Decision support and each risk management. 

Financial Office  Funding, scheduling, planning and operational managing, and monitoring of cash flow changes. 

Accounting Office 
 Accounting and tax processing operations, and preparation and implementation of annual reports 

and annual budget. 

Taiwan Business 

Headquarters 
 Coordinating the business promotion, operational management, personnel dispatching and resource 

allocation in Taiwan and Indonesia’s business units, and achieving business objectives, 

performance tracking and improvement. 

East China 

Business 

Headquarters 

 Coordinating business promotion, operational management, personnel dispatching and resource 

allocation in East China business units, and achieving business objectives, performance tracking 

and improvement. 

South China 

Business 

Headquarters 

 Coordinating business promotion, operational management, personnel dispatching and resource 

allocation in South China and Hong Kong’s business units, and achieving business objectives, 

performance tracking and improvement. 

Sales Department 
 Achieving business performance and profit goals, conducting market intelligence surveys, product 

pricing, sales statistics, cost and profit analysis and account collection, coordinating shipments, 

replying customer complaints, and tracking progress. 

Operation 

Management 

Department 

 Processing customer order, product sales statistics, cost and profit analysis, account collection, and 

coordinating shipments. 

Administration 

Division- 

Information Dept. 

 Planning for information system, and conducting process design, programming and hardware and 

software resources management. 

Administration 

Division-Human 

Resources Dept. 

 The planning and implementation of various human resources management systems, operation of 

selection, education, use and retention, and general administrative affairs management. 
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3.2 Directors, supervisors, general managers, deputy general managers, associates, managers of various departments and branches: 

(I) Directors and supervisors: 

1. Basic information: 

Apr. 2, 2023 Unit: per share 

Title 

Nationality 

or 

Registration 

Place 

Name Gender/age 

Date 

Elected / 

Appointed 

Term 

(Year) 

First 

Elected 

Date 

Shareholding When Elected Current Shareholding 

Current Shares Held by 

Spouse and Underaged 

Children 

Shareholding Under 

Others’ Names 
Main Education and 

Working Experiences 

Current Concurrent 

Positions in the 

Company and Other 

Companies 

Other Managers, Directors or 

Supervisors having the 

Relationship of Spouse or 

Relatives Within the Second 

Degree Notes 

Number of 

Shares 

Shareholdings 

Percentage (%) 

Number of 

Shares 

Shareholdings 

Percentage 

(%) 

Number 

of Shares 

Shareholdings 

Percentage 

(%) 

Number 

of 

Shares 

Shareholdings 

Percentage 

(%) 

Title Name Relationship 

Chairman 
Taiwan, 

R.O.C 

Chen-Cheng 

Pan 
Male/60 

May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

Jun. 21, 

2006 
999,041 1.35 999,041 1.35 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of 

International Trade, 

Chinese Culture 

University 

Deputy General 

Manager, TOPCO 

Trading Co., Ltd. 

Head of Silicon 

Business Unit, 

TOPCO Technologies 

Co., Ltd. 

CEO, TOPCO 

Technologies Co., 

Ltd. 

Vice Chairman, Taiwan 

Shin-Etsu Silicone Co., 

Ltd. 

Supervisor, Chung-Shin 

Ltd. 

Director, Topco 

Development Co., Ltd. 

Director, TOPCO 

(Guangzhou) Trading 

Co., Ltd. 

Director, TOPCO 

Trading (Shanghai 

Pudong District) Co., 

Ltd. 

Director, Hong Kong 

TOPCO Trading Co., 

Ltd. 

None None None None 

Director 

Taiwan, 

R.O.C 

Topco 

Development 

Co., Ltd. 

 
May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

Sept. 2, 

2004 
16,631,136 22.46 16,662,136 22.50 0 0.00 0 0.00 None None None None None None 

Taiwan, 

R.O.C 

Chun-Ming 

Weng, Rep. 

of Topco 

Development 

Co., Ltd. 

Male/74 
May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

Sept. 2, 

2004 
1,387,204 1.87 1,431,204 1.93 606,301 0.82 0 0.00 

Department of 

Tourism, Chinese 

Culture University 

General Manager, 

TOPCO Trading Co., 

Ltd. 

CFO, TOPCO 

Technologies Co., 

Ltd. 

CEO, TOPCO 

Technologies Co., 

Ltd. 

Chairmen, TOPCO 

Technologies Co., 

Ltd. 

Chairman, Chung-Shin 

Ltd. 

Kikukawa Metal & 

Engineering Co., Ltd. 

Director 

Director, Hong Kong 

TOPCO Trading Co., 

Ltd. 

Chairmen, Topco 

Development Co., Ltd. 

Chairman, TOPGLOW 

Trading Co., Ltd. 

Chairman, Vitalizing 

Engineering 

Construction Co., Ltd. 

Director, Topco Trade 

(Indonesia) Co., Ltd. 

None None None None 

Director 
Taiwan, 

R.O.C 
Juo-pei Wang Female/44 

May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

Jun. 17, 

2010 
473,852 0.64 473,852 0.64 20,000 0.03 0 0.00 

Department of 

Foreign Language, 

Aletheia University 

Fashion Marketing 

and Distribution 

Department of 

Bunka Fashion 

College 

Chairman, Sign Co., Ltd 

Director ,Vitalizing 

Engineering 

Construction Co., Ltd. 

Supervisor, Kikukawa 

Metal & Engineering 

Co., Ltd. 

None None None None 

Director Japan 

Shin-Etsu 

Chemical 

Co., Ltd. 

 
May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

Sept. 2, 

2004 
2,815,296 3.80 2,815,296 3.80 0 0.00 0 0.00 None None None None None None 
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Title 

Nationality 

or 

Registration 

Place 

Name Gender/age 

Date 

Elected / 

Appointed 

Term 

(Year) 

First 

Elected 

Date 

Shareholding When Elected Current Shareholding 

Current Shares Held by 

Spouse and Underaged 

Children 

Shareholding Under 

Others’ Names 
Main Education and 

Working Experiences 

Current Concurrent 

Positions in the 

Company and Other 

Companies 

Other Managers, Directors or 

Supervisors having the 

Relationship of Spouse or 

Relatives Within the Second 

Degree Notes 

Number of 

Shares 

Shareholdings 

Percentage (%) 

Number of 

Shares 

Shareholdings 

Percentage 

(%) 

Number 

of Shares 

Shareholdings 

Percentage 

(%) 

Number 

of 

Shares 

Shareholdings 

Percentage 

(%) 

Title Name Relationship 

Japan 

Tadaki 

Inoue , Rep. 

of Shin-Etsu 

Chemical 

Co., Ltd. 

Male/68 
May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

Oct. 01, 

2014 
0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Keio University 

Sector Director of 

management 

department of Main 

Silicone Business 

Unit, Shin-Etsu 

Chemical Co., Ltd 

Vice Director, Main 

Silicone Business Unit 

of Shin-Etsu Chemical 

Co., Ltd. 

 

None None None None 

Director 
Taiwan, 

R.O.C 

Long Ma-Hao 

Investment 

Co., Ltd. 

 
May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

May. 

31, 

2022 

561,283 0.76 561,283 0.76 0 0.00 0 0.00 None None None None None None 

Chung-Sheng 

Lin Rep. of 

Long Ma-Hao 

Investment 

Co., Ltd. 

Male/79 
May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

Sept. 2, 

2004 
977,508 1.49 944,508 1.28 198,472 0.27 0 0.00 

Xinzhuang 

Agricultural 

Vocational School 

Associate Manager, 

TOPCO Trading Co., 

Ltd. 

Director, Chung-Shin 

Ltd. 

Supervisor, Topco 

Development Co., Ltd. 

Director, Long Ma-Hao 

Investment Co., Ltd. 

None None None None 

Director 

Taiwan, 

R.O.C 

 

De Rong 

Investment 

Co., Ltd. 

 
May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

Jun. 21, 

2017 
1,653,574 2.23 1,653,574 2.23 0 0 0 0 None None None None None None 

Tzu-Cheng 

Chiu, Rep. of 

De Rong 

Investment 

Co., Ltd. 

Male/42 
May. 31, 

2022 
2 yrs 

Jun. 21, 

2017 
242,510 0.33 242,510 0.33 0 0 0 0 

Ching Yun University 

of Science and 

Technology 

 

Director, De Rong 

Investment Co., Ltd. 

Director, Formosa 21 

Construction and 

Development Co., Ltd. 

Director, Min-Sheng 

Construction & 

Development Co., Ltd. 

None None None None 

Director 
Taiwan, 

R.O.C 

Sheng-Ho 

Chang 
Male/55 

May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

May. 

31, 

2018 

347,299 0.40 347,299 0.47 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Engineering PhD. of 

Gunma University, 

Japan 

Manager and 

Associate Manager, 

TOPCO Technologies 

Co., Ltd. 

General Manager, 

Taiwan Business 

Headquarter, TOPCO 

Technologies Co., 

Ltd. 

Supervisor, TOPCO 

(Guangzhou) Trading 

Co., Ltd. 

Supervisor, TOPCO 

Trading (Shanghai 

Pudong District) Co., 

Ltd. 

None None None None 

Director 
Taiwan, 

R.O.C 

Ching-Hung 

Lin 
Male/55 

May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

May. 

31, 

2018 

369,073 0.56 369,073 0.50 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of 

Agricultural 

Chemistry, National 

Chung Hsing 

University 

Manager and 

Associate Manager, 

TOPCO Technologies 

Co., Ltd. 

Chairman, TOPCO 

(Guangzhou) Trading 

Co., Ltd. 

None None None None 

Director 
Taiwan, 

R.O.C 

Ching-Hsiung 

Wen 
Male/62 

May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

May. 

31, 

2018 

92,244 0.12 92,244 0.12 1,320 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of 

Economics, Wako 

University, JP 

Associate, Deputy 

General Manager, 

Sales Director, and 

Deputy CEO, 

TOPCO Technologies 

Co., Ltd. 

Chairman, TOPCO 

Trading (Shanghai 

Pudong District) Co., 

Ltd. 

Specialist, TOPCO 

Technologies Co., Ltd. 
None None None None 
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Title 

Nationality 

or 

Registration 

Place 

Name Gender/age 

Date 

Elected / 

Appointed 

Term 

(Year) 

First 

Elected 

Date 

Shareholding When Elected Current Shareholding 

Current Shares Held by 

Spouse and Underaged 

Children 

Shareholding Under 

Others’ Names 
Main Education and 

Working Experiences 

Current Concurrent 

Positions in the 

Company and Other 

Companies 

Other Managers, Directors or 

Supervisors having the 

Relationship of Spouse or 

Relatives Within the Second 

Degree Notes 

Number of 

Shares 

Shareholdings 

Percentage (%) 

Number of 

Shares 

Shareholdings 

Percentage 

(%) 

Number 

of Shares 

Shareholdings 

Percentage 

(%) 

Number 

of 

Shares 

Shareholdings 

Percentage 

(%) 

Title Name Relationship 

Director 
Taiwan, 

R.O.C 

Tsai-Meng 

Wang 
Male/49 

May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

May. 

31, 

2022 

109,685 0.15 109,685 0.15 5,624 0.01 0 0.00 

Department of 

Business 

Management, Tokyo 

International 

University 

Manager ,General 

Manager, East China 

Business 

Headquarters 

Chairman, TOPCO 

Trading (Shanghai 

Pudong District) Co., 

Ltd. 

None None None None 

Independent 

Director 

Taiwan, 

R.O.C 

Ming-Hui 

Guo  
Male/85 

May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

Jun. 20, 

2013 
0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of 

Economics, National 

Taiwan University 

Deputy Manager of 

Sales Department, 

Headquarter of Hua-

Nan Commercial 

Bank 

None None None None None 

Independent 

Director 

Taiwan, 

R.O.C 

Meng-Shiou 

Lee 
Male/61 

May. 22, 

2020 
2 yrs 

May. 

22, 

2020 

50,993 0.07 50,993 0.07 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Master of 

Accounting, National 

Chengchi University 

Chairman/Accountant 

of FEC Accounting 

Firm 

Adjunct Lecturer of 

Economic and Financial 

Law, NCCU 

Independent Director of 

Mechema Chemicals 

Corp.  

None None None None 

Independent 

Director 

Taiwan, 

R.O.C 

Shou-Lu 

Chang 
Male/85 

May. 31, 

2022 
3 yrs 

May. 

31, 

2022 

0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of 

Economics, National 

Taiwan University 

Manager of Hua-Nan 

Commercial Bank 

Independent director 

of TCI CO.,Ltd 

None None None None None 
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2. Top 10 shareholders and their share percentage of TOPCO’s directors and supervisors that are 

institutional shareholders: 

Apr.02, 2023 

Institutional Shareholder Name Main Shareholders of Institutional Shareholders 

Topco Development Co., Ltd. 

Jhih-Jia Investment Co., Ltd. (14.0%) (Note),Chun-Chien Wang (9.7%), Bao-yu 

Lin (9.1%), Keen Investment Co., Ltd. (9.1%)(Note), Bao Ruo Ltd. (8.8%) 

(Note),Chun-Ming Weng (4.7%), Long Ma-Hao Investment Co., Ltd. (4%) (Note), 

Jing-Yi Hsu (3.5%), Jiu-Ying Investment Co., Ltd. (3.3%),Chung-Sheng Lin 

(3.3%) 

Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. 

(Source:Official Website of Shin-Etsu 

Chemical) 

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd (Trust account) (18.87%) 

Japan Trustee Services Bank,Ltd (Trust account)(7.31%) 

JP MORGAN CHASE BANK 385632 (4.05%) 

Nippon Life Insurance Company (3.78%) 

The HachijuniBank,Ltd (2.90%) 

Meiji Yasuda Life Insurance Company (2.63%) 

Government of Norway (2.49%) 

SSBTC CLIENT OMNIBUS ACCOUNT (2.15%) 

STATE STREET BANK WEST CLIENT–TREATY 505234(1.55%) 

JP MORGAN CHASE BANK 385781( 1.29%) 

De Rong Investment Co., Ltd. 
Liang-Min Chen (41.8%), Tzu-Cheng Chiu (19.4%), Jia-Ling Chiu (19.4%), Jia-

Hong Chiu (19.4%) 

Note: 

Institution Name Main Shareholders of Institutional Shareholders 

Jhih-Jia Investment Co., Ltd. Pei-fen Chang (42.3%),Chia-Yun Chang(28.8%), Chia-Wei Chang( 28.9%) 

Keen Investment Co., Ltd. 
Liang-Min Chen (50.2%), Tzu-Cheng Chiu (16.6%), Jia-Ling Chiu (16.6%), Jia-

Hong Chiu (16.6%) 

Bao Ruo Investment Ltd. Chun-Chien Wang 40%, Bao-yu Lin 40%, Juo-pei Wang 20% 

Long Ma-Hao Investment Co., Ltd. Jia-hong Lin45.8%, Jia-te Lin 45.8%, Chung-Sheng Lin 4.2%, Ching-Yi, Hsu 4.2% 

Jiu-Ying Investment Co., Ltd Ying-Fang Chang(100.0%) 
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3. The professional qualification, experience and Status of independence of Directors and Superviors: 

    Criteria 

Name 

Professional Qualification and 

Experience(Note) 
Status of independence 

Number of 

other public 

listed 

companies in 

which 

concurrently 

serving as an 

independent 

director 

Chairman, 

Chen-Cheng Pan 

1. Professional qualification: with 

management and Japanese 

professional background, senior 

service periods in the Company, rich 

experience in the industry, and 

operation management and leadership 

ability. 

2. Experience: Currently serving as the 

Chairperson of the Company 

NA None. 

Director, 

Chun-Ming 

Weng, Rep. of 

Topco 

Development 

Co., Ltd. 

1. Professional qualification: with 

management and business 

professional background, senior 

service periods in the Company, rich 

experience in the industry, and 

operation management and leadership 

ability. 

2. Experience: Served as the Chief 

Executive Officer and Chairperson of 

the Company in the past 

NA None. 

Director, 

Tadaki Inoue, 

Rep. of Shin-

Etsu Chemical 

Co., Ltd. 

1. Professional qualification: With 

management and chemistry 

profession, working for Shin-Etsu 

Chemical Co., Ltd, the major supplier 

of the Company, and rich experience 

in the chemistry industry. 

2. Experience: Currently serving as the 

Deputy Manager of the Main Silicone 

Business Unit of Shin-Etsu Chemical 

Co., Ltd. 

NA None. 

Director, 

Chung-Sheng 

Lin Rep. of 

Long Ma-Hao 

Investment Co., 

Ltd. 

1. Professional qualification: With 

business profession, industry 

knowledge, operation management 

and decision-making ability. 

2. Experience: Served as the Associate 

Manager of the Company in the past 

NA None. 

Tzu-Cheng 

Chiu, Rep. of De 

Rong 

Investment Co., 

Ltd. 

1. Professional qualification: 

Management, business, profession, 

industry knowledge, and decision-

making ability. 

2. Experience: Currently serving as 

the Director, Formosa 21 

Construction and Development 

Co., Ltd. 

NA None. 
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    Criteria 

Name 

Professional Qualification and 

Experience(Note) 
Status of independence 

Number of 

other public 

listed 

companies in 

which 

concurrently 

serving as an 

independent 

director 

Director 

Juo-pei Wang 

1. Professional qualification: 

Management, language profession, 

industry knowledge, leadership, and 

decision-making ability. 

2. Experience: Currently serving as the 

Chairperson of Sign Co., Ltd. 

NA None. 

Director, 

Chun-Ming 

Weng, 

1. Professional qualification: with 

management and business 

professional background, senior 

service periods in the Company, rich 

experience in the industry, and 

operation management and leadership 

ability. 

2. Experience: Served as the Chief 

Executive Officer and Chairperson of 

the Company in the past 

NA None. 

Director, 

Sheng-Ho 

Chang 

1. Professional qualification: Ph. D with 

professional chemistry and Japanese 

background, senior service periods in 

the Company with certain leadership 

and operation management ability.  

2. Experience: Currently serving as the 

Chief Executive Officer of the 

Company 

NA None. 

Director, 

Ching-Hung Lin 

1. Professional qualification: With 

management, Japanese and business 

leadership ability and familiarity with 

the market in Southern China. 

2. Experience: Currently serving as the 

Chairperson of a subsidiary of the 

Group 

NA None. 

Director, 

Ching-Hsiung 

Wen 

1. Professional qualification: With 

business, Japanese, industry 

knowledge, leadership, and decision-

making ability. 

2. Experience: Currently serving as the 

Executive Assistant for Chairman to 

the Chairperson of the Company 

NA None. 
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    Criteria 

Name 

Professional Qualification and 

Experience(Note) 
Status of independence 

Number of 

other public 

listed 

companies in 

which 

concurrently 

serving as an 

independent 

director 

Independent 

Director, 

Ming-Hui Guo 

1. Professional qualification: With 

financial and management profession 

and serving in the financial industry 

for a long period of time. With certain 

leadership and decision-making 

ability. 
2. Experience: Served as the 

management of banks 

1. In accordance with the regulations 

by the competent authority, the 

Company has acquired the 

Statement of the Independent 

Directors During the Tenure. 

2. The person declares that he 

doesn’t hold the shares of the 

Company, and my relatives within 

the second degree of kinship and 

myself are not serving as the 

Directors, Supervisors, or 

employees of the specific 

relationship to the Company. 

3. The relatives within the second 

degree of kinship and the person 

have not provided business, legal, 

financial and accounting services 

to the Company and other 

affiliates in the past two years. 

4. In conclusion, the Company 

deems the independence complies 

with the regulations by the 

competent authority. 

None. 

Independent 

Director, 

Meng-Shiou Lee  

1. Professional qualification: With 

accounting and financial analysis 

profession, operation management, 

decision-making and leadership 

ability. 

2. Experience: Practicing CPA and 

adjunct lecturer in university 

1. In accordance with the 

regulations by the competent 

authority, the Company has 

acquired the Statement of the 

Independent Directors during the 

Tenure. 

2. The person declares that he hold 

the 50,993 shares, accounted for 

0.07% of the shares of the 

Company. The relatives within 

the second degree of kinship and 

myself are not serving as the 

Directors, Supervisors, or 

employees of specific relationship 

to the Company. 

3. The relatives within the second 

degree of kinship and the person 

have not provided business, legal, 

financial and accounting services 

to the Company and other 

affiliates in the past two years. 

4. In conclusion, the Company 

deems the independence complies 

with the regulations by the 

competent authority. 

1 
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    Criteria 

Name 

Professional Qualification and 

Experience(Note) 
Status of independence 

Number of 

other public 

listed 

companies in 

which 

concurrently 

serving as an 

independent 

director 

Independent 

Director, 

Shou-Lu 

Chang 

1. Professional qualification: With 

financial and management profession 

and serving in the financial industry 

for a long period of time. With certain 

leadership and decision-making 

ability. 
2. Experience: Served as the 

management of banks 

1. In accordance with the regulations 

by the competent authority, the 

Company has acquired the 

Statement of the Independent 

Directors During the Tenure. 

2. The person declares that he 

doesn’t hold the shares of the 

Company, and my relatives within 

the second degree of kinship and 

myself are not serving as the 

Directors, Supervisors, or 

employees of the specific 

relationship to the Company. 

3. The relatives within the second 

degree of kinship and the person 

have not provided business, legal, 

financial and accounting services 

to the Company and other 

affiliates in the past two years. 

4. In conclusion, the Company 

deems the independence 

complies with the regulations 

by the competent authority. 

None. 

Note: Not under any circumstances as noted in Article 30 of Company Act.  

4. Diversity and independence of the Board of Directors: 

  (A) Diversity of the Board of Directors: 

1. The Directors of the Company have different professions in different areas. Article 20 of the “Code 

of Practice for Corporate Governance” provides that the formation of the Board of Directors shall be 

diversified, including but not limited to gender, age, culture and educational background, race, 

professional experience, skill, knowledge, and tenure of service. The final candidates shall be 

determined by the merits and the possible contribution to the Board of Directors in order to be 

beneficial for the development and operation of the Company.  

2. The Board of Directors shall direct the company strategies, supervise the management, be in charge 

of the operation and arrangement of corporate governance for the Company and its shareholders, and 

ensure the Board of Directors exercises power in accordance with the laws and regulations, Articles 

of Incorporation or the resolution by the Shareholders’ meeting. 

3. The Company is a distributor of specialized chemicals, and the agent products mainly come from 

Japan. To cope with the operation demand of the Company, the main goals of the diversified Board 

of Directors are as follows: 

(1) Targeting minimum 3 directors with a background in specialized chemicals industry 

(2) Targeting 3 or more directors with a Japanese background 

(3) Among all independent directors, targeting a minimum 1 independent director with a national 

professional license, apart from 1 independent director with financial and accounting background 
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(4) To make the gender of the Board of Directors more diversified. The long-term goal is to have 1 

or more female directors in the Board of Directors 

(5) To protect the interests of shareholders and employees, the number of directors who are also the 

employees shall not exceed 1/2 of the total number of directors 

(6) With management, industry, account and financial analysis ability and experiences 

 

The implementation is shown in the Table below: 

    

Criteria 

Name 

 

 

Basic Composition Professional Background  Professional Ability 

Natio-

nality 

Gend-

er 

Concurrently 

working as 

an employee 

of the 

Company 

Age 
Operati

-onal 

manage

-ment 

Financial 

and 

accounting 

Chemi

-stry 

related 

Econo

-mics 

Japa-

nese 

Indust

-rial 

knowl

-edge 

Accounting 

and 

financial 

analysis 

skills 

Operational 

and 

management 

skills 

Decision-

making 

ability 

Leader

-ship 

41 

to 

50 

51 

to 

60 

61 

to 

70 

70 up 

Chairman 
Chen-Cheng 
Pan 

R.O.C Male N  V   V V V V V V V V V V 

Director 
Representati
ve, Topco 
Developmen
t Co., Ltd.: 
Chun-Ming 

Weng 

R.O.C Male Y    V V V V   V V V V V 

Director 
Juo-pei 
Wang 

R.O.C Female N V    V    V V  V V V 

Director 
Representati
ve, Shin-
Etsu 
Chemical 
Co., Ltd.: 
Tadaki 
Inoue  

Japen Male N   V  V  V V V V V V V V 

Director 
Representati
ve, Long 
Ma-Hao 
Investment 
Co., Ltd.: 
Chung-
Sheng Lin 

R.O.C Male N    V V  V   V  V V V 

Director 
Representati
ve,Tzu-
Cheng Chiu, 
Rep. of De 
Rong 
Investment 
Co., Ltd.: 

R.O.C Male N V    V    V V  V V V 

Director 
Sheng-Ho 
Chang 

R.O.C Male Y  V   V V V V V V V V V V 

Director 
Ching-Hung 
Lin 

R.O.C Male Y  V   V  V   V  V V V 

Director 
Ching-
Hsiung Wen 

R.O.C Male Y   V  V  V V V V  V V V 

Director 
Tsai-Meng 
Wang 

R.O.C Male Y V    V  V  V V  V V V 

Independent 
director 
Ming-Hui 
Guo 

R.O.C Male N    V V V  V  V V V V V 

Independent 
director 
Meng-Shiou 
Lee 

R.O.C Male N  V   V V  V  V V V V V 

Independent 
director 
Shou-Lu 
Chang 

R.O.C Male N    V V V  V  V V V V V 

(B) Independence of the Board of Directors: There are 3 Independent directors in the Board of Directors, accounting 

for 23% of the total number of the directors.All the directors are not relatives of the second degree of kinship. 

and do not meet the provisions of Paragraph 3 and 4, Article 26-3 of the Securities and Exchange Act.
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(II) Information of general managers, deputy general managers, associates, managers of various departments and branches:  

Apr. 2, 2023 

Title Nationality Name Gender 
Date Elected / 

Appointed 

Shareholding 
Shares Held by Spouse and 

Underaged Children 

Shareholding Under 

Others’ Names 
Main Education and Working Experiences 

Concurrent Positions in 

Other Companies 

Manager with the Relationship of 

Spouse or a Relative 

Within the Second Degree of Kinship 

Number of 

Shares 

Shareholding 

Percentage 

Number of 

Shares 

Shareholding 

Percentage 

Number 

of Shares 

Shareholding 

Percentage 
Title Name Relationship 

Chief Executive Officer R.O.C Sheng-Ho Chang Male Jan. 2017 347,299 0.47 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Engineering PhD. of Gunma University, Japan 

Manager and Associate Manager, TOPCO 

Technologies Co., Ltd. 

General Manager, Taiwan Business Headquarter, 

TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd. 

Supervisor, TOPCO 

(Guangzhou) Trading Co., 

Ltd. 

Supervisor, TOPCO Trading 

(Shanghai Pudong District) 

Co., Ltd. 

None None None 

Deputy CEO R.O.C Wen-Hua Tsai Male Jan. 2017 224,999 0.30 78,730 0.11 0 0.00 

Department of Textile, National Taipei Institute 

of Technology 

Manager and Associate Manager, TOPCO 

Technologies Co., Ltd. 

Deputy General Manager, TOPCO Technologies 

Co., Ltd. 

Supervisor, TOPGLOW 

Trading Co., Ltd. 
None None None 

South China Business 

Headquarters -

Chairman, TOPCO 

(Guangzhou) Trading 

Co., Ltd. 

R.O.C Ching-Hung Lin Male Jan. 2011 369,073 0.50 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of Agricultural Chemistry, National 

Chung Hsing University 

Manager and Associate Manager, TOPCO 

Technologies Co., Ltd. 

None None None None 

East China Business 

Headquarters -

Chairman, TOPCO 

Trading (Shanghai 

Pudong District) Co., 

Ltd 

R.O.C Tsai-Meng Wang Male Oct. 2018 109,685 0.15 5,624 0.01 0 0.00 

Department of Business Management, Tokyo 

International University 

Manager and Associate Manager and Deputy 

Manager, East China Business Headquarters, 

TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd. 

None None None None 

General Manager, 

Taiwan Business 

Headquarters 

R.O.C Fu-Jen Cheng Male Jan. 2017 468,688 0.63 28,221 0.04 0 0.00 

Department of Medicine and Applied Chemistry, 

Kaohsiung Medical University 

EMBA, National Taiwan University 

Manager and Associate Manager, TOPCO 

Technologies Co., Ltd. 

Deputy General Manager, TOPCO Technologies 

Co., Ltd. 

Chairman, Topco Trade 

(Indonesia) Co., Ltd. 

Director, TOPCO 

Engineering Co., Ltd. 

None None None 

General Manager, South 

China Business 

Headquarters 

R.O.C Ming-Tso Hsiao Male Feb.2023 86,000 0.12 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of Chemistry, Soochow University 

Manager ,Associate Manager and Deputy 

Manager, South China Business Headquarters, 

TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd. 

Director, TOPCO 

(Guangzhou) Trading Co., 

Ltd. 

None None None 

General Manager, East 

China Business 

Headquarters 

R.O.C Liang-Hsin Hsieh Male Nov. 2021 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of Business Management, 

University of Asia, JP 

Manager and Associate Manager, TOPCO 

Technologies Co., Ltd. 

Director, TOPCO Trading 

(Shanghai Pudong District) 

Co., Ltd. 

 

None None None 

CFO R.O.C Kun-Ming Wu Male Jan. 2010 268,985 0.36 742 0.00 0 0.00 

MBA in Finance, National Taiwan University 

Securities Investment Department, Cathay Life 

Insurance 

Manager, Capital Market Division of Taiwan 

Securities Co., Ltd. 

Security Analyst 

Financial and Accounting Manger, TOPCO 

Technologies Co., Ltd. 

Director, Topco 

Development Co., Ltd. 

Director, TOPGLOW 

Trading Co., Ltd. 

Supervisor, Vitalizing 

Engineering Construction 

Co., Ltd. 

None None None 

Executive Assistant for 

Chairman 
R.O.C Ching-Hsiung Wen Male Jan. 2017 92,244 0.12 1,320 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of Economics, Wako University, JP 

Associate, Deputy General Manager, Sales 

Director, and Deputy CEO, TOPCO 

Technologies Co., Ltd. 

Chairman, TOPCO Trading (Shanghai Pudong 

District) Co., Ltd 

None 

 
None None None 

Executive Assistant for 

Chairman 
R.O.C Chung-Yen Wang Male Oct. 2018 50,080 0.07 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of Business Administration, 

Tamkang University 

Manager ,Associate Manager and General 

Manager, East China Business Headquarters, 

TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd. 

Chairman, TOPCO 

Engineering Co., Ltd. 
None None None 
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Title Nationality Name Gender 
Date Elected / 

Appointed 

Shareholding 
Shares Held by Spouse and 

Underaged Children 

Shareholding Under 

Others’ Names 
Main Education and Working Experiences 

Concurrent Positions in 

Other Companies 

Manager with the Relationship of 

Spouse or a Relative 

Within the Second Degree of Kinship 

Number of 

Shares 

Shareholding 

Percentage 

Number of 

Shares 

Shareholding 

Percentage 

Number 

of Shares 

Shareholding 

Percentage 
Title Name Relationship 

Deputy General 

Manager 
R.O.C Chaopang Lo Male Feb. 2018 28,246 0.04 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of Textile Engineering, Feng Chia 

University 

Associate  Manager, TOPCO Technologies Co., 

Ltd. 

Chairman, Topco Trade 

(Vietnam) Co., Ltd. 
None None None 

Deputy General 

Manager 
R.O.C Pin-Nan Liao Male Jan. 2012 55,400 0.07 4,800 0.01 0 0.00 

Department of Tourism, Ming Chuan University 

Associate Manager, TOPCO Technologies Co., 

Ltd. 

Chairman, TOPCO Trading 

(Shanghai Pudong District) 

Co., Ltd. Suzhou Branch 

None None None 

Deputy General 

Manager 
R.O.C Mengju Wu Male Feb. 2018 95 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of Japanese Language and Culture, 

Fu-Jen Catholic University 

Manager, TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd. 

None None None None 

Deputy General 

Manager 
R.O.C Pinchuan Chen Male Feb. 2016 18,000 0.02 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of Russian Language, National 

Chengchi University 

Manager, TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd. 

None None None None 

Associate Manager R.O.C Yulin Huang Male Feb. 2013 116,558 0.16 0 0.00 0 0.00 
EMBA, National Taipei University 

Manager, TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd. 

Director and General 

Manager, Topco Engineering 

Co., Ltd. 

None None None 

Associate Manager R.O.C Yangfu Fan Male Feb. 2018 38,000 0.05 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of Chemical Engineering, National 

Chin-Yi University of Technology 

Manager, TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd. 

None None None None 

Associate Manager R.O.C Chihching Hsu Male Feb. 2018 86,344 0.12 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of Business Administration, Chung 

Yuan Christian University 

Manager, TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd. 

Chairman,Topco (Guang 

Zhou) Trading Co., Ltd. 

Xiamen Branch 

None None None 

Associate Manager R.O.C Suhsien Hsieh Male Feb. 2018 40,000 0.05 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of Chemical Engineering, National 

Taipei University of Technology 

Manager, TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd. 

None None None None 

Associate Manager R.O.C Yu-Shu Liu Male Feb. 2023 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 
Master of Chemistry, Fu Jen University 

Manager, TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd. 
None None None None 

Associate Manager R.O.C Penghong Chen Male Feb. 2023 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of Civil Engineering, Chiao Tung 

University 

Manager, TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd. 

None None None None 

Associate Manager R.O.C Tai-Yuan Wu Male Feb. 2021 27,847 0.04 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of Econimics National Central 

University 

Manager, TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd. 
None None None None 

Associate Manager R.O.C Hung-Chih, Hsu, Male Feb. 2022 40,971 0.06 0 0.00 0 0.00 
Department of Finance, Chung Hua University 

Manager, TOPCO Technologies Co., Ltd 
None None None None 

Associate Manage 

(Auditing officer) 
R.O.C Hsin-Jung Su Male Feb. 2021 30,370 0.04 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of Business Administration, Shih 

Hsin University 

Deputy Manager, TOPCO Technologies Co., 

Ltd. 

None None None None 

Corporate governance 

officer 
R.O.C Shu-Ching Wu Female Mar. 2023 35,000 0.05 0 0.00 0 0.00 

Department of IAccounting, Chinese Culture 

University 

Deputy Manager of stcko affairs unit 

None None None None 
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 (III) Remuneration to directors, supervisors, general managers and deputy general managers 

1. Remuneration to directors 

Dec. 31, 2022 Unit: NT$ thousand; thousand shares 
Title Name Directors’ remuneration Total remuneration 

(A+B+C+D) as a 

percentage of net 

income 

Remuneration earned by concurrently serving as an employee Ratio of the total 

amount of A, B, C, D, 

E, F and G to net 

income 

Whether 

receiving 

remuneration 

from invested 

companies 

other than 

subsidiaries 

Remuneration (A) Severance pay and 

pensions (B) 

Compensation to 

directors (C) 

Fees for services 

rendered (D) 

Salaries, bonuses and 

special allowances, 

etc.(E) 

Severance pay and 

pensions (F) 

Compensation to employees 

(G) 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

in the 

financial 

report 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

in the 

financial 

report 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

in the 

financial 

report 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

in the 

financial 

report 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

in the 

financial 

report 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

in the 

financial 

report 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

in the 

financial 

report 

The Company All companies 

in the financial 

report 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

in the 

financial 

report 
Cash Amount 

of stock 
Cash Amount 

of stock 

Chairman Chen-Cheng 

Pan 

13,500 13,500 0 0 14,840 14,840 0 0 6.08 6.08 39,120 39,120 0 0 5,000 0 5,000 0 15.53 15. 53 0 

Director Chun-Ming 

Weng, Rep. of 

Topco 

Development 

Co., Ltd. 

Director Juo-pei Wang 

Director Tadaki Inoue , 

Representative 

of Shin-Etsu 

Chemical Co., 

Ltd. 

Director Chung-Sheng 

Lin Rep. of 

Long Ma-Hao 

Investment 

Co., Ltd. 

Director Tzu-Cheng 

Chiu, Rep. of 

De Rong 

Investment 

Co., Ltd. 

Director Sheng-Ho 

Chang 

Director Ching-Hung 

Lin 

Director Ching-Hsiung 

Wen 

Director Tsai-Meng 

Wang 

Independent 

director 

Ming-Hui Guo 

0 0 0 0 2,160 2,160 0 0 0.46 0.46 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.46 0.46 0 
Independent 

director 

Meng-Shiou 

Lee 

Independent 

director 

Shou-Lu 

Chang 

1. Directors and Independent Directors’ remuneration policies, procedures and structure as well as the linkage to responsibilities, risks and tme spent: The related policies please refer to page 26.  

2. Except as the disclosed in the above table, remuneration to directors received due to the service provided to all companies listed in the consolidated financial statement (such as being independent consultant, etc.) in the most recent year:None 
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Table of Remuneration Range 

Range of the Remuneration Paid to Each Director of the 

Company 

Director name 

Total remuneration (A+B+C+D) 
Total remuneration 

(A+B+C+D+E+F+G) 

The Company 

From All 

Consolidated 

Entities G 

The Company 

From All 

Consolidated 

Entities H 

< NT$ 1,000,000 

 Tadaki Inoue , 

Sheng-Ho Chang, 
Ching-Hung Lin, 

Chung-Sheng 

Lin,Tzu-Cheng 
Chiu,Ching-Hsiung 

Wen, Tsai-Meng 

Wang,Ming-Hui 
Guo, Meng-Shiou 

Lee, Shou-Lu Chang 

Tadaki Inoue , 

Sheng-Ho Chang, 
Ching-Hung Lin, 

Chung-Sheng 

Lin,Tzu-Cheng 
Chiu,Ching-Hsiung 

Wen, Tsai-Meng 

Wang,Ming-Hui 
Guo, Meng-Shiou 

Lee, Shou-Lu Chang 

Tadaki Inoue , 

Chung-Sheng Lin, 
Tzu-Cheng 

Chiu,Ming-Hui 

Guo, Meng-Shiou 
Lee, Shou-Lu 

Chang 

Tadaki Inoue , 

Chung-Sheng Lin, 
Tzu-Cheng 

Chiu,Ming-Hui 

Guo, Meng-Shiou 
Lee, Shou-Lu 

Chang 

NT$ 1,000,000 (inclusive) ~ NT$ 2,000,000 (exclusive) - - - - 

NT$ 2,000,000 (inclusive) ~ NT$ 3,500,000 (exclusive) 
Chun-Ming Weng, 

Juo-pei Wang 

Chun-Ming Weng, 

Juo-pei Wang 
Juo-pei Wang Juo-pei Wang 

NT$ 3,500,000 (inclusive) ~ NT$ 5,000,000 (exclusive) - - - - 

NT$ 5,000,000 (inclusive) ~ NT$ 10,000,000 (exclusive) - - 

Ching-Hsiung 

Wen, Ching-Hung 

Lin,Tsai-Meng 

Wang 

Ching-Hsiung Wen, 

Ching-Hung 

Lin,Tsai-Meng 

Wang 

NT$ 10,000,000 (inclusive) ~ NT$ 15,000,000 (exclusive) - - 
Chun-Ming Weng, 

Sheng-Ho Chang 

Chun-Ming Weng, 

Sheng-Ho Chang 

NT$ 15,000,000 (inclusive) ~ NT$ 30,000,000 (exclusive) Chen-Cheng Pan Chen-Cheng Pan Chen-Cheng Pan  Chen-Cheng Pan 

Total 13 13 13 13 

 

2. Remuneration to Supervisors 

Unit: NT$ thousand 

Title Name 

Supervisors’ remuneration 
The ratio of the total 

amount of A, B, and C 

to net income 
Whether 

receiving 

remuneration 

from invested 

companies other 

than subsidiaries 

Remuneration (A) Compensation (B) 
Fees for services rendered 

(C) 

The 

Company 

All companies in 

the financial 

report 

The Company 

All companies in 

the financial 

report 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

in the 

financial 

report 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

in the 

financial 

report 

Supervisor 
Chung-Sheng 

Lin 

0 0 250 250 0 0 0.05% 0.05% 0 

Supervisor Chang-Wei Wu 

Supervisor 

Tzu-Cheng Chiu, 

Rep. of De Rong 

Investment Co., 

Ltd. 

*The Company eatablished the audit committee on May 31,2022. 

Table of Remuneration Range 

Range of the Remuneration Paid to Each Director of the 

Company 

Name of Supervisors  

Total Remuneration (A+B+C) 

From the Company  From All Consolidated Entities D 

< NT$ 1,000,000 
Chung-Sheng Lin, Chang-Wei Wu, 

Tzu-Cheng Chiu 

Chung-Sheng Lin, Chang-Wei Wu, 

Tzu-Cheng Chiu 

NT$ 1,000,000 (inclusive) ~ NT$ 2,000,000 (exclusive) - - 

NT$ 2,000,000 (inclusive) ~ NT$ 3,500,000 (exclusive) - - 

NT$ 3,500,000 (inclusive) ~NT$ 5,000,000 (exclusive) - - 

Total 3 3 
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3. Remuneration to General Managers and Deputy General Managers 

Unit: NT$ thousand; thousand shares 

Title Name 

Salary (A) 
Severance pay and 

pensions (B) 

Bonus and special 

allowances (C) 

Amount of employee compensation 

(D) 

(Estimated) 

Total remuneration (A+B+C+D) 

as a percentage of Net Income 

(%) (Note1) 

Whether 

receiving 

remuneration 

from 

invested 

companies 

other than 

subsidiaries 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

in the 

financial 

statements 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

in the 

financial 

statements 

The 

Company 

All 

companies 

in the 

financial 

statements 

From the 

Company 

All companies in 

the financial 

statements The 

Company 

All companies in the 

financial statements 
Cash 

bonuses 

Stock 

bonuses 

Cash 

bonuses 

Stock 

bonuses 

Chief Executive 

Officer 

Sheng-Ho 

Chang 

16,250 16,250 0 0 37,550 37,550 9,500 0 9,500 0 13.57 13.57 0 

Deputy CEO 
Wen-Hua 

Tsai 

General 

Manager, Taiwan 

Business 

Headquarters 

Fu-Jen 

Cheng 

General 

Manager, South 

China Business 

Headquarters 

Ming-Tso 

Hsiao 

General 

Manager, East 

China Business 

Headquarters 

Liang-

Hsin 

Hsieh 

Deputy General 

Manager 

Pin-Nan 

Liao 

Deputy General 

Manager 

Chao-

Pang Lo 

Deputy General 

Manager 

Meng-ju 

Wu 

Deputy General 

Manager 

Pin-chuan 

Chen 

Table of Remuneration Range 

Range of the compensation paid to each general 

manager and deputy general manager of the 

Company 

Name of general managers and deputy general managers 

From the Company From All Consolidated Entities (D) 

< NT$ 1,000,000 - - 

NT$ 1,000,000 (inclusive) ~ NT$ 2,000,000 

(exclusive) 
- - 

NT$ 2,000,000 (inclusive) ~ NT$ 3,500,000 

(exclusive) 
- - 

NT$ 3,500,000 (inclusive) ~ NT$ 5,000,000 

(exclusive) 
- - 

NT$ 5,000,000 (inclusive) ~ NT$ 10,000,000 

(exclusive) 

Wen-Hua Tsai, Fu-Jen Cheng 

, Ming-Tso Hsiao ,Liang-Hsin 

Hsieh、Chao-Pang Lo、Pin-

Nan Liao, Meng-ju Wu, Pin-

chuan Chen 

Wen-Hua Tsai, Fu-Jen Cheng 

, Ming-Tso Hsiao ,Liang-Hsin 

Hsieh、Chao-Pang Lo、Pin-Nan 

Liao, Meng-ju Wu, Pin-chuan Chen 

NT$ 1,000,000 (inclusive) ~ NT$ 15,000,000 

(exclusive) 
Sheng-Ho Chang Sheng-Ho Chang 

NT$ 15,000,000 (inclusive) ~ NT$ 30,000,000 

(exclusive) 
- - 

Total 9 9 
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4.Name of managers receiving employee compensation and the distribution status (Note) 

Unit: NT$ thousand 

 Title Name 

Cash bonuses Stock bonuses 

Total 

Total amount as a 

percentage of net 

income (%) Amount 
Number of 

Shares 

Market 

price 
Amount 

M
an

ag
er 

Chief Executive 

Officer 
Sheng-Ho Chang 

22,000 0 0 0 22,000 4.72% 

Deputy CEO Wen-Hua Tsai 

South China 

Business 
Headquarters -

Chairman, 

TOPCO 
(Guangzhou) 

Trading Co., Ltd. 

Ching-Hung Lin 

General Manager, 

Taiwan Business 
Headquarters 

Fu-Jen Cheng 

East China Business 

Headquarters -

Chairman, TOPCO 

Trading (Shanghai 

Pudong District) Co., 

Ltd 

Tsai-Meng Wang 

General Manager, 

South China 

Business 
Headquarters 

Ming-Tso Hsiao 

CFO Kun-Ming Wu 

Executive 
Assistant for 

Chairman 

Ching-Hsiung Wen 

Executive 

Assistant for 
Chairman 

Chung-Yen Wang 

General Manager, Liang-Hsin Hsieh 

Deputy General 

Manager, 
Pin-Nan Liao 

Deputy General 

Manager, 
Chao-Pang Lo 

Deputy General 

Manager, 
Meng-Ju Wu 

Deputy General 
Manager, 

Pin-chuan Chen 

Associate 

Manager 
Yu-Lin Huang 

Associate 

Manager 
Pin-Chuan Chen 

Associate 
Manager 

Yang-Fu Fan 

Associate 
Manager 

Chih-Ching Hsu 

Associate 

Manager 
Su-Hsien Hsieh 

Associate 

Manager 
Yu-Shu Liu 

Associate 
Manager 

Peng-Hong Chen 

Associate 

Manager 
Tai-Yuan Wu 

Associate 

Manager 
Hsin-Jung Su 

Note: The employee compensation is an estimated figure. 
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(IV) Comparison of Remuneration for Directors, Supervisors, President and Vice Presidents in the Most 

Recent Two Fiscal Years and Remuneration Policy for Directors, Supervisors, President and Vice 

Presidents:  
 

 The company Companies in the 

consolidated financial 

statements 

Increase (Decrease) 

 
2022 2021 2022 2021 The company 

Companies in the 
consolidated 

financial statements 

Directors 15.99% 18.07% 15.99% 18.07% -11.51% -11.51% 

Supervisors 0.05% 0.36% 0.05% 0.36% -83% -83% 

President and 

vice presidents 
13.57% 13.97% 13.57% 13.97% -2.86% -2.86% 

       Note: The net profit of Topco was NT$595,370 thousands as of December 31, 2021 and NT$466,417 

thousands as of December 31, 2022. 

Description: The amount and the percentage of remunerations to directors and senior managers dropped 

significantly in 2022 due to lower profits. The remuneration to supervisors declined even more 

due to change in the number and the term of supervisors. 

1 .  Remuneration policy, standard and package,：  

(1) Remuneration paid to directors is divided into base compensation, pensions, fees for services rendered 

and earnings distributed.。 

(2) The remuneration paid to general managers and deputy general managers is divided into fixed salary 

and variable salary. Fixed salary is the monthly salary regardless of a profit or loss; variable salary is 

the compensation granted to employees, business development reward and year-end performance 

bonus, and the amount depends on the Company’s profitability and performance review. 

2 .  The linkage to operating performance and future risk exposure:  

( 1 )  The employee bonus of earnings distributed is 5% to 10% without 5% higher than the compensation 

paid to directors according to Article 23 of the Company's Articles of Association. In case of 

accumulated loss of the company, the amount shall be reserved to compensate for the amount, 

followed by calculating the compensation to employees and directors based on the balance.  

(2)  The Company determines the year-end performance bonus and employee compensation quota based 

on annual operating performance. The determined quota regardless of year-end performance bonuses 

or employee compensation shall be submitted to the Remuneration Committee for discussion. 

( 3 )  The Company’s remuneration procedures have included the performance review of directors and 

managers: 

Directors: The Company’s Chairman and other directors who are also CEO represent the Company's 

responsible person and managers, respectively. They are also responsible for business decisions and 

operational management. Chairman/CEO is held accountable for all business risks. This is the reason 

for a high variable element of directors’ remuneration,  i.e., related to the Company’s operational 

results and profits. Independent directors primarily exercise power according to laws and hence the 

remuneration is fixed,  not related to company profits.  

Managers: Managers’ remuneration is primarily based on annual performance reviews. A 

performance review consists of quantitative and non-quantitative indicators.  

A. Quantitative indicators: primarily target achievement in revenue, gross margin and development of 

new products and new customers 
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B. Non-Quantitative indicators: not related to business performance. Primarily including leadership, 

involvement in external ESG activities and internal company activities, personal competence 

enhancement (e.g., passing of foreign language proficiency tests, studying for EMBA for 

management knowledge and skills) 

3.3 Corporate governance operations: 

(I) Operation status of board meetings: Number of meetings, attendance rate of each director, objectives and 

execution of strengthening the function of the Board of Directors during the current and the most recent 

years 

1. Information of the operation status of the Board of Directors 

In 2021 and 2022 until the date on which the annual report was printed, there were 6 meetings in total 

(A), and the participation status of directors and supervisors is listed below: 

Title Name 
Attendance 

in person (B) 
By proxy 

Attendance rate in 

person [B/A]% 
Notes 

Chairman Chen-Cheng Pan 6 0 100% Reelection 

Director 
Chun-Chien Wang, 

Rep. of Topco 

Development Co., Ltd. 

0 2 0% Term Expiration  

Director 

Chun-Ming Weng, 

Rep. of Topco 

Development Co., Ltd. 

4 0 100% Newly appointed 

Director Chun-Ming Weng 2 0 100% Term Expiration 

Director Juo-pei Wang 6 0 100% Reelection 

Director 
Tadaki Inoue , Rep. of 

Shin-Etsu Chemical 

Co., Ltd. 

6 0 100% Reelection 

Director 

Chung-Sheng Lin 

Rep. of Long Ma-

Hao Investment Co., 

Ltd. 

4 0 100% Newly appointed 

Director 

Tzu-Cheng Chiu, 

Rep. of De Rong 

Investment Co., Ltd. 

4 0 100% Newly appointed 

Director Sheng-Ho Chang 6 0 100% Reelection 

Director Ching-Hung Lin 6 0 100% Reelection 

Director Ching-Hsiung Wen 6 0 100% Reelection 

Director Tsai-Meng Wang 4 0 100% Newly appointed 

Independent director Meng-Shiou Lee  6 0 100% Reelection 

Independent director Ming-Hui Guo 6 0 100% Reelection 

Independent director Shou-Lu Chang 4 0 100% Newly appointed 

Supervisor Chung-Sheng Lin 2 0 100% Term Expiration 

Supervisor Chang-Wei Wu 2 0 100% Term Expiration 

Supervisor 
Tzu-Cheng Chiu, 
Rep. of De Rong 

Investment Co., Ltd. 

2 0 100% Term Expiration 
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Other items that shall be recorded: 

I. If one of the following situations occurs during the board meetings, the date, period, contents of the proposal, opinions of 

all the independent directors and the Company’s corresponding actions should be clarified: 

(I) Matters listed in Article 14-3 of Securities and Exchange Act: The Company established the audit committee on 

2022.5.31. 

Board Meeting Summary of motions 
Independent director’s 

opinions 

Response to the independent 

director’s opinons 

The 17st meeting 

of the 10 th term. 

2022/03/09 

The earnings distribution of 2021. Approved as proposed To be executed in accordance 

with the resolution reached. 

To discuss the compensation to 

directors, supervisor and managers and 

adjust the salaries of 2022. 

Approved as proposed To be executed in accordance 

with the resolution reached. 

Amendment the Articles of 

Incorporation. 
Approved as proposed To be executed in accordance 

with the resolution reached. 

 (II)In addition to matters mentioned above, others that are opposed or reserved by the independent directors and have 

records or written statements. The Company did not have any board meeting resolution matters that are opposed or 

reserved by independent directors.  

II. For the implementation status of director’s avoidance of conflict of interest, the director’s name, contents of the proposal, 

reasons of avoidance of conflict of interest and participation in the voting are required to be clarified:  

(I) Board of Directors’ meeting on Sept.12,2022 

Proposal: Obtained the right-to-use assets of the real estate from related company 

Directors’ avoidance of motions in conflict of interest: Chen-Cheng Pan, Chun-Ming Weng, Chung-Sheng Lin, Juo-

pei Wang and Tzu-Cheng Chiu 

Contents of motion, cause for avoidance and voting: Based on Article 206 of the Company Act., except for the directors 

Chen-Cheng Pan, Chun-Ming Weng, Chung-Sheng Lin, Juo-pei 

Wang and Tzu-Cheng Chiu who shall not participate in voting on 

the proposal the rest of dirctors unanimously approved this motion.  
 

III.The Company has proposed the Regulations for the Board Performance Evaluation and conducted performance appraisals 

regularly. The evaluation is carried out every three years by external professional independent institutions or external 

experts and scholar teams. The company entrusted Taiwan Corporate Governance Association to carry out the external 

evaluation of the performance of the Board of Directors between November 1, 2019 and October 31, 2020 and received the 

evaluation report on December 25, 2020. The company has adopted improvement measures on the suggestions proposed 

in the report since 2021. It has also announced the results on the company website. 
 

Evaluation 

Cycle 

Evaluation Period Evaluation 

Range 

Evaluation 

Mathod 

Evaluation Content 

Once a year 

External evaluation 

2023/11/1~2020/10/30 

Internal evaluation 

2022/1/1~2022/12/31 

Performance 

evaluation 

toward 

Board ,members 

of Board and  

functional 

committees 

1. Self-evaluation 

from Board and 

members of the 

Board. 

2. The evaluation 

is carried out 

every three years 

by external 

professional 

independent 

institutions or 

external experts 

and scholar teams. 

1. The five items for measurement 

on Board performance 

evaluation: 

(1) the level of participation in 

the Company’s operation; 

(2) the improvement for the 

quality of decision-making 

Board;  

(3) the composition and 

structure of Board;  

(4) the selection of directors 

and their training efforts;  

(5) the internal control. 

2. The six items for measurement 

on members of Board 
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performance evaluation: 

(1) the understanding of the 

Company’s target and tasks; 

(2) the recognition of directors’ 

responsibilities;  

(3) the level of participation in 

the Company’s operation  

(4) the internal relationship 

management and 

communication  

(5) the professional and 

continuing education of 

directors 

(6) the internal control 

3. The five items for measurement 

on audit committees 

performance evaluation: 

(1) the level of participation in 

the Company’s operation; 

(2) the recognition of audit 

committees’ responsibilities;  

(3) the improvement for the 

quality of decision-making 

audit committees; 

(4) the composition and 

structure of audit committees; 

(5) Internal controls. 

4. The four items for measurement 

on compensation committees 

(1) the level of participation in 

the Company’s operation; 

(2) the recognition of 

compensation committees’ 

responsibilities;  

(3) the improvement for the 

quality of decision-making 

compensation committees; 

(4) the composition and 

structure of compensation 

committees; 

5. The four items for 

measurement on nomination 

committees 

(1) the level of participation in 

the Company’s operation; 

(2) the recognition of 

nomination committees’ 

responsibilities; 

(3) the improvement for the 

quality of decision-making 

nomination committees; 

(4) the composition and 

structure of nomination 

committees; 
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IV.Measures undertaken during the current year and the past year in order to strengthen the functions of the Board of 

Directors (such as the establishment of an audit committee and improvement of information transparency, etc.) and 

assessment of their implementation. 

1.The Sustainable Development Committee was established on Mar. 9, 2022 by the Company. The establishment of Risk 

Management Committee, comprised of all independent directors, is anticipated in 2023. 

2. To enhance the information transpatency, the Company publishes important dissolutions of Board of Directors on 

company website. www.topcocorp.com 

3. The company has insured “Directors and Officers Liability Insurance” for the diversification of the legal liabilities of 

Directors and increasing corporate governance capacity.  

4. To enhance the professional ability of directors and supervisors as well as the implement corporate goverance, the 

Company has invited lectures for directors and supervisors to attend training courses in 2022. 

5.The company nominates the directors in diversification to strengthen the functions of the Board of Directors.  

6. The Audit Committee will be established after shareholders’ meeting 2022. 

 

 

(II) Information of the operation of Audit Committee or the supervisors’ participation in the Board of Directors: 

1. Supervisors 

The Board of Directors convened 2 regular meetings in total during the period mentioned above. The 

participation status of supervisors is as below:  

(The Company eatablished audit committee on May. 31,2022) 

Title Name 
Attendance in 

person (B) 
Attendance rate in person (%) 

[B/A](Note) 
Notes 

Supervisor Chung-Sheng Lin 2 100% Term Expiration 

Supervisor Chang-Wei Wu 2 100% Term Expiration 

Supervisor 
Tzu-Cheng Chiu, Rep. of De Rong 

Investment Co., Ltd. 
2 100% Term Expiration 

Other items that shall be recorded: 

I. Composition and responsibilities of supervisors: 

(I) Communication between supervisors and company employees and shareholders: The supervisors may contact the 

employees and shareholders directly if necessary. 

(II) Communication between supervisors, internal auditor manager and CPA: 

1.The internal auditor manager attends the board meeting and makes a report. The supervisors have no objections. 

2. The supervisor and the internal auditor manager irregularly communicate with the CPA face-to-face or via tele-

conference on the financial and business status. 

II. If a supervisor attends the board meeting and makes a statement, the date, period, contents of the proposal, resolutions of 

the board, and the Company's handling of the opinions expressed by the supervisor shall be clarified: If the Company’s 

supervisors attend the board meeting and make a statement, all the statements will be recorded in the board meeting 

handbook. 

 
2. Audit Committee 

The Company’s Audit Committee was established after the 2022 shareholders’ meeting and then comprised 

of three independent directors. Audit Committee aims to assist the Board of Directors in the supervision over 

the quality and integrity of the Company’s accounting, audit, financial reporting procedures and financial 

control. The highlight of its annual work plan is to oversee the appropriate presentation of the Company’s 

financial statements; independence and performance of external accountants; effective implementation of the 

Company’s internal control; the Company’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations; and control of 

existing or potential risks to the Company. 

The Audit Committee met four (A) times in 2022. The attendance of independent directors is as follows: 

http://www.topcocorp.com/
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Title Name 

Number of Meetings 

Attended in Person

（Ｂ） 

Number of Meetings 

Attended by Proxy 

Rate of Attendance in 

Person (%) 

（Ｂ/Ａ） 

Notes 

Independent 

Director 

Ming-Hui Guo 4 0 100% Newly appointed 

Independent 

Director 
Meng-Shiou Lee 4 0 100% Newly appointed 

Independent 

Director 
Shou-Lu Chang 4 0 100% Newly appointed 

Other matters that require reporting: 

I. If any of the following circumstances occur, the dates of meetings, Terms, contents of motion, resolutions of 

the Audit Committee and the Company’s response to the Audit Committee’s opinion should be specified: 

      

Date/Session No. Summary of Proposals 
Audit Committee 

Resolution 

The Company’s 

Response 

The 1st Meeting of the 

1 st Audit Committee  

May 31,2022 

Election the Convener of audit committee. Approved as proposed Approved 

The 2nd Meeting of the 

1 st Audit Committee  

Aug. 2,2022 

Approve the issuance of the first domestic 

unsecured convertible corporate bonds. 
Approved as proposed Approved 

The 3rd Meeting of 

the 1 st Audit 

Committee 

Sept.12,2022 

Obtained the right-to-use assets of the  

real estate from related Company. 

 

Approved as proposed Approved 

 

None of the proposals fail to be approved by the Audit Committee but were instead passed by the resolution 

of more than two thirds of all Board members. 

II. For the status of independent directors’ recusal with respect to relationship of interest, the names, agenda 

items, reasons to enter recusal, and status of voting shall be stated: None. 

III. Communication between independent directors and the chief internal auditor and CPAs 

(I) Communication method 

1. The independent directors and CPAs have the regular meeting every year, to report the financial 

situation and audit results of the Company and its subsidiaries, and to explain about materially 

adjusting journal entries and influence legislation amendment on accounts. In the case of emergency, 

the meeting may be convenced any time.  

2. The independent directors and the internal auditor manager have at least one meeting every quarter, 

to report the results of execution of internal audit and operation of internal control. In the case of 

emergency, the meeting may be convenced any time. 

(II) The summaries of communication between independent directors and supervisors and CPAs: 
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Date Communication Content The Company’s Response 

2022/03/09 

 

1. CPAs audit 2021 financial statement 

2. Explain the Key Audit Matters.(KAMs) 

3. Explain the amendment to Securities and 

Exchange Act.                            

None 

2022/05/06 

(WrittenCommunication) 

1. CPAs review 2021 first quarters financial 

statement 

2.  Explain the amendment to Securities and 

Exchange Act. 

None 

2022/08/02  

(WrittenCommunication) 

1. CPAs review 2021 first two quarters 

financial statement 

2. Explain the amendment to Securities and 

Exchange Act. 

None 

2022/11/01  

 

1. CPAs review 2021 first three quarters 

financial statement 

2. Explain the Key Audit Matters.(KAMs) 

3. Discussion and communication between the 

external auditor and independent directors on 

the issues raised. 

None 

2023/03/02  

 

1. CPAs audit 2021 financial statement 

2. Explain the Key Audit Matters.(KAMs) 

3. Explain the amendment to Securities and 

Exchange Act. 

4. The communication the Independent of CPA. 

None 

         
 
The summaries of communication between independent directors and supervisors and internal auditor 

manager: 

Date Communication Content The Company’s Response 

2022/03/09 2021/11-2022/02 To report the results of 

execution of internal audit 

None. 

2022/05/06 2022/03-2022/04 To report the results of 

execution of internal audit 

None. 

2022/08/02 2022/05-2022/07 To report the results of 

execution of internal audit 

None. 

2022/11/01 2022/08-2022/10 To report the results of 

execution of internal audit 

None. 

2023/03/02  

 

2022/11-2023/02 To report the results of 

execution of internal audit 

None. 

 

 

 

3. The state of the Company's implementation of corporate governance, any departure of such 

implementation from the Corporate Governance Best-Practice Principles for TWSE/GTSM Listed 

Companies, and the reason for any such departure 
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Item 

Implementation Status Difference from the 

Corporate Governance Best-

Practice Principles for 

TWSE/GTSM Listed 

Companies and the reasons 

Yes No Summary 

I. Does the company follow the 

“Corporate Governance Best-

Practice Principles for 

TWSE/GTSM Listed 

Companies” to establish and 

disclose its corporate governance 

practices? 

✓  The Company has established a code of practice for 

corporate governance and announced it on the 

company website. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

II. Shareholding structure and 

shareholders’ interests 

(I) Does the company set up 

internal operation 

procedures for 

recommendations, concerns, 

disputes, and litigation 

raised by shareholders, and 

implement such matters in 

accordance with the 

procedures? 

✓  The Company has set up the position of 

spokesperson and the Company's agent for stock 

affairs, "Taishin International Bank's Stock Agency 

Department" to handle the relevant issues and 

suggestions from the shareholders. If any legal 

issues are involved, the lawyers appointed by the 

Company will be invited to assist. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(II) Does the company have a 

roster of its major, actual 

controlling shareholders as 

well as the ultimate 

controllers? 

✓  The Financial Division has the control over the 

roster of major actual controlling shareholders and 

the ultimate controllers of the Company, and shall 

apply for the stockholder declaration in accordance 

with the Operational Procedures for Information 

Reporting of TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(III) Has the company built and 

executed risk management 

and firewall system between 

the Company and its 

affiliates? 

✓  Both the Company and its affiliates are independent 

business and financial operating entities. The 

Company has established the “ Procedures for 

Transaction with Related Parties, Specific 

Companies and Groups.” The risk control 

mechanisms and firewalls between related 

companies have been properly built. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(IV) Has the company 

established internal rules 

prohibiting insider trading 

on undisclosed information?  

✓  The Company has set up the “Material Information 

Management Procedure” to prohibit insiders from 

exploiting undisclosed market information to buy 

and sell securities, and has announced it on the 

company website. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

III. Composition and responsibilities 

of the Board of Directors 

(I) Has the company 

established a diversification 

policy for the composition 

of its Board of Directors and 

implemented it accordingly? 

✓  The Company’s board has set up a board 

diversification policy and announced it on the 

company website. The relevant information can be 

referred to the annual report. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(II) Other than the 

Compensation Committee 

and the Audit Committee 

which are established in 

accordance with laws, does 

the company plan to set up 

other functional 

committees? 

✓  The Company has set up the Nomination Committee 

in November, 2016 and Sustainable Development 

Committee in March, 2022. The relevant 

information can be referred to the annual report. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(III) Has the company 

established methodology for 

evaluating the performance 

of its Board of Directors on 

the annual basis and advised 

to submit the results of 

performance assessments to 

the board of directors and 

use them as reference in 

determining compensation 

for individual directors, their 

nomination and additional 

office term? 

✓  1. The Company has proposed the Regulations for 

the Board Performance Evaluation and 

conducted performance appraisals regularly. It 

has also announced the results on the company 

website.  

2. The Company had completed Board 

Performance Evaluation of 2022. The company 

is advised to submit the results of performance 

assessments to the board of directors and use 

them as reference in determining compensation 

for individual directors, their nomination and 

additional office term. 

No obvious discrepancy. 
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Item 

Implementation Status Difference from the 

Corporate Governance Best-

Practice Principles for 

TWSE/GTSM Listed 

Companies and the reasons 

Yes No Summary 

(IV) Does the company regularly 

evaluate its auditor’s 

independence? 

✓  The Company’s Board of Directors and Audit 

Committee assess the independence and suitability 

of the external accountants each year. The external 

accountants are required to issue Statement of 

Independence and provide AQIs (Audit Quality 

Indicators) according to the standards listed in Note 

1 and the assessment on the 13 AQIs.  It has been 

confirmed that other than the audit fees and tax 

service fees, the external accountants have no other 

financial interest or business relations with the 

Company. The family members of the external 

accountants also did not violate the independence 

requirements. The AQI information confirms that 

the external accountants and the accounting firm 

outperform the industry average in terms of 

personnel turnover and professional support. Digital 

audit tools have been introduced recently to enhance 

audit quality.  The assessment results during the 

most recent year were discussed and approved by 

Audit Committee on March 2, 2023 and then 

reported to the Board of Directors on March 2, 2023 

for resolution regarding the independence and 

suitability of external accountants.  

 

No obvious discrepancy. 

IV. Does the company established a 

full-time (concurrent) corporate 

governance unit or personnel to 

be in charge of corporate 

governance affairs (including but 

not limited to providing 

information required for business 

execution by directors and 

supervisors, handling matters 

related to board meetings and 

shareholders’ meetings in 

accordance with laws, handling 

corporate registration and 

amendment registration, and 

producing handbooks of board 

meetings and shareholders 

meetings, etc.)? 

✓  1. The Board of Directors appointed the Deputy 

Manager of stock affairs unit as the corporate 

governance director on March 2th, 2023 and 

passed “Fiancial officers shall serve as corporate 

governance officers responsible for corporate 

governance related matters. 

2. The Company’s corporate goverance team is 

responsible for implementing various governance 

related matters, including board of directors and 

shareholders’ meeting related matters in 

accordance with the law, producing board of 

directors and shareholders’ meeting records, 

conducting company change registration, 

regularly review and revise the Company’s code 

of corporate goverance and relevant guidlelines 

for compliance by the board of directors and the 

Remuneration Committee when executing data for 

business needs and in compliance with relevant 

laws and regulations, thereby enahcing 

ifnoramtion disclosure transparency, protecting 

the rights and interests of sharehodlers, and 

implementing corporate governance. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

V. Has the company provided 

proper communication channels 

with stakeholders (including but 

not limited to shareholders, 

employees, customers and 

suppliers, etc.), and created 

dedicated sections on its website 

to address corporate social 

responsibility issues that are of 

significant concern to 

stakeholders? 

✓  The Company communicates with each of its 

stakeholders, including but not limited to clients, 

suppliers and employees, etc., through 

the ”Stakeholder Engagement / Contact Information 

for Investors” section on the company website to 

properly answer the questions raised by the 

stakeholders. 

 

VI. Has the company appointed a 

professional shareholders service 

agent to process the affairs 

related to shareholders’ 

meetings? 

  The Company appoints the "Taishin International 

Bank's Stock Agency Department" to handle 

relevant stock affairs including those for 

shareholders’ meetings. 

No obvious discrepancy. 
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Item 

Implementation Status Difference from the 

Corporate Governance Best-

Practice Principles for 

TWSE/GTSM Listed 

Companies and the reasons 

Yes No Summary 

VII. Information disclosure 

(I) Has the company 

established a company 

website to disclose 

information regarding its 

financial, operational and 

corporate governance status? 

✓  The Company has revealed the Company's financial, 

operational and corporate governance issues in the 

“Shareholder Service” section. Please refer to the 

following website for more detail: 

http://www.topcocorp.com 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(II) Does the company use other 

information disclosure 

channels (e.g. maintaining 

an English-language 

website, designating staff to 

handle information 

collection and disclosure, 

appointing spokespersons, 

and webcasting investor 

conference to be put on the 

company website, etc.)? 

✓  The Company’s website is set with traditional 

Chinese, Simplified Chinese, English, Indonesian 

and Vietnamese versions, and a responsible staff is 

designated to handle information disclosure. The 

website has also disclosed the spokesperson's 

information. If an investor conference is convened, 

the contents will also be revealed on the website as 

required. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(III) Does the company advice to 

publish and report its annual 

financial report within two 

months after the end of a 

fiscal year, and publish and 

report its financial reports 

for the first, second and third 

quarters as well as its 

operating status for each 

month before the specified 

deadline? 

✓  Despite the company’s failure to announce and 

declare its financial report within two months after 

the end of the fiscal year, announcement and 

declaration at least of 7 days before the provisioned 

deadline will be done. The company will complete 

the announcement of the company’s operational 

status before 10 days every month.  

 

VIII. Has the company disclosed 

other information to facilitate a 

better understanding of its 

corporate governance practices 

(including but not limited to 

employee rights, employee care, 

investor relations, supplier 

relations, rights of stakeholders, 

training of directors and 

supervisors, implementation of 

risk management policies and 

risk evaluation measures, 

implementation of customer 

relations policies, and purchasing 

insurance for directors and 

supervisors)? 

✓  (1) Employee rights: 

 The Company always treats employees with 

good faith and protects employees’ rights and 

interests in accordance with the Labor Standards 

Act. 

(2) Employee care: 

 The Company has built a mutual trust 

relationship with the employees through various 

welfare systems and educational and training 

systems, such as arranging cultural and 

recreational activities, providing healthcare 

subsidies and EAP, etc. 

(3) Investor relationship: 

 The Company has appointed a responsible staff 

to handle proposals from shareholders. 

(4) Supplier relationship: 

 The Company has always maintained good 

relationship and communication channels with 

its suppliers. 

(5) Rights of related parties: 

 In order to maintain the legitimate rights and 

interests, related parties have access to the 

Company for communication and proposals. 

(6) Implementation status of risk control policies 

and risk measuring standards: 

 The Company has defined various internal 

regulations in accordance with laws to conduct 

risk management and evaluation. 

(7) Implementation status of customer policies: 

 The Company has maintained a stable and good 

relationship with its customers to create 

corporate profits. 

(8) Status of the liability insurance for directors and 

managers purchased by the Company: The 

Company has purchased liability insurances for 

directors and supervisors since 2017. 

No obvious discrepancy. 
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Item 

Implementation Status Difference from the 

Corporate Governance Best-

Practice Principles for 

TWSE/GTSM Listed 

Companies and the reasons 

Yes No Summary 

IX. Please state the corrective actions 

already taken and also propose 

the matters to be improved as the 

first priority and 

countermeasures against them, 

based on the corporate 

governance evaluation results 

released by the Corporate 

Governance Center of TWSE in 

the most recent year. 

The Company has ranked in top 5% in Fifth Corporate Governance Evaluation of TPEx listed 

company these three years. The company will continue to work on items that require 

improvements, such as it already entrusted an external unit for the performance evaluation of the 

Board of Directors.  

 

 

Note1：A. CPA Independence Evaluation 

Item 
The  

evaluation 

Whether meet the 

independence 

1. As of the last certification, no change has been made over the past seven years. Conformity Conformity 

2. There is no major conflict of interest with the principal. Conformity Conformity 

3. Avoid any inaporpaite relation with the principal. Conformity Conformity 

4. The accountant shall ensure their assistants are honest, impartial, and independent. Conformity Conformity 

5. The financial report of the institution of service two years prior shall not be certified Conformity Conformity 

6. The accountant’s name shall not be used by others. Conformity Conformity 

7. There shall be no event of the holding of the Company’s shares and those of its conglomerates. Conformity Conformity 

8. There is shall be no event of loaning from the Compay and its conglomerates. Conformity Conformity 

9. There shall be no joint investment or profit sharing with the Company or its conglomerates. Conformity Conformity 

10. A fixed shall be received provided there is no concurrent work at the Company or regular  

work at its conglomerates. 

Conformity Conformity 

11. Functional powers not involving the decision-making of the Company or its conglomerates. Conformity Conformity 

12. Other businesses concurrently undertaken that may lead to deprivation of independence. Conformity Conformity 

13. There is no spouse, direct blood relatives, relatives by marriage, or second-degree relatives 

 who serve as the Company’s management personnel. 

Conformity Conformity 

14. No business related commsions are received. Conformity Conformity 

15. To date, there is no event of disciplinary action or damage to the principle of independence. Conformity Conformity 

B. AQIs assessment: 

The AQIs assessed by the Company are primarily the accounting firm’s professionalism, quality control, 

independence, supervision and innovation capabilities. The emphasis is on audit experience, professional support, 

training hours, audit involvement and any deficiencies identified by external inspections and penalties. Based on 

these indicators, the external accountants and the accounting firm outperform the industry average on most fronts. 

 

4. Disclosure of the organization, functions, and operation of the remuneration and nominated 

committee, if applicable 

(I) Information about Remuneration Committee members 

https://www.topcocorp.com/en-global/news/detail/NEW_20190514
https://www.topcocorp.com/en-global/news/detail/NEW_20190514
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Identity 

 

   

Criteria 

 

Name 

Professional Qualification and 

Experience Professional  
Status of independence 

Number of other 

public listed 

companies in which 

concurrently serving 

as a Remuneration 

Committee members  

Independent 

director 

(Comvener) 

Ming-Hui 

Guo 

Please refer to page17, the related 

information about directors.  

Please refer to page 17, the 

related information about 

directors. 

None 

Independent 

director 

Meng-

Shiou Lee 

Please refer to page 17, the related 

information about directors. 

Please refer to page 17, the 

related information about 

directors. 

1 

Independent 

director 

Shou-lu 

Chang 

Please refer to page18, the related 

information about directors. 

Please refer to page 18, the 

related information about 

directors. 

None 

Note : The responsibilities of Remuneration Committee：  

The Remuneration Committee shall pay attention as good managers and faithfully perform the following functional 

powers and submit recommendations to the Board of Directors for discussion. 

(1) The Remuneration Committee shall pay attention as good managers and faithfully perform the following functional 

powers and submit recommendations to the Board of Directors for discussion. 

(2) Set up and regularly review the evaluation standard for the performance of the Company’s directors, supervisors, 

and managers, the annual and long-term performance goals, and the remuneration policy, system, standard, and 

structure. 

(3) Regularly evaluate the performance accomplishment of the Company’s directors, supervisors, and managers and set 

individual remuneration contents and amounts based on the evaluation results obtained through the performance 

evaluation standard.  

(4) Ensure the Company’s remuneration arrangements are in line with relvant laws and regulations and are sufficient in 

attracting outstanding talents. 

(5) The evaluation of the performance of directors, supervisors, and mangers and remuneration shall be in reference to 

usual payment standards of others in the same line of work. Additionally, personal performance evaluation results, 

input time, job duties undertaken, personal goal accomplishment, performance serving other posts, and 

remunerations given by the Company to those holding the same posts in recent years are taken into account. Through 

the Company’s short-term and long-term business goal accomplishment and financial situation, the connection and 

reasonability of personal performance, the Company’s business performance, and future risks are evaluated. 

(6) Directros and managers shall not engage in conducts that violate the risk appetite in the pursuit of remunerations. 

(7) Targeting the ratios of directors and senior managers’ sohrt-term performance-based remunerations and partially 

changed remuneration payment time, the industry’s characteristics and the Company’s business nature shall be taken 

into consideration during decision-making. 

(8) Set up the contents and amonuts of remunerations for the directors, supervisors, and managers, taking into account 

their reasonability. Decisions on remunerations for directros, supervisors, and mangers shall not seriously contradict 

fincial performance. In the event of major profits, decline or long-term losses, remunerations are not to be higher 

than the previous year; if they are higher than the previous year, a descritipion of their reasonability shall be disclosed 

in the annual report and shall be reported at the Board of Directors Meeting. 

(II) Information about the operations of Remuneration Committee 

I. The Company’s Remuneration Committee consists of 3 members. 

II. The term of current members is from May 31, 2022 until May 30, 2025. The Committee has convened meetings 

three times (A) during the most recent year.  

The membership and participation of the Committee are listed below: 

Title Name 
Attendance in Person 

(B) 
By proxy 

Actual attendance rate 

(%) 

(B/A) 

(Note) 

Notes 

Independent 

director 

(Comvener) 
Ming-Hui Guo 3 0 100% Re-election 

Independent 

director 
Meng-Shiou Lee 3 0 100% Re-election 

Independent 

director 
Shou-lu Chang 3 0 100% Re-election 
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Other items that shall be recorded: 

I.  If the Board of Directors does not adopt or amend the Remuneration Committee's suggestions, please specify the meeting 

date, term, contents of the proposal, resolution of board meeting and the company's handling of the Remuneration 

Committee's opinions (if the remuneration approved by the Board of Directors is superior than that suggested by the 

Remuneration Committee, please specify the discrepancy and reason): None. 

II. If the Committee members oppose to or reserve the resolution of the Remuneration Committee and have records or make 

statements, the date, period, contents of the proposal, all committees’ opinions and the action to the opposing opinions 

should be clarified:  

Date Communication Content 
Remuneration 

Committee’s opnion 
The Company’s Response 

The 8th meeting 

of the 4 th term. 

2022/3/9 

1.To discuss the 2022 salaries 

adjustment of the managers. 

2. To discuss the 2021compensation to 

directors, supervisor and managers. 

Approved as proposed 

To discuss the 

Remuneration Committee 

resolution in the Board.  

The 1st meeting 

of the 5 th term. 

2022/5/31 

Election the Convener of  

remuneration committee. 
Approved as proposed None. 

The 2nd meeting 

of the 5 th term. 

2022/8/2 

To discuss the 2021 emploee bonuss 

to directors, supervisor and managers. Approved as proposed 

To discuss the 

Remuneration Committee 

resolution in the Board. 
 

 (III) Information about the operations of Nomination Committee 

I. Specify the qualification and responsibilities of the members of the Nomination Committee of the 

Company. 

The Company board passed the resolution of setting up the “Nomination Committee” on Nov. 7, 

2016. According to the Nomination Committee Charter, the Committee consists of at least three 

directors elected by the board and more than half of them shall be independent directors.   

The Committee shall, based on the authorization by the Board of Directors, exercise the due care of 

a good administrator, loyally fulfill the following duties, and submit the suggestions to the Board of 

Directors for discussion: 

A. Stipulate the standards for the diverse background and independence, such as professional 

knowledge, skills, experience, and gender, required for the Directors and senior management, and 

such standards shall be the basis for seeking, reviewing and nominating the candidates of Directors 

and senior management. 

B. Set up and develop the organizational structure of the Board of Directors and the committees, 

conduct performance evaluation on the Board of Directors, committees, and senior managements, 

and evaluate the independence of Independent Directors. 

C. Stipulate and regularly review the educational training of Directors and the successors of Directors 

and senior managements. 

II. The term of the current members: May 31, 2022 ~ May 30, 2025. The Committee convened meetings twices 

(A) during the most recent year. The membership and participation of the Committee members are listed below: 

Title Name 

Professional 

Qualification and 

Experience 

Attendance in 

Person (B) 
By proxy 

Attendance rate in 

person (%) [B/A] 
Notes 

Convener Ming-Hui Guo 
Please refer to p.17, the 

related information 

about directors. 

2 0 100% Re-election 

Committee Meng-Shiou Lee 
Please refer to p.17, the 

related information 

about directors. 

2 0 100% Re-election 
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Title Name 

Professional 

Qualification and 

Experience 

Attendance in 

Person (B) 
By proxy 

Attendance rate in 

person (%) [B/A] 
Notes 

Committee Chun-Ming Weng 
Please refer to p.16, the 

related information 

about directors. 

1 0 100% 
Term 

expiration 

Committee Shou-lu Chang 
Please refer to p.18, the 

related information 

about directors. 

1 0 100% 
Newly 

appointed 

If the Committee members oppose to or reserve the resolution of the Nomination Committee and have records or make 

statements, the date, period, contents of the proposal, all committees’ opinions and the action to the opposing opinions 

should be clarified:  

Date Communication Content 
Remuneration 

Committee’s opnion 
The Company’s Response 

The 7th meeting 

of the 2 th term. 

2022/3/9 

Discuss the deputy general manager 

promotion.  
Approved as proposed 

To discuss the Nomination 

Committee resolution in the 

Board.  

The1st meeting 

of the 3 th term. 

2022/5/31 

Election the Comvener of  

nomination committee. 
Approved as proposed None. 
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5. Corporate Social Responsibility & Deviation from the Sustainable Development Best Practice 

Principles for TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies and Reasons for Deviation: 

 

Item 
Implementation Status 

Differences from the 

Corporate Social 

Responsibility Best Practice 

Principles for TWSE/GTSM-

Listed Companies and the 

reasons 

Yes No Summary  

I. Does the company have a 

dedicated (or concurrent) 

Sustainable Development 

organization which is taken 

charge of by the senior 

management under the 

authorization of the board and 

reports to the Board of Directors? 

✓  1. The Board of Directors of the Company passed 

the resolution of establishing a Sustainable 

Development Committee directly under the Board 

in 2022. 

2. The members of the Committee are comprised of 

the Chairperson and high-ranking executives of 

the Company, and the Chairperson of the 

Company serves as the Chairman of the 

Committee. 

3. The Committee convenes at least once per year to 

review and stipulate the implementation status and 

direction of the sustainable development. The 

opinions from the Board of Directors will also be 

considered for review and adjustment. The 

Committee reports the resolution and operation 

status to the Board of Directors at least once per 

year. 

4. The Company has established the following 

management targets for sustainable development: 

(1) Whilst not a manufacturer, the Company still 

needs to take substantial actions in carbon 

reduction. 

(2) The Company shall participate in at least one 

social event each year. 

(3) The Company aims to maintain its top 5% status 

among TPEx-listed companies in the corporate 

governance evaluation each year. 

   Relevant strategies and progress reports have been 

developed for these targets. Appropriate suggests 

have been proposed too. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

II. Does the company assess ESG 

risks associated with its operations 

based on the principle of 

materiality, and establish related 

risk management policies or 

strategies? 

✓  The Company has put in place its risk management 

regulations, approved by the Board of Directors. 

The parent company in Taiwan has conducted 

assessments of environments, social and governance 

risks related to operations based on the materiality 

principle. Additionally, risk management strategies 

have been set up.  

(Please refer to Appendix 1 of this table for material 

risks) 

No obvious discrepancy. 

III. Environment Issue 

(I) Is the company committed 

to improving resource-using 

efficiency and to the use of 

renewable materials with 

low environmental impact? 

✓  The Company is a distributor that strives to improve 

the efficiency of energy usage. The Company does 

not produce any wastewater, chemicals, gas, noise, 

and wastes harmful to the environment and human 

beings during business activities. However, the 

Company still performs greenhouse gas inspection 

and tracks the emission reduction result in 

accordance with ISO-14064-1 every year and 

disclose the result in the Sustainability report and 

the official website of the Company. 

No obvious discrepancy. 
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Item 
Implementation Status 

Differences from the 

Corporate Social 

Responsibility Best Practice 

Principles for TWSE/GTSM-

Listed Companies and the 

reasons 

Yes No Summary  

(II) Does the company endeavor 

to improve the efficiency of 

resource utilization and use 

recycled materials which 

have a low impact on the 

environment? 

✓  Despite the Company is not in the Manufacturing 

industry and does not cause direct pollution to the 

environment, the Company still stipulate the 

“Management Policy for Energy Conservation and 

Carbon Reduction, Greenhouse Gas Reduction, Water 

Consumption Reduction, and Climate Change” for the 

implementation of energy conservation and carbon 

reduction actions. This policy has been disclosed on the 

official website of the Company. Other solid 

environmental protection measures are also 

implemented: 

1. The lighting in the offices of the Company has 

changed to LED lighting. Based on the electricity 

bill every two months, the energy consumption 

has been reduced by 50% or more compared to the 

traditional lighting. 

2. Continue to promote a paperless operation system 

and electronic forms to reduce the number of 

papers used. 

3. Promote compulsory garbage classification to 

improve the recycling efficiency; reduce the 

number of trash cans to reduce trash. 

4. The air-conditioning system has been changed to 

a new intelligent system that meets 

environmental protection and energy 

conservation regulation. This new system expects 

to save 20%-30% of energy and water 

consumption. 

5. Hybrid or pure electric vehicles are prioritized for 

newly leased business cars. 

6. Signing of a five-year contract with Ina Energy 

Corp. for purchase of green energy, starting in 

March 2023.  

No obvious discrepancy. 

(III) Does the company evaluate 

potential risks and 

opportunities brought by 

climate change, and take 

response measures to 

climate-related issues? 

  Starting from this year, the Company conducts risk 

and opportunity evaluation based on the structure of 

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures 

(TCFD) and proposes responding strategies and 

discloses the result on the official website. After 

review by the Chairperson, the evaluation is reported 

to the “Sustainable Development Committee” and the 

annual working project will be stipulated. 

 

(IV) Does the company count the 

greenhouse-gas emission, 

water consumption and 

waste weight in the past two 

years and set up energy 

conservation and greenhouse 

gas reduction strategy?    

✓  For energy conservation and carbon reduction, the 

Company stipulates the “Management Policy for 

Energy Conservation and Carbon Reduction and 

Greenhouse Gas Reduction.” Energy conservation 

and carbon reduction and waste management 

measures for air-conditioning, lighting, water usage 

and multi-function machines are stipulated and 

disclosed on the official website. 

1. In addition, as of the annual printing date, the 

Company has acquired the 2020and 2021 ISO-

14061-1: 2006 Greenhouse Gas Inspection 

Certificate and uploaded the reports to the official 

website of the Company. The 2022 greenhouse 

No obvious discrepancy. 
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Item 
Implementation Status 

Differences from the 

Corporate Social 

Responsibility Best Practice 

Principles for TWSE/GTSM-

Listed Companies and the 

reasons 

Yes No Summary  

gas inspection is in progress. The greenhouse gas 

emission volume of the most recent two years of 

the Company is disclosed as follows: 

Unit: (Metric Ton) 

 2020 2021 

Scope 1 186.77 166.82 

Scope 2 41.83 41.98 

2. The Company is a distributor and not in the 

Manufacturing industry, so the waste generated is 

the domestic waste created by office personnel. 

Therefore, the volume of waste is estimated based 

on the average daily general waste volume per 

person promulgated by the Environmental 

Protection Administration, Executive Yuan. 

The water consumption volume and the weight of 

wastes in the past two years of the Company are 

as follows: 

 2021 2022 

Water consumption 

volume (cubic meter) 
1,301 1,280 

Weight of wastes 

(kg) 
36,131 42,079 

 

IV. Social issues 

(I) Does the company set up 

policies and procedures in 

compliance with regulations 

and internationally 

recognized human rights 

principles? 

✓  All the Company's management policies and 

procedures comply with the spirit of 

international human rights conventions. The 

Company has also proposed the “Human Rights 

Commitments and Policies, ”International Labor 

Standards”, “The UN Global Compact” and 

“Business & Human Rights Resource Centre” , 

which can be referred from the company website 

(in the section of ESG, Human Rights 

Commitments and Policies) and are completely 

implemented in accordance with labor laws. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(II) Does the company have 

reasonable employee benefit 

measures (including salaries, 

leave, and other benefits), 

and do business 

performance or results 

reflect on employee 

salaries? 

✓  1. Apart from complying with local laws and 

regulations, the Company also reviews the 

remuneration based on the market level and 

plans and adjusts the remuneration policy. On 

top of the general salary, the Company also 

distributes bonuses based on operation 

performance and individual performance. The 

remuneration does not differ due to gender, 

religion, race, or nationality. 

2. The Company has stipulated and 

implemented reasonable benefit measures.  

No obvious discrepancy. 

(III) Does the company provide 

employees with a safe and 

healthy working 

environment, and regular 

safety and health trainings? 

✓  The Company stipulates measures to protect 

the occupational safety and health of 

employees in accordance with “Rules for the 

Protection on Labor Health” and 

“Occupational Safety and Health Act.” 

1. Stipulate protection projects for female 

employees in the working place: Provide 

breastfeeding room for female employees. 

2. Precaution project for illegal assault when 

performing duties: Prevent laborers from 

being physically and mentally assaulted by 

the actions of others when performing 

duties 

No obvious discrepancy. 
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Item 
Implementation Status 

Differences from the 

Corporate Social 

Responsibility Best Practice 

Principles for TWSE/GTSM-

Listed Companies and the 

reasons 

Yes No Summary  

3. Precaution project for abnormal overwork 

illness: Prevent employees from being 

overworked. 

4. Precaution project dangers caused by 

human factors: Prevent the work-related 

occurrence of muscle and bone illness 

caused by the long-term exposure in the 

improperly designed working environment, 

repetitive work, bad operation posture, or 

improper work time management. 

5. Labor health protection project: Physical 

examination and regular health 

examination for employees. 

Apart from the above-mentioned matters, the 

Company also works with a professional 

consultant company to provide employees and 

their families with mental health consultant 

service, and it also subsidizes every employee 

NT$6,000 for sports and fitness activities per 

year. The Company has signed a contract with 

Far Eastern Memorial Hospital to provide on-

site health service in 2022. The Company has 

also stipulated the “Protection Measures for 

Working Environment and Personal Safety.” 

There is no occupational injury this year. In 

addition, the Company also irregularly 

implement safety and health education for 

employees during the monthly and quarterly 

meetings. 

(IV) Does the company set up 

effective career 

development and training 

programs for its 

employees? 

✓  To cultivate talents and strengthen the 

professional competence of employees, the 

Company has set up the “On-the-job 

Training Practices” to dedicatedly arrange 

various internal training courses. The 

Company also encourages the staff to 

participate in diversified external trainings, 

including the courses on professional 

knowledge and skills, short-term studies, 

and long-term degree and language 

courses. The Company also provides 

training subsidies for the above-mentioned 

courses to the staff. The Company 

develops a diversified learning 

environment and helps its personnel to 

learn and grow continually to achieve the 

Company's business growth and personal 

development needs. 

No obvious discrepancy. 
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Item 
Implementation Status 

Differences from the 

Corporate Social 

Responsibility Best Practice 

Principles for TWSE/GTSM-

Listed Companies and the 

reasons 

Yes No Summary  

(V) Does the company comply 

with relevant regulations 

and international standards 

in customer health and 

safety, customer privacy, 

and marketing and labeling 

its goods and services, and 

has it established consumer 

rights protection policies 

and complaint procedures? 

✓  In order to protect the privacy of clients, in 

accordance with governmental regulations and 

norms, and in compliance with the “Personal 

Information Protection Act”, the company has 

set up the “Information Safety Norms” and has 

signed a confidentiality agreement to prevent 

disclosure of clients’ business secrets. A 

customer satisfaction survey is also conducted 

yearly to compile suggestions and comments 

and improvement measures requiring 

strengthening. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(VI) Does the company have a 

supplier management policy, 

require suppliers to comply 

with regulations on 

environmental protection, 

occupational safety and 

health, and labor rights, and 

what is its implementation 

status? 

✓  The company has set up supplier cooperation 

management guidelines to guarantee products 

and processes are in line with client needs and 

sustainable development environmental norms. 

In addition, when selecting suppliers, the 

“Human Rights Criteria Assessment 

Operations” shall be included, requesting 

suppliers to respect human rights and enabling 

employees to work with peace of mind in a 

friendly work environment.  

No obvious discrepancy. 

V. Does the company reference 

internationally accepted 

reporting standards or 

guidelines, and prepare 

reports that disclose non-

financial information of the 

company, such as corporate 

social responsibility reports? 

Do the reports above obtain 

assurance from a third party 

verification unit? 

  The Compnay’s Sustainability Report was 

certified by the Great International 

Certification Co., Ltd. for adherence to the 

AA1000 standards  

No obvious discrepancy. 

VI. If the Company has established the sustainability development principles based on the Sustainable Development Best 

Practice Principles for TWSE/TPEx Listed Companies, please describe any deviation between the Principles and its 

practices: No obvious discrepancy. 

VII.Other important information to facilitate better understanding of the company’s implementation of corporate social 

responsibility:  

The Company’s ESG engagements and achievements in 2022 and up to the publication date of this annual 

report are listed in the following table. The future target is to continue with ESG initiatives. The Company’s 

official website will also update ESG activities on a real -time basis. 
     

Time 

period 

Initiatives Details 

3rd 

quarter 

of 2022 

Renewable Energy Utilization 

Plan 

Signing of a five-year contract with Ina Energy Corp. for 

purchase of green energy 

4th 

quarter 

of 2022 

Little League Challengers 
Donation of NT$150,000 by the Company and calling employees 

to serve as volunteer workers for activities. 

4th 

quarter 

of 2022 

Boyo Social Welfare Foundation 

1.Donation of NT$250,000 by the Company as scholarships for 

children and sponsorship for education programs in remote 

areas. 
2.Chairman and colleagues visited Boyo Social Welfare 

Foundation in Puli. 
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Note 1: Material Risk Assessment 

Material issue Risk assessment item Risk management strategy and measures 

Environment Environmental protection 1. The Company is a distributor of specialty chemicals and 

materials. As it does not engage in production and 

manufacturing, there is no emission of relevant wastes.  If 

necessary to dispose chemicals, qualified professional 

operators are commissioned to collect and process the wastes. 
2. Offices are cleaned each day and resources are classified and 

recycled, to ensure environmental protection and resource 

reuse. 
3. The Company also implements measures for energy efficiency 

and carbon reduction. LED lighting is now used throughout 

offices.The air-conditioning system of the building has been 

converted into new models with variable control for energy 

efficiency.We also advocate to colleagues from time to time the 

importance of switching off lights whenever and wherever 

possible, reducing unnecessary photocopying and water 

consumption.  We also quantify our GHG inventory each year 

and aim to gradually reduce GHG emissions.。 
4. To reduce GHG emissions, we started in 2022 to prioritize the 

use of hybrid or pure electric vehicles for newly leased 

business cars. 

5. To achieve the goal for green and clean energy, we have signed 

a five-year contract with Ina Energy Corp. for purchase of 

green (solar) energy starting in 2022. 
Social Workplace safety The Company stipulates measures to protect the workplace safety 

of employees in accordance with the “Rules for the Protection on 

Labor Health” and the “Occupational Safety and Health Act.” 

1. Protection project for maternity health at workplace: 

breastfeeding room for female employees.  
2. Precaution project for illegal assault when performing duties: 

Preventing laborers on duty from physical or mentally assaults 

from others. 
3. Precaution project for illness triggered by unusual workload: 

Preventing employees from excess fatigue due to overwork. 
4. Ergonomic hazard prevention project: prevention of work-

related musculoskeletal diseases due to long-term exposure to 

less than ideal work environment, repetitive tasks, improper 

operating postures or poor work schedule management. 
5. Labor health protection project: physical examinations and 

regular health inspections for employees. 
In addition to the abovementioned, the Company works with a 

professional consultant company to offer mental health 

consultation to employees and their families. In the meantime, a 

subsidy of NT$6,000 each employee per year is provided for sports 

and fitness activities. The Company has signed a contract with Far 

Eastern Memorial Hospital to provide on-site health service 

starting in 2022. 

Corporate 

governance 
Socioeconomic and 

compliance risks 
The governance structure and an internal control mechanism in 

place ensure that all of the Company’s personnel and operation 

adhere to relevant laws and regulations. 

Risks associated with 
board functioning 

Planning of continuing education for directors and development 

of the newest systems, regulations and policies. 
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(6) Performance of Ethical Corporate Management and Deviation from the Ethical Corporate Management 

Principles for TWSE/GTSM Listed Companies and Reasons for Deviation 

Item 

Implementation Status Deviation and causes of 

deviation from Integrity 

Best-Practice Principles for 

TWSE/GTSM Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

I. Establishment of integrity policies and 

solutions 

(I) Did the company establish an ethical 

corporate management policy that was 

approved by the Board of Directors, and 

declare its ethical corporate management 

policy and methods in its regulations 

and external documents, as well as the 

commitment of its Board and 

management to implementing the 

management policies? 

✓  The Company has defined the Ethical 

Corporate Management Best Practice 

Principles, which have been passed by the 

Company board. 

The management irregularly propagates it 

to all staff and posts it on the company 

website. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(II) Does the company establish mechanisms 

for assessing the risk of unethical 

conduct, periodically analyze and assess 

operating activities within the scope of 

business with relatively high risk of 

unethical conduct, and formulate an 

unethical conduct prevention plan on 

this basis, which at least includes 

preventive measures for conduct 

specified in Article 7, Paragraph 2 of the 

Ethical Corporate Management 

BestPractice Principles for TWSE/TPEx 

Listed Companies? 

✓  Besides propagating it to all the staff, an 

auditing team is assigned to conduct the 

auditing to prevent dishonest behaviors. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(III) Did the company specify operating 

procedures, guidelines for conduct, 

punishments for violation, rules of 

appeal in the unethical conduct 

prevention plan, and does it implement 

and periodically review and revise the 

plan? 

✓  The Company has set a program for 

preventing dishonest behavior, related 

operating procedures and disciplinary and 

complaint systems. The Company has also 

signed the Honesty and Integrity 

Agreement with its main customers and 

made announcement on the company 

website. And at least periodic review 

onece per yaer. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

II. Implementation of ethical corporate 

management 

(I) Does the company evaluate the integrity 

of all counterparts it has business 

relationships with? Are there any 

integrity clauses in the agreements it 

signs with business partners? 

✓  The company has signed the Honesty and 

Integrity Agreement with main suppliers 

and customers to realize integrity 

management. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(II) Does the company set up a unit which is 

dedicated to or tasked with promoting 

the company’s ethical standards and 

reports directly to the Board of Directors 

with periodical updates (at least once a 

year) on relevant matters? 

✓  The Company’s Financial Division 

concurrently takes responsibilities of 

promoting integrity management and 

quarterly reporting to the board according 

to the implement status. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(III) Does the company establish policies to 

prevent conflict of interests provide 

appropriate communication and 

complaint channels and implement such 

policies properly?  

✓  The Company has set a policy of 

preventing conflict of interests in both the 

“Code of Ethics and Business Conduct” 

and “Code of Ethics and Business 

Conduct for Company Managers, 

Directors and Supervisors,” and provided 

an internal channel for opinion statement 

and an complaint system. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(IV) Has the company fulfilled the ethical 

management by establishing an effective 

accounting system and internal control 

system and had an internal audit unit 

conduct periodic audits or appointed an 

external auditor to conduct audits? 

✓  Integrity management has been regarded 

as an important policy of the Company 

and is the check point of the annual 

auditing conducted by the Auditing Office. 

No obvious discrepancy. 
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Item 

Implementation Status Deviation and causes of 

deviation from Integrity 

Best-Practice Principles for 

TWSE/GTSM Listed 

Companies 

Yes No Summary 

(V) Does the company provide internal and 

external ethical conduct training 

programs on a regular basis? 

✓  The company management propagates 

concepts related to integrity management 

to the staff through occasions such as 

monthly and quarterly meetings. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

III. Implementation of the company’s complaint 

system 

(I) Does the company establish specific 

complaint and reward procedures, set up 

conveniently accessible complaint 

channels, and designate responsible 

individuals to handle the complaint 

received? 

✓  The Company has set up the complaint 

system and channel and announced it on 

the company website. The reporting email 

address is as bellows: 

audit@topcocorp.com 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(II) Does the company establish standard 

operating procedures for investigating 

the complaints received and ensuring 

such complaints are handled in a 

confidential manner? 

✓  The Company has set up the complaint 

system and reporting channel and 

announced it on the company website. The 

reporting email address is: 

audit@topcocorp.com. All the reporting 

issues will be investigated by the internal 

complaint handling process. All the related 

investigation is confidentially conducted 

and the results are reported to the board 

directly. Apart from the aforementioned 

email addresses, independent directors and 

supervisors are included as the recipients. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

(III) Does the company adopt proper 

measures to protect a complainant from 

improper treatment for the filing of the 

complaint? 

✓  The Company has clarified the left items 

in the complaint system to protect the 

complainant from improper treatment. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

IV. Enhancing information disclosure 

(I) Does the company disclose its 

guidelines on business ethics as well as 

information about implementation of 

such guidelines on its website and the 

Market Observation Post System 

(MOPS)? 

✓  The Company has disclosed the content 

and achievement of the Code of Ethics and 

Business Conduct on the company 

website, including the monthly 

propagation of related issues. 

No obvious discrepancy. 

V. If the company has established corporate governance policies based on the “Corporate Conduct and Ethics Best Practice Principles for 

TWSE/GTSM-Listed Companies,” please describe any discrepancy between the policies and their implementation: No obvious 

discrepancy. 

VI. Other important information for facilitating better understanding of the company’s implementation of Code of Ethics and Business 

Conduct (e.g., review the company’s corporate conduct and ethics policy): Regulations such as the “Code of Ethics and Business 

Conduct” and “Code of Ethics and Business Conduct” can be checked on the company website. 

 

7. Corporate Governance Guidelines and Regulations: 

For more information on corporate governance, please visit the Corporate Governance section on 

Topco’s website. 

8. Other Important Information Regarding Corporate Governance: 

(1) The Company discloses important information according to the rules set by competent authorities via 

Market Observation Post System (MOPS). 
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(2) Continuing eduation: 

(A) Managers: 

Title Name 
Date 

Organizer Course name Hours 
From To 

CFO 

(Adjunct 

Accounting 

Officer) 

Kun-Ming 

Wu 

Mar. 25, 2022 
Mar. 25, 

2022 

Accounting 

Research and 

Development 

Foundation 

TCFD (Task Force on 

Climate-Related Financial 

Disclosures) and New Value 

Paradigm of Low Carbon 

3 

Mar. 29, 2022 
Mar. 29, 

2022 

Accounting 

Research and 

Development 

Foundation 

Most Updated Corporate 

Governance Policy and 

Practical Interpretation and 

Analysis of Corporate 

Governance Evaluation 

3 

Apr. 12, 2022 Apr. 12, 2022 

Accounting 

Research and 

Development 

Foundation 

Practical Workshop on 

Preparation of Preparation of 

Consolidated Financial 

Statements 

6 

Corporate 

governance 

supervisor(position 

adjustment form 

Mar.2,2023) 

Kun-Ming 

Wu 

Apr. 19, 2022 Apr. 19, 2022 

Accounting 

Research and 

Development 

Foundation 

Newest Policies on ESG, 

Sustainability and Financial 

Statements Preparation and 

Practical Guidance on 

Internal Control and 

Management 

6 

Nov. 3, 2022 Nov. 3, 2022 

Taiwan 

Corporate 

Governance 

Association  

Fubon Insurance Workshop: 

ESG Trends and Risk 

Management 

3 

Dec. 23, 2022 Dec. 23, 2022 

Taiwan Investor 

Relations 

Institute 

ESG: New Business Models 3 

Dec. 23, 2022 Dec. 23, 2022 

Taiwan Investor 

Relations 

Institute 

Media Communication and 

Crisis Management Strategy 
3 

Auditing officer Hsin-Jung Su 

Nov. 23, 2022 Nov. 23, 2022 

Accounting 

Research and 

Development 

Foundation 

Frequently Seen Defects in 

Financial Statement Reviews 

and Practical Interpretation 

of Important Regulations on 

Internal Control 

6 

Dec. 5, 2022 Dec. 5, 2022 

Accounting 

Research and 

Development 

Foundation 

Frequently Seen Defects in 

Financial Statement 

Preparation and Practical 

Guidance on Compliance of 

Important Regulations on 

Internal Control 

6 

 

 

(2) Directors and supervisors 

Title Name 
Date 

Organizer Course name Hours 
From To 

Chairman Chen-Cheng Pan 
Mar. 9,2022 Mar. 9,2022  

Taiwan Institute 

of Directors 

Reopening under a 

New Reality - a New 

Digital Taiwan 

3 
Director Sheng-Ho Chang 

Director Ching-Hsiung Wen May. 27,2022 May. 27,2022 
Taiwan Institute 

of Directors 

Board’s Responses to 

China and the U.S. in 

Mega Convergence 

3 
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Title Name 
Date 

Organizer Course name Hours 
From To 

Chairman Chen-Cheng Pan 

Dec. 23,2022 Dec. 23,2022 
Taiwan Investor 

Relations 

Institute 

Media Communication 

and Crisis 

Management Strategy 

3 

Director 

representative 

of leagal person  

Chun-Ming Weng 

Tadaki Inoue 

Chung-Sheng Lin 

Tzu-Cheng Chiu 

Director 

Juo-pei Wang 

Sheng-Ho Chang 

Ching-Hung Lin 

Ching-Hsiung Wen 

Tsai-Meng Wang 

Independent 

Director 

Ming-Hui Guo 

Meng-Shiou Lee 

Shou-Lu Chang 

Chairman Chen-Cheng Pan 

Dec. 23,2022 Dec. 23,2022 

Taiwan Investor 

Relations 

Institute 

ESG: New Business 

Models 
3 

Director 

representative 

of leagal person  

Chun-Ming Weng 

Tadaki Inoue 

Chung-Sheng Lin 

Tzu-Cheng Chiu 

Director 

Juo-pei Wang 

Sheng-Ho Chang 

Ching-Hung Lin 

Ching-Hsiung Wen 

Tsai-Meng Wang 

Independent 

Director 

Ming-Hui Guo 

Meng-Shiou Lee 

Shou-Lu Chang 
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(3) Corporate Risk Management (CRM) organization: 

Organization Authorities and responsibilities 

Board and top 

decision-making 

organization 

1. Defining CRM cultures and policies, aiming at promoting and implement the overall risk 

management of the company. 

2. Supervising and guiding the responsive direction to significant risks, ensuring effectiveness of risk 

management mechanism and taking the responsible of the risk management.  

Finacal Department Responsible for assisting in evaluating the potential risks that the company may be facing, such as 

financial and investment risks.  

Auditing 

Department 

Responsible for supervising and providing methods and procedures to ensure the company is 

performing effective operational risk management.  

Each department of 

the headquarter and 

each branch 

1. The heads of all units are responsible for the frontline risk management.  

2.Department duties of daily risk management activities  

3.Implementation of CRM decisions  

4. Proactively reporting the concrete decisions, progresses and execution effectiveness of the listed 

significant corporate risk events 

(4) Risk and management structure: 

 Important risk item 
Competent authority for 

risk management 
Review mechanism Decision and monitoring 

1 

Market risk 

- Customer development 

- Competitors’ action 

- Fluctuation in product price 

Sales Department / CEO 

Office 
Operating decision 

meeting 

Board of Directors: 

The top decision-making 

body for risk responses and 

handlings 

2 
Information risk 

- Abnormal operation in IT System 
Information Division 

Operating decision 

meeting 

Auditing Office: 

Responsible for monitoring 

and tracking risk events 

3 Policy and regulation compliance Financial Division 
Operating decision 

meeting 

4 
Benefits from investment, re-

investment and M&As 
Financial Division / 

CEO Office 
Operating decision 

meeting 

5 
Risk of interests rate, exchange rate 

and financial activities 
Financial Division 

Operating decision 

meeting 

6 
Funds lending, endorsement, 

derivative product transactions and 

management of fund utilization 
Financial Division 

Operating decision 

meeting 

7 
Financial statement presentation 

and information disclosure 
Financial Division 

Operating decision 

meeting 

8 
Litigation and non-contentious 

issues 
Financial Division / 

CEO Office 
Operating decision 

meeting 

9 
Changes in equities of directors, 

and major shareholders 
Financial Division Board of Directors 

10 Board meeting management Financial Division Board of Directors 

 

(5) Status of obtaining the related licenses specified by the competent authority by the staff who are relevant 

with corporate financial information transparency: 

A. Certified Securities Investment Analysis Test held by SITCA: 1 person from the Financial 

Department. (CFO) 

B. Internal Controller of Corporation Test held by STI: 1 person from the Auditing Office. (Auditing 

officer) 

C. Internal controller of R.O.C: 1 person from the Auditing Office. (Auditing officer) 

D.   Certified Internal Auditor: CIA (Auditing officer) 
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(9) 

TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORP 

Statement of internal control system 
Date: March 2, 2023 

Based on the findings of the self-auditing, the Company states the following with regard to its internal control system 

during the year 2020: 

I. The Company knows that the board and the management are responsible for establishing, implementing, and 

maintaining the internal control system. the Company has established the system. It aims at providing reasonable 

assurance regarding the achievement of objectives in the effectiveness and efficiency of operations (including 

profitability, performance, and the safeguard of assets), reliability, timeliness and transparency of reporting, and 

compliance with all the applicable laws and regulations. 

II. The internal control system has inherent limitations. No matter how perfectly designed, an effective internal 

control system can provide only reasonable assurance of accomplishing its above 3 stated objectives. Moreover, 

the effectiveness of the internal control system may change due to changes in the environment and situations. 

Nevertheless, the internal control system of the Company contains self-monitoring mechanisms, and corrective 

action is taken whenever a deficiency is identified. 

III. The Company evaluates the design and operating effectiveness of its internal control system based on the criteria 

provided in the “Regulations Governing the Establishment of Internal Control Systems of Public Companies” 

(herein below, the Regulations). The criteria adopted by the “Regulations” identify five components of internal 

control based on the process of management control:(1) control environment,(2) risk assessment,(3) control 

activities,(4) information and communication, and (5) monitoring. Each component further contains several 

items. Please refer to the “Regulations” for details. 

IV. The Company has evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of its internal control system according to 

the above-mentioned Regulations. 

V. Based on the findings of the evaluation mentioned above, the Company believes that, on December 31, 2023, 

its internal control system (including the supervision on and management of subsidiaries), as well as the design 

and operations of internal control systems for understanding its operational effectiveness and efficiency, the 

achievement level of objectives, reliability, timeliness, transparency and regulatory compliance in reporting, 

and compliance with the applicable laws and regulations, were effective, and the Company can provide 

reasonable assurance that the above-stated objectives would be achieved. 

VI. This Statement is an integral part of the Company’s annual report for the year 2022 and prospectus and will be 

made public. Any falsehood, concealment, or other illegality in the content made public will entail legal liability 

under Articles 20, 32, 171, and 174 of the Securities and Exchange Law. 

VII. This statement was passed by the Company’s board in their meeting held on March 2, 2023, with none of the 

13 attending directors expressing dissenting opinions, and all of them affirming the content of this Statement. 

 

TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORP 

Chairman: Chen-Cheng Pan (sign) 

CEO: Sheng-Ho Chang (sign) 
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B. A separate audit report shall be included where an independent registered public accounting firm has 

reviewed the Company’s internal control system: Not applicable 

(10) Sanctions imposed on the Company or its personnel pursuant to the law, or disciplinary actions taken by 

the Company against its personnel for any violation of internal control rules within the latest fiscal year 

and as of the date of this Annual Report. If the result of the disciplinary action may have a material 

impact on shareholders’ rights or the price of securities, details of the sanctions and/or violations and 

subsequent improvements shall be listed: None. 

(11) Important resolutions approved by the board for the most recent year up to the printed date of the annual 

report 

1. Shareholders’ meeting 

Date 

 
Category Resolutions Implementation status 

May 31, 

2022 
Shareholders’ 

Meeting 
I. Reporting matters: 

1.2021 Business Report 

2.2021 Supervisor Audit Report 

3.2021 Compensation Report on Directors, 

Supervisors and Employees 

4. Amendment to the Codes of Ethical Conduct 

II. Points of ratification: 

1.2021 Business Report and Financial Statement 

Proposal 

2.2021 Earnings Distribution Proposal 

III. Discussions I: 

1.Amendment to articles of " Articles of 

Incorporation ". 

2.Amendment to the Rules " Procedure for 

Shareholder Meetings" 

3. Amendment to the Regulations Governing the 

Acquisition and Disposal of Assets 

4. Amendment to the Procedures Governing 

Loaning of Funds. 

5. Amendment to the Procedures Governing 

Endorsements and Guarantees. 

6. Amendment to the Ethical Corporate 

Management Best Practice Principles. 

7. Amendment to the Procedures for Election of 

Directors. 

IV. Elections: 

The 11th Election of Directors. 

V. Discussion II 

To release the elected Directors from non-

competition. 

1. The board meeting after the 

shareholders’ meeting set the date of 

June 23, 2022 as the ex-dividend date 

and issued cash dividends on July. 8, 

2022. 

2. Completion of amendment to" Articles 

of Incorporation ". 

3. Completion of amendment to "Procedure 

for Shareholder Meetings ". 

4. Completion of amendment to the 

Regulations Governing the Acquisition 

and Disposal of Assets. 

5. Completion of amendment to the 

Procedures Governing Loaning of Funds. 

6. Completion of amendment to Ethical 

Corporate Management Best Practice 

Principles. 

7. Completion of amendment to Procedures 

for Election of Directors. 

8. Completion of Elected Directors 
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2. Board of Directors: 

Meeting date Major resolutions 

Mar. 9, 2022 

1.2021Business Report and Financial Statement Proposal 

2.2021Audit Report issued by the CPA for Annual Financial Statements 

3.2021 Earnings Distribution Proposal 

4.2021Statement of Internal Control System 

5.Discussion on 2022 Annual Budget Plan 

6.Approval on 2021 compensation policy of directors, supervisors and managers, and 20221 

Compensation Adjustment Proposal 

7. Amendment to the article " Articles of Incorporation " 

8. Amendment to the article " Rules of Procedure for Shareholder Meeting" 

9. Setting matters relating to general shareholders’ meetings 

10. The bank loan amount application of the company. 

11. The promotion of deputy general manager. 

12.Discuss the list of the 11th Directors and Independent Directors. 

May 6, 2022 
1. Reviewing Report issued by the CPA for three months ended March 31, 2022 Financial Report  

2. Call off the endorsements/ guarantees for sub-subsidiaries. 

May 31, 2022 

1. Election the Chairman 

2. Nomination Commission menber and Remuneration Commission member hired. 

3. Setting the ex-dividend date 

4. To discuss the schedule of sustainable development. 

Aug. 2, 2022 

1. Reviewing Report issued by the CPA for the Financial Report of the first half year of 2022 

2. To discuss the employees, directors, and managers' bonus. 

3. The issuance of the first domestic unsecured convertible corporate bonds. 

Sept. 12, 2022 
Obtained the right-to-use assets of the real estate from related 

Company. 

Nov. 4, 2022 

1. Reviewing Report issued by the CPA for the nine months ended September 30 2022 Financial 

Report. 

2. The audit paln of 2022. 

3. Amendment to the Procedures for Handling Material Inside Information  

Mar. 2, 2023 

1.2022Business Report and Financial Statement Proposal 

2.2022Audit Report issued by the CPA for Annual Financial Statements 

3.2022 Earnings Distribution Proposal 

4.2022Statement of Internal Control System 

5.Discussion on 2023 Annual Budget Plan 

6.Approval on 2022 compensation policy of directors, and managers, and 2023 Compensation 

Adjustment Proposal 

7. The bank loan amount application of the company. 

8. Assessment of the independence of the Company’s external auditors. 

9. Setting matters relating to general shareholders’ meetings 

10. To execute the Performance Evaluation and conducted performance of the board and functional 

committees. 

11. The change of corporate governance officer and acting spokesperson. 

(12) Recorded or written statements made by any director or independent director who specified dissent to 

important resolutions passed by the Board of Directors during the most recent year and up to the date of 

publication of the annual report: None. 

(13) Summary of resignation and removal of the Company's chairman, president, chief accounting officer, 

financial officer, internal audit officer, corporate governance officer, or chief R&D officer within the 

latest fiscal year and as of the date of this Annual Report:  
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3.4. Information on auditing fees : 

Unit: NT$ thousand 

Accounting firm Name of CPA Audit Period Audit fee Non-audit fee Total Notes 

KPMG 

Jui-lan Lo 

Kuan-Ying Kuo 

The first three 

quarters of 2022. 
4,190 565 4,755 

The Non-audit fee as below: 

1. Certification of auditing fee for 

transfer pricing report is NT$ 

270. 

2. Tax audit fee: NT$ 270. 

3. Business Registration: NT$ 25. 

Kuan-Ying Kuo 

Yu-Ting Hsin 

The fourth 

quarter of 2022. 

 

While one of the following issues happens to the company, it shall disclose following items: 

(I) While there is any change of accounting firm and the audit fee paid in the replacement year is less than 

that paid in the preceding year, the company shall disclose the decreased amount, ratio and reasons for 

audit fee:None. 

(II) While the ratio of audit fee for the preceding year decreases by 10% or more, the company shall disclose 

the decreased amount, ratio and reasons for audit fee: None. 

3.5 Information on replacement of certified public accountants: 

3.5.1 Predecessor Auditor 

Date of change March 2,2023 

Reasons for the change of auditors Due to rotation of assignments within the 

firm from the fourth quarter of 2022. 

Has the auditor resigned, declined to stand for 

reappointment, or been notified that their 

services have been terminated? 

NA 

If the auditor has issued an audit report 

expressing an opinion other than unqualified 

opinion within the last two years, please state 

the opinion and reason 

NA 

Disagreement with the Company as to 

accounting treatment, accounting principles, 

auditing procedures, or other similarly 

significant matters 

NA 

Other disclosures pursuant to Article 10, 

Paragraph 5, Subparagraph 1, Item 4 of the 

Regulations Governing Information to be 

Published in the Annual Reports of Public 

Companies (the “Regulations”) 

NA 

 

 

Title Name 
Date 

Appointed 

Date 

Dismissal 

The Reason of 

Dismissal 

Corporate governance officer Kun-Ming Wu Mar.4 ,2019 Mar.2 ,2023 Position adjustment 
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3.5.2 Successor Auditor 

Accounting firm KPMG Taiwan 

Name of CPA Kuan-Ying Kuo and Yu-Ting Hsin 

Date of appointment March 2, 2023  

Inquiry of and information obtained from the 

predecessor auditor regarding the accounting 

treatment of, or accounting principles applied 

to a transaction, or opinion expressed on the 

financial statements audited prior to the 

acceptance of engagement 

NA 

Written opinion of successor auditor on 

disagreements with predecessor auditor 

NA 

 

3.6 Where the company’s chairperson, general manager, or any managerial officer in charge of finance or 

accounting matters has in the most recent year held a position at the accounting fi rm of its certifi ed public 

accountant or at an affiliated enterprise of such accounting fi rm, the name and position of the person, and the 

period during which the position was held, shall be disclosed: None. 

3.7. Equity transfer and equity pledge changes of directors, supervisors, managers and shareholders with a 

shareholding of more than 10% in the most recent year and up to the publication date of the annual report  

3.7.1 Changes in Shareholding of the Directors, Supervisors, Managers, and Major Shareholders 

Unit: shares 

Title Name 

2022 As of Apr. 2, 2023 

Increase 

(decrease) in 

shares held 

Increase 

(decrease) in 

shares pledged 

Increase 

(decrease) in 

shares held 

Increase 

(decrease) in 

shares pledged 
Chairman Chen-Cheng Pan 0 0 0 0 

Director 

Topco Development Co., Ltd. 31,000 0 0 0 

Topco Development Co., Ltd. 

Representative: Chun-Ming Weng 
24,000 0 0 0 

Director Juo-pei Wang 0 0 0 0 

Director 
Tadaki Inoue , Rep. of Shin-Etsu 

Chemical Co., Ltd. 
0 0 0 0 

Director /Chief Executive 

Officer 
Sheng-Ho Chang 0 0 0 0 

Director /South China Business 

Headquarters -Chairman, TOPCO 

(Guangzhou) Trading Co., Ltd. 

Ching-Hung Lin (10,000) 0 0 0 

Director /Executive Assistant 

for Chairman 
Ching-Hsiung Wen 0 0 0 0 

Director / East China Business 

Headquarters -Chairman, TOPCO 

(Guangzhou) Trading Co., Ltd. 

Tsai-Meng Wang 0 0 0 0 

Independent director Ming-Hui Guo 0 0 0 0 

Independent director Meng-Shiou Lee(Note) 0 0 0 0 

Independent director Shou-Lu Chang 0 0 0 0 
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Title Name 

2022 As of Apr. 2, 2023 

Increase 

(decrease) in 

shares held 

Increase 

(decrease) in 

shares pledged 

Increase 

(decrease) in 

shares held 

Increase 

(decrease) in 

shares pledged 

Director 

Ma-Hao Investment Co., Ltd. 0 0 0 0 

Ma-Hao Investment Co., Ltd. 

Representative:Chung-Sheng Lin   
(33,000) 0 0 0 

Director 

De Rong Investment Co., Ltd. 0 0 0 0 

De Rong Investment Co., Ltd. 

Representative: Tzu-Cheng Chiu 
0 0 0 0 

Deputy CEO Wen-Hua Tsai 0 0 0 0 

General Manager, Taiwan 

Business Headquarters 
Fu-Jen Cheng 0 0 0 0 

General Manager, South China 

Business Headquarters 
Ming-Tso Hsiao 0 0 0 0 

General Manager, East China 

Business Headquarters 
Liang-Hsin Hsieh 0 0 (5,000) 0 

CFO Kun-Ming Wu 0 0 0 0 

Special assisant of Chairman Chung-Yen Wang 0 0 0 0 

Deputy General Manager Pin-Nan Liao 0 0 0 0 

Deputy General Manager Chao-Pang Lo 0 0 0 0 

Deputy General Manager Meng-Ju Wu 0 0 0 0 

Deputy General Manager Pin-Chuan Chen 0 0 0 0 

Associate Manager Yu-Lin Huang 0 0 0 0 

Associate Manager Yang-Fu Fan 0 0 0 0 

Associate Manager Chih-Ching Hsu 0 0 0 0 

Associate Manager Su-Hsien Hsieh 0 0 0 0 

Associate Manager Yu-Shu Liu 0 0 0 0 

Associate Manager Peng-Hung Chen 0 0 0 0 

Associate Manager Tai-Yuan Wu 6,000 0 0 0 

Associate Manager Hung-Chih Hsu 0 0 0 0 

Associate Manager Hsin-Jung Su 0 0 0 0 

Corporate governance officer Shu-Ching Wu (Note1) - - 0 0 

Note1: Mar. 2, 2023 new in 
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3.7.2 Stock transfers to related parties:  

Name 

The reason 

for equity 

interest 

transfer 

Trade date Counterparty 

The counterparty’s relationship with 

the directors, supervisors, executive 

officers, and major shareholders 

holding more than 10% of the 

shares of the Company 

Number 

of shares 
Trade price 

Chung-Sheng 

Lin 
Gift 2022/10/17 

Yu-Chen,Lin 

Granddaughter 

11,000 

73.6 Tsai-Hsuan,Lin 11,000 

Chin-Ying,Lin 11,000 

 

3.7.3 Pledged of stock rights to related parties：None 

 

3.8 Relationship among TOPCO’s Top Ten Shareholders 
Apr. 2, 2023 

Name (Note1) 

Shareholding 
Shares held by spouses and 

dependents 
Shares held by third parties 

Name and relationship between 

the company’s top ten 
shareholders,or spouses or 

relatives within two degrees 

Notes 

Number of 

Shares 

Shareholding 

percentage % 

Number of 

Shares 

Shareholding 

percentage % 

Number of 

Shares 

Shareholding 

percentage % 
Name Relationship  

Topco 

Development 

Co., Ltd. 

16,662,136 22.50 0 0.00 0 0.00 - -  

Representative: 

Chun-Ming 

Weng 

1,431,204 1.93 606,301 0.82 0 0.00 Shu-Chen Yeh Spouse  

Shin-Etsu 

Chemical Co., 

Ltd. 

2,815,296 3.80 0 0.00 0 0.00 - -  

De Rong 

Investment Co., 

Ltd. 

1,653,574 2.23 0 0.00 0 0.00 - -  

Representative: 

Liang-Min Chen 
529,453 0.71 0 0.00 0 0.00 - -  

Bao-Yu Lin 1,562,052 2.11 0 0.00 0 0.00 - -  

Chun-Ming 

Weng 
1,431,204 1.93 606,301 0.82 0 0.00 

TOPCO 

DEVELOPMENT 
Chairman  

Chen-Cheng 

Pan 
999,041 1.35 0 0.00 0 0.00 - -  

Chung-Sheng 

Lin 
944,508 1.28 198,472 0.27 0 0.00 

TOPCO 

DEVELOPMENT 
Supervisor  

HSIN CHI LI 

Investment Co., 

Ltd 

920,904 1.24 0 0.00 0 0.00 
Chun-Ming 

Weng 
Supervisor  

Representative: 

Shu-Chen Yeh 
606,301 0.82 1,431,204 1.93 0 0.00 

Chun-Ming 

Weng 
Spouse  

Chia-Te Lin 621,165 0.84 0 0.00 0 0.00 
Chung-Sheng 

Lin 
Father & Son  

Shu-Chen Yeh 606,301 0.82 1,431,204 1.93 0 0.00 
Chun-Ming 

Weng 
Spouse  
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3.9 The total number of shares and total equity stake held in any single enterprise by the Company, its directors 

and managers, and any companies controlled either directly or indirectly by the Company 

Date: December 31, 2022 Unit: Share % 

Affiliates 
Shareholding by the Company 

Shareholdin of directors, 

supervisors, managers or 

enterprises under their direct or 

indirect control 

Total shareholding 

Shares % Shares % Shares % 

TOPCO AMERICA 

INC. 

22,260,000 

shares 
100.00% - - 

22,260,000 

shares 
100.00% 

Hong Kong TOPCO 

Trading Co., Ltd. 
- 100.00% - - - 100.00% 

TOPCO (Guangzhou) 

Trading Co., Ltd. 
- 100.00% - - - 100.00% 

TOPCO Trading 

(Shanghai Pudong 

District) Co., Ltd. 

- 100.00% - - - 100.00% 

TOPCO (Indonesia) 

Trading Co., Ltd. 

(Note1) 

- - - 100.00% - 100.00% 

TOPCO (Vietnam) 

Trading Co., Ltd. 

(Note1) 

- - - 100.00% - 100.00% 

TOPGLOW Trading 

Co., Ltd. 

9,146,000 

shares 
65.33% - - 

9,146,000 

shares 
65.33% 

Top Glory Trading 

Co.,Ltd. (Note2) 
- - - - - 65.33% 

TOPGLOW Advanced 

Materials (Shanghai) 

Ltd. (Note2) 

- - - 100.00% - 65.33% 

Topco Engineering 

Co., Ltd. 

7,000,000 

shares 
70.00% 

220,000 

shares 
22.00% 

920,000 

shares 
92.00% 

Shin-Etsu (Taiwan) 

Chemical Co., Ltd. 

1,520,000 

shares 
6.67% 

21,280,000 

shares 
93.33% 

22, 80,000 

shares 
100.00% 

MEI HO International 

Co., Ltd. 

756,000 

shares 
0.82% - - 

756,000 

shares 
0.82% 

Note 1: 100% investment via the sub-subsidiary, Hong Kong TOPCO Trading Co., Ltd. 

Note 2: 100% re-invested by TOPGLOW Trading Co., Ltd. 
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4. Capital Overview 

4.1 Capital and shares: 

(I) Source of capital: 

Unit: thousand shares in thousand dollars 

Month/Year 

Issuing 
price 
(Face 
value) 

Authorized capital Paid-up capital Notes 

Number of 
Shares Amount 

Number 
of 

Shares 
Amount Source of capital stock 

Paid in 
properties 
other than 

cash 

Date of 
approval 

& 
document 

No. 

Feb., 1994 NT$ 10 2,000 20,000 1,000 10,000 Capital for incorporation by cash: 
NT$ 10,000,000 None (Note 1) 

Jun., 1995 NT$ 10 2,400 24,000 2,400 24,000 Capital increase by cash: NT$ 
14,000,000 None (Note 2) 

Apr., 1997 NT$ 10 3,400 34,000 3,400 34,000 Capital increase by cash: NT$ 
10,000,000 None (Note 3) 

Jul., 1998 NT$ 10 5,000 50,000 5,000 50,000 Capital increase by cash: NT$ 
16,000,000 None (Note 4) 

Aug., 2000 NT$ 10 9,000 90,000 9,000 90,000 

Capital increase by retained 

earnings: NT$ 30,000,000 

Capital increase by employee 

bonuses transferred to common 

stock: NT$ 10,000,000 

None (Note 5) 

Jun., 2001 NT$ 10 15,000 150,000 15,000 150,000 

Capital increase by retained 

earnings: NT$ 18,000,000 

Capital increase by cash: NT$ 

42,000,000 

None (Note 6) 

Jun., 2003 NT$ 10 15,500 155,000 15,500 155,000 
Capital increase by cash: NT$ 

5,000,000 
None (Note 7) 

Jul., 2004 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 37,328 373,280 

Issuance of common stock through 

merger: NT$ 21,328,000 

Employee bonuses transferred to 

common stock: NT$ 5,000,000 

None (Note 8) 

Mar., 2006 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 41,995 419,950 
Capital increase by cash: NT$ 

46,670,000 
None (Note 9) 

Aug., 2007 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 46,400 464,000 

Capital increase by retained 

earnings: NT$ 41,995,000 

Employee bonuses transferred to 

common stock: NT$ 2,055,000 

None (Note 10) 

Aug., 2008 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 55,680 556,800 
Capital increase by retained 

earnings: NT$ 92,800,000 
None (Note 11) 

Sep., 2011 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 62,000 620,000 
Capital increase by cash: NT$ 

63,200,000 
None (Note 12) 

Sep., 2014 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 64,400 644,000 
Issuance of Restricted Stock 

Awards (RSA): NT$ 24,000,000 
None (Note 13) 

Apr., 2015 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 64,375 643,750 
Reacquisition of RSA: NT$ 

250,000 
None (Note 14) 

Jul., 2015 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 64,350 643,500 
Reacquisition of RSA: NT$ 

250,000 
None (Note 15) 

Nov., 2015 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 64,346 643,460 
Reacquisition of RSA: NT$ 

40,000 
None (Note 16) 

Apr., 2016 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 64,294 642,940 
Reacquisition of RSA: NT$ 

520,000 
None (Note 17) 

Jul., 2016 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 64,266 642,660 
Reacquisition of RSA: NT$ 

280,000 
None (Note 18) 

Nov., 2016 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 64,106 641,060 
Reacquisition of RSA: NT$ 

160,000 
None (Note 19) 

Jun., 2017 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 64,101 641,010 
Reacquisition of RSA: NT$ 

50,000 
None (Note 20) 

June, 2018 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 64,061 640,610 
Reacquisition of RSA: NT$ 

400,000 
None (Note 21) 

Feb., 2023 NT$ 10 80,000 800,000 74,061 740,610 
Capital increase by cash: NT$ 

100,000,000 
None (Note 22) 

June, 2023 NT$ 10 100,000 1,000,000 74,061 740,610 - None (Note 23) 
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Note 1: Company establishment approved No. 824811 in Feb., 1994. 

Note 2: Capital increase by cash approved No. 00996122 in Jun., 1995. 

Note 3: Capital increase by cash approved No. 86305027 in Apr., 1997. 

Note 4: Capital increase by cash approved No. 87301961 in Jul., 1998. 

Note 5: Capital surplus and employee bonuses transferred to common stock approved No. 89495723 in Aug., 2000. 

Note 6: Capital increase by retained earnings and by cash approved by No. 09001269540 in Jun., 2001. 

Note 7: Capital increase by cash approved by No. 09233774120 in Jun., 2003. 

Note 8: Issuance of common stock through merger and employee bonuses transferred to common stock approved by No. 

09332488580 in Jul., 2004. 

Note 9: Approved by the Financial Supervisory Commission (FSC) No. 1000034300. 

Note 10: Approved by the Financial Supervisory Commission (FSC) No. 0960034785. 

Note 11: Approved by the Financial Supervisory Commission (FSC) No. 0970032349. 

Note 12: Approved by the Financial Supervisory Commission (FSC) No. 1000034300. 

Note 13: Approved by the Financial Supervisory Commission (FSC) No. 1030025633. 

Note 14: Approved by the Ministry of Economic Affairs (R.O.C) No. 10401072320. 

Note 15: Approved by the Ministry of Economic Affairs (R.O.C) No. 10401128720. 

Note 16: Approved by the Ministry of Economic Affairs (R.O.C) No. 10401243890. 

Note 17: Approved by the Ministry of Economic Affairs (R.O.C) No. 10501078810. 

Note 18: Approved by the Ministry of Economic Affairs (R.O.C) No. 10501144960. 

Note 19: Approved by the Ministry of Economic Affairs (R.O.C) No. 10501271580. 

Note 20: Approved by the Ministry of Economic Affairs (R.O.C) No. 10601089620. 

Note 21: Approved by the Ministry of Economic Affairs (R.O.C) No. 10701075610. 

Note 22: Approved by the Ministry of Economic Affairs (R.O.C) No. 10801011920. 

Note 23: Approved by the Ministry of Economic Affairs (R.O.C) No. 10801070200. 

    

Apr. 2, 2023 

Type of shares 
Authorized share capital 

Remark 
Outstanding shares Unissued shares Total 

Common shares 74,062,358 25,937,642 100,000,000 OTC stocks 

 

(II) Shareholder Structure: 

Apr. 2, 2023 

Type of Stock 
Government 

agency 

Financial 

institution 

Other  

institutional 

investors 

Domestic 

Individuals 

Foreign institution 

and individuals 
Total 

Number of 

shareholders 
4 10 71 8,748 50 8,883 

Shareholding 308,494 1,162,000 22,550,153 45,113,542 4,928,169 74,062,358 

Shareholding ratio 0.42% 1.57% 30.45% 60.91% 6.65% 100% 
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(III) Distribution of shares: 

Apr. 2, 2023 

Shareholder ownership 
Number of 

shareholders 
Shareholding Shareholding ratio 

1 ~ 999 1,623 310,000 0.42% 

1,000 ~ 5,000 5,789 11,448,590 15.46% 

5,001 ~ 10,000 741 5,580,179 7.53% 

10,001 ~ 15,000 264 3,263,715 4.41% 

15,001 ~ 20,000 140 2,538,402 3.43% 

20,001 ~ 30,000 127 3,237,482 4.37% 

30,001 ~ 40,000 52 1,798,885 2.43% 

40,001 ~ 50,000 34 1,571,947 2.12% 

50,001 ~ 100,000 46 3,094,678 4.18% 

100,001 ~ 200,000 30 4,349,060 5.87% 

200,001 ~ 400,000 21 5,729,527 7.74% 

400,001 ~ 600,000 6 2,923,712 3.95% 

600,001 ~ 800,000 2 1,227,466 1.66% 

800,001 ~ 1,000,000 3 2,864,453 3.87% 

Over 1,000,001 5 24,124,262 32.57% 

Total 8,883 74,062,358 100% 

 

(IV) List of major shareholders: 

Apr. 2, 2023 

Major shareholders Shareholding Shareholding ratio 

Topco Development Co., Ltd. 16,662,136 22.50% 

Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. 2,815,296 3.80% 

De Rong Investment Co., Ltd. 1,653,574 2.23% 

Bao-Yu Lin 1,562,052 2.11% 

Chun-Ming Weng 1,431,204 1.93% 

Chen-Cheng Pan 999,041 1.35% 

Chung-Sheng Lin 944,508 1.28% 

HSIN CHI LI Investment Co., Ltd 920,904 1.24% 

Chia-Te Lin 621,165 0.84% 

Shu-Chen Yeh 606,301 0.82% 
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(V) Market price per share, net worth, earnings, and dividends for the most recent 2 years: 

Unit: NT$; per share 

Item Year 2021 2022 
As of 

Apr. 2, 2023 

(Note 7) 

Market price per 

share (Note 1) 

Highest 85.90 91.90 75.8 

Lowest 66.30 69.50 72.6 

Average 76.59 79.54 74.28 

Net worth per share 

(Note 2) 

Before distribution 58.19 61.00 - 

After distribution(Note 3) 52.19 56.59 - 

EPS 

Weighted average shares 74,061,000 74,061,000 - 

EPS 8.04 6.30 - 

EPS - retroactive adjustment - - - 

Dividends per share 

Cash dividends 6.0 4.41 - 

Stock grants 
- - - - 

- - - - 

Accumulated undistributed dividend - - - 

Analysis of return 

on investment 

P/E Ratio (Note 4) 9.53 12.63 - 

P/D Ratio (Note 5) 12.77 18.04 - 

Cash dividend yield (Note 6)   7.83% 5.54% - 

Note 1: List the highest and lowest market price for each year and calculate the average market price for each year based on the 

annual transaction value and volume. 

Note 2: Based on the distribution of resolved by the shareholders’ meeting next year. 

Note 3: Based on the board resolution on Mar.2,2023. 

Note 4: P/E = Current average closing price per share/EPS. 

Note 5: P/D Ratio = Current average closing price per share/Cash dividends per share. 

Note 6: Cash dividend yield = Cash dividends per share /Current average closing price per share. 

Note 7: The Company’s financial statements as of March 31, 2023 haven’t been reviewed by independent auditors. 
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(VI) Dividend policy and its implementation status: 

1. Dividend policy: 

The dividend policy defined in the Company’s Articles of Association is as follows: 

Article 23-1: If the Company’s annual financial statement shows surpluses, the business income tax 

shall be paid first to compensate for the previous losses and the remaining 10% is distributed to the 

legal reserve, except when the legal reserve has reached the Company’s paid-in capital. Based on the 

Company’s operating needs and the regulations, special reserve is distributed. The board shall provide 

a earnings distribution proposal submitted to the shareholders’ meeting for resolution if there are 

surpluses and undistributed earnings at the beginning of the period. 

The Company’s dividend policy is based on the corporate funding needs in the future and is 

determined by the corporate earnings, financial structure, and funding needs of the future business 

plan. 10%~90% of the cumulative distributable earnings are also appropriated and distributed after 

the Board drafts an earnings distribution motion and submits to the shareholders’ meeting for 

resolution on the distribution of shareholders’ dividends. As for the distribution ratio of stocks or cash 

dividends, the stock dividend is limited to 50%. The annual shareholders’ meeting can still decide the 

most suitable way of dividend distribution depending on the industry condition, with the Company’s 

benefits and development served as the highest principle.  

The Company authorize the distributable dividends and bonuses in whole or in part may be paid in  

cash after a resolution has been adopted by a majority vote at a meeting of the board of directors 

attended by two-thirds of the total number of directors; and in addition thereto a report of such 

distribution shall be submitted to the shareholders’ meeting and not applicable to the preceding 

paragraph shall be approved by shareholders’ meeting . 

       2. Anticipated material changes in dividend policy The Company anticipates that there will be no  

material change in dividend policy. 

3. Take the dividends distributed by the Company in the past three years as an example, the dividend 

pay-out ratio of past three years is listed in the table below. The cash dividend distribution rate is not 

less than 50% of the total dividends distributed of the year, and the amount of distribution is 10% to 

90% of the distributable earnings. 

Unit: NT Dollar per share 

Year 
After-tax EPS 

(A) 

Cash 

distributed 

with retained 

earnings (B) 

Cash 

distributed 

with capital 

reserve (C) 

Total cash 

dividends 

(B+C=D) 

Stock 

Dividned 

(E) 

Dividend 

payout ratio 

((D+E)/A) 

Cash dividend 

payout ratio 

D/(D+E) 

2020 5.32 4.3 0 4.3 0 81% 100% 

2021 8.04 6.0 0 6.0 0 75% 100% 

2022 6.30 4.41 0 4.41 0 70% 100% 

Note: Due to the completion of a capital increases in early 2023, if calculated by the total amount distributed, the 

distribution ratio is 81%. 
Unit: NT$ thousand 

Year Distributable earnings Amount Issued Issuing ratio 

2020 1,108,189 318,462 28.74% 

2021 1,427,653 444,366 31.13% 

2022 1,398,320 326,609 23.36% 

 

4. The resolution of dividends distribution approved by the Board of Directors on March 2, 2023 will 

be reported to the general shareholders’ meeting and implemented thereafter: 
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2022 Distribution status of stock dividends 

Unit: NT$ thousand 

Stock dividend item Amount Dividends per share 

Shareholders’ dividends 326,609 NT$ 4.41 in cash 

Employee cash bonus 39,000 - 

Compensation to directors and supervisors 17,250 - 

(VII)  The effect of current year’s proposed stock grants on corporate operating performance and EPS: 

There are no proposed stock grants this year, and thus is not applicable. 

(VIII) Compensation to directors and employees: 

1. Related information of the profit sharing bonus to employees and compensation to directors as 

listed in the Company’s Article of Association: 

According to the regulations of the Company’s Articles of Association, if there is any annual earnings 

surplus, 5%~10% of them shall be appropriated as employee remuneration, and a percentage not 

higher than 5% shall be remuneration of directors. If the Company still has accumulated losses, the 

earnings shall be retained for refilling the loss amount, and the compensation to employees and 

directors are then calculated based on the balance amount. 

Employee compensation can be stocks or cash, and the parties to be distributed include the employees 

of the associate companies who satisfy a certain criteria. The profit of the current year mentioned in 

Item 1 refers to the pre-tax profit of the year minus the compensation distributed to employee, 

directors. Distribution of compensation to employees and directors shall be agreed by the Board of 

Directors with more than two-thirds of directors attending and resolved by more than a half of the 

attending directors. 

2. Accounting treatments for estimated basis of employee compensation and remuneration for directors 

and supervisors in the current period, calculation basis for number of shares for stock bonus 

distribution and the difference from the actual distribution: When the Company’s estimated amount 

in 2021 is different from the actual amount, it is incorporated in the adjustment of profit and loss 

account for the estimated changes in 2022. 

3. Information of the distribution resolution of employee compensation approved by the board: 

(1) The Company’s board resolution on Mar. 2, 2023 that the earnings surplus of 2022 shall be 

distributed as the compensation to employees, directors and supervisors, and the difference from 

the estimated amount in the expense recognition year is as follows: 

Unit: NT$ thousand 

Distribution item 

Distribution status 

Employee 

compensation 

Compensation to directors 

and supervisors 

Dealing with 

differences 

Estimated amount for the expense 

recognition year (A) 
39,000 17,250 

No difference 
Issues proposed by the board (B) 39,000 17,250 

Difference (B) - (A) 0 0 

 (2) Employee stock remuneration proposed as a percentage of the total amount of current net income 

and employee compensation: 

The earnings surplus for the current year is expected to be distributed in cash, and thus is not 

applicable. 

4. Distribution of last year’s earnings surplus paid to employees, directors and supervisors: 

The resolution of the Company’s board meeting and the shareholders’ meeting on Mar. 9, 2022 and 

May 31, 2022 on the 2021 earnings distribution proposal for compensation paid to employees, 

directors and supervisors, and the difference from the estimated amount in the expense recognition 

year: 
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Unit: NT$ thousand 

Distribution item 

Distribution status 
Employee compensation 

Compensation to directors 

and supervisors 

Dealing with 

differences 

Amount proposed by the board (A) 52,000 23,000 

No difference Issues proposed by the board (B) 52,000 23,000 

Difference (B) - (A) 0 0 

 

(IX) Buyback of common stocks: None. 

4.2 Issuance of corporate bonds: 

Convertible Corporate Bonds 

Corporate Bond Type 
Domestic 1st Unsecured Convertible Corporate Bonds 
(Approved by the Financial Supervisory Commission (FSC) 

No. 1110357973. On Oct. 7,2022) 

   Issued date November 9, 2022 
   Denomination NT$100,000 
   Issuing and transaction location TPEx 
   Issued price 100.4% of par value 
   Total price NT$700,000,000 
   Coupon rate 0% 
   Tenor 5 years, Maturity: November 9, 2027  
   Guarantee agency NA 

   Consignee Yuanta Commercial Bank 

   Underwriting institution Yuanta Securities 

   Certified lawyer - 

   CPA - 

   Repayment method Repayment in lump sum upon maturity 

   Outstanding principal NT$700,000,000 

   Terms of redemption or advance repayment 
Please refer to the conversion rules and procedures of the 
Convertible Corporate Bonds. 

   Restrictive clause 
Please refer to the conversion rules and procedures of the 

Convertible Corporate Bonds. 
 Name of credit rating agency, rating date, 

rating of corporate bonds 
NA 

Other rights 

attached 

As of the printing date of this 
annual report, converted 
amount of (exchanged or 
subscribed) ordinary shares, 
GDRs or other securities 

As of April 2, 2023, the amount converted into ordinary 

shares was NT$13,580 (1,358 shares). 

Issuance and conversion 
(exchange or subscription) 
method 

Please refer to the conversion rules and procedures of the 

Convertible Corporate Bonds. 

Issuance and conversion, exchange or 

subscription method, issuing condition 

dilution, and impact on existing shareholders’ 

equity 

The domestic 1st unsecured convertible corporate 
bonds of the Company issued. According to the 
domestic 1st unsecured convertible corporate bonds 
current conversion price (@73.6), and as of the shares 
book closure date for the 2023 Annual General 
Meeting (2023/4/2), the amount of the outstanding 
convertible bonds is NT$699,900 thousand , if the 
balance units are fully converted, it will be estimated 
that the number of ordinary shares that can be 
converted into approximately 9,509,510 
shares(NT$699,900,000 /@73.6) will be diluted by 
approximately 12.84%, and its impact on the existing 
shareholders' equity should still be limited. 

Transfer agent NA 
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The Information of the Corporate bond 

Corporate Bond Type Domestic 1st Unsecured Convertible Corporate Bonds 
            Year 
 Item        2022 As of 2023/4/2 

Market price 
of the 
convertible 
bond 

Highest 104.45 109.35 

Lowest 101.55 103.00 

Average 102.44 106.96 

Conversion Price 73.6 73.6 
Issue date and 

conversion price at 
issuance 

Issued Date: 2022/11/9 Conversion price at issuance: 

NT$73.6/share 

Conversion methods Issuing of new common stocks 

4.3 Issuance of preferred shares: None. 

4.4 Issuance of GDRs: None. 

4.5 Issuance of employee stock warrants: None. 

4.6 Issuance of new restricted employee shares: None. 

4.7 Issuance of new shares upon any merger and acquisition with other companies: None. 

4.8  Implementation of fund utilization plan:  

Issuance Plan Domestic 1st Unsecured Convertible Corporate Bonds 

Issuance Amount Isssued 7,000 units at NT$100,000 par value. The total amount of the par value 

is $700,000,000. (The total amount: 702,800,000) 

   

    Item 

Use of Capital 

The proposal  

amount 

The Actual  

Drawdown    

Completion  

Period 

Completion 

Rate 

1. Repay the Debt 300,000 thousand 300,000 thousand 
The Forth 

Quarter of 2022. 
100% 

2. Enrich the 

working capital 

200,000 thousand 200,000 thousand 
The Forth 

Quarter of 2022. 
100% 

202,800 thousand 202,800 thousand 
The First Quarter 

of 2023. 
100% 

Expected benefits 

1. Reduction of interest burden 

Based on the current borrowing rate, the Company expects to save interest 

expenses by NT$490 thousand and NT$3,908 thousand in 2022 and 2023, 

respectively. 

2. Strengthening of financial structure 

Once the investors gradually convert convertible corporate bonds into the 

Company’s ordinary shares, our debt ratio is expected to slowly decline to 

27.63%. This will continue to improve the Company’s long-term debt ratio. 

The current ratio and the quick ratio after the fundraising are 136.04% and 

119.87%, respectively, both higher than before the fundraising. 

3. Increase of working capital 

This avoids the need to borrow from financial institutions due to a lack of 

working capital. Based on the approximately 1.3% interest rate of the bank 

loan the Company intends to repay, it is expected to save interest expenses by 

NT$5,236 thousand per year. 



67 

5. Operational Highlight 

5.1 Business content: 

(I) Business scope: 

1. Main areas of business operations: 

(1) International trade; 

(2) Wholesale of industrial catalyst; 

(3) Wholesale of chemistry raw materials; 

(4) Retail sale of industrial catalyst; 

(5) Retail sale of chemistry raw materials; 

(6) Other comprehensive retail sales. 

2. Main business content and proportion: 

 

Item 
2022 (Consolidated revenue) 

Revenue Percentage 

Silicone related products, PTFE (Poly tetra 

fluoroethylene), COLCOAT (silicate, anti-static 

agents), cosmetic materials, UV curing adhesive, AF 

coating agent, VUV washing machines, construction 

products and other trading products, etc. 

8.704 billion dollars 100% 

 

3. Current products (services): 

Business item 

 Agent for Silicone related products: 

Silicone fluid and modified Silicone fluid, Silicone defoaming agent, Silicone release agent, Silicone foam 

stabilizer, Silicone fiber treatment, Silicone paint additives, Silicone resin, Silicone coupling agent, paper 

release agent, Silicone PSA, Silicone powder, HTV, LIMS, RTVI, RTV II, Silicone grease, sealant, MS-RTV, 

grease, thermal pad material, LED application materials and AF coating agent. 

 Konishi products: Sealant materials and various adhesives. 

 Sumitomo products: PTFE film and so on. 

 Sika Group products: Construction structural adhesives and various types of sealants. 

 Bostik: Construction materials, etc. 

 Others: Environmental catalysts, micro-capsule foam materials, COLCOAT (silicate, anti-static agents), 

cosmetic raw materials and finished products, Gunze fluorine sleeves, UV curing glues, atmospheric plasma, 

VUV washing machines, conductive polymers and other trade products. 

 

(II) Industry overview: 

1. Current state and development of the industry: (The Company's main products are based on 

Silicone, and therefore only Silicone related industries will be introduced.) 

Silicone products base silicon dioxide (SiO2) as a basic raw material to extract metal Si, and methyl 

chloride is added to form a series of chemical reactions and polymerization to form compounds 

composed by Si/O and various organic. Polymers are then subjected to various processes such as 

refining and hydrolysis to form a variety of Silicone products. Due to its special molecular structure, 

Silicone has the characteristics of heat resistance, cold resistance, weather resistance, defoaming, 

foaming, softness, chemical stability, electrical insulation, defoaming, release, and water repellency 
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through the addition of different chemical elements. Its product shape may also be oily, resin, rubber 

and other types. Due to its wide aspects of application, manufacturers of Silicone products must meet 

the individual needs of downstream customers to adjust product characteristics. Therefore, 

manufacturers have thousands of kinds of products, and now have extensively entered the electrical 

and electronic, plastic, paper, textile, medical, cosmetics, construction, automotive and other 

industries. Silicone adds additional value to these related products. In terms of the properties of 

products, it can be divided into Silicone fluid (modified Silicone fluid), various additives (e.g., 

coatings and cosmetics, etc.), defoaming agent, fiber treatment, release agent, PSA, Silicone resin, 

silane, HTV, LIMS, RTV, lubricating oil and sealant. In terms of product application, it can be roughly 

divided as follows: 

(1) 3C related products: 

A. Shell of PC, NB, PRINT M/C; using a flame resistant PC with Silicone added. 

B. Various keyboards which are used extensively. For example: mobile phones, keyboards, 

and remote controls, etc. 

C. Waterproof accessories for smart phones、tablet PC、game machine、wearable devices、

Bluetooth earphone and smart speaker, including application of AR and VR. 

D. Upstream materials for electronic products: copper foil treatment, glass fiber cloth 

processing, and the adjunction of Silicone in EMC to improve its characteristics, etc. 

E. All kinds of thermal materials for electronic products, including application of 5G, ADAS 

and server. 

F. Rollers and electronic components for multifunction machine. 

G. Anti-fouling coating agent for touch panel material. 

H.  LED industries: LED packaging, solid crystal, LENS and other materials. 

I. Power supply Inverter: LED and the usage of solar power insulation and potting. 

(2) Environmental issues: 

A. MARK for Silicone rubbers replacing PVC for the production of footwear and apparel. 

B. Silicone replaces halogen or phosphorous flame retardants and produces products such as 

flame-resistant PCs and flame- resistant wires. 

C. The related applications of 3C products mentioned above are in line with the EU 

environmental protection regulations. 

(3) Application products for daily life: 

A. Cotton, fiber and wool clothing are softer and better after the treatment of Silicone material.  

B. Curtain wall, interior waterproofing of buildings, external wall waterproofing and surface 

coating applications. 

C. Materials for components of automotive engine piping, oil seals, and mars plug caps. 

Automotive industry also includes application in electric vehicle batteries, tire pressure 

detectors, reversing radar, potting, and subsequent, etc. 

D. Cosmetic materials, Silicone adhesives for high temperature adhesive tapes, and release 

agents for trademark papers. 

E. Pacifiers, diving masks, swimming cap, swimming goggles, snorkle and other products. 

F. The ECU、PCU、ADAS heat dissipation of electric vehicle industry and anode 

materials for lithium-ion batter. 

G.  Kitchen related supplies 

(4) Medical related: 

 First aid masks, snore devices, balloon, medical tapes, antibacterial agent, antifoaming agent, 

water repellence agent and silicone hydrogel lenses. 
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The application scope of Silicone products has spread throughout the food and clothing industry. 

“Silicone is everywhere” has become an indispensable cornerstone of modern life, and its non-

toxic and harmless characteristics are more in line with the requirements of modern people for 

environmental protection. Its usage status has a positive relationship with the country's economic 

growth and development. Therefore, if the economy continues to grow, the market size of 

Silicone products will continue to grow. 

2. Correlation among upstream, midstream, and downstream sections of the industry: 

The main business of the Company is the sale of Silicone products. The products have a wide range 

of usage. The application range in downstream end reaches food, clothing, housing, transportation, 

education, and entertainment related industries. The upstream association industry table of Silicone 

products is as follows: 
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Si

C6H5Cl

CH3Cl

Methyl silane
Vinyl silane

Phenyl silane

Monomer 
synthesis

Hydrolysis

Import special functional 
group

Refine

Polymerization

Polymerization

Liquid 
Injection 
Molding 
System

Silane

Silicone oil

Resin

Silastic

Silane

Silicone oil

Modified Silicone Oil

Lubricating oil/compound oil

Release Agent

Fiber Treatment Agent

Paper Release Agent

Defoamer

Foaming Agent

Silicone resin

Paint Additives

One-Liquid Type RTV

Two-Liquid Type RTV 
(Mold Gel)

sealant

Silicone Rubber

LIMS

Two-Liquid RTV 
(for Electronic Appliance Use)

Coupling agent

Heat shrink tubing/
heat durable, electroconductive 

rubber
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3. Various development trends and competition conditions of the product: 

(1) Product trends: 

The application scope of Silicone products has spread throughout the food and clothing industry. 

It has become an indispensable cornerstone of modern life, and its non-toxic and harmless 

characteristics are more in line with the requirements of modern people for environmental 

protection. Various Silicone materials are widely used presently in the development of 

environmental protection and energy-saving fields such as LED packaging, wind power 

generation, and electric vehicles. There is still great room for growth in the future. 

(2) Product competition: 

The global high-end Silicone product suppliers include major manufactures of Japan, the United 

States, and Germany, including Dow Sil, Shin-Etsu, Momentive and Wacker. In addition, China 

had consequently established many upstream monolithic plants and downstream Silicone 

processed products plants in recent years, such as Elkem Silicones, Zhejiang Xinan Chemical, 

Huitian, and Dongyue. However, their products mainly focus on middle-class markets and basic 

materials. In order to serve domestic manufacturers nearby, the Company established a joint 

venture with Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. to establish Taiwan Shin-Etsu Silicone Co., Ltd., 

with a monthly production of more than 1,000 tons to supply domestic customers and export it 

across Asia, and set up a technical service center in Hsinchu to develop new products with 

customers. The Company introduces the latest Japan's products into the country to provide 

customers with the latest products and professional services. In addition to Japan and Taiwan, 

Shin-Etsu Group has production sites in Shanghai Nantong, Zhejiang, South Korea, and 

Thailand, and will be able to provide services nearby and meet the needs of customers inTaiwan, 

China and Southeast Asia. 

 

(III) Research and development (R&D): 

1. R&D expenses in the most recent year up to the printed date of the annual report: 

The Company is a distributor, and hence does not apply. 

2. R&D achievements in the most recent year up to the printed date of the annual report: 

The Company is a distributor, and hence does not apply. 

 

 (IV) Long- and short-term development: 

1. Short-term development: 

(1) Product development strategy 

A. Develop special materials and special applications with customers and upstream suppliers, 

such as electric power, medical care, and automotive applications, etc. 

B. Establishment of laboratories in Taiwan and China for creation and sampling of 

cosmetics formulas, as well as testing and inspection of mold release agents. When 

recipes are suggested to customers, testing services can immediately start. This 

enhances the value added as a distributor. 

 

(2) Marketing plans 

A. Cultivate marketing staff with professional backgrounds in Japanese and various 

industries to provide the most professional services for customers. 
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B. Digital transformation rapidly. The company sets the official account of Line and Wechat 

to promote the information of new product and holds online product launch from 2022. 

C. Develop new clients.  

2. Long-term development: 

(1) Product development strategy 

A. Focus on Silicone as the core to develop related key materials and equipments. 

B. Jointly apply patents for applications of special materials with suppliers and customers. 

(2) Marketing strategies 

A. Continue to expand the marketing team. 

B.  In response to the global supply chain reshuffling and customers’ footprint and direction 

of travel, the Company is evaluating the addition of marketing offices to service 

customers in Southeast Asia and other regions. 

5.2 Marketing and production profile: 

(I) Market analysis: 

1. Main products and sales area (Consolidated revenue): 

Unit: NT$ thousand 

Year 

Area 

2021 2022 

Sales amount % Sales amount % 

Domestic sales 3,230,966 34.25 3,003,884 34.51 

Exports 

China 5,648,859 59.88 5,021,073 57.69 

Other Country 554,178 5.87 678,927 7.80 

Subtotal 6,203,037 65.75 5,700,000 65.49 

Total 9,434,003 100.00 8,703,884 100.00 

 

2. Market share 

Currently there are no official or professional organizations to conduct statistical analysis. 

According to the customs import data and market survey, the Company’s Silicone products are 

about 30% of Taiwan's imports. 

3. Future supply and demand and growth of market 

(1) The Silicone products are widely used in various industries such as high-tech industries and 

people's daily necessities. In recent years, there are some companies continue to expand 

production capacity. 

(2) Niches in competition 

A. With shares investment, Shin-Etsu changed from simple agent to shareholder, which 

strengthened the cooperation between two parties. Shin-Etsu's Silicone products have high 

market share in the Asian market. The Company and Shin-Etsu have cooperated for decades 

and show outstanding agents performance. The two parties have established a co-existence 

and co-prosperity relationship. In addition, through the invested shares from Shin-Etsu, the 

cooperation relationship will become closer. 
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B. The access to market had complete layout. In order to provide the best services for 

customers, currently the Company has established marketing bases in Hong Kong, 

Shanghai, Guangzhou, Suzhou, Ningbo, Xiamen, Indonesia and Vietnem in addition to 

Taiwan. In response to the production base transfered, the Company contine to evaluate 

new place to expand business. 

C. Shin-Etsu Technology Center is currently the only professional Silicone product research 

center in the country. Through the R&D technology cooperation between both parties, new 

products can be developed for different customer orders. Meanwhile, Hsinchu Technology 

Center is separated from other peers’ strategy which merely establishes domestic sales 

channels. 

D. The product line is complete: The Company has agent for more than 4,000 products of 

Shin-Etsu Group's full-range products. The products’ application fields cover all industries, 

not only meeting the customers’ needs but also reducing the adverse impact of economic 

fluctuations. 

4. Favorable, unfavorable Factors and countermeasures in the long run: 

(1) Favorable factors 

A. Market for Silicone continues to grow 

The demand for Silicone increases at the same level as the economic development level of 

a country. The main selling markets of the Company’s Silicone products are Taiwan and 

China. The Company will expend the group and evaluate the other marketing area to 

establish. 

B. Continuingly develop new application areas 

Silicone materials have continuously been developed in new application areas every year. 

Not only the materials conform to the trend of environmental protection, but also are more 

closely integrated with daily necessities, in order to achieve the goal of making Silicone a 

“life technology” material. 

(2) Unfavorable factors 

A. Purchases focus on Shin-Etsu products 

The Company mainly distributes the products of Shin-Etsu Chemical, an internationally 

renowned manufacturer. The product percentage from Shin-Etsu and its related companies 

from Japan are high. Thus, the stability of product agency rights has become the key factor 

in the success of the Company. 

Countermeasures 

(a). To effectively maintain agency rights, through the way of having Shin-Etsu investing in the 

Company, the relationship between the two parties has been strengthened and changed from 

simple distributors to shareholder relationship. 

 

(b). In addition to continuously acquiring the agency rights of various newly-developed Silicone 

products of Shin-Etsu, the Company has also actively increased the agency of other related 

brands. The Company gradually spreads the risk of single brand agency. 

 

B. There is difficulty to collect receivables in China, and the risk of accounts receivable is 

high. 
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Countermeasures 

The Company has carried out accounts receivable insurance since 2015 to reduce the risk of 

collecting receivables. 

 

C. Geopolitical conflicts and U.S.-China trade war has caused significant structural change on 

the global industry chain. 

Countermeasures 

Our main suppliers in Taiwan, China, Southeast Asia, North America and Europe can 

also supply goods, able to service customers in vicinity with the “short-chain supply” 

model. The percentage of the Chinese supply chain will also gradually increase.  

 

(II) Production procedure and important use of main products: 

1. Important use of main products 

(1) Silicone products from Shin-Etsu 

Product type Usage 

Silicone fluid Line manufacturing industry, cosmetics, and basic materials for RTV 

Silicone defoaming agent Green paint for electronic products and textile use 

Silicone foam stabilizer Foaming memory pillow 

Fiber treatment Handle the tactile treatment of various fibers 

Paper release agent Label paper and tape release layer 

Silicone resin Electronic tape, heat-resistant coating 

Silicone silane Fiberglass cloth, copper foil substrate, IC package 

PSA Protective film for mobile phones, insulating tape, mica tape and so on. 

RTV 
Subsequent for various electronic parts, perfusion, construction 

industries, temporary molds 

Lubricating oil, fluid compounds, 

thermal pad material 
NB-CPU heat dissipation, heat dissipation. 

HTV Phone keyboards, remote control buttons and medical supplies 

LIMS 
NB keyboards, pacifiers, diving masks, medical supplies, consumer 

electronics accessories 

For LED Packaging and die bonding 

(2) Other agency products 

Product type Usage 

Konishi Sealant and adhesives 
Construction sealant, electronic adhesives, adhesives for people's 

livelihood 

Sika Weatherproof structural 

adhesive 
Waterproof, weatherproof, structural edge  

Bostik  Construction materials 

Cosmetic materials 

Essence, lotion, cream, foundation, lipstick, sunscreen, capsule, 

whitening, anti-aging, moisturizing, skin care and powder surface 

treatment, etc. 

Antistatic materials Antistatic film surface coating, and so on 

Gunze Fluorine tube, shrink tube (coating and anti-fouling) 

Ushio VUVwashing machine (Physically improve subsequent effects) 

Others UV-curable adhesive, atmospheric plasma and general trade products 
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2. Production process 

The Company is professional distributor for Silicone products, and is not a manufacturer. Therefore, 

there is no production process. For the industry-related diagram of Silicone please, please refer to “(2) 

Industry Overview, B. Correlation among upstream, midstream, and downstream sections of the 

industry.” 

 

(III) Supply status of main materials: 

Mainly from the Shin-Etsu Chemical Group in Japan (Shin-Etsu Shanghai, Shin-Etsu Japan, Shin-Etsu 

Taiwan, Shin-Etsu Hong Kong and Shin-Etsu Singapore, etc.) and other suppliers. 

 

(IV) List of customers that account for more than 10% of total sales within either of the last two years, their 

purchase amount and ratio: 

1. Major suppliers in the most recent 2 years 

                                                                                                                    

Unit: NT$ thousand 

 2021 2022 

Item Name Amount 

As a percentage 

to the yearly net 

purchases (%) 

Relationship 

with the 

issuer 

Name Amount 

As a percentage to 

the yearly net 

purchases (%) 

Relationship 

with the 

issuer 

1 
Shin-Etsu 

Taiwan 
2,648,516  34.96 Related party 

Shin-Etsu 

Taiwan 
2,482,318  34.23 Related party 

2 
Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai 
2,251,141  29.72 Related party 

Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai 
2,051,222  28.29 Related party 

3 Others 2,676,024  35.32 - Others 2,718,247  37.48 - 

 Net purchase 7,575,681 100.00  Net purchase 7,251,787 100.00  

    <Note> The Company’s financial statements as of March 31, 2023haven’t been reviewed by independent auditors. 

2. List of customers that account for more than 10% of total sales within either of the last two years, 

their purchase amount and ratio: No clients have accounted for more than 10% of the total sales 

amount. 
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(V) Production in the most recent 2 years: The Company is not a manufacturing business, and thus is not 

applicable. 

(VI) Consolidated sales volume in the most recent 2 years: 

 
Unit: NT$ thousand 

Year 

Sales Volume 

Major product 

2021 2022 

Domestic sales Exports Domestic sales Exports 

Quantity Value Quantity Value Quantity Value Quantity Value 

All kinds of 

materials and other 

trade products 

- 3,230,966 - 6,203,037 - 3,003,884 - 5,700,000 

Note: Because of the different unit types of materials, such as kilograms, tablets, sticks, and rolls, the quantities are not 

shown. 

5.3 Basic information of employees: 

The number, average years of service, average age, and education distribution ratio of employees in the 

most recent two years up to the printed date of this annual report: 

Year 2021 2022 Until April 2, 2023 

Employee 

number 

Managing and marketing staff 257 264 260 

Manufacturing staff 0 0 0 

R&D personnel 0 0 0 

Total 257 264 260 

Average age 37.69 38.25 38.58 

Average tenure (year) 10.38 11.07 11.36 

Distribution 

(%) of 

educational 

background 

Percentage 

(%) 

Ph.D. 0.39% 0.38% 0.38% 

Master 14.84% 14.77% 15.00% 

Bachelor 79.69% 80.30% 80.00% 

Senior high school 3.91% 3.41% 3.47% 

Below senior high school 1.17% 1.14% 1.15% 

5.4 Information of environmental protection expenditure: 

(I) The Company’s loss due to environmental pollution (compensation), total amount of disposal, future 

countermeasures and possible expenditures in the most recent two years up to the printed date of the 

annual report date 

1. Loss due to environmental pollution and amount of disposal: None. 

2. Future countermeasures and possible expenditures: The Company's products comply with EU 

environmental regulations, and therefore there are no environmental pollution problems. 

5.5 Labor relations: 

(I) Company's employee benefits, education, training, retirement system and their implementation, as 

well as the employer/employee agreement status: 

1. Staff behavior and codes: 

(1) The Company has prepared work codes, employee manuals and new personnel manuals, 

and has codes of conduct for employees' ethical behavior as a basis for employees to follow 

on their normal work and behavior. The Company’s employees should abide by the Codes 

of Ethical Conduct as follows: 
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(A) In the execution of their duties, the Company’s employees shall focus on teamwork, 

abandon sectionalism, diligently comply with the principle of honesty and credibility, 

be proactive, responsible and prudent. 

(B) No form of preferential treatment or discrimination should take place in any form 

based on race, sex, religious beliefs, political party affiliation, sexual orientation, 

position, nationality, or age. 

(C) The Company’s employees should work to maintain a safe and healthy environment, 

and there should be no instances of harassment, or violent and threatening behavior. 

(D) The Company’s employees shall faithfully execute their duties in the interests of all 

shareholders, and shall prevent the following activities: 

(a) Seeking an opportunity to pursue personal benefits by using the Company’s 

property or information or taking advantage of their positions. 

(b) Competing with the Company through any methods. 

(E) The Company’s employees should treat the objects of business fairly; when dealing 

with related parties, there must not be special concessions. In the performance of their 

duties, the employees of the Company shall not request, contract, deliver or receive 

any form of gift, entertainment, rebate, bribe or other improper interest for the interests 

of their own or a third person. However, the gift or entertainment provided by the 

courtesy of social etiquette or allowed by the company regulations is not limited. 

(F) For the work-related knowledge and any information that could affect the share price 

of the Company’s stock, before it has been disclosed as public information, all 

information shall be kept confidential pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Act 

regulations and shall not be used to engage in insider trading. 

(G) The Company’s employees should respect each other's personal privacy, and shall not 

spread out rumors or hurt each others by rumoring. The employees’ work-related 

knowledge, confidential information or customer data shall be carefully managed, and 

except for that required for company disclosure or publicized as required by law, the 

data should not be leaked to others or used for any other non-work matters. This Article 

also applies to the employees who have left the Company. 

(H) The Company’s employees are obliged to keep the information of the Company and 

its clients confidential. Information shall not be disclosed prior to Company’s 

authorization or as required by law, and shall not be leaked to other persons or used 

for any other non-work matters. The confidential information includes, but is not 

limited to, any undisclosed information that may be utilized or divulged by 

competitors and can consequently cause damage or loss to the Company or its clients, 

as well as information regarding the investments, inventions, business secrets, 

technical data, product design, professional manufacturing knowledge, finance, 

accounting and intellectual property rights of the Company. 

(I) Employees of the Company should ensure that all forms of paperwork handled by 

them are correct, complete and properly preserved. 

(J) When employees of the Company are performing their duties, they should avoid theft, 

interference, destruction, and intrusion of resources such as data, information systems, 

and network equipment to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the 

company's information. 

(K) The employees of the Company must not influence other employees in any way to 

contribute politically, support specific political parties or candidates, or participate in 

other political activities. 

(L) The employees of the Company should respect the relevant legal provisions of 
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intellectual property rights and prohibit the illegal use or reproduction of copyrighted 

intellectual property, including books, magazines, and software. 

(M) The management of the Company should strengthen the publicity of the Company’s 

internal ethical values, and encourage employees to provide named report to the 

director when they discover violations of the laws and regulations or these Codes. The 

Company should do its utmost to protect the confidentiality and protect the identity of 

the presenter from threats. 

(2) The computer is an essential tool for employees of the Company. In order to regulate the 

employees' use of electronic tools, Regulations on Management and Usage of the Internet 

have been established for all employees to follow. 

(3) In order to protect intellectual property rights, the Company has established the Ethical 

Commitment Contract and the Copyright Commitment Letter to regulate the work ethic of 

employees. 

2. Employee benefit and implementation: 

(1) In addition to statutory labor and health insurance, the Company insures employees with 

group insurance (including life insurance, critical illness insurance, medical insurance and 

accident insurance, cancer insurance, etc.) In addition to taking care of short-term business 

trip amd long-term overseas colleagues and their family dependents’ medical insurance, 

overseas business FPAs are provided. By a complete insurance system, the safety of work 

and life of each colleague are ensured. 

(2) New year and holiday rewards, employee bonuses and year-end bonuses, etc. 

(3) The Company withdraws provisions for the establishment of the Employee Welfare 

Committee. Its responsibility is the planning and implementation of various benefits, such 

as staff travel, family day activities, birthday cash gift, birthday party, allowances for 

weddings and funerals, employee sports allowances, Topco Baby Golden Coins for the 

newborn baby of the year and staff disease visits care, etc. 

(4) Employees enjoy educational training within and outside the Company occasionally. 

(5) Employees enjoy health checks every year. 

(6)  The Company established the Employee Assistance Program (EAP) with Shiuh-Li Cultural 

and Educational Foundation since 2016. In addition to regularly holding pressure relief 

talks, the Company provides free telephone consultation and 5 times consultative services 

yearly to colleagues and their dependents to help them deal with invisible stress from 

personal, family, life or work. By actively caring and timely assistance, we hope each 

colleague can maintain the best physical and mental state at all times and maintain the 

efficiency and quality at work. In addition to counseling provided by the above-mentioned 

institutions, management consultation-related assistance is also available for supervisors 

(or higher positions). 

3. Employee education and trainings: 

The Company provides education and training for staff to improve their quality, enhance work 

knowledge of staff, and to reserve talents to meet the Company's business development. To seek 

the effectiveness on the use of labor, the Education and Training Method is established. 
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Item Total people Total times Total amount (NTD) 

1. New staff training 149 215 0 

2. Professional training 2,340 2,271 467,572 

3. Executive training 1,256 1,285 846,223 

Total 3,745 3,771 1,313,795 

 

The Company’s training courses include: 

(1) New staff training: Including basic training for new staff and induction. 

(2)  Professional training: Applications for training courses in external business institutions may 

be filed based on actual needs. Applications for subsidies on training 

in any foreign language may also be filed. 

(3) Talent training of managers: Management and development training activities designed 

based on the needs of managers of each level for management talent and management 

responsibility. For example, notices for commercial contracts, evaluation of exchange rate 

risk, and caring course for managers, etc. 

The Company has established the “Education and Training Method” that encourages employees 

not only to accept work education but also to participate in diversified external training. In order 

to achieve the Company's business and personal development needs, the Company’s courses 

include short-term study courses, long-term degree and language learning, as well as providing 

employees education subsidies for the above courses. 

4.   Diversity and Equality in the Work Place: 

To maintain the gender equality at work and provide a sexual harassment free working and 

service environment to employees, the Company has stipulated Regulations Governing The Anti-

sexual Harassment Measures and Compliant and Disciplinary Actions for employees to comply 

with, achieved the reward conditions of equal pay for equal work for all genders and equal 

promotion opportunities, and maintained the ratio of female supervisors for over 10% to promote 

the sustainable and prosperous economic growth. In 2022, the average ratio of female employees 

was 47.4%, and the average ratio of female supervisors was 21.8%. 

5. Retirement system and implementation: 

The Company applies the regulations stipulated by the “Labor Standards Act” to the service 

tenures of all formal employees before the promulgation of the “Labor Pension Act” on July 1, 

2005 and the subsequent service tenures of the employees who opt for continued applicability of 

the Labor Standards Act after the promulgation of the “Labor Pension Act.”  Pensions shall be 

paid to employees who retire by meeting statutory requirements and calculated with the years of 

service and the average salary six months before retirement. Two base points shall be granted for 

each full year of service up to 15 years, one base point for each full year of service after 15 years. 

However, the number of cumulative base points is limited to 45.  In accordance with Article 3 

of the Regulations for the Allocation and Management of the Workers' Retirement Reserve Funds, 

the Company’s cumulative contributions to the pension reserve is sufficient to fund the 

retirement of all employees. The temporary suspension of contributions has been reviewed and 

approved by the Company’s Pension Reserve Supervisory Committee and reported to 

Department of Labor, Taipei City Government. 



80 

Starting on July 1, 2005, the Company has established its defined contribution plan according to 

the “Labor Pension Act” and applicable to employees of Taiwanese nationality.  The Company 

contributes 6% of monthly wages for the employees who opt for the pension system under the 

“Labor Pension Act” to their personal accounts with the Bureau of Labor Insurance. Pension 

payouts are based on the amounts in employees’ own pension accounts and the cumulative 

returns. Pensions can be paid monthly or in a lump sum.  

6. Employer/employee agreements: In order to protect the labor’s rights and interests and to 

coordinate relations between employers and employees, the Company is committed to 

strengthening the harmony between the employers and employees and adopts two-way 

communication to solve the problems. Therefore, the industrial relation has been harmonious so 

far, and no significant labor disputes have occurred. 

(II) The Company's losses and total fines due to employer/employee disputes within the most recent two 

years up to the printed date of this annual report, and the current and future estimated monetary amount 

and measures to be taken in response: The Company has no significant employer/employee disputes. 

(III) The company’s working environment, personal safety protection measures and implementation 

conditions: The Company is not a manufacturer, and the employees’ workplace is a general office, 

and therefore there is no labor security issue comparatively. However, the Company values the safety 

of working environment and personal safety. Related protective measures have been implemented as 

follows: 

Protection measures Implementation 

Building security guard The building is equipped with security personnel to maintain safety 24 

hours a day. 

Office access control The office has set up an employee face identification system for access 

control. 

Fire-fighting measures Place fire extinguishers in open spaces, occasionally fire alarms testing 

and keep the emergency exits open. The building has the fire drill 

exercise at least twice per year 

Building construction If the building is under related constructions, the Management 

Committee will also set up warning signs and dispatch relevant 

personnel to direct people in addition to posting notices. 

Building facilities maintenance The Management Committee will carry out regular maintenance more 

than twice per year for elevators and drinking facilities, etc. The 

building's public spaces and parking lots will also be disinfected at least 

two times per year. 

Prevention of sexual harassment In addition to advocacy, the Prevention and Report Method of Sexual 

Harassment will also be posted on the bulletin board. 

 (IV) In addition, the Company has fully disclosed the identities of stakeholders, issues to be focused on, 

communication channel and communication frequency in the identification item of stakeholders in 

the ESG Report. On the company website, the responsive methods are also listed to make the 

communication between stakeholders and the Company a virtuous cycle. 

5.6 The management of Information security 

I.Computer and digital information have become commonly seen. For the massive data processing and 

storage, the Company almost adopts all computerized operations. The description for the information and 
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communication security and risk structure, information and communication security policy, solid 

management plan, and the resources invested in the information and communication security management 

of the Company is as follows: 

1. Company information and communication security and risk management structure: 

(1) The Chief Information Officer of the Company is in charge of establishing the information 

security management unit. This unit stipulates and plans information security measures in 

accordance with the information security policy of the Company to ensure the effectiveness of the 

operation of information security management. 

(2) The information safety unit convenes on a regular basis to review the implementation status and 

reports the information security matters to the CEO office. 

2. The goals of information security policy are as follows: 

(1) Guarantee the information security and stability of the Company to ensure the operation of the 

Company is not disrupted. 

(2) Guarantee the continuation of the business operation of the Company to protect the business secrets 

from leaking and ensure the operation from being disrupted. 

(3) Guarantee the secrecy, integrity, and availability of the information safeguarded by the Company 

and protect the privacy of personnel information. 

(4) Establish the information business sustainability protect and ensure the Company complies with the 

laws and regulations when collecting, using, and storing data. 

3. Solid management plan and the resources invested in information and communication security 

A. Solid management plan: 

(1) Monitor the connection status of information facilities of the Company and the external connection 

status on a regular basis. 

(2) The remote data backup system should be established for the information system or facilities of the 

Company, and the drills of system recovery procedure should be conducted on a regular basis to 

ensure complete information recoverability. 

(3) Install anti-virus and malware attack prevention software in the computers and prohibit any 

unauthorized software. 

(4) Perform vulnerability inspection and update for information facilities on a regular basis to prevent 

the information from being damaged. 

(5) When using the account, password, and authorization of the Company, the user should fulfill the 

accountability of custody and usage, and the passwords should be changed on a regular basis. 

(6) Inspect the access authorization to the restricted data in the account of the Company system. 

(7) The personnel of the Company shall abide by the requirement of information security policy and 

strengthen the information security knowledge.  

(8) The Company distributes information security announcements and implements information security 

promotion regularly. 

B. Resources invested in information and communication security: 

(1) IDS/IPS/APT: Hacking/information security protection (detection, monitoring, analysis, reporting, 

and disposal). 

(2) Firewall: Firewall information security protection (detection, monitoring, analysis, reporting, and 

disposal). 

(3) Anti-Virus: Firewall and virus monitoring on the anti-virus control endpoint. 

(4) Endpoint Detection and Response: Monitoring and protection on each endpoint. 
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(5) The Company network separates 3 independent SSIDs for Company equipment, employee BYOD 

(Bring Your Own Device), and visitors in order to control the authorization of devices accessing 

the internal sources of the Company. 

II. List any losses suffered by the company in the most recent fiscal year and up to the annual report 

publication date due to significant cyber security incidents, the possible impacts therefrom, and 

measures being or to be taken: The Company does not have any significant cyber security incidents. 

5.7 Important contracts: 

The Company’s Supply and Sales Contracts, Technical Cooperation Contracts, Engineering Contracts, 

Long-term Loan Contracts, and other important contracts that would affect the shareholders' equity that 

remains valid and expired in the most recent year through the printed date of this annual report are as 

follows: The Company and all its major suppliers have their own supply and sales contracts. These contracts 

are all generally renewed each year and there are no major restriction clauses. 
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6. Financial overview 

6.1 Condensed financial information of the most recent five years: 

(I) Condensed Balance Sheet and Comprehensive Income Statement (IFRSs): 

Condensed Balance Sheet - Consolidated 

                                                                        Unit: NT$ thousands 

Year(s) 

Item 

Financial information for the most recent five years (Note 1) 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

Current assets 4,510,944 4,563,882 4,856,022 5,444,884 5,676,694 

Property, plant and equipment  225,554    343,919   498,495   484,854 473,791 

Intangible assets - - - - - 

Other assets  211,992 425,351 366,580 425,819 498,704 

Total assets 4,948,490 5,333,152 5,721,097 6,355,557 6,649,189 

Current 

liabilities 

Before distribution 1,419,606 1,244,942 1,440,923 1,770,207 1,216,441 

After distribution 1,797,317 1,511,562 1,759,565 2,214,573 1,543,050 

Non-current liabilities 144,863 168,135 132,018 128,407 773,207 

Total 

liabilities 

Before distribution 1,564,469 1,413,077 1,572,941 1,898,614 1,989,648 

After distribution 1,942,180 1,679,697 1,891,583 2,342,980 2,316,257 

Equity attributable to shareholders 

of the parent company 
3,252,726 3,790,706 4,005,808 4,309,592 4,517,665 

 Capital 641,610 740,610 740,610 740,610 740,610 

 Capital surplus 954,075 1,454,075 1,454,075 1,454,075 1,521,003 

Retained 

earnings 

Before distribution 1,688,012 1,685,359 1,812,781 2,088,675 2,118,777 

After distribution 1,310,301 1,418,739 1,494,139 1,644,309 1,792,168 

 Other equity (    29,971) (    89,338) (    1,658) 26,232 137,275 

 Treasury stock - - - - - 

Non-controlling interest 131,295 129,369 142,348 147,351 141,876 

Total equity 
Before distribution 3,384,021 3,920,075 4,148,156 4,456,943 4,659,541 

After distribution 3,006,310 3,653,455 3,829,514 4,012,577 4,332,932 

Note 1: The financial statements have been audited by independent auditors.  

Note 2:The Company’s financial statements as of March 31, 2023 haven’t been reviewed by independent 

auditors. 
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Condensed balance sheet - parent company 

Unit: NT$ thousands 

Year(s) 

 

Item 

Financial information for the most recent five years (Note 1) 

2018 2023 2020 2021 2022 

Current assets 1,435,445 1,357,304 1,280,714 1,523,710 1,758,405 

Property, plant and equipment 

(Note 2) 
78,863 75,891 74,434 73,606 71,718 

Intangible assets - - - - - 

Other assets (Note 2) 2,558,557 3,042,940 3,370,907 3,751,085 4,072,004 

Total assets 4,072,865 4,476,135 4,726,055 5,348,401 5,902,127 

Current 

liabilities 

Before 

distribution 
733,473 579,029 625,965 948,829 643,949 

After 

distribution 
1,111,184 845,649 944,607 1,393,195 970,558 

Non-current liabilities 86,666 106,400 94,282 89,980 740,513 

Total liabilities 

Before 

distribution 
820,139 685,429 720,247 1,038,809 1,384,462 

After 

distribution 
1,197,850 952,049 1,038,889  1,483,175 1,711,071 

Capital 640,610 740,610 740,610 740,610 740,610 

Capital surplus 954,075 1,454,075 1,454,075 1,454,075 1,521,003 

Retainedearnings 

Before 

distribution 
1,688,012 1,685,359 1,812,781 2,088,675 2,118,777 

After 

distribution 
1,310,301 1,418,739 1,494,139 1,644,309 1,792,168 

Other equity (29,971) (89,338) (1,658) 26,232 137,275 

Treasury stock - - - - - 

Total equity 

Before 

distribution 
3,252,726 3,790,706 4,005,808 4,309,592 4,517,665 

After 

distribution 
2,875,015 3,524,086 3,687,166 3,865,226 4,191,056 

Note 1: The financial statements have been audited by independent auditors.  

Note 2: The Company’s financial statements as of March 31, 2023 haven’t been reviewed by independent auditors. 
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Condensed comprehensive income statement - consolidated 

 
Unit: NT$ thousands (except earning per share) 

Year 

 

Item 

Financial information for the most recent five years (Note 1) 

2018 2023 2020 2021 2022 

Operating revenue 8,544,667 7,772,334 7,912,554 9,434,003 8,703,884 

Gross profit 1,644,651 1,317,621 1,366,601 1,863,067 1,546,905 

Net operating income  645,916 500,007 500,517 767,107 585,971 

Non-operating income 

and expense  
7,443 (4,468) 24,134 33,992 26,952 

Net income before tax 653,359 495,539 524,651 801,099 612,923 

Net income from 

continued operations 
481,652 386,357 411,733 615,211 

 

474,545 

Loss from discontinued 

operations 
- - - - - 

Net income (loss) 481,652 386,357 411,733 615,211 474,545 

Other comprehensive 

income or loss (Net 

amount after tax) 

(2,490) (60,458) 87,249 26,599 120,052 

Total comprehensive 

income or loss 
479,162 325,899 498,982 641,810 594,597 

Net income attributed 

toowner of parent 

company 

463,242 375,795 394,243 595,370 466,417 

Net income attributable 

to non-controlling 

interests 

18,410 10,562 17,490  19,841 8,128 

Total comprehensive 

income attributable to 

owner of parent company 

460,631 351,691 481,722 622,246 585,511 

Total comprehensive 

income attributable to 

non-controlling interests 

18,531 10,208 17,260 19,564 9,086 

EPS 7.41 5.10 5.32 8.04 6.30 

Note 1: The financial statements have been audited by independent auditors.  

Note 2: The Company’s financial statements as of March 31, 2023 haven’t been reviewed by independent auditors. 
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Condensed comprehensive income statement - parent company 

 

Unit: NT$ thousands(except earning per share) 

Year 

 

Item 

Financial information for the most recent five years (Note 1) 

2018 2023 2020 2021 2022 

Operating revenue 3,376,111 2,809,579 2,875,673 3,854,538 3,559,733 

Gross profit 723,008 538,437 546,503 766,242 675,503 

Net operating 

income 
238,443 181.462 159,335 247,236 230,454 

Non-operating 

income and expense  
300,076 237,721 261,476 404,631 296,098 

Net income before 

tax 
538,519 419,183 420,811 651,867 526,552 

Net income from 

continued 

operations 

463,242 375,795 394,243 595,370 466,417 

Loss from 

discontinued 

operations 

- - - - - 

Net income (loss) 463,242 375,795 394,243 595,370 466,417 

Other 

comprehensive 

income or loss (Net 

amount after tax) 

(2,611) (60,104) 87,479 26,876 119,094 

Total 

comprehensive 

income or loss 

460,631 315,691 481,722 622,246 585,511 

EPS 7.41 5.10 5.32 8.04 6.30 

Note 1: The financial statements have been audited by independent auditors.  

Note 2: The Company’s financial statements as of March 31, 2023 haven’t been reviewed by independent auditors. 

 

(II) Auditors’ opinions during the most recent 5 years: 

 

Year Accounting firm Name of CPA Audit opinion 

2018 KPMG Jui-Lan Luo, Yi-Wen Wang Unqualified opinion 

2023 KPMG Jui-Lan Luo, Yi-Wen Wang Unqualified opinion 

2020 KPMG Jui-Lan Luo, Kuan-Ying Kuo Unqualified opinion 

2021 KPMG Jui-Lan Luo,Kuan-Ying Kuo Unqualified opinion 

2022 KPMG Kuan-Ying Kuo,Yu-Ting Hsin Unqualified opinion 
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6.2 Financial analysis of the most recent five years: 

Financial analysis (IFRSs) - consolidated 

Year (Note 1) 

 

Item (Note 3) 

Financial analysis of the most recent five years 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

Capital 

structure 

(%) 

Liability to asset ratio 32 26 27 30 30 

Long-term funds to 

property, plant and 

equipment ratio (%) 

1,467 1,114 808 946 1,147 

Solvency % 

Current ratio 318 367 337 308 467 

Quick ratio 245 291 281 255 371 

Interest coverage ratio 146 74 108 202 48 

Operating 

performance 

Accounts receivable 

turnover (times) 
4.23 3.97 4.17 4.33 4.15 

Average collection days 86 92 88 84 88 

Inventory turnover (times) 8.32 7.23 8.49 9.81 7.46 

Accounts payable turnover 

(times) 
8.84 8.55 8.44 9.14 10.00 

Average days in sales 44 50 43 37 49 

Property, plant and 

equipment turnover (times) 
38.02 27.30 18.79 19.19 18.16 

Total assets turnover (times) 1.78 1.51 1.43 1.56 1.34 

Profitability 

Return on total assets (%) 10.11 7.62 7.52 10.24 7.46 

Return on equity (%) 15.25 10.97 10.56 14.30 10.41 

To paid-

incapital (%) 

Operating 

profits 
100.83 67.51 67.58 103.58 79.12 

Pre-tax 

income 
101.99 66.91 70.84 108.17 82.76 

Net profit margin (%) 5.64 4.97 5.20 6.52 5.45 

EPS (NT$) 7.41 5.10 5.32 8.04 6.30 

Cash flow 

Cash flow ratio (%) 18.35 49.99 45.10 21.34 34.69 

Cash flow adequacy ratio 

(%) 
104.85 104.10 116.22 102.03 100.86 

Cash reinvestment ratio (%) (1.01) 6.03 8.94 1.29 1.76 

Leverage 
Operating leverage 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 

Financial leverage 1.00 1.01 1.01 1.01 1.02 

Please state the reasons of the change in each financial ratio for the most recent two years (not required to 

do so if the change does not exceed 20%): 

I. Long-term funds to property, plant and equipment ratio and solvency: The rate increased due to the 

convertible bonds issued. 

II. Current ratio and Quick ratio: The rate increased due to the deposit increased and payment decreased. 

III. The interest coverage ratio decreased due to the interest rate raised and the borrowings increased from 

the January to October in 2022. 

IV. Inventory turnover and profitability: 

The decline in the ratios during theperiod was primarily due to demand slowdown and price reductions. 

As a result, profitability and inventory turnover decreased.  

Note 1: The financial statements have been audited by independent auditors. 

Note 2: The Company’s financial statements as of March 31, 2023 haven’t been reviewed by independent auditors. 

Note 3: The following formulas should be presented: 
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1. Financial structure 

(1) Liability to asset ratio = Total liability / Total asset 

(2) Ratio of long-term capital to property, plant and equipment = (Total equity + Non-current liability) / 

Net property, plant and equipment 

2. Solvency 

(1) Current ratio = Current assets / Current liability 

(2) Quick ratio = (Current Assets - Inventories - Prepaid expenses) / Current liability 

(3) Interest coverage ratio = Profit before income tax and interest expense / Current interest expense 

3. Operating performance 

(1) Accounts receivable turnover (including accounts receivable and notes receivable resulting from 

business operations) = Net sales / Average accounts receivable in various periods (including accounts 

receivable and notes receivable resulting from business operations) 

(2) Average collection days = 365 / Accounts receivable turnover 

(3) Average inventory turnover = Cost of goods sold / Average inventories 

(4) Accounts payable turnover (including accounts payable and notes payable resulting from business 

operations) = Cost of goods sold / Average accounts payable in various periods (including accounts 

payable and notes payable resulting from business operations) 

(5) Average days in sales = 365 / Inventory turnover 

(6) Property, plant and equipment turnover rate = Net sales /Net average property, plant and equipment 

(7) Total assets turnover = Net sales / Average total asset value 

4. Profitability 

(1) Return on assets (ROA) = [Gain (loss) after tax + Interest expenses × (1 – tax rate)] / Average total 

asset 

(2) Return on equity (ROE) = Gain (loss) after tax / Average total equity 

(3) Net profit margin = Gain (loss) after tax / Net sales 

(4) Earnings per share (EPS) = (Gain (loss) attributable to the owner of the parent company - dividends 

of preferred shares) / Weighted average of outstanding shares (Note 4) 

5. Cash flow 

(1) Cash flow ratio = Net cash flow from operating activities / Current liability 

(2) Net cash flow adequacy ratio = Net cash flow from operating activities in the most recent 5 years / 

(Capital expenditure + inventory increase + cash dividends) in the 5 most recent years. 

(3) Cash reinvestment ratio = (Net cash flow from operating activities – Cash dividends) / (Gross value 

of PP&E + long-term investments + other non-current assets + operating capital) (Note 5) 

6. Leverage 

(1) Operating leverage = (Net operating revenue – variable operating cost and expense) / Operating 

profit (Note 6) 

(2) Financial leverage = Operating profit / (Operating profit – interest expenses) 
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Financial analysis (IFRSs) - parent company 

Year (Note 1) 

 

Item (Note 3) 

Financial analysis of the most recent five years 

2018 2023 2020 2021 2022 

Capital 

structure (%) 

Liability to asset ratio 20 15 15 19 23 

Long-term funds to property, 

plant and equipment ratio (%) 
4,125 4,995 5,382 5,977 7,332 

Solvency % 

Current ratio 196 234 205 161 273 

Quick ratio 163 203 178 136 222 

Interest coverage ratio 6,649 563 585 743 62 

Operating 

performance 

Accounts receivable turnover 

(times) 
4.09 3.82 4.19 4.37 4.08 

Average collection days 89 96 87 84 89 

Inventory turnover (times) 12.71 11.02 13.77 15.73 10.03 

Accounts payable turnover 

(times) 
6.72 6.32 6.90 7.87 7.78 

Average days in sales 29 33 26 23 35 

Property, plant and equipment 

turnover (times) 
43.47 36.31 38.26 52.07 48.99 

Total assets turnover (times) 0.86 0.66 0.62 0.77 0.63 

Profitability 

Return on total assets (%) 11.80 8.81 8.58 11.83 8.41 

Return on equity (%) 14.67 10.67 10.11 14.32 10.57 

To paid-

incapital (%) 

Operating 

profits 
37.22 24.50 21.51 33.38 31.12 

Pre-tax income 84.06 56.60 56.82 88.02 71.10 

Net profit margin (%) 13.72 13.38 13.71 15.45 13.10 

EPS (NT$) 7.41 5.10 5.32 8.04 6.30 

Cash flow 

Cash flow ratio (%) 44.84 34.93 33.24 9.32 47.96 

Cash flow adequacy ratio (%) 89.70 74.93 74.87 59.02 62.72 

Cash reinvestment ratio (%) 1.07 -4.57 -1.43 -5.21 -0.34 

Leverage 
Operating leverage 1.00 1.01 0.97 1.00 1.01 

Financial leverage 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.04 

Please state the reasons of the change in each financial ratio for the most recent two years (not required to do so if the change 

does not exceed 20%): 

Capital structure and Solvency：The variable rate due to the convertible bonds issued and repayments of the short-term 

loans.  

Inventory turnover and Profitability: The decline in the ratios during theperiod was primarily due to demand slowdown and 

price reductions. As a result, profitability and inventory turnover decreased.  
Cash flow ratio：The rate increased due to the account receivale decreaed in balance. 

Note 1: The financial statements have been audited by independent auditors. 

Note 2: The Company’s financial statements as of March 31, 2023 haven’t been reviewed by independent auditors. 

Note 3：Calculation formula for financial analysis as follows: 
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1. Financial structure 

(1) Liability to asset ratio = Total liability / Total asset 

(2) Ratio of long-term capital to fixed asset = (Net shareholders’ equity + long-term liability) / Net fixed 

asset 

 

2. Solvency 

(1) Current ratio = Current asset / Current liability 

(2) Quick ratio= (Current asset - inventory - pre-paid expense) / Current liability 

(3) Interest coverage ratio = Earnings before interests and taxes (EBIT) / Interest expense of the current 

period 

 

3. Operating performance 

(1) Accounts receivable turnover (including accounts receivable and notes receivable resulting from 

business operations) = Net sales / Average accounts receivable in various periods (including accounts 

receivable and notes receivable resulting from business operations) 

(2) Average collection day = 365 / Accounts receivable turnover 

(3) Inventory turnover = Cost of goods sold / Average inventory value 

(4) Accounts payable turnover (including accounts payable and notes payable resulting from business 

operations) = Cost of goods sold / Average accounts payable in various periods (including accounts 

payable and notes payable resulting from business operations) 

(5) Average days in sales = 365 / Inventory turnover 

(6) Fixed assets turnover = Net sales / Net fixed assets 

(7) Total assets turnover = Net sales / Total assets 

 

4. Profitability 

(1) Return on assets (ROA) = [Gain (loss) after tax + Interest expenses × (1 – tax rate)] / Average total 

asset 

(2) Return on equity (ROE) = Gain (loss) after tax / Average shareholders’ equity, net 

(3) Net profit margin = Gain (loss) after tax / Net sales 

(4) Earnings per share (EPS) = (Gain (loss) attributable to the owner of the parent company – dividends 

of preferred shares) / Weighted average of outstanding shares 

 

5. Cash flow 

(1) Cash flow ratio = Net cash flow from operating activities / Current liability 

(2) Cash flow adequacy ratio = Net cash flow from operating activities in the most recent 5 years / 

(Capital expenditure + inventory increase + cash dividends) in the 5 most recent years. 

(3) Cash reinvestment ratio = (Net cash flow from operating activities – cash dividends) / (Gross value 

of fixed assets + long-term investments + other assets + operating capital) 

 

6. Leverage 

(1) Operating leverage = (Net operating revenue – variable operating cost and expense) / Operating 

profit 

(2) Financial leverage = Operating profit / (Operating profit – interest expenses) 
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6.3 Audit Committee’s Review Report for the Most Recent Year 

 

Topco Technologies Corporation 

Review Report of Audit Committee 

 
The Board of Directors has prepared this Company’s 2022 financial statements (including individual 

financial statements and consolidated financial statements), business report, and the earnings 

distribution plan; with respect to the financial statements have been audited by independent auditors, 

Kuan-Ying Kuo and Yu -Ting Hsin of KPMG Taiwan, who have submitted an audit report. The above 

statements and reports have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and no irregularities were found. 

We hereby report as above in accordance with Article 14-4 of the Securities and Exchange Act and 

Article 219 of the Company Act. Kindly approve. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

2023 General Shareholders’ Meeting 

Topco Technologies Corporation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Convener of Audit Committee：Ming-Hui Guo 

Date：March 2, 2023  
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6.4 2022 Consolidated financial reports audited by CPA: 

Please refer to page 102~172. 

6.5 2022 Individual financial reports audited by CPA: 

Please refer to page 173~237. 

6.6 The impact on the Company’s financial status if there are any financial difficulties for the Company and 

its affiliates in the most recent year and up to the date of publication of the financial report shall be clarified: 

None. 

7. Review, analysis and risk of the financial status and financial performance 

(The followings are all consolidated data) 

7.1 Comparative analysis of financial conditions: 

 

                                                                   Unit: NT$ thousand 

 

 

Year 

 

 

Item 

2022 2021 

Difference 

Amount % 

Current assets 5,676,694 5,444,884 231,810 4.26 

Property, plant and 

equipment 
473,791 484,854 (11,063) (2.28) 

Other assets 498,704 425,819 72,885 17.12 

Total assets 6,649,189 6,355,557 293,632 4.62 

Current liabilities 1,216,441 1,770,207 (553,766) (31.28) 

Non-current liabilities 773,207 128,407 644,800 502.15 

Total liabilities 1,989,648 1,898,614 91,034 4.79 

Source of capital stock 740,610 740,610 - - 

Capital surplus 1,521,003 1,454,075 66,928 4.60 

Retained earnings 2,118,777 2,088,675 30,102 1.44 

Other equity 137,275 26,232 111,043 423.31 

Non-controlling interest 141,876 147,351 (5,475) (3.72) 

Total Shareholder’s 

equity  
4,659,541 4,456,943 202,598 4.55 

I. Main reasons for significant changes in assets, liabilities, and shareholders' equity items within the most recent two years 

(changes over 20% between the first and second period, and the change amount reaching NT$10 million), its 

effects, and future response plans:  

   Current liabilities: The short-term borrowing, account payable and other payable decreased due to the revenue decreased. 

   Non-current liabilities: The long-term liabilities increased due to the convertible bonds issued. 

     Other equity: Due to the appreciation of the US dollars, the exchange differences on translation of foreign financial 

statements increased. 

 II.Please provide the main reasons for the changes in current liabilities for the most recent two years and the changes in 

long-term liabilities due within one year, their effects, and future response plans: Not applicable. 
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7.2 Comparative analysis of financial performance: 

 

(I) Comparative analysis table of financial performance: 

Unit: NT$ thousands 

Year 

Item 
2022 2021 

Increase (Decrease) 

amount 
Ratio % 

Net sales 8,703,884 9,434,003 (730,119) (7.74) 

Operating costs 7,156,979 7,570,936 (413,957) (5.47) 

Gross profit 1,546,905 1,863,067 (316,162) (16.97) 

Operating expenses 960,934 1,095,960 (135,026) (12.32) 

Operating profits 585,971 767,107 (181,136) (23.61) 

Non-operating income and expense  26,952 33,992 (7,040) (20.71) 

Net income before tax 612,923 801,099 (188,176) (23.49) 

Income tax expense 138,378 185,888 (47,510) (25.56) 

Net income 474,545 615,211 (140,666) (22.86) 

Net income attributable to: 

owner of parent company 

 

466,417  

 

595,370 (128,953) (21.66)  

Non-controlling interest 8,128 19,841 (11,713) (59.03) 

Analysis and description of percentage change for the most recent two years (for the percentage change of gross profit that 

exceeds 20% and the change amount reaching NT$10 million) 

   Net sales, net income before tax, tax expense and net income: The net income decreased due to the revenue and the price 

of the products decreased. 

  

 (II) Estimated impact on the Company's future financial operation and response plans due to the sales 

volume and its basis in the upcoming year: 

The Company has not prepared financial forecasts and therefore does not apply. 

7.3 Cash flow analysis: 

Cash flow analysis for the most recent year, future improvement plans for inadequate liquidity and the 

cash flow analysis for the upcoming year: 

(I) Analysis of change in cash flows for the current year: 

                                                     

Cash Balance, 

Beginning of year 

Net Cash Provided by 

Operating Activities 

for the year 

Net Cash Used in 

Investing and 

Financing Activities 

for the year 

Cash Balance, End 

of Year  

Remedy for cash shortfall 

Investment 

plans 

Financing 

plans 

$2,061,957 $421,989 $89,525 $2,661,213 - - 

The operating activities and financing activites have cash inflow due to the account recievable 

received and the convertible bonds issued. 

(II) The Remedial measures for inadequate cash and liquidity analysis: Not applicable. 
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 (III) Cash flow analysis for the upcoming year: 

Unit: NT$ thousand 

Cash Balance, 

Beginning of year 

Net Cash Provided by 

Operating Activities 

for the year 

Net Cash Used in 

Investing and 

Financing Activities 

for the year 

Cash Balance, End 

of Year  

Remedy for cash shortfall 

Investment 

plans 

Financing 

plans 

$2,661,213 $300,000 ($340,000) $2,621,213 - - 

1. Operating Activities: The Company continues to profit and generates cash inflows. 

2. Investment activities: There are no other investment plans for the coming year. 

3. Financing activities: The payment of cash dividend. 

4. The remedial measures for inadequate cash and liquidity analysis: Where the cash is insufficient, 

the Company will increase the cash by borrowing funds from the bank or raising funds from the 

capital market. 

7.4 Impact of significant capital expenditures on financial and operational conditions for the most recent 

years: 

(I) The usage and source of fund of significant capital expenditure: None. 

(II)Impact on financial and operational conditions: Not applicable. 

7.5 The investment policy for the most recent year, the main reason for profit or loss, improvement plan and 

investment plan for the upcoming year: 

(I) Reinvestment policy for the most recent year: The Company has prepared the “Disposal Procedures for 

Acquisition or Disposition of Asset” and the internal control system for investment cycle as a basis for 

managing reinvestment business. The reinvestments of TOPCO Technologies Corp., evaluated under 

the equity method have generated profits. 

(II)Main causes for profit or loss from the reinvestment policy in the most recent year and the improvement 

plan: 

Unit: NT$ thousand 

Item 

Reinvested company 

Income (loss) for the current 

period 
Main causes for profit or loss 

TOPCO AMERICA INC. 248,939 
Due to the investment 

income. 

TOPGLOW Trading Co., Ltd. 15,250 Due to the operating income.  

TOPCO Trading (Shanghai 

Pudong District) Co., Ltd.  
105,569 Due to the operating income. 

Topco (Guangzhou)Trading 

Co., LTD 
60,410 Due to the operating income. 

Hong Kong TOPCO Trading 

Co., Ltd. 
82,960 Due to the operating income. 

Top Glory Trading Co.,Ltd. (11) 
The scale down of the 

business operating. 

Topglow Advanced Materials 

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd 
6,518 Due to the operating income. 

PT. Topco Trading Indonesia 31,600 Due to the operating income. 

TOPCO(VIETNAM) 

TRADING CO.,LTD. 
22,485 Due to the operating income. 

Topco Engineering Co., Ltd. 82 Due to the operating income. 
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(III) The investment project of the coming year: None. 

7.6 Analysis and assessment of risk for the most recent year up to the printed date of the annual report: 

(I) Effects of changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and inflation on the Company’s profit or 

loss, and future measures to be taken in response for the most recent year up to the printed date of the 

annual report: 

1. Effects of changes in interest rates on the Company's profit or loss and future measures to be 

taken in response: 

As there is only a small amount of borrowings in the consolidated statement, the change in 

interest rates has no significant impact on the Company. In addition, the Company’s supervisors 

and related personnel had paid attention to the development of the global economy anytime and 

effectively controlled the fluctuations of market interest rate. 

2. Effects of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the Company's profit or loss and future measures 

to be taken in response: 

(1) Source of exchange gains and losses: 

The exchange gains and losses of the Company were mainly due to differences in the 

number of days and balances of payments received between foreign currency accounts 

receivable and foreign currency payments.  

(2) Response measures to foreign exchange rate fluctuations: 

To avoid exchange rate risk, the Company hedges on long-term foreign exchange and 

options depending on the situation and adjusts foreign currency receivables and payables 

to reduce the exchange risk of the Company. 

3. Effects of inflation on the Company's profit or loss and future measures to be taken in response: 

The government controls the situation of domestic inflation properly, and therefore there exists 

no general inflation problem. The prices of the raw materials the Company acts as a distributor 

for are not going up. 

(II) Policies, main causes of profit or loss and future measures to be taken in response with respect to 

high-risk and highly-leveraged investments, lending or endorsement guarantees, and derivatives 

transactions: 

1. High-risk and highly-leveraged investments: The Company has not engaged in high-risk and 

highly-leveraged investments in 2022 up to the printed date of the annual report. 

2. Lending: The Company has not engaged in lending in 2022 up to the printed date of the annual 

report. 

3. Endorsement guarantees: The Company has no guarantee in bank financing quota for any 

company. 

4. Derivatives transactions: The Company and its subsidiaries engage in derivative transactions 

based on hedges for foreign currency accounts receivable and payable. They are held for non-

trading purposes. 

 (III) Future R&D projects and corresponding budget: 

The Company belongs to the distributor industry and has no substance R&D conduct; therefore it is 

not applicable. 

 

 (IV) Effects of changes in domestic and overseas policies and regulations on the Company's financial and 

operational conditions and measures to be taken in response: 

1. In response to the revisions made by the competent authority to important policies and related 

laws of corporate governance, the Company Act, and the Securities Exchange Act, the Company 
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cooperates. In addition, the Company consistently pays close attention to any changes in local 

and foreign policies and takes measures to be taken in responses when necessary, and therefore 

the changes did not have significant impacts on the financial and operational conditions of the 

Company. 

2. The European Union (EU) has successively promulgated environmental regulations such as 

WEEE (Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment Directive) and RoHS (Restriction of 

Hazardous Substances Directive). The Silicone materials sold by the Company are all in 

conformity with the EU environmental protection regulations, and therefore the risk does not 

generate. 

3.  The Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM) recently effected by the European  

Union is not relevant to the industry where the Company operates. That said, we keep an eye on 

this issue and stay on top of its subsequent impact.  

(IV) Effect of technological and industrial change( include information security) on the Company's 

financial and operational conditions and measures to be taken in response: 

1. Technological Change 

A. Given its far-reaching influence, it is necessary to use digital technology to enhance corporate 

competitiveness. The Company conducts online meetings with suppliers and customers, convenes 

product launches online and uses Line and WeChat official accounts to unveil the newest products. 

In addition, a business intelligence visualization system has been introduced to stay on top of 

operational information on a real-time basis.  

B. Cyber security risk: In the era of digitalization, cyber security has been a significant concern and 

issue. The Company has been enhancing the cyber protection equipment to lower the cyber 

security risk. To understand the possible cyber security risk level, the Company has entrusted 

cyber security company to conduct cyber security risk assessment and testing. The testing 

includes risk analysis on network security, Domain Name System (DNS), patch repair, end point 

security, malicious IP, webpage application security, security allocation of monitoring center, 

hacking information, information leakage, and social media platform analysis. The Company will 

improve the items that need to be enhanced. 

 

2. Industrial Change 

Following the rise of traditional consumer product sales through e-commerce network platforms, it 

has had an impact on the saels channels of general merchandise. However, the sale of chemical 

mateirals requires illustrations by professionals and technical document supply esrvices by material 

vendors, thus its irreplaceability at preset. However, the network consumption mode may be a possible 

challenge and industry change as far as the material sale mode of material distributors and application 

personnel is concerned. To cope with the changes in the industry, the Company will use digital 

technologies to improve customer services, such as visiting customers and release products via visual 

communication. 
 

3. Faced with the impact of technological and industrial changes on the Company’s finance, the coping 

measures are as follows: 

 

(1) The Impact on Finance 

The development of the new industries shall have a positive impact on the Company’s sale of specific 

chemical mateirals, such as autopilot, new energy vehicles, 5G equipment, etc., which are alllikely to 

use specific checimal mateirals for adhesion and heat dissipation uses, hence a possible positive impact 

on the Company’s finance. 
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(2)Countermeasures 

As technology advances rapidly, the product lifecycles of each material has been shortening. Therefore, 

the product development will be accelerated to get a head start in the market. 

 

(VI) Effects of corporate image change on the Company's crisis management, and measures to be taken in 

response: 

The company designates personnel for handling investor relationship (IR) management and contacts 

with media and enhancing public information disclosure. Therefore, the corporate image and 

reputation have significantly increased. The duty of the personnel also includes crisis management for 

the company.  

 

(VII) Expected benefits and possible risks associated with mergers and acquisitions and measures to be 

taken in response: None. 

 

(VIII) Expected benefit and possible risk associated with plant expansion, and measures to be taken in 

response: 

(IX) Risks associated with purchasing or sales concentration, and measures to be taken in response: 

The Company's current main operation business is the distribution of Shin-Etsu Chemical's Silicone 

products. The purchases from Shin-Etsu Chemical and its affiliated companies accounted for more 

than 50% of the total purchases this year, and there was concentration of purchasing. 

Accordingly, the Company has strengthened the relationship with Shin-Etsu from simple sales relation 

to shareholder relation via Shin-Etsu’s share investment. In addition, the Company actively increases 

the sales of other related brands, such as PTFE of Sumitomo, adhesives of Konishi and Sika, etc., to 

gradually spread the risk of single brand agency. At present, the Company is also developing other 

special materials, such as environmental protection catalysts, micro-capsule foaming materials, 

cosmetic materials, and VUV cleaning machines, etc. We believe that we can improve the situation of 

purchase concentration in the future. 

In terms of sales, the Company's customer base is extremely widespread. Any single customer has not 

reached 3% of sales revenue, and there is no risk of concentration of customer sales. 

(X) Effects of large share transfers or changes in shareholdings of directors, or shareholders with 

shareholdings over 10%, risk and measures to be taken in response: 

The shareholdings of the Company’s directors and supervisors in the most recent year through the 

printed date of this annual report have no major transfers or swaps of shares. 

 (XI) Effects upon and risks to Company associated with any changes in governance personnel or top 

management and measures to be taken in response: 

The company has established a professional manager system to take charge of the Company's 

operational items, and thus the changes in management right will not have a significant adverse impact 

on the Company. No major changes have occurred in the Company's management right so far. 

(XII) Litigation or non-litigation matters: None 

 (XIII) Other significant risks and measures to be taken in response: The Company has evaluated relevant 

risks and specified in the annual report. Other newly increased risks in the future will be disclosed. 

7.7 Other important matters: None. 
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8. Special Disclosures 

8.1 Information of affiliates: 

(I) Consolidated operating report of affiliates 

1. Overview of affiliates 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORP 

TOPCO AMERICA 

INC. (100%) 
Topglow Trading 

Co. (65.33%) 

TOP GLORY 

(100%) 
Topco 

(Guangzhou) 

Trading Co., 

LTD. (100%) 

Topco Trading 

(Shanghai Pu-Dong 

New Area) Co., 

(100%) 

Hong Kong 

T.T.C. Co., 

Ltd. (100%) 

Topco Trade (Indonesia) 

Co., Ltd. (100%) 
TOPCO (VIETNAM) 

TRADIN G CO., LTD 

Topglow Advances 

Materials (Shanghai) 

Co., (100%)  

Topco Engineering 

Co., Ltd.(70.00%) 
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2. Basic information of affiliates 

Dec. 31, 2022 Unit: NT$ thousand 

Name of affiliates 
Date of 

establishment 
Address 

Actual 

investment 

amount 

Major business projects 

or production projects 

TOPCO AMERICA INC. Mar. 2004 

Scotia Centre,4th Floor,P.O.BOX 

2804, 

George Town, Grand Cayman, 

Cayman Islands. 

NT642,120 Holding company 

Hong Kong TOPCO Trading 

Co., Ltd. 
Mar. 1992 

Room 617, Nan Fung Commercial 

Centre, 19 Lam Lok Street, Kowloon 

Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong 

USD 3,260 
Trading businesses of 

Silicone products 

TOPCO (Guangzhou) 

Trading Co., Ltd. 
Feb. 2001 

Room 2308, North Tower, Jinbin 

Dragonfly Building,49 Huaxia Road, 

Tianhe District, Guangzhou China, 

510623 

USD 9,500 
Trading businesses of 

Silicone products 

TOPCO Trading (Shanghai 

Pudong District) Co., Ltd.  
Oct. 1997 

Unit 1201,No.1 building, Huayi 

plaza, No.2020 Zhongshan Rd(west), 

Xuhui District, Shanghai China, 

200235 

USD 9,500 
Trading businesses of 

Silicone products 

Topco Trade (Indonesia) Co., 

Ltd. 

P.T TOPCO TRADING 

INDONESIA 

Nov. 2014 

THE HONEY LADY , Lantai 5 Unit 

501B Jl. Pluit Selatan Raya – CBD 

Pluit, North Jakarta, Indonesia. 

USD 1,250 
Trading businesses of 

Silicone products 

TOPCO (VIETNAM) 

TRADIN G CO., LTD 

TOPCO (VIETNAM) 

TRADING CO., LTD 

Oct. 2015 

2F, Petroland Tower, No.12, Tan Trao 

Street, Tan Phu Ward, District 7, Ho 

Chi Minh Vietnam 

USD 800  
Trading businesses of 

Silicone products 

TOPGLOW Trading Co., 

Ltd. 
 Mar. 1990 

11F.-1, No.213, Chaofu Rd., Xitun 

Dist., Taichung City 407, Taiwan 

(R.O.C.) 

NT 82,258 
General trading and 

merchandising 

Top Glory Trading Co. Ltd Mar. 2008 

60 MARKET SQUARE, 

P.O.BOX364, BELIZE CITY 

BELIZE 

NT 1,537 
Import and export 

trading 

Topglow Advanced Materials 

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd 
Oct. 2017 

Room 513, 5F, No.239-1, Gangao 

Rd., Pilot Free Trade Zone, Shanghai 
USD 500 

Import and export 

trading 

Topco Engineering Co., Ltd. Dec. 2020 
14F, No.102, Section 4, Civic Blvd., 

Taipei City 
NT 7,000 Engineering 

3. Related information of which presumed to be have relationship of controlling and affiliates: 

None. 

4. For the businesses covered by the overall affiliated business operations and business operations 

that related to each other, the division of work shall be illustrated: 

(1) TOPCO AMERICA INC. 

Holding company and reinvests in Hong Kong T.T.C. Co., Ltd., Topco (Guangzhou) 

Trading Co., LTD., and Topco Trading (Shanghai Pu-Dong New Area) Co., LTD. 

(2) Hong Kong T.T.C. Co., Ltd. 

a. Engages in the trading businesses of Silicone products in Hong Kong area. 

b. Assists local clients in using products and after-sales service. 

c. Re-investment Topco Trade (Indonesia) Co., Ltd. and TOPCO (VIETNAM) TRADING 

CO., LTD. 

(3) Topco (Guangzhou) Trading Co., LTD. (including Xiamen subsidiary) 

a. Engages in the trading businesses of Silicone products in Southern China. 



100 

b. Assists local clients in using products and after-sales service. 

(4) Topco Trading (Shanghai Pu-Dong New Area) Co., LTD. (including Suzhou, and Ningbo 

subsidiaries) 

a. Engages in the trading businesses of Silicone products in Eastern China. 

b. Assists local clients in using products and after-sales service. 

(5) P.T TOPCO TRADING INDONESIA 

a. Engages in the trading businesses of Silicone products in Indonesia. 

b. Assists local clients in using products and after-sales service. 

(6) TOPCO (VIETNAM) TRADING CO., LTD 

a. Engages in the trading businesses of Silicone products in Vietnam. 

b. Assists local clients in using products and after-sales service. 

(7) Topglow Trading Co., Ltd. 

General trading and electronic components merchandising 

(8) Top Glory: Import and export trading 

(9) Topglow Advanced Materials (Shanghai) Co., Ltd: Import and export trading 

(10) Topco Engineering Co., Ltd.: Engineering 

5. Names and shareholding ratio of directors, supervisors, and General Managers of affiliates: 

Unit: thousand shares 

Name of affiliates Title Name or representative 

Shareholding 

Shares 
Shareholding 

ratio 

TOPCO AMERICA INC. PRESIDENT 
Representative of Topco Technologies 

Corp.: Chun-Ming Weng 
22,260 100.00% 

Hong Kong TOPCO Trading 

Co., Ltd. 
Director Chun-Ming Weng, Chen-Cheng Pan 3,260 100.00% 

TOPCO (Guangzhou) 

Trading Co., Ltd. 

Director 
Ching-Hung Lin, Chen-Cheng Pan, 

Ming-Tso Hsiao - - 

Supervisor Sheng-Ho Chang 

TOPCO Trading (Shanghai 

Pudong District) Co., Ltd. 

Director 
Tsai-Meng Wang, Chen-Cheng Pan, 

Liang-Hsin Hsieh - - 

Supervisor Sheng-Ho Chang 

Topco Trade (Indonesia) Co., 

Ltd. 
Director Chun-Ming Weng, Ching-Hsiung Wen - - 

TOPCO (VIETNAM) 

TRADIN G CO., LTD 
Director Chao-Pang Lo - - 

Topglow Trading Co., Ltd. 

Director 

(Note1) 

Chun-Ming Weng, Kun-Ming Wu, Chih-

Hung Weng, Yu-Cheng, Chang 
9,146 65.33% 

Supervisor Wen-Hua Tsai - - 

Top Glory Trading Co. Ltd Director 
Representative of Top Glory Trading Co. 

Ltd: Chun-Ming Weng 
50 100.00% 

Topglow Advanced Materials 

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd 

General 

Manager 

Representative of Top Glory Trading Co. 

Ltd: Chih-Hung Weng 
- 100.00% 

Topco Engineering Co., Ltd. Director(Note2) 
Chung-Yen Wang,Yu-lin Huang,Fu-Jen 

Cheng 
7,000 70.00% 

Note1: Topco Technologies Corp. holds 9,146,000 shares of Top Glory Trading Co. Ltd. The shareholding ratio is 65.33%. 

The appointed directors are: Chun-Ming Weng and Kun-Ming Wu. 

Note2: Topco Technologies Corp. holds 7,000,000 shares of Topco Engineering Co., Ltd. The shareholding ratio is 70.00%. 

The appointed directors are: Chung-Yen Wang,Yu-lin Huang,Fu-Jen Cheng. 
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(II) Operation overview of Affiliates: 

Unit: NT$ thousand Date: Dec. 31, 2022 

Name of affiliates 
Capital 

amount 

Total 

assets 

Total 

liabilities 
Net worth 

Operating 

revenue 

Net 

operating 

income  

Net income 

(after tax)  

EPS 

(after tax) 

(NTD) 

TOPCO AMERICA 

INC. 642,120 3,367,989 - 3,367,989 - - 248,939 - 

Hong Kong TOPCO 

Trading Co., Ltd. 100,115 811,489 57,429 754,060 815,693 36,228 83,656 - 

TOPCO (Guangzhou) 

Trading Co., Ltd. 353,165 1,402,737 175,105 1,227,632 1,480,993 78,360 60,517 - 

TOPCO Trading 

(Shanghai Pudong 

District) Co., Ltd. 
353,165 1,608,528 220,011 1,388,517 2,116,023 126,074 105,427 - 

Topco Trade 

(Indonesia) Co., Ltd. 38,395 127,261 32,424 94,837 316,660 40,983 31,600 - 

TOPCO (VIETNAM) 

TRADIN G CO., LTD 24,573 118,023 44,838 73,184 229,413 30,456 22,485 - 

Topglow Trading Co., 

Ltd. 140,000 590,396 190,386 400,010 873,212 22,069 23,342 1.67 

Top Glory Trading Co. 

Ltd 1,537 22,296 - 22,296 - (42) (11) - 

Topglow Advanced 

Materials (Shanghai) 

Co., Ltd 
15,355 72,109 23,381 48,728 141,293 8,154 6,518 - 

Topco Engineering Co., 

Ltd. 10,000 13,334 2,692 10,642 11,469 132 117  

 (III) Consolidated Financial Statements of Affiliates: Please refer to page 102~172. 

 

(IV) Relationship Report on the Affiliates: Not applicable. 

8.2 For the private equity securities managing status in the most recent year and as of the publication date of 

the annual report: No such issues happened. 

8.3 Holding or disposal of shares in the Company by the Company's subsidiaries in the most recent year and 

until the date of publication of the annual report: No such issues happened. 

8.4 Other necessary supplementary explanations: No such issues happened. 

8.5 In the most recent year and as of the publication date of the annual report, if there are any matters 

determined in Item 2, Paragraph 3, Article 36 of the Securities Exchange Act that have significant impacts 

on shareholders’ equity or securities prices：No such issues happened. 
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Representation Letter 
 

 

The entities that are required to be included in the combined financial statements of Topco 

Technologies Corp. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022, under the Criteria Governing 

the Preparation of Affiliation Reports, Consolidated Business Reports and Consolidated Financial 

Statements of Affiliated Enterprises are the same as those included in the consolidated financial 

statements prepared in conformity with the International Financial Reporting Standard 10, 

“Consolidated Financial Statements” endorsed by Financial Supervisory Commission. In addition, 

the information required to be disclosed in the combined financial statements is included in the 

consolidated financial statements. Consequently, Topco Technologies Corp. and Subsidiaries do not 

prepare a separate set of combined financial statements. 

. 

 

 

 

 

Topco Technologies Corp. 

Chen-Cheng Pan 

March 2, 2023 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
 

To the Board of Directors of Topco Technologies Corporation:   
 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Topco Technologies Corp.and its subsidiaries, 

which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, 

the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years 

then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the consolidated financial position of Topco Technologies Corp. and its subsidiaries as of 

December 31, 2022 and 2021, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 

flows for the years then ended in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of 

Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and with the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRSs”), International Accounting Standards (“IASs”), Interpretations developed by the International 

Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) or the former Standing Interpretations 

Committee (“SIC”) endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission of the 

Republic of China.  

Basis for Opinion 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and Attestation of 

Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants, and Standards on Auditing of the Republic of 

China. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities 

for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

Group in accordance with The Norm of Professional Ethics for Certified Public Accountant of the 

Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis of our opinion. 
 

Key Audit Matters 
 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 

audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 

context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

a. Valuation of Inventory 

Please refer to Note 4 (h) Inventory of the consolidated financial statements for details of the 

accounting policy concerning inventory valuation, Note 5 of the consolidated financial statements for 

uncertainties in the inventory valuation, and Note 6 (f) Inventory of the consolidated financial 

statements for the explanation of inventory. 
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Description of the Key Audit Matters: 
 

Topco Technologies Corp. and its subsidiaries measured the cost and net realizable value of inventory. 

Since the principal business of Topco Technologies Corp. and its subsidiaries is the import and export 

of chemical material-related commodities, there is a risk that the book value of inventory may exceed 

its net realizable value because of the fluctuation of the commodity sales price due to changes in the 

supply and market competition. Inventory valuation is therefore one of the important valuation items in 

our financial statement audit. 
 

How the matter is address in our audit: 
 

Our main audit procedures of the above-mentioned key audit matters include examining whether the 

inventory valuation policy of Topco Technologies Corp. and its subsidiaries is handled in accordance 

with the requirements of the IAS2 and concerned the impact of Covid-19 epidemic. In addition, the 

inventory age report is reviewed, the age changes of inventory of each period are checked, an interval 

classification test of the inventory age report is performed, and a spot-check process is performed to 

check the sales prices adopted by Topco Technologies Corp. and its subsidiaries and assess the 

reasonableness of the net realization value of inventory. 
 

Other matter 
 

We have also audited the parent company only financial statements of the Company as of and for the 

years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 and have expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 

Financial Statements 
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by 

Securities Issuers and with the IFRSs, IASs, IFRC, SIC endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial 

Supervisory Commission of the Republic of China, and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Topco 

Technologies Corp. and its subsidiaries’ ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 

but to do so. 
 

Those charged with governance (including the Audit Committee) are responsible for overseeing the 

Topco Technologies Corp. and its subsidiaries’ financial reporting process. 
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Auditors’ Responsibilities of the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of 

China will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 

to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 

statements. 
 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China, we exercise 

professional judgment and professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control. 
 

2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 
 

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Topco Technologies Corp. and its subsidiaries’ 

ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 

required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 

are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 

events or conditions may cause the Topco Technologies Corp. and its subsidiaries to cease to 

continue as a going concern. 
 

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

6. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Topco Technologies Corp. and its subsidiaries to express an opinion 
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on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 

performance of Topco Technologies Corp. and its subsidiaries audit. We remain solely responsible 

for our audit opinion. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards. 
 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 

are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 

The engagement partners on the audits resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Kuan-Ying, 

Kuo and Yu-Ting Hsin. 

 

KPMG 

Taipei, Taiwan(Republic of China) 

March 2, 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes to Readers 

 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are intended only to present the consolidated statements of financial 

position, financial performance and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the Republic 

of China and not those of any other jurisdictions. The standards, procedures and practices to review such consolidated 

financial statements are those generally accepted and applied in the Republic of China. 

 

The independent auditors’ report and the accompanying consolidated financial statements are the English translation of 

Chinese version prepared and used in Republic of China. If there is any conflict between, or any difference in the 

interpretation of English and Chinese language auditors’ report and consolidated financial statements, the Chinese version 

shall prevail. 
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(English Translation of consolidated Financial Statements and Reporting Originally Issued in Chinese) 

Topco Technologies Corporation and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Balance Sheet 

December 31, 2022 and 2021 

 (EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF NEW TAIWAN DOLLARS)  

  December 31,2022  December 31,2021   December 31, 2022 

 

 December 31, 2021 

            Assets               Amount  %  Amount  %  Liabilities and Owner’s Equity   Amount  %  Amount  % 

 Current assets:         Current liabilities:        

1100 Cash and cash equivalents (note 6(a)) $ 2,661,213  40   2,061,957  33 2100 Short-term borrowings(note6(i)) $112,568  2  $199,090  3 

1110 Current financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss (note 6(b)) 

-  -  239  - 2120 Current financial liabilities at fair value through profit 

or loss (notes 6(b)) 

21  -  -  - 

1170 Notes and accounts receivable, net (note 6(d) 

and notes 6(q)) 

1,791,383  27  2,374,705  38 2170 Notes and accounts payable 104,908       2  119,234       2 

1180 Accounts receivables from related parties, net 

(notes 6(d), notes 6(q) and 7) 

6,971  -  25,393  - 2180 Notes and accounts payables - Related parties 

(note7) 

468,114  7  739,335  12 

1476 Other current financial assets (notes 6(e) and 8) 24,695  -  28,535  - 2200 Other payables (note 7) 383,192  6  521,176  9 

1300 Inventories- Merchandising (note 6(f)) 1,077,053  16  840,901  13 2230 Current tax liabilities 68,750  1  120,276  2 

1470 Other current assets  115,379  2  113,154  2 2130 Current contract liabilities (notes 6(q)) 31,894  -  30,344  - 

  5,676,694  85  5,444,884  86 2280 Current lease liabilities(note 6 (g) and 7) 36,936  1  29,137  - 

         2300 Other current libilities 10,058  -  10,831  - 

         2322 Long-term borrowings, current portion (note 6(m)) -  -  784  - 

           1,216,441  19  1,770,207  28 

       Non-Current Assets:          Non-current liabilities:        

1510 Non-current financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss(note6(b)and6(k) 

70  -  -  - 2500 Non-current financial liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss (notes 6(b) and notes6(k) 

3,220  -  -  - 

1517 Non-current financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income(note 6(c))  368,914 

 

6  347,979 

 

5 
2530 Bonds payable (note 6(k)) 629,124  9  -  - 

1600 Property, plant and equipment (note 6(g) and note 8) 473,791  7  484,854  8 2540 Long-term borrowings (notes 6(j)) -  -  11,184  - 

1755 Right-of-use assets (note 6(i)) 102,520  2  63,200  1 2640 Deferred tax liabilities (note 6(n)) 75,663  1  81,891  2 

1840 

 

Deferred tax assets (note 6(n)) 6,002  - 
 

 4,053  - 
 

2580 Non-current lease liabilities(note6(g) and notes7) 65,091  1  33,086  - 

1900 

 
Other non-current assets 
 

15,661  -  10,587  - 

 

2640 Net defined benefit liability, non-current(note6(m)) -  -  1,851  - 

1975 

 

Net defined benefit asset - non-current (note6(m)) 
 

5,537  -  -  - 2670 Other non-current liabilities 109  -  395  - 

  972,495  15  910,673  14   773,207  11  128,407  2 

          Total Liability 1,989,648  30  1,898,614  30 

          Equity:                 3100 Capital stock (note 6(n)) 740,610  

 

11  740,610  

 

12 

         3200 Capital surplus (notes 6(n) and 6(o)) 1,521,003  23  1,454,075  23 

         3300 Retained earnings (note 6(n))               2,118,777  32  2,088,675  33 

         3400 Other equity interest (note 6(o)) 137,275  2  26,232  - 

          Total equity attributable to owners of parent 4,517,665  68  4,309,592  68 

         36XX Non-controlling interests 141,876  2  147,351  2 

          Total equity 4,659,541  70  4,456,943  70 

 Total Assets $ 6,649,189  100   6,355,557  100  Total liabilities and equity $6,649,189  100  6,355,557  100 

(Please see the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.) 
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(English Translation of consolidated Financial Statements and Reporting Originally Issued in Chinese) 

Topco Technologies Corporation and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Comprehensive Income Statement 

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except for Earnings Per Share) 
 

  2022  2021 

  Amount  %  Amount  % 

4000 Operating revenue (note 6(q) and note 7)        
4100 Sales revenue $ 8,703,884  100  9,434,003  100 
5000 Operating costs (notes 6(f) and 7) 7,156,979  82  7,570,936  80 

 Gross operating margin 1,546,905  18  1,863,067  20 

 Operating expenses (notes6(d),6(l), 6(m), 6(r),7 and 
12): 

       

6100 Selling expenses        623,620   7         715,257   8 
6200 Administrative expenses    332,360  4     378,600  4 
6450 Impairment loss (impairment gain and reversal of 

impairment loss) determined in accordance with IFRS 9 
4,954  -  2,103  - 

  960,934  11  1,095,960  12 

 Net operating income 585,971  7  767,107  8 

 Non-operating revenue and expenses:        
7100 Interest revenue 18,471  -  12,510  - 
7230 Foreign exchange gains 16,335  -  7,244  - 
7235 Gain (loss) on financial assets (liabilities) measured at 

fair value through profit or loss(notes 6(k) 
(3,785)  -  381  - 

7510 Interest expense(notes 6(k) ,6(l),7) (13,111)  -  (3,980)  - 
7020 Other gains and losses  9,042  -  17,837  - 

          26,952  -          33,992  - 

7900 Income before income tax 612,923  7  801,099  8 
7950 Less: Income tax expense (note 6 (m)) 138,378  2  185,888  2 

 Net income 474,545  5  615,211  6 

8300 Other comprehensive income:        
8310 Components of other comprehensive income that 

will not be reclassified to profit or loss: 
       

8311 Remeasurement of defined benefit plans (note 6 (m)) 8,051  -  (1,014)  - 
8316 Unrealized gains (losses) from investments in equity 

instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

20,935    53,006   

8349 Less: Income tax related to components of other 
comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss 

-  -  -  - 

  28,986  -  51,992  - 

8360 Components of other comprehensive income that 
will be reclassified to profit or loss 

       

8361 Exchange differences on transaction of foreign financial 
statements  

91,096  2  (25,401)  - 

8362 Unrealized gains (losses) on valuation of 
available-for-sale financial assets 

30  -  (8)  - 

  91,066  2  (25,393)  - 

8300 Other comprehensive income (loss) 120,052  2  26,599  - 

8500 Total comprehensive income $ 594,597  7  641,810  6 

 Net income attributable to:        
8610 Owner of parent  $ 466,417  5  595,370  6 
8620 Non-controlling interests 8,128  -  19,841  - 

 Net income $474,545  5  615,211  6 

 Comprehensive income attributable to:        
8710 Owner of parent  $ 585,511  7   622,246  6 
8720 Non-controlling interests 9,086  -  19,564  - 

 Total comprehensive income $ 594,597  7   641,810  6 

 Earnings per share (in dollars) (note 6 (o))        
9750 Basic earnings per share  $ 6.30    $ 8.04   

9850 Diluted earnings per share  $ 6.24    $ 7.96   

 

 (Please see the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.) 
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(English Translation of Financial Statements and Reporting Originally Issued in Chinese) 

Topco Technologies Corporation and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 
      Retained earnings           Other equity 

 

 Capital  

Capital 

surplus  

Legal 

reserve  

Special 

reserve  

Unappropriated 

retained 

earnings  Total  

Exchange 

differences 

on 

translation 

of foreign 

financial 

statements  

Unrealized gains 

on financial 

assets measured 

at fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income  Total  

Total equity 

attributable 

to owners of 

parent 

company  

  Non- 

controlling 

interest  Total equity 

Balance at January 1, 2021   $740,610  1,454,075  615,254  89,338  1,108,189  1,812,781  (180,077)  178,419  (1,658)  4,005,808  142,348  4,148,156 

Appropriation and distribution of earnings:                         

Legal reserve  -  -  39,404    (39,404)  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Special reserve  -  -  -  (82,975)  82,975  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Cash dividends on common stock  -  -  -  -  (318,462)  (318,462)  -  -  -  (318,462)  -  (318,462) 

  740,610  1,454,075  654,658  6,363  833,298  1,494,319  (180,077)  178,419  (1,658)  3,687,346    142,348

  

 3,829,694 

Net profit for the period  -  -  -  -  595,370  595,370  -  -  -  595,370  19,841  615,211 

Other comprehensive income (loss)  -  -  -  -  (1,014)  (1,014)  (25,116)  53,006  27,890  26,876  (277)  26,599 

Total comprehensive income   -  -  -  -  594,356  594,356  (25,116)  53,006  27,890  622,246  19,564  641,810 

Increase and decrease of non-controlling interest  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (14,561)  (14,561) 

Balance on December 31,2021  $740,610  1,454,075  654,658  6,363  1,427,654  2,088,675  (205,193)  231,425  26,232  4,309,592  147,351  4,456,943 

Appropriation and distribution of earnings:                         

Legal reserve  -  -  59,435    (59,435)  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Cash dividends on common stock  -  -  -  -  (444,366  (444,366)  -  -  -  (444,366)  -  (444,366) 

  740,610  1,454,075  714,093  6,363  923,853  1,644,309  (205,193)  231,425  26,232  3,865,226  147,351  4,012,577 

Issuance of convertible bonds  -  66,928  -  -  -  -  -  --  -  66,928  -  66,928 

Net profit for the period  -  -  -  -  466,417  466,417  -  -  -  466,417  8,128  474,545 

Other comprehensive income (loss)  -  -  -  -  8,051  8,051  90,108  20,935  111,043  119,094  958  120,052 

Total comprehensive income   -  -  -  -  474,468  474,468  90,108  20,935  111,043  585,511  9,086  594,597 

Increase and decrease of non-controlling interest 
 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (14,561)  (14,561) 

Balance on December 31,2022  $740,610  1,521,003  714,093  6,363  1,398,321  2,118,777  (115,085)  252,360  137,275  4,517,665  141,876  4,659,541 

(Please see the accompanying notes to the financial statements.) 
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 (English Translation of consolidated Financial Statements and Reporting Originally Issued in Chinese) 

Topco Technologies Corporation and Subsidiaries 

Consolidated of Cash Flow Statement 

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 
 

 2022  2021 

Cash flows from operating activities:    

Income before income tax $ 612,923   801,099 

Adjustments :    

    Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss)    

   Depreciation expense 57,617  55,873 

   Amortization expense 577  1,224 

   Expected credit loss (gain) / Provision (reversal of provision) for bad debt expense 4,954  2,103 

   Net loss (gain) on financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (650)  (209) 

   Interest expense 13,111  3,980 

   Interest income (18,471)  (12,510) 

   Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 409  19 

Loss (gain) on disposal other assets (315)  (131) 

    Total adjustments to reconcile profit (loss) 57,232  50,349 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:    

Change in operating assets:    

Decrease (increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss -  17 

Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable (including related parties) 596,684  (440,189) 

Decrease (increase) in other financial assets 6,058  (1,262) 

Decrease (increase) in inventory (236,152)  (137,841) 

Decrease (increase) in other current assets (2,188)  (5,145) 

Others 663  697 

 365,065  (583,723) 

Change in operating liabilities:    

Increase (decrease) in notes and accounts payable (including related parties) (285,547)  61,049 

Increase (decrease) in other accounts payable and other current liabilities (138,769)  169,838 

Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities-current 1,550  (1,017) 

 (422,766)  229,870 

Total change in operating assets and liabilities (57,701)  (353,853) 

Total adjustments (469)  (303,504) 

Cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 612,454  497,595 

Interests received 18,417  12,510 

Interests paid (10,787)  (3,986) 

Income tax paid (198,149)  (128,381) 

Net cash inflows (used in) from operating activities 421,989  377,738 

Cash flows from(used in) investment activities:    

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (1,111)  (3,007) 

Decrease (Increase)of restricted assets (2,218)  535 

Decrease (Increase)in refundable deposit (1,317)  714 

Decrease (increase) in other prepayments (4,418)  (1,198) 

Net cash inflows (used in) from investment activities (9,064)  (2,956) 

Cash flows from(used in)financing activities:    

Increase (Decrease) in short-term loans (86,522)  44,604 

Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds 697,800  - 

Repayments of long-term loans (11,968)  (13,240) 

Payments of lease liabilities (41,794)  (40,702) 

Cash dividends paid (444,366)  (318,462) 

Change in non-controlling interest (14,561)  (14,561) 

Net cash flows from financing activities 98,589  (342,361) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 87,742  (24,587) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the period 599,256  7,834 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 2,061,957  2,054,123 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period $2,661,213  2,061,957 

  

 

 

(Please see the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.)
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(English Translation of consolidated Financial Statements and Reporting Originally Issued in Chinese) 

TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORP AND SUBSIDIARIES 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Otherwise Specified) 

(1) Company history 

Topco Technologies Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated in February 1994, as a company 

limited by shares under the law of Republic of China(R.O.C) . Its register address is 14F., No.102, 

Sec. 4, Civic Blvd., Da’an Dist., Taipei City 106, Taiwan (R.O.C.). The main operating items of 

the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are import and export business of products related 

to chemical materials and business of general trading activities. 

(2) Approval date and procedures of the consolidated financial statements   

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 

March 2, 2023. 

(3) New standards, amendments and interpretations   

(a) The impact of the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) endorsed by the 

Financial Supervisory Commission, R.O.C. which have already been adopted. 

The Group has initially adopted the new amendments, which do not have a significant 

impact on its consolidated financial statements, from January 1, 2022： 

– Amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment- Proceeds before Intended Use” 

– Amendments to IAS 37 “Onerous Contracts- Cost of Fulfilling a Contract” 

– Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 

– Amendments to IFRS 3 “Reference to the Conceptual Framework” 

(b) The impact of IFRS issued by the FSC but not yet effective 

The Group assesses that the adoption of the following new amendments, effective for annual 

period beginning on January 1, 2023, would not have a significant impact on its financial 

statements: 

– Amendments to IAS 1 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies” 

– Amendments to IAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates” 

– Amendments to IAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 

 Single Transaction” 
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(c) The impact of IFRS issued by IASB but not yet endorsed by the FSC 

The following new and amended standards, which may be relevant to the Company, have been 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), but have yet to be endorsed by 

the FSC: 

 

 Standards or 

Interpretations 

 

Content of amendment 

 Effective date 

per IASB 

 Amendments to IAS 

1 “Classification of 

Liabilities as 

Current or 

Non-current”  

 

 Under existing IAS 1 requirements, 

companies classify a liability as 

current when they do not have an 

unconditional right to defer 

settlement for at least 12 months 

after the reporting date. The 

amendments has removed the 

requirement for a right to be 

unconditional and instead now 

requires that a right to defer 

settlement must exist at the reporting 

date and have substance. 

The amendments clarify how a 

company classifies a liability that 

can be settled in its own shares – 

e.g. convertible debt. 

 January 1, 2024 

 Amendments to IAS 

1 “Non-current 

Liabilities with 

Covenants” 

 

 After reconsidering certain aspects of 

the 2020 amendments1, new IAS 1 

amendments clarify that only 

covenants with which a company 

must comply on or before the 

reporting date affect the 

classification of a liability as current 

or non-current. 

Covenants with which the company 

must comply after the reporting date 

(i.e. future covenants) do not affect a 

liability’s classification at that date. 

However, when non-current 

liabilities are subject to future 

covenants, companies will now need 

to disclose information to help users 

understand the risk that those 

liabilities could become repayable 

within 12 months after the reporting 

date. 

 January 1, 2024 
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The Group is evaluating the impact of its initial adoption of the abovementioned standards or 

interpretations on its financial position and financial performance. The results thereof will be 

disclosed when the Group completes its evaluation. 

The Group does not expect the following new and amended standards, which have yet to be 

endorsed by the FSC, to have a significant impact on its financial statements: 

– Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 “Sale or Contribution of Assets Between an Investor and 

Its Associate or Joint Venture” 

– IFRS 17 “ Insurance Contracts” and amendments to IFRS 17 “ Insurance Contracts” 

– Amendments to IFRS 17 “Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – Comparative 

Information “ 

– Amendments to IFRS 16, “Requirements for Sale and Leaseback Transactions” 

(4) Summary of significant accounting policies   

The significant accounting policies presented in the consolidated financial statements are 

summarized as follows. And the accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods 

presented in these consolidated financial statements.  

(a) Statement of compliance    

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 

Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers 

(hereinafter referred to as “the Regulations”) and the International Financial Reporting 

Standards, International Accounting Standards, IFRIC Interpretations, and SIC 

Interpretations endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission, 

R.O.C.. 

(b) Basis of preparation    

(i) Basis of measurement 

Except for the following significant accounts, the consolidated financial statements have 

been prepared on a historical cost basis:  

1) Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair 

value 

2) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are 

measured at fair value;  

3) The defined benefit liabilities (assets) are measured at fair value of the plan 

assets less the present value of the defined benefit obligation, limited as 

explained in Note 4(n). 

 (ii) Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of the Group is determined based on the primary economic 

environment in which the entities operate. The consolidated financial statements are 

presented in New Taiwan Dollar, which is the Company’s functional currency. All 

financial information presented in New Taiwan Dollar has been rounded to the nearest 

thousand. 
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(c) Basis of consolidation    

1. Principles of preparing consolidated financial statements 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and subsidiaries. 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group ‘controls’ an entity when it 

is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and 

has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 

statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control 

ceases. Intragroup balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses 

arising from Intragroup transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial 

statements. The Group attributes the profit or loss and each component of other 

comprehensive income to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests, 

even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

Changes in the ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 

accounted for as equity transactions. The difference between the non-controlling equity 

adjustment and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is directly recognized 

in equity and belongs to the owners of the company. 
 

2. List of subsidiaries in the consolidated financial statements 

  

Name of 

Investors: 

  Percentage ownership  
  

Name of subsidiaries: 
 

Nature of business 
December 31, 

 2022 
December 31, 

 2021 
 

Explanation 

 The 

Company  
Topco America Inc. (Topco 

America)  

General Investment 

Industry  

 100%   100%    

  〃  Topglow Trading Co., Ltd. 

(Topglow)  

Import and export 

trading industry  

 65%   65%    

 〃 Topco Engineering Co., Ltd. Interior Decorator and 

General Engineering 

70% 70%  

 Topco 

America  
Topco Trading (Shanghai Pu 

Dong New Area) Co.,Ltd 

(Topco Shanghai)  

Merchandising 

business of chemical 

material related 

products  

 100%   100%    

  〃  Topco (Guang Zhou) Trading 

Co., Ltd. 

(Topco Guang Zhou)  

 

〃  

 100%   100%    

  〃  Hong Kong T.T.C. Co., Ltd. 

(Hong Kong T.T.C.)  

 

〃  

 100%   100%    

  Topglow  Top Glory 

Trading Co., Ltd. (Top 

Glory)  

Import and export 

trading industry   

 100%   100%    

  〃  Topglow Advanced Materials 

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 

(Topglow Shanghai)  

 

〃  

 100%  100%  

 Topco  

Hong Kong  
PT. Topco Trading Indonesia 

(PT. Topco)  

Merchandising 

business of chemical 

material related 

products  

 100%   100%  Note 1 

  〃  TOPCO (VIETNAM) 

TRADING CO., LTD 

(TOPCO VIETNAM)  

 

〃  

 100%   100%   

Note 1: PT.Topco was set up in April 2015. Considering the requirements of Indonesia, the 0.04% shareholding 

in obtaining PT.Topco’s equity was held with the third party. Topco Hong Kong signed a contract with 

the third party, in which the rights and obligations of the both parties are listed, to protect asset safety. 
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(d) Foreign currency    

(i) Foreign currency transaction 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies 

of Group entities at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each 

subsequent reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 

translated into the functional currencies using the exchange rate at that date. 

Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 

translated into the functional currencies using the exchange rate at the date that the fair 

value was determined. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are 

measured based on historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 

transaction. 

 

(ii) Foreign operating institutions 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value 

adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to the Group’ s functional currency at 

exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations, 

excluding foreign operations in hyperinflationary economies, are translated to the Group’s 

functional currency at average rate. Foreign currency differences are recognized in other 

comprehensive income. 

When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint 

control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign 

operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When the 

Group disposes of any part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation 

while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to 

non-controlling interest.When the Group disposes of only part of investment in an 

associate of joint venture that includes a foreign operation while retaining significant or 

joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or 

loss. 

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation 

is neither planed nor likely in the foreseeable future, foreign currency gains and losses 

arising from such items are considered to form part of a net investment in the foreign 

operation and are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

(e) Classification standard of current and non-current assets and liabilities   

An asset is classified as current under any one of the following conditions. All other assets 

are classified as non-current: 

i. It is expected to be realized, or intended to be sold or consumed, in the normal operating 

cycle; 
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ii. It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

iii. It is expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

iv. The asset is cash and cash equivalent unless the asset is restricted from being exchanged or 

used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the balance sheet date.  

A liability is classified as current under any one of the following conditions. All other liabilities 

are classified as non-current. 

i. The liability is expected to be settled during the Company’s normal operating cycle; 

ii. The liability is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

iii. The liability is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

iv. The Company does not have any unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 

least twelve months after the reporting period. Terms of a liability that could, at the option 

of the counterparty, result in its settlement by issuing equity instruments do not affect its 

classification. 

 

(f) Cash and cash equivalents   

Cash comprises cash on hand and cash in bank. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid 

investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to 

an insignificant risk of changes in value. Time deposits are held for the purpose of meeting 

short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes are classified 

under cash equivalents. 

(g) Financial Instruments   

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognized when they are originated. 

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized when the Group 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A financial asset (unless it is 

a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially 

measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), 

transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable 

without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 

(1) Financial assets 

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on 

a trade date basis. 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortized cost; Fair 

value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – debt investment; FVOCI – equity 

investment; or FVTPL. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial 

recognition unless the Group changes its business model for managing financial assets, in 

which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first 

reporting period following the change in the business model. 
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(i) Finacial asset measured at amortised cost 

A finacial asset is measured at cost if meets both of the following conditions and is not 

designated as at FVTPL： 

‧The financial asset is held under the business mode targeted at receiving contractual 

cash flows. 

‧All cash flows of specific date generated by the contract provisions of the financial 

asset are for paying the principal and interest of outstanding principal 
 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost, which is the amount at which 

the financial asset is measured at initial recognition, plus/minus, the cumulative 

amortization using the effective interest method, adjusted for any loss allowance. 

Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses, as well as impairment, are 

recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or 

loss. 

(ii) Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions 

and is not designated as at FVTPL:  

‧it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and  

‧its contractual terms give rise on specific dates to cash flows that are soley payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may 

irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in othe 

comprehensive income. This election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis.  

Debt investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated 

using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment 

are recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized in other 

comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other 

comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.  

Equity investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are 

recognized as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery 

of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized in other 

comprehensive income and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 

Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss on the date on which the Group’s right to 

receive payment is established. 

(iii) Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

All financial assets not classified as amortized cost or FVOCI described as above are 

measured at FVTPL, including derivative financial assets. Trade receivables that the 

Group intends to sell immediately or in the near term are measured at FVTPL; however, 
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they are included in the ‘trade receivables’ line item. On initial recognition, the Group 

may irrevocably designate a financial asset, which meets the requirements to be 

measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI, as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including 

any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. 

(iv) Business model assessment 

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a 

financial asset is held at portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is 

managed and information is provided to management. The information considered 

includes:  

‧The policy and goal of the mentioned investment portfolio and the operation of the 

policy. These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual 

interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of 

the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows 

or realizing cash flows through the sale of the assets; 

‧The performance of the operation mode and how to evaluate the financial assets held 

under the operation mode, and how to report to the business’ major management 

personnel. 

‧The risk affecting the performance of the operation mode (and the financial assets held 

under the operation mode) and the management approach of the risk; 

‧How managers of the business are compensated ─ e.g. whether compensation is based 

on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and 

‧The frequency, dollar amount and time point of selling the financial assets in each of 

the previous period, the reasons for the sale and the expectation of future selling 

activities. 
 

According to the above-mentioned operation goal, if the transaction of transferring 

the financial asset to the third party does not meet the criteria of derecognition, then 

they are do not belong to the sales mentioned above. This is consistent with the 

Group’s aim of continuing recognizing the asset. 
 

Financial assets held for trading and financial assets managed and evaluated based on 

fair value are evaluated at fair value through income or loss. 

(v) Assessment whether contractual cash flows are soley payment of principal and interests 

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the 

financial assets on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time 

value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding 

during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as 

a profit margin. 
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In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and 

interest, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes 

assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the 

timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In 

making this assessment, the Group considers: 

 contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows； 

 terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate features； 

 prepayment and extension features；and 

 terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets（e.g. 

non-recourse features）. 

(vi) Impairment of financial assets 

The Group recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on financial 

assets measured at amortized cost (including cash and cash equivalent, financial assets 

evaluated at amortized cost, note and trade receivables, other receivables, refundable 

deposits and other financial assets, etc.), debt instrument investments evaluated at fair 

value through other comprehensive income and contract assets. 
 

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss 

(ECL), except for the following which are measured as 12-month ECL: 

‧Determining that the credit risk of the debt security is low on the reporting day; and 

‧The credit risk of other debt securities, other receivable and bank deposits (i.e., the 

default risk of the financial instrument during its expected lifetime) has not 

significantly increased since initial recognition. 

The loss allowance of account receivables and contract assets are measured at an 

amount equal to lifetime ECL. 

 

When determining whether credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly 

since initial recognition and when eatimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable 

and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. 

This includes both qualitative and quantitative information and the analysis based on 

the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment as well as 

forward-looking information.  
 
If the contract payment is more than 30 days past due, the Group would assume the 

credit risk of the financial asset has significantly increased. 
 
If the contract payment is more than 360 days past due, or if the borrower is not very 

likely to fulfill its obligation by paying the full amount to the Group, the Group 

would regard the financial asset as default.  
 

If the credit risk of the financial instrument is equivalent to the global definition of 

“investment grade” (which is, or higher than, the BBB- rating of S&P, the Baa3 
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rating of Moody’s or the twA rating of Taiwan Ratings), the Group regards the debt 

security as having low credit risk. 
 

Since for the certificates of deposits, time deposits and other receivables held by the 

Group, the transaction parties and obligation fulfilling places are the financial 

institutions with ratings above the investment grade, they are regarded as having low 

credit risk. 
 

 

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the 

expected life of a financial instrument. 
 

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are 

possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or in a shorter period if the 

expected lifetime of the instrument is less than 12 months). 
 
The maximum period considered when eatimating ECLs is the maximum contractual 

period over which the Group is exposed in credit risk.  
 

ELCs are the probability weighted estimate of credit loss. Credit losses are measured 

as the present value of all cash shortfalls. That is, it is the difference between the cash 

flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the 

Group expects to receive. ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the 

financial asset. 

At each repotind date, the Group accesses whether the financial assets carried at 

amortized cost are credit-impairmed. A financial asset is ‘credit-impairmed’ when 

one or more events that have a determental impact on the estimated future cash flows 

of the financial asset have occurred.  

The evidence that the financial asset has realized credit-impairmened includes the 

observable data related to the following items:  

‧Significant financial difficulties of the borrower or the issuer; 

‧Default, such as delay or overdue over 360 days; 

‧Due to the economic or contractual reason related to the borrower’s financial 

difficulties, the Group gives the borrower concession that it would not consider 

originally; 

‧The borrower is very likely to file for bankruptcy or engage in other financial 

restructurings; or 

‧The active market for the financial asset has disappeared due to financial difficulties. 

 

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the 

gross carrying amount of the assets. 
 

The gross carring amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to 

the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when 
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the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that 

could generate sufficient cach flows to repay amounts subject to the write-off.However, 

financial assets that are writen off still be subject enforcement activities in order to 

comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due. 
 

(vii) Derecognition of financial assets 

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows 

from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash 

flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of 

the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains 

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of 

the financial asset.  

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized in its 

statement of balance sheet, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and 

rewards of the transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred assets are not 

derecognized. 

 (2) Financial liabilities and equity instruments 

 (i) Classification of debt or equity 

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Company are classified as financial liabilities or 

equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of 

a financial liability and an equity instrument. 

(ii) Equity instrument 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences residual interest in the assets of an entity 

after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued are recognized as the amount of 

consideration received, less the direct cost of issuing. 

(iii) Compound financial instruments 

Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise convertible bonds 

denominated in NTD that can be converted to ordinary shares at the option of the 

holder, when the number of shares to be issued is fixed and does not vary with 

changes in fair value. 

The liability component of compound financial instruments is initially recognized at 

the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The 

equity component is initially recognized at the difference between the fair value of the 

compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of the liability component. 

Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity 

components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts. 
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Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial 

instrument is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The 

equity component of a compound financial instrument is not remeasured. 

Interest related to the financial liability is recognized in profit or loss. On conversion at 

maturity, the financial liability is reclassified to equity and no gain or loss is 

recognized. 

 (iv) Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. A financial 

liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative 

or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are 

measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are 

recognized in profit or loss. 

           (v) Derecognition of financial liabilities 

   The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 

discharged or cancelled, or expire. The Group also derecognizes a financial liability 

when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are 

substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified 

terms is recognized at fair value.  

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount of 

a financial liability extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash 

assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognized in profit or loss. 

           (vi) Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the 

statement of balance sheet when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally 

enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis 

or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 

(3) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and 

interest rate exposures. Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are 

generally recognized in profit or loss.When the fair value of derivative instrument is 

positive, it is classified as a financial asset; otherwise, it is classified as a financial 

liability.  
 

(h) Inventories    

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories 

is based on the weighted average method, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the 
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inventories, and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 

estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.  
 

(i) Property, Plant, and Equipment   

(i) Recognition and measurement 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, 

they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and 

equipment.  

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in 

profit or loss. 

 (ii) Subsequent expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic 

benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group. 

 (iii) Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated on the cost of an asset less its residual value and is recognized 

in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component 

of an item of property, plant and equipment. 

Land is not depreciated. 

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative 

periods are as follows: 

1) Buildings：10~50 years 

2) Machine and equipment：5 years 

3) Furniture, fixtures and other equipment：2～10 years 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date 

and adjusted if appropriate. 

(j) Leases    
   

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A 

contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 

identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

(i) As a leasee 

The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement 

date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount 

of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement 

date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove 



 

124 

 

the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less 

any lease incentives received. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 

commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the 

end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 

impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are 

not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, 

if that rate cannot be reliably determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. 

Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

(1) fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 

(2) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the 

index or rate as at the commencement date; 

(3) amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 

(4) payments for purchase or termination options that are reasonably certain to be exercised. 

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is 

remeasured when:  

(1) there is a change in future lease payments arising from the change in an index or rate; or 

(2) there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a 

residual value guarantee; or 

(3) there is a change in the lease term resulting from a change of its assessment on whether it 

will exercise an option to purchase the underlying asset, or 

(4) there is a change of its assessment on whether it will exercise a extension or termination 

option; or there is any lease modifications 

(5) there is any lease modification 

When the lease liability is remeasured, other than lease modifications, a corresponding 

adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or in profit and loss if 

the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

When the lease liability is remeasured to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease 

for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease, the Group accounts for the 

remeasurement of the lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-use 

asset to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease, and recognize in profit or loss any 

gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease. 

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment and 

lease liabilities as a separate line item respectively in the statement of financial position. 

The Group has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 

short-term leases of warehouse, multi-function printer and company car that have a lease 



 

125 

 

term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognizes the lease 

payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 

term. 

As a practical expedient, the Group elects not to assess whether all rent concessions that 

meets all the following conditions are lease modifications or not:   

 the rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic; 

 the change in lease payments that resulted in revised consideration for the lease that is 

substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately 

preceding the change; 

 any reduction in lease payments that affects only those payments originally due on, or 

before, June 30, 2022; and 

 there is no substantive change in other terms and conditions of the lease. 

In accordance with the practical expedient, the effect of the change in the lease liability is 

reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the rent 

concession occurs. 

 (k) Intangible Assets    

(i) Recognition and measurement 

The expense of capitalized stage of development is the cost of which deducted by 

accumulated amortization and cumulative impairment. 

        (ii) Subsequent Expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic 

benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditures, 

including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, are recognized in 

profit or loss as incurred.  

(iii) Amortization 

Amortization is calculated over the cost of the asset, less its residual value, and is 

recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 

intangible assets, other than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use. 

The cost of the Group’s main intangible asset, computer software, is estimated to have 

a durability of 1~5 years based on straight-line amortization since it is first available 

for use. The amortized value is recognized as profit or loss. 

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting 

date and adjusted if appropriate. 

 

(l) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets   

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets 

(other than inventories, deferred tax assets and employee benefits assets) to determine 
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whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 

recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. 

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 

generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows 

of other assets or CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs 

or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 

less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 

recoverable amount. 

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the 

carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying 

amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment 

loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no 

impairment loss had been recognized. 

 

(m) Revenue 

        (i) Revenue from customer’s contract  

Revenue is measured basing on the consideration to which the Group expected to be 

entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The Group 

recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performace obligation by transferring control of a 

good or service to a customer. The accounting policies to the Group’s main types of the 

revenue are explained below: 

(1) Sale of goods 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable less 

estimated returns, trade discounts, and volume allowances. Our company recognizes 

revenue when persuasive evidence exists (usually by signing the sales agreement), when 

the significant risk and reward in the ownership of goods are transferred to the buyer, 

when the amount is very likely to be recovered, when the transaction-related cost and 

return of goods that has occurred or is about to occur can be reliably measured, when 

our company neither continues to participate in the management nor maintains effective 

control on the goods sold, and when the revenue can be reliably measured. If the 
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discount is very likely to occur and the amount can be reliably measured, it is treated as 

a contra item of revenue and recognized when the sale is recognized. 

The timing of transferring the risk and reward depends on individual conditions of the 

sales contract. 

(2) Commissions income 

When the Group serves as the agent but not the principal, revenue is recognized at the 

net commission received. 

(3) Financing component 

The Group does not expect to have almost constracts where the period btween the 

transfer of the promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer 

exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction 

prices for the time value of money. 

 (n) Employee Benefits  

(i) Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an 

employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which services are 

rendered by employees. 

 (ii) Defined benefit plans 

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for 

each the plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in 

the current and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of 

any plan assets. 

The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified 

actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential 

asset for the Group, the recognized asset is limited to the present value of economic 

benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future 

contributions to the plan. To calculate the present value of economic benefits, 

consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements. 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and 

losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if 

any, excluding interest), are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income, 

and accumulated in retained earnings within equity. The Group determines the net 

interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by 

applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the 

beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined benefit liability (asset). Net 

interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognized in 

profit or loss. 
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When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change 

in benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognized 

immediately in profit or loss. The Group recognizes gains and losses on the settlement of 

a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. 
 

 (iii) Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 

expensed as the related service is provided. 

A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus 

or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay 

this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can 

be estimated reliably. 
 

(o) Income Taxes  

Income taxes comprise current taxes and deferred taxes. Except for expenses related to 

business combinations or recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive income, all 

current and deferred taxes shall be recognized in profit or loss. 

The Group has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including 

uncertain tax treatment, do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accounted 

for them under IAS37. 

Current taxescomprise the expected tax payables or receivables on the taxable profits (losses) 

for the year and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. 

The amount of current tax payables or receivables are the best estimate of the tax amount 

expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is 

measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 

Deferred taxes arise due to temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their respective tax bases. Deferred taxes are 

recognized except for the following: 

(i) temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction 

that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profits 

(losses) at the time of the transaction; 

(ii) differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to 

the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

(iii) taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 
 

Deferred taxes are measured at tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 

differences when they reserve, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date, and reflect uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other if the following criteria are 

met: 

(i) the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 

liabilities; and 

(ii) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 

same taxation authority on either: 

(1) the same taxable entity 

(2) different taxable entities which intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net 

basis, or to realize the assets and liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in 

which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled 

or recovered. 
 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for the carry forward of unused tax losses, unused tax 

credits, and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future 

taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are 

reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 

the related tax benefits will be realized; such reductions are reversed when the probability of 

future taxable profits improves. 
 

The undistributed surplus profit-making income tax portion and is recognized as the income 

tax expense for the current period after the shareholders' meeting of the next year passes the 

surplus distribution. 
 

 (p) Earnings per Share   

The Group discloses the Company’s basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to 

ordinary equity holders of the Company. The calculation of basic earnings per share is based 

on the profit attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the Company divided by the 

weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding. The calculation of diluted earnings 

per share is based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company, divided 

by the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the 

effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, such as convertible bonds and accrued 

employee compensation.  
 

(q) Operating Segments   

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from 

which it may incur revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to 

transactions with other components of the Group). Operating results of the operating 

segment are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker to make 

decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance. Each 

operating segment consists of standalone financial information. 
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(5) Significant accounting assumptions and judgments, and major sources of estimates 

uncertainty    

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgments, 

estimates, and assumptions that affect the application of the accounting policies and the 

reported amount of assets, liabilities, income, and expenses. Actual results may differ from 

these estimates. 

 

The management continues to monitor the accounting estimates and assumptions. The 

management recognizes any changes in accounting estimates during the period and the 

impact of those changes in accounting estimates in the next period. 

 

Information about judgments made in applying accounting policies that have the most 

significant effects on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements is as 

follows:Those assumptions and estimation have been updated to reflect the impact of 

COVID-19 pandemic: 

 

(a) Valuation of inventories： 

As inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value and evaluation is based 

on an estimated future sales price, and therefore is subject to change due to changes in the 

industry and in the market. Please refer to Note 6(f) for further details on stock evaluation. 

(6) Explanations on significant accounts     

(a) Cash and cash equivalent   
  December 31, 

 2022 
December 31, 

 2021 
 

Petty cash and cash on hand $ 3,211  1,662  

 Demand and check deposits  1,846,611   1,501,485 

 Term deposits 750,031 558,810 

 Short-term notes  61,360   -  

  $ 2,661,213   2,061,957 

    

Please refer to Note 6(s) for the disclosure on the foreign exchange rate risk and sensitivity 

analysis of the financial assets. 

(b) Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss   

1. Details of financial assets and liabilities are as follows: 

  
 December 31, 

 2022 
December 31, 

 2021 
 Current Financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss, mandatorily measured at fair value: 
      

  Derivatives instruments not used for hedging:           

 Foreign currency forward contracts $ -  239  
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 December 31, 

 2022 
December 31, 

 2021 
 Non-Current Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss, mandatorily measured at fair 

value: 

 

 

 

 Derivatives instruments not used for hedging:   

 Convertible bonds embedded options $ 70  -  

 Current Held-for-trading financial liabilities:   

 Derivatives instruments not used for hedging:   

 Foreign currency forward contracts $ 21  -  

 Non-Current Financial liabilities designated at fair 

value through profit or loss: 

  

   Convertible bonds embedded options $ 3,220  -  

The Group uses derivatives financial instruments to hedge the certain foreign exchange rate 

risk and interest rate risk the Group is exposed to, arising from its operating, financing and 

investing activities. The details of the derivatives financial instruments that are not 

recognized and reported as the financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or 

loss, mandatorily measured at fair value and held-for-trading financial assets and liabilities 

are as follows: 

Foreign currency forward contracts: 

Foreign currency unit: in thousands 
 

 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

 
 Contract 

amount 

 

Currency 

Expiry 

duration 

Contract 

amount 

 

Currency  

Expiry 

duration 

 Derivative financial 

assets: 
      

 Forward foreign 

exchange sold 
   USD1,600 NTD/USD  2022.1.7~ 

2022.1.28  

 Derivative financial 

liabilities: 

      

  Forward foreign 

exchange sold  

USD500 NTD/USD  2023.1.6~ 

2023.1.19  

   

On December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss were not pledged as collateral. 

(c) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income   

  
 December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 
 Equity investments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
    

 Domestic non-listed companies $ 368,914  347,979  

    

The Group designated the investments shown above as equity securities as at fair value 

through other comprehensive income because these equity securities represent those 

investments that the Group intends to hold for long-term strategic purpose.  
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No strategic investments were disposesd as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and there were 

no transfers of any cumulative gain or loss within equity relating to these investments. 

For market risk, please refer to Note 6(r). 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income were not pledged. 
 

(d) Notes and accounts receivable   
  December 31, 

2022 

December 

31, 2021 

 Note receivables - measured at amortized cost $ 205,278   259,515  

 Account receivables - measured at amortized cost  1,597,516   2,123,170  

 Notes and accounts receivable - related parties - 

measured at amortized cost  6,971   25,393  

 Account receivables - measured at FVTPL  -  1,749  

   1,809,765  2,409,827 

 Less: Loss allowance  (11,411)   (9,729)  

  $ 1,798,354   2,400,098  

 Notes and accounts receivable, net $ 1,791,383   2,374,705  

 Notes and accounts receivable - related parties, net $ 6,971   25,393  
    

The Group evaluated that the operation mode that sell financial assets to reach its goals held 

part of the account receivables, and the account receivables have been measured at fair value 

through profit or loss.  

The Group adopts a simplified approach to estimate expected credit loss regarding all notes 

and accounts receivable. Namely, the lifetime expected credit loss for measurement is used. 

For measurement purposes, notes and accounts receivable are grouped by mutual credit risk 

characteristics, including each customer’s ability to repay according to the contract 

provisions, as well as forward-looking information such as macroeconomic and industry 

prospects. The loss allowance provision as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 was determined 

as follows: 

 
  December 31, 2022 

  

 Credit rating 

Book value of 

notes and 

accounts 

receivable 

Weighted- 

average 

expected loss 

rate 

Allowance for 

lifetime 

expected credit 

loss Expected loss 
 Level A $ 232,737  0.33%  771  N 

 Level B  1,577,028 0.67%  10,640 N 

  $ 1,809,765    11,411  
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  December 31, 2021 

  

Credit rating 

Book value of 

notes and 

accounts 

receivable 

Weighted- 

average 

expected loss 

rate 

Allowance for 

lifetime 

expected credit 

loss Expected loss 

 Level A $ 373,869  0.03%  103  N 

 Level B  2,035,958 0.50%  9,626 N 

  $ 2,409,827    9,729   

    

The aging analysis for notes and account receivable were as follows: 

  For theYears Ended December 31 
  2022 2021 

 Current $ 1,696,327  2,356,380 

 Within 30 days past due  92,095  39,890 

 31 to 180 days past due  15,694   8,945  

 More than 181 days past due  5,649  4,612 

  $ 1,809,765  2,409,827 

 

The movement in the allowance for notes and account receivable were as follows: 

  For theYears Ended December 31 
  2022 2021 

 Balance on January 1 $ 9,729   7,702  

 Impairment (reverse) loss recognized  4,954   2,103  

 Written off unrecoverable amount  (3,378)   (46)  

 Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  106   (30)  

 Balance on December 31 $ 11,411  9,729 

 

On December 31, 2022 and 2021, the notes and accounts receivable were not pledged. 
 

The Group signed a contract with the bank in selling the claim for accounts receivable. 

According to the requirement of the contract, the Group does not need to guarantee the 

account receivable debtor’s ability to pay when the claim is transferred and fulfilled within 

the selling quota. When the accounts receivable are sold, the Group obtains the amount 

according to the contract, and is obligated to pay interests with the agreed interest rate until 

the customer pays. The remaining amount will be recovered after the customer actually pays. 

In addition, the Group has to afford the fees of a certain percentage. On December 31, 2022 

and 2021, the amount of the sold clam that has not been recovered was $ 0 and $ 3,701, 

respectively. They are accounted under the account of other current financial assets.  
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As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the factored accounts receivable that conformed to the 

derecognition criteria were as follows: 

 
  December 31,2022  

 

 

 Buyer  

Amount of 

derecognition 

 

Advance 

amount Colleteral 

Important 

derecognition 

clause 

 

Factoring 

credit limit  

 Non-related party $      -   -  N/A N/A  53,065  
       

 
 December 31,2021  

 

 

 Buyer  

Amount of 

derecognition 

 

Advance 

amount Colleteral 

Important 

derecognitio

n clause 

 

Factoring 

credit limit  

 Non-related party $ 3,701   -  N/A N/A  48,520  
       

For the credit risk, please refer to Note 6(s). 
 

(e) Other receivables   
  December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

 Other receivables  

(reported other current financial assets) $ 3,545   9,603  

 Less: Loss allowance  -   -  

  $ 3,545   9,603  

For the credit risk, please refer to Note 6(r) 

(f) Inventory   
 

  December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

 Products $ 1,077,053   840,901  

    

Products incurred loss of the Group in 2022 and 2021are as follows: 
 

  For the years ended December 31 
  2022 2021 

 Losses(Gains) on inventory valuation $ 18,415  (533) 

 Losses on inventory obsolescence  3,074   3,925  

 Inventory profit or loss   113   151  

  $ 21,602  3,543 

 

For the years ended December 31, 2022 the Group recognized inventory valuation losses 

$18,415 ue to the decreasing value from the carrying amount to the net realized value. These 

were recognized as operating cost. 
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Due to the sale of the slow-moving inventory during the years ended December 31, 2021, the 

net present value of inventory bounced back and reversal of inventory valuation and 

obsolescence loss was and $533, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the inventory was not pledged. 
 

(g) Property, plant, and equipment   

The cost, depreciation, and impairment loss of the property, plant and equipment of the 

Group as of and for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, were as follows: 

 
   

 

 

Land 

 

Buildings 

and 

structures 

 

Machinery 

and 

equipment 

 

Office 

equipment 

and others 

 

 

 

Total 

 Book value:                

  Blance at January 1, 2022 $ 139,624  375,817   3184   49,144   567,769 

  Additions  -   -        -   825   825 

  Disposal  -   -   -   (6,714)   (6,714)  

 Effect of movements in 

exchange rate 

 -          3,325         -   370   3,695 

  Blance at December 31, 2022 $ 139,624   379,142   3,184   43,625  565,575  

  Blance at January 1, 2021 $ 139,624  376,607   2,162   47,863   566,256 

  Additions  -   -         1,022   1,697   2,719  

  Disposal  -   -   -   (326)   (326)  

 Effect of movements in 

exchange rate 

 -  -       (790)  -   (90)   (880)  

  Blance at December 31, 2021 $ 139,624   375,817   3,184   49,144  567,769  

 Depreciation and impairment 

losses: 

               

  Blance at January 1, 2022 $ 4,020   48,080   1,359  29,456   82,915  

  Depreciation for the period  -   10,555   497   3,827   14,879  

    Disposal - - - (6,305) (6,305) 

 Effect of movements in 

exchange rate 

 -           145         -   150   295  

  Blance at December 31, 2022 $ 4,020   58,780   1,856   27,128  91,784 

  Blance at January 1, 2021 $ 4,020   37,673   952  25,116   67,761  

  Depreciation for the period  -   10,419   407   4,675   15,501  

  Disposal - - - (307) (307) 

 Effect of movements in 

exchange rate 

 -           (12)  -   (28)   (40)  

  Blance at December 31, 2021 $ 4,020   48,080   1,359   29,456   82,915 

 Book values:                

  Blance at December 31, 2022 $ 135,604   320,362  1,328   16,497   473,791  

     Blance at January 1, 2021 $ 135,604   338,934   1,210   22,747   498,495  

  Blance at December 31, 2021 $ 135,604   327,737   1,825   19,688   484,854  
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1. Collaterals  

Please refer to the Note 8 for the detail of the property, plant, and equipment pledged as 

collateral. 

 (h) Right-of-use assets   

Information about leases for which the Group as a lessee is presented below: 

  
Buildings and 

structures 
Delivery 

equipment Total 

 Right-of-use assets cost：          

  Balance at January 1, 2022 $       75,939      65,332         141,271  

  Acquisitions 62,486  25,830 88,316  

     Disposals  (23,259)   (18,233)   (41,492)  

   Reclassifications 1,078         (1,078)            - 

  Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  1,1118   230   1,348  

  Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 117,362  72,081   189,443  

  Balance at January 1, 2021 $       64,930      57,719         122,649  

  Acquisitions  30,067   22,316   52,383  

   Disposals  (18,762)   (14,645)   (33,407)  

  Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  (296)   (58)   (354)  

  Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 75,939  65,332   141,271  

 

 

 

 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses:          

  Balance at January 1, 2022 $ 47,575  30,496   78,071 

  Depreciation  24,966   17,772 42,738 

   Disposal (17,112) (17,422) (34,534) 

  Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  572  76   648 

  Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 56,001   30,922   86,923  

  Balance at January 1, 2021 $ 41,576  25,615   67,191 

  Depreciation  23,717   16,655 40,372 

   Disposal (17,546) (11,741) (29,287) 

  Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates  (172)   (33)   (205)  

  Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 47,575   30,496   78,071  

 Book Value：          

  Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 61,361  41,159  102,520  

 Balance at January 1, 2021 $ 23,354  32,104  55,458  

  Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 28,364  34,836  63,200  

The Group leases several offices, garages, and company vehicles, etc. under operating leases, 

please refer to Note 6(l). 
 

 (i) Short-term loans   

  December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

 L/C loan $ 102,568     99,090  

 Unsecured bank loans 10,000     100,000 

        112,568      199,090 

 Unused credit line $ 1,781,143   1,203,494  

 Interest rate   0.53%~4.97%   0.53%~1.69% 
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(i) For information on the Group’s interest risk, and liquidity risk, please refer to note (6)(s). 

(ii)The association guarantor for part of the loans is the major management personnel of the 

Company and its subsidiaries. 

(iii) For the collectral for bank loans, please refer to Note 8. 
 

(j) Long-term loans  

  December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

 Secured bank loans $ -   11,968  

 Less: current portion  -  (784)  

  $ -  11,184  

 Unused credit line $ -  17,390  

 Interest rate 1.31%~1.68% 1.31%~1.5% 
    

(i) For information on the Group’s interest risk, and liquidity risk, please refer to note (6)(s) 

(ii) For the collateral for bank loans, please refer to Note 8. 

(iii) For the financial plan, the Group repaid ahead the long-term loans on November,2022. 

 

(k) Bonds payable    

   1. The Company issued the first domestic unsecured convertible bonds at 100.4% of the par 

value, with a total amount of $702,800 thousands on November 9, 2022.  

     (1) The significant terms of the convertible bonds were as follows: 

        A. Interest rate: 0% 

        B. Duration: 5 years. (November 9, 2022 to November 9, 2027) 

        C. Terms of conversion: 

a. The bondholders may request the conversion of the convertible bonds into the 

Company’s common stock at the par value and conversion price at the time of the 

request, at any time between three months after the issuance date (February 10, 

2023) and the maturity date (November 9, 2027), except for the following periods: 

1. The period in which transfer common stocks is suspended by laws; 2. The period 

starts from 15 business days before the book closure date for issuance of the bonus 

shares, book closure date for cash dividends, book closure date for rights issue, to 

the record date for distribution of entitlements; 3.The period starts from the base 

date of capital reduction to the day before th transaction of reissue of shares after 

the capital reduction;4. The period starts from the starting date of the suspension of 

conversion for the change of the stock's par value to the date before the trading 

date of the reissuance shares.  

b. Conversion price: NT$73.6 per share. Starting from the issue date. 
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          D. Redemption at the option of the Company: The Company may redeem the bonds under 

the following circumstances: 

a. Within the period between three months after the issuance date and 40 days before 

the last convertible date(September 30,2027), the Company may redeem the 

bonds at their principal amount if the closing price of the Company’s common 

stock on the TPEx for a period of 30 consecutive trading days has been 30% more 

than the conversion price in effect on each such trading day.  

b. If at least 90% of the principal amount of the bonds has been converted, redeemed, 

or purchased and cancelled, the Company may redeem the bonds at their principal 

amount within the period between three months after the issuance date 

(February.10,2023) and 40 days before the last convertible date(September 30, 

2027).  

E. Redemption at the option of the bondholders： 

The bondholders have the right to request the Company to repurchase the bonds at 

a price equal to the face value, plus, an accrued premium three years after the 

issuance date(November 9,2025).The details of unsecured convertible bonds were 

as follows: 

  December 

31,2022  

 Total convertible corporate bonds issued $ 700,000   

 Unamortized discounted corporate bonds payable  (70,876)   

 Unamortized discounted corporate bonds payable $ 629,124   

 Embedded derivative – call options, included in financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss $ 70   

 Embedded derivative –put options, included in financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss $ 3,220   

 Equity component – conversion options, included in capital surplus– 

stock options $ 66,928   

    

    For the year 

ended,2022 
 

 Embedded derivative instruments – call and put rights, included in 

financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss $ (910)   

 Interest expense $ 2,312   

    

3. The Company separated its equity and debt components as follows: 

 The compound interest present values of the convertible bonds’ face 

value at issuance $ 626,812   

 The embedded derivative assets at issuance – redemption rights  (70)   

 The embedded derivative liabilities at issuance – put rights  4,130   

 The equity components at issuance  66,928   

 The total amounts of the convertible bonds at issuance $ 697,800   
    

The effective interest rates of the first convertible bonds were 2.2332%. 
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The transaction cost of $5,000 thousand that related to the issuance of aformantioned 

convertible bonds was allocated to the component of liabilities and equity instrunments 

in proportion to their relative fair value. The transaction cost of $4,518 thousand related 

to the liability would be amortized at the effective interest rate over the duration of the 

convertible bond; and the transaction cost of $482 thousand related to the equity 

component will not be measured after the initial recognition. 

(l) Lease liabity 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

December 31, 

2022 

 December 31, 

2021 

 Current $ 36,936   29,137 

 Non-current $ 65,091    33,086 

    

The amounts recognized in profit or loss was as follows: 
  For the year ended December 31,  
  2022 2021 

 Interest on lease liabilities $ 2,733   2,167  

 Variable lease payments not included in the 
measurement of lease liabilities 

$ 40,933  34,102  

 Expenses relating to short-term leases $ 2,254  1,193 

 Expenses relating to leases of low-value 
assets(excluding short-term leases of low-value assets) 

$ 168   167  

    

The amounts recognized in the statement of cash flows for the Group was as follows: 

 
  For the yaer ended December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 Total cash outflow for leases $    87,882        78,331   
    
    

 

1. Real estate leases 

As of December 31, 2022, the Group leases land and buildings for its office space, 

dormitory and parking space. These leases typically run for a period of 2~5 years. Some 

leases include an option to renew the lease for an additional period of the same duration 

after the end of the contract term.  

2. Other leases 

The Group leases multi-function printer, company car and parking space, with lease terms 

of one to six years. The warehouse, multi-function printer leases contracts and short-term 

company car are short-term or leases of low-value items. The Group has chosen to apply 

the exemption and not to recognize right-of –use assets and lease liabilities foe these 

leases. 
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(l) Employee benefit   

(i) Defined benefit plan 

The Group determined the movement in the present value of the defined benefit 

obligations and fair value of plan assets as follows: 
  December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

 Present value of benefit obligations $       50,166  56,035  

 Fair value of plan assets  (55,703)   (54,184)  

 Recognized liabilities (assets) for defined benefit 
obligations 

$ (5,537)  1,851  

    

The Group makes defined benefit plan contributions to the pension fund account at Bank 

of Taiwan that provides pensions for employees upon retirement. The plans (covered by 

the Labor Standards Law) entitle a retired employee to receive an annual payment based 

on years of service and average salary for the six months prior to retirement.  

(1) Composition of plan assets 
 

The Company allocates pension funds in accordance with the Regulations for 

Revenues, Expenditures, Safeguard and Utilization of the Labor Retirement Fund, and 

such funds are managed by the Bureau of Labor Funds, Ministry of Labor. With regard 

to the utilization of the funds, minimum earnings shall be no less than the earnings 

attainable from two-year time deposits with interest rates offered by local banks. 
 

The Company’s Bank of Taiwan labor pension reserve account balance amounted to 

$55,703 as of December 31, 2022. For information on the utilization of the labor 

pension fund assets, including the asset allocation and yield of the fund, please refer to 

the website of the Bureau of Labor Funds, Ministry of Labor. 
  
 

2) Movements in present value of the defined benefit obligations 

The movements in present value of defined benefit obligations for the Company were 

as follows: 
  For the Years Ended 

December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 Defined benefit obligation at January 1 $       56,035   53,376  

 Current service costs and interest 992  1,029 

 Benefits paid         (3,048)   

 Remeasurement on the net defined benefit assets   

  ─Actuarial losses arising from changes in 

financial assumptions 

 (3,813)   1,630  

 Defined benefit obligation at December 31 $ 50,166  56,035 
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3) Movements of defined benefit plan assets 

The movements in the present value of the defined benefit plan assets for the Company 

were as follows: 
  For the Years Ended  

December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 Fair value of plan assets at January 1 $ 54,184   53,236  

 Interest income 

Benefits paid 

 329 

        (3,048) 

 332 

            - 

 Remeasurement of net defined obligation assets 
－return on plan assets (excluding interest income)          4,238            616 

 Fair value of plan assets at December 31 $ 55,703   54,184  

    

4) Expenses recognized in profit or loss 

The expenses recognized in profit or losses for the Company were as follows: 
  For the Years Ended  

December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 Current service costs $ 652   696  

 Net interest of net assets for defined benefit obligations  11   1  

  $ 663   697  

 Selling expenses  221   232  

 General and administrative expenses  442  465 

  $ 663   697  
 

   

5) Remeasurement on the net defined benefit assets recognized in other comprehensive 

income 

The Company’s remeasurements on the net defined benefit assets recognized in other 

comprehensive income for the years were as follows: 
  For the Years Ended  

December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 Cumulative amount at January 1 $ (7,733)   (6,719)  

 Recognized during the period  8,051   (1,014)  

 Cumulative amount at December 31 $         318   (7,733)  

    

6) Actuarial assumptions 

The following are the principal actuarial assumptions as of December 31, 2022and 

2021: 
  

For the Years Ended  
December 31, 

  2022 2021 

 Discount rate  1.750%   0.625%  

 Future salary increases rate  3.000%   3.000%  
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The Department of Labor, Taipei City approves the Company suspending to 

appropriation of contributions to the labor pension reserve during the year ended Dec.31 

2020. 

The expected allocation payment to be made by the Compnay to the defined benefit 

plans for the one-year period after the reporting date is 0. 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit plans is 12.45 years. 

7) Sensitivity analysis 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the effects of the present value of the defined 

benefit obligation arising from changes in principal actuarial assumptions were as 

follows: 
  Influences of defined benefit 

obligations 
  Increased0.25％ Decreased0.25％ 

 December 31, 2022       

 Discount rate $ (1,133)           1,172  

 Future salary increasing rate          1,132   (1,099)  

 December 31, 2021   

 Discount rate  (1,367)   1,414  

 Future salary increasing rate  1,349   (1,310)  

    

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change 

in the present value of the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in 

assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be 

correlated. The sensitivity analysis adopts the same methods for determining the pension 

liabilities (assets) at balance sheet date. 
 

The methods and assumptions used on current sensitivity analysis is the same as those 

of the prior year. 

 (ii) Defined contribution plans 

The Company and the subsidiaries in Taiwan contribute an amount equal to 6% of the 

employee’s monthly wages to the Labor Pension personal account with the Bureau of 

the Labor Insurance in accordance with the provisions of the Labor Pension Act, under 

which, the Company is not required to bear the regulated or putative obligation 

subsequent to the payment of fixed-rate contribution. 
 

The pension costs of the Group's Taiwan subsidiaries under the defined contribution 

method were $7,352 and $6,776 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, 

respectively. Payment was made to the Bureau of the Labor Insurance.  
 

The pension costs of the Group's foreign subsidiaries under the local laws were $11,332 

and $7,385 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.  
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 (m) Income taxes   

(i) Income tax expense 

(1) The details of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, 

were as follows： 

 
  For the Years Ended  

December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 Current tax expense       

  Current period $ 141,676  184,536  

   Adjustment for prior periods             (73)          (3,378) 

  Surtax on undistributed earnings  4,982   6,127  

   146,585   187,285  

 Deferred tax expense       

  Origination and reversal of temporary differences  (8,207)   (1,397)  

 Income tax expense $ 138,378   185,888  
    

(2) Reconciliations between income tax and profit before tax for the years ended December 

31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows: 
  For the Years Ended  

December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 Income tax calculated on pretax financial 

income at the statutory rate 

$ 183,258   255,633  

 Unrecognized Deferred Tax Liabilities  (49,788)   (71,909)  

 Tax-exempt income and investment income 

recognized under equity method 

 

        (3,066)  

 

        (7,495)    

 Surtax on undistributed earnings 4,982   6,127  

 Others  2,992   3,532  

  $      138,378   185,888  
    

(3) The amount of income tax recognized in other comprehensive income for 2022 and 

2021 was as follows: 
  

For the Years Ended  

December 31, 
  

2022 2021 

 Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss: 

  

 Exchange differences on translation $ 30  (8) 
    

 



 

144 

 

 (ii) Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

(1) Unrecognized Deferred Tax Liabilities 

The consolidated entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

differences associated with investments in subsidiaries as of December 31, 2022 and 

2021. Also, management considers it probable that the temporary differences will not 

reverse in the foreseeable future. Hence, such temporary differences are not recognized 

under deferred tax liabilities. Details are as follows: 

  December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

 Temporary differences related to investment in 

subsidiaries 
$ 425,939   444,447  

    
    

(2) Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets： 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items: 

  December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

 Tax effect of deductible Temporary Differences $ 20,225   37,805  

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not 

probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Group can utilize 

the benefits therefrom. 

(3) Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Changes in the amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the years ended 

December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows: 

  Recognized 

gain on 

foreign 

investment 

for equity 

method  

 

Defined 

benefit plan 

 

 

Others 

 

 

Total 
 

Deferred tax liabilities     
 

Balance as of January 1, 2022 $     79,804   1,859  228   81,891  

 Recognized in profit or loss  (5,867)   (133)   (228)   (6,228)  

 Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 73,937  1,726   -  75,663  

 Balance as of January 1, 2021 $ 81,969   1,999   96   84,064  

 Recognized in profit or loss  (2,165)   (140)   132   (2,173)  

 Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 79,804  1,859   228  81,891  
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Unrealized losses on 

inventory valuation 

and obsolescence 

 
 

Others 

 
 

Total 

 Deferred tax assets:    

 Balance as of January 1, 2022 $          791  3,262   4,053  

 Recognized in profit or loss     1,241   738   1,979  

 Recognized in other 
comprehensive income 

               -     (30)   (30)  

 Balance as of December 31, 2022  $         2,032  3,970  6,002  

 Balance as of January 1, 2021 $          723  4,098   4,821  

 Recognized in profit or loss        68   (844)   (776)  

 Recognized in other 
comprehensive income 

               -    8  (8)  

 Balance as of December 31, 2021  $           791  3,262  4,053  

(iii) The tax returns assessment and approval 

      The company’s and the subsidiary’s (Topglow Trading Co., Ltd. ) tax return for the 

years through 2019 and 2020 were examined and approved by the Taiwan National Tax 

Administrative , respectively. 

 (n) Capital and other equity    

(i) Capital 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the total value of authorized ordinary shares amounted 

to $1,000,000, with par value of $10 (NT dollars) per share, of which 100,000 thousand 

shares, 74,061 thousand shares were issued, respectively. All issued shares were paid up 

upon issuance. 

(ii) Capital surplus 

The details of capital surplus were as follows: 
 

  December 

31,2022 

December 

31,2021 

 Paid-in capital in excess of par value $ 1,124,732   1,124,732  

 Premium from merger  329,343   329,343  

 Convertible bonds – conversion options         66,298             - 

  $     1,521,003  1,454,075  
 

In accordance with the amended R.O.C. Company Act, realized capital reserves can only 

be reclassified as share capital or distributed as cash dividends after offsetting losses. The 

aforementioned capital reserves include share premiums and donation gains. In accordance 

with Securities Offering and Issuance Guidelines, the amount of capital reserves to be 

reclassified under share capital shall not exceed 10% of the actual share capital amount. 
 

(iii) Legal reserve 

When a company incurs no loss, it may, pursuant to a resolution by a shareholder's 

meeting, distribute its legal reserve by issuing new shares or by distributing cash and only 

the portion of legal reserve which exceeds 25% of capital may be distributed. 



 

146 

 

(iv) Special reserve  

When the Group first adopted the International Financial Reporting Standards as approved 

by the Financial Supervisory Commission, due to the application of exemption items as 

stated in No.1 of the International Financial Reporting Standards, “Initial adaptation of the 

International Financial Reporting Standards”, the cumulative conversion adjustment under 

the original account’s shareholder equity is presumed to be zero, and increased retained 

earnings to $ 17,368. However, the adopted retained earnings increased by $ 8,680 on the 

conversion date as it was the first adaptation of IFRSs. In accordance with Ruling No. 

1010012865 issued by the Financial Supervisory Commission on April 6, 2012, retained 

earnings are increased to $ 8,680. After the deduction of penalized relevant assets in 2012, 

which is $ 2,317 by proportion, the special reserve for its net value is $ 6,363, as 

recognized on January 1, 2013. The balance of special reserve for which on December 31, 

2022and 2021 is $ 6,363.  

In accordance with the guidelines of the FSC, net earnings after income taxes, plus any 

other item recognized in undistributed retained earnings and undistributed prior-period 

earnings shall be reclassified as a special earnings reserve during earnings distribution. 

Aforementioned amount equal to the difference between the carry net amount of other 

reductions from equity and the carrying amount of special reserve. Similarly, a portion of 

undistributed prior-period earnings shall be reclassified as a special earnings reserve 

(which does not qualify for earnings distribution) to account for cumulative amount of 

other reductions from equity pertaining to prior periods. The subsequent reversals of the 

contra accounts in shareholders' equity shall qualify for additional distributions.  

(v) The restriction of earnings distribution and dividend policy 

The Company’s Articles of Incorporation provide that, when allocating the net profit for 

each fiacal year, the Company shall first offset its losses in previous years and then set 

aside the leagel reserve at 10% of net profit until the accumulated leagal reserve equals 

the Company’s capital; and also set aside special capital reserve in accordance with 

relevant regulations or as requested by the authorities.Any balance left over and the 

beginning balance of retaining earnings ,the Company’s appropriations of earnings are 

approved in the meeting of the Board of Directors and presented for approval in the 

Company’s shareholders’ meeting.  

The Company’s dividend policy considers the Company’s future funding needs, and is 

decided based on the Company’s earnings, financial structure and the finding needs for 

future operating plans. 10%~90% of the cumulative distributable earnings are also 

appropriated and distributed after the Board proposes a resolution for the distribution of 

earnings which will be approved at shareholders’ meeting. Besides, for the distribution 

ratio of stock or cash dividends, stock dividends shall not exceed 50%. The annual 

shareholders’ meeting can still decide the most suitable way of dividend distribution 

depending on the industry condition, with the Company’s benefits and development 

served as the highest principle. 
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The shareholders’ meeting approved the amendment of Articles of Incorporation on May. 

31, 2022, the Company authorize the distributable dividends and bonuses in whole or in 

part may be paid in cash after a resolution has been adopted by a majority vote at a 

meeting of the board of directors attended by two-thirds of the total number of directors; 

and in addition thereto a report of such distribution shall be submitted to the shareholders’ 

meeting and not applicable to the preceding paragraph shall be approved by shareholders’ 

meeting . 

The appropriation of 2021 and 2020 earnings that were approved at shareholder’s 

meetings on May 31, 2022 and July 5, 2021, respectively were as follows: 

 

  2021 2020 
  Distribution 

rate (Dollar) 

 

Amount 

Distribution 

rate (Dollar) 
 

Amount 

  Cash diviends $6.0  444,366 $4.3  318,462 
      

The appropriation of 2022 earnings that was drafted at Board of Directors on March 2, 

2023. Unappropriated retained earning is allocated as cash dividends, details of the 

dividends allocated to owners are as follows: 
 

  2022 
  Distribution rate (Dollar) Amount 

  Cash diviends $4.41  326,609 

The 2022 surplus allocation is still awaiting resolution of the shareholders’ meeting, 

details of which can be found on Market Observation Post System website after 

shareholders’ meeting.  

(vii) Other equities (net of tax) 
  

Exchange 

differences on 

translation of 

foreign financial 

statements  

Unrealized gain or 

loss from financial 

assets at fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income and loss Total 

 Balance, January 1, 2022 $ (205,193)   231,425   26,632 

 The Company  88,303  20,935  109,238 

 Subsidiaries  1,805      -      1,805 

 Balance,December 31, 2022 $ (115,085)    252,360  137,275  

     
 Balance, January 1, 2021 $ (180,077)   178,419   (1,658)  

 The Company  (24,594)   53,006  28,412 

 Subsidiaries  (522)      -      (522)  

 Balance,December 31, 2021 $ (205,193)    231,425  26,232  
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(o) Earnings per share     

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the basic and diluted earnings per share 

were calculated as follows 

  For the Years ended December 31 

  2022 2021 

 Basic earnings per share       

 Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company $ 466,417   595,370  

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic)  74,061   74,061  

 Basic earnings per share(in dollars) $ 6.30  8.04 

 Diluted earnings per share       

 Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 

Company(basic) $     466,417 $    595,370 

 Convertible bonds payable             -                -      

 Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 

Company(diluted) $ 466,417   595,370  

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic)  74,061  74,061 

 Effect of convertible bonds - - 

 Employee compensation  645   699  

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)  74,706  74,760  

 Diluted earnings per share(in dollars) $ 6.24   7.96  

    

(p) Revenue from contracts with customers   

(i) Disaggregation Revenue 

   For the Years ended December 31,2022 

  

Taipei 

Department 

Overseas 

Department 

Taichung 

Department Total 

 Major markets             

 Taiwan $2,277,352  -   726,532   3,003,884 

 China  710,112   4,133,085   177,876   5,021,073  

 Other  117,753      545,655  15,519   678,927  

  $ 3,105,217   4,678,740   919,927   8,703,884  

 Major product：             

 Related products of 

chemical material 

$ 3,105,217   4,678,740   -   7,783,957 

 General trades  -   -   918,054  918,054  

 Other  -   -   1,873  1,873  

  $ 3,105,217   4,678,740  919,927   8,703,884  
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  For the Years ended December 31, 2021 

  

Taipei 

Department 

Overseas 

Department 

Taichung 

Department Total 

 Major markets             

 Taiwan $2,445,846  -   785,120   3,230,966  

 China  796,022   4,624,242   228,595   5,648,859  

 Other  171,179      363,891  19,108   554,178  

  $ 3,413,047   4,988,133   1,032,823   9,434,003  

 Major product：             

 Related products of 

chemical material 

$ 3,413,047   4,988,133   -   8,401,180  

 General trades  -   -   1,025,956   1,025,956  

 Other  -   -   6,867   6,867  

  $ 3,413,047   4,988,133   1,032,823   9,434,003  

(ii) Balance of contract 

   December 

31,2022 

December 

31,2021 

January 1, 

2021 

 Notes and accounts receivable $ 1,809,765   2,409,827   1,969,684  

 Less: loss allowance  (11,411)   (9,729)   (7,702)  

  $ 1,798,354   2,400,098   1,961,982  

 Current contract liabilities- Advance 

sales receipts 
$ 31,894   30,344   31,361  

For details on notes, accounts receivable and loss allowance, please see Note 6(d). 
 

The amount of revenue recognized for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the period were 

28,099 and 29,669, respectively. 
 

The major change in the balance of contract liabilities is the difference between the 

time of the performance oblgation to be satisfied and the payment to be received. 
 

(q) Remuneration of employees and directors   

Before the shareholders’ meeting approved the amendment of Articles of Incorporation on 

May. 31, 2022, if the compay has profit, 5%~10% of them shall be appropriated as employee 

remuneration, and a percentage not higher than 5% shall be remuneration of directors. In 

case of accumulated loss of the Company, the amount shall be reserved to compensate for 

the amount, followed by calculating the employee remuneration and director remuneration 

according to the balance. Employee remuneration can be stocks or cash, and the parties to be 

distributed include the employees of the associate companies who satisfy a certain criteria. 
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The shareholders’ meeting approved the amendment of Articles of Incorporation on May. 31, 

2022, if the company has profit, 5%~10% of them shall be appropriated as employee 

remuneration, and a percentage not higher than 5% shall be remuneration of directors. In 

case of accumulated loss of the Company, the amount shall be reserved to compensate for 

the amount, followed by calculating the employee remuneration and director remuneration 

according to the balance. Employee remuneration can be stocks or cash, and the parties to be 

distributed include the employees of the associate companies who satisfy a certain criterion. 

 

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 the remuneration of employees of $39,000, 

and $52,000, respectively and remuneration of directors of $17,250 and $23,000 respectively. 

The estimated amounts mentioned above are calculated based on the net profit before tax, 

excluding the remuneration to employees, directors and supervisors of each period, 

multiplied by the percentage of remuneration to employees, directors and supervisors as 

specified in the Company's articles.  These remunerations were expensed under operating 

expenses during 2022 and 2021. The amounts, as stated in the consolidated financial 

statements, are identical to those of the actual distributions for 2022 and 2021. Related 

information would be available at the Market Observation Post System website.  

(r) Financial instruments   

(i) Credit risk 

1) Credit risks exposure 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum amount exposed to 

credit risk. 

2) Concentration of credit risk 

As the Group has a large customer base and does not have a significant concentration of 

transactions with a single customer and the sales area is dispersed, the credit risk of 

accounts has no significant concentration. 

3) Credit risk of account receivables and debt securities 

Please refer to the Note 6(d) of the disclosure of the risk exposure information of notes 

and accounts receivable. Please refer to Note 6(e) for the details of financial assets at 

amortized cost and other receivables and the recognition of impairment for the year 

ended December 31, 2022.  
 

The following table lists the above-mentioned financial assets, loss allowance 

recognized on December 31, 2022 and 2021 whether there is credit impairment 

according to 12-month expected credit loss or lifetime expected credit loss: 
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  December 31, 2022  

  Evaluated at amortized cost  

  

12-month 

expected 

loss 

Expected 

loss - not 

impaired 

expected 

loss - 

impaired Total 

 Total Book value $ 847,227  1,809,765   -   2,656,992 

 Loss allowance  -   (11,411)   -   (11,411)  

 Amortized cost $ 847,227  1,798,354   -   2,645,581 

 Book value, net $ 847,227   1,798,354  -   2,645,581  

      

  December 31, 2021  

  Evaluated at amortized cost  

  

12-month 

expected 

loss 

Expected 

loss - not 

impaired 

expected 

loss - 

impaired Total 

 Total Book value $ 597,169   2,408,078   -   3,005,247  

 Loss allowance  -   (9,729)   -   (9,729)  

 Amortized cost $ 597,169  2,398,349   -   2,995,518 

 Book value, net $ 597,169   2,398,349   -   2,995,518  

      

 (ii) Liquidity risk 

The following were the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, not including the 

impact of estimated interests. 
 

   

Book value 

Contract 

cash flows 

Within 1 

years  

Within 1~2 

years  

More than 

2 years 

 December 31, 2022                

 Non-derivative financial liabilities                

  Unsecured bank loan 
$ 112,568   (114,843)   (114,843)   -   -  

  Notes payable and trades (including 

related parties)  573,022  (573,022)   (573,022)   -   -  

  Other payable 
 383,192   (383,192)   (383,192)   -   -  

 Lease liabilities (including current and 

non-current) 102,027 (107,370) (39,497) (32,228) (35,645) 

 Lease payments 
 109   (109)   (109)  -        -     

 Bonds payable (including embedded 

derivative financial instruments) 632,344    (700,000)      -     - (700,000) 

 Derivative financial liabilities 
     

 Forward foreign exchange contract: 
        21     

 Outflow 
    (15,347)   (15,347)     -     - 

 Inflow 
                15,326     15,326      -          -      

  $ 1,803,283  (1,878,557)   (1,110,684)   (32,228)   (735,645)  
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Book value 

Contract 

cash flows 

Within 1 

years  

Within 1~2 

years  

More than 

2 years 

 December 31, 2021                

 Non-derivative financial liabilities                

  Unsecured bank loan 
$ 199,090   (200,987)   (200,987)   -   -  

  Secured bank loans (including current 

portion)  11,968   (13,104)   (936)   (936)   (11,232)  

  Notes payable and trades (including 

related parties)  858,569   (858,569)   (858,569)   -   -  

  Other payable 
 521,176   (521,176)   (521,176)   -   -  

 Lease liabilities (including current and 

non-current) 62,223 (64,820) (30,205) (19,479) (15,136) 

 Lease payments 
 394   (394)   (287)      (107)  -     

  $ 1,653,420  (1,659,050)   (1,612,160)   (20,522)   (26,368)  
       

The Group does not expect that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could 

occur significantly earlier or at significantly different amounts. 

(iii) Market risk 

1) Currency risk 

The Group’s significant exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows: 

Foreign currency unit: in thousand 

  December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

  Foreign 

currency 
 

Exchange rate 
 

NTD 
Foreign 

currency 
 

Exchange rate 
 

NTD 

 Financial asset                   

  Monetary items                   

  USD $ 15,509 

  

USD/NTD= 

30.71 

 476,282  $ 24,579 

  

USD/NTD= 

27.68 

 680,358  

  USD  4,571  USD/RMB= 

6.9669 

 140,362  4,892  USD/RMB= 

6.372 

 135,424 

  USD  8,337  USD/HKD= 

7.7984 

 256,018   8,568  USD/HKD= 

7.799 

 237,154  

  USD  22 

  

USD/VND= 

23,623 

 670  52 

  

USD/VND= 

23,067 

 1,431 

  USD  599  USD/IDR= 

15,355 

 18,405   526  USD/IDR= 

13,840 

 14,562  

 Financial liabilities                   

  Monetary items                   

  USD  7,428  USD/NTD= 

30.71 

 288,118   14,808  USD/NTD= 

27.68 

 409,834  

  USD  3,202 USD/RMB= 

6.9669 

 98,333   6,221  USD/RMB= 

6.372 

 172,204  

  USD  1,331 USD/HKD= 

7.7984 

 40,871   2,650 USD/HKD= 

7.799 

 73,347  

  USD  802 

  

USD/VND= 

23,623 

 24,639  779 

  

USD/VND= 

23,067 

 21,551 

  USD  465  USD/IDR= 

15,355 

 14,293  184  USD/IDR= 

13,840 

 5,090  
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2) Sensitive analysis 

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk arises from the translation of the foreign 

currency exchange gains and losses on cash and cash equivalents, receivables and other 

receivables, loans, account payables and other payable that are denominated in foreign 

currency. Assuming other variable remain the same, a 5% depreciation or appreciation 

of the NTD against the USD, RMB, JPY, HKD and EUR, etc. as of December 31, 2022 

and 2021, the before-tax income will increase or decrease by $ 25,700 and $ 22,281, 

respectively. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.  
 

3) Gain or loss on foreign exchange 

A Group deals with diverse foreign currencies, therefore, the gains or losses on foreign 

exchange were summarized as a single amount. For the nine months ended December 

31, 2022 and 2021, the foreign exchange gain (loss), including realized and unrealized, 

amounted to profit of $16,335 and loss of $7,244, respectively. 

 (iv) Interest rate analysis 

The Group's interest rate exposure as follows: 
  Carring value 
  December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

 Variable interest rate instruments:   

   Financial assets $ 1,841,416   1,490,269  

   Financial liabilities  112,568   211,058  

The Group's sensitivity analysis in interest rates is based on the risk exposure to interest 

rates on the derivative and the non-derivative financial instruments on the reporting date. 

For variable rate instruments, the sensitivity analysis assumes the variable rate liabilities 

are outstanding for the whole year on the reporting date. 

 

If the interest rate increases or decreases by 0.25%, the Group’s profit will increase or 

decrease by $4,322 and $3,198 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, 

respectively, due to the floating rate borrowings and deposits of the Group. This analysis 

assumes that all other variables remain constant.  

 

(v) Other market price risk 

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the sensitivity analyses for the 

changes in the securities price at the reporting date were performed using the same basis 

for the profit and loss as illustrated below: 
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 For the years ended December 31, 

 2022 2021 

Prices of securities 
at the reporting 

date 

Other 
comprehensive 

income after tax 

 
 

Net income 

Other 
comprehensive 

income after tax 

 
 

Net income 

     

Increasing 5% $  18,436   -   17,394   - 

Decreasing 5% $  (18,443)   -   (17,409)   - 

 

(vi) Fair value information 

(1) Evaluation process 

The Group’s accounting policy and disclosure include evaluating its financial assets and 

liabilities at fair value. The Group’s management personnel are responsible for 

conducting independent fair value verification, making the evaluation result close to 

market conditions with data of independent source, ensuring the data source is 

independent, reliable, consistent with other resources and representative of strike price, 

periodically calibrate the evaluation model, renew the input values and data needed by 

the evaluation model, and other necessary fair value adjustment, in order to make sure 

the result is reasonable. 

The Group uses observable market data to evaluate its assets and liabilities when it is 

possible. The different inputs of levels the of fair value hierarchy in determining the fair 

value are as follows:  

● Level 1：quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identifiable assets or 

liabilities.  

● Level 2：inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 

for the asset or liability, either directly(ie as prices) or directly (ie derived 

from prices). 

● Level 3：inputs for the assets or liability that are not based on observable market 

data. 
 

(2) The categories and fair values of financial instruments 

The measurement basis of the financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 

or loss and the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income is 

repetitive the carrying amount and fair value of the Group’s financial assets and 

liabilities, including the information on fair value hierarchy were as follows; however, 

except as described in the following paragraphs, for financial instruments not measured 

at fair value whose carrying amount is reasonably close to the fair value, and lease 

liabilities and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, disclosure of fair value 

information is not required : 
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December 31, 2022 
   Fair value 
  Carring 

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss                

 Bonds payable- derivative financial 

instruments 70        -        - 70        70 

 Financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income：                

  Domestic non-listed companies  368,914  -   -   368,914  368,914  

 Financial assets at amortised cost：                

 Cash and cash equivalent  2,661,213  -   -   -   -  

 Notes and accounts receivable 

(Including related parties)  1,798,354  -   -   -   -  

 Refundable deposit (reported Other 

non-current assets)  24,695   -   -   -   -  

 Other current financial assets  11,141  -   -   -   -  

   Total  4,495,403      

  $ 4,864,387      

 Financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss: 

Derivative financial liabilities $ 21   -  21  -  21 

 Bonds payable- derivative financial 

instruments  3,220  

 -

  

 -

  

 3,220

  

 3,220

  

 Total $ 3,241      

 Financial liabilities measured at 

amortized cost                

 Bank loan $ 112,568   -   -   -   -  

 Notes and account payable 

(Including related parties)  573,022  -   -   -   -  

 Other payable  383,192  -   -   -   -  

    Bonds payable     629,124     

 Lease liabilities (including current and 

non-current) 102,027     

 Lease payments  109     

  $ 1,803,283     
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  December 31, 2021 
   Fair value 
  Carring 

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss                

Derivative financial assets $ 239   -   239   -   239  

Account receivables 1,749                1,749        1,749 

Total 1,988     

Financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income：                

 Domestic non-listed companies  347,979   -   -   347,979   347,979  

Financial assets at amortised cost：                

Cash and cash equivalent  2,061,957  -   -   -   -  

Notes and accounts receivable 

(Including related parties)  2,398,349   -   -   -   -  

Refundable deposit (reported Other 

non-current assets)  28,535   -   -   -   -  

Other current financial assets  9,824  -   -   -   -  

  Total  4,498,665      

 $ 4,848,632      

 

 

Financial liabilities measured at 

amortized cost                

Bank loan $ 211,058   -   -   -   -  

Notes and account payable 

(Including related parties)  858,569  -   -   -   -  

Other payable  521,176   -   -   -   -  

Lease liabilities (including current and 

non-current) 62,223     

Lease payments  394     

 $ 1,653,420     

 

 (3) Valuation techniques for financial instruments measured at fair value 

A. Non-derivative financial instruments 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market is based on quoted 

market price. 

If quoted price of financial instruments can be obtained in tine and often from 

exchanges, broker, underwiters, industry union, pricing institute, or authorities and 

such price can reflect those actual trading and freauency happen in the market. If the 

financial instrument does not accord with the definition aforementioned, then it is 

considered to be without qhoted price in active market. In general, market with low 

trading volum or high bid-ask spreads is an indication of non-active market.  

Measurement of fair value of financial instrunments without an active market are 
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based on valuation technique or quoted price from a competitor. Fair value, measured 

by using valuation technique that can be extrapolated from either similar financial 

instrunments or discounted cash flow method or the market transaction prices of the 

similar companies or other valuation techniques, including models, is calculated 

based on available market data at the reporting date. 

The financial instrunment of the Group is not traded in an actine market, its fair value 

is determined as follows: The fair value is determined based on the ratio of the 

quoted market price of the comparative listed company and its book value per share. 

Also, the fair value is discounted for its lack of liquidity in the market. 

B. Derivative financial instruments 

Measurement of the fair value of derivative instruments is based on the valuation 

techniques generally accepted by market participants such as the discounted cash 

flow or option pricing models. Fiar value of forward currency is usually determined 

by the forward currency exchange rate. 

(4) For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, there were no transferring from 

each level in the fair value hierarchy. 

(5) Changes in level 3 of the fair value 

  

 
Fair value through profit 

or loss 

Fair value 
through other 

comprehensive 
income 

  

Derivative 

financial 

assets-convertible 

bonds 

Derivative 

financial 

liabilities-c

onvertible 

bonds   

Unquoted 

equity 

instruments 

 Balance on January 1, 2022 $ -   -   347,979  

 Issuance  70   (4,130)   -  

  Total profit or loss          

 In profit or loss  -   910   -  

  In other comprehensive income          

 The variable amount of net value   -   -   20,935  

 Balance on December 31, 2022 $ 70   (3,220)   368,914  

 Balance on January 1, 2021 $ -   -   294,973  

  Total profit or loss          

  In other comprehensive income          

 The variable amount of net value  -   -   53,006  

 Balance on December 31, 2021 $ -   -   347,979  

     

The aforementioned total gains and losses were recognized in “unrealized gains and 

losses from financial assets fair value through other comprehensive income”. The 

details of the assets which the Group still held as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, were 

as follows: 
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  For the Years Ended December 31, 
    2022 2021 

 Total gains and losses recognized：   

 In other comprehensive income (accounted as 

Unrealized gains on financial assets measured at 

fair value through other comprehensive income) 

 

$       20,935    

 

       53,006 

 In profit or loss (accounted as net of financial assets 

and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss)    

 

$          910    

 

            - 

(6) Quantified information for significant unobservable inputs (level 3) used in fair value 

measurement 

The Group’s financial instruments that use level 3 inputs to measure the fair values 

include financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

-equity investments. 

The financial instruments of the Group is not traded in an active market, its equity 

instruments classified as Level 3 fair value have multiple significant unobservable 

input values. The significant unobservable inputs of the equity invsestments are 

independent from each otheras a result, there is no relevance between them. 

The quantified information for significant unobservable inputs is as follows: 

  

 

 

 

Item 

 

 

 

Evaluation 

technique 

 

 

Significant 

unobservable input 

value 

Relation between 

significant 

unobservable 

input value and 

fair value 
 Financial assets at 

fair value through 

other 

comprehensive 

income-equity 

instruments without 

active market 

Comparable listed 

company’s 

approach 

‧PB ratio 
(1.47~1.98 and 

2.13~2.85 on 

December 31, 

2022 and2021, 

respectively)  
‧PE ratio (12.75 and 

13.60 on December 

31, 2022 and 2021, 

respectively)  
‧Market liquidity 

discount rate (25% 

on December 31, 

2022 and 2021) 

‧The estimate fair 

value would 

increase if the 

multiplier was 

higher 
‧The estimate fair 

value would 

decrease if 

market liquidity 

discount rate was 

higher 

     
(7) Sensitivity analysis for fair values of financial instruments using Level 3 inputs 

The Group’s fair value measurement on financial instruments is reasonable. However, 

the measurement would be different if different valuation models or valuation 

parameters are used. For financial instruments using level 3 inputs, the impact on the net 

income or loss and other comprehensive income or loss will be as follows if the 

valuation parameters changed: 
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Input 

value 

 

 

Increase 

or 

decrease 

Impacts of fair value change 

on profit or loss 

Impacts of fair value change on 

other comprehensive income or 

loss 

  
Favorable Unfavorable Favorable Unfavorable 

 December 31, 2022           

 Financial assets at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive income 

PB ratio 5％ 

$ -   -  8,682   8,665 

 Financial assets at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive income 

PE ratio 5％ 

$ -  -   9,783   9,771  

 Financial assets at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive income 

Market 

liquidity 

discount rate 

5％ 

$ -  -   18,456   18,447  

 Financial assets and 

liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss- 

call and put options of 

convertible bonds Volatility 5％ $ 70   140   -   -  
 

December 31, 2021               
 
Financial assets at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive income 

PB ratio 5％ 

$ -   -  10,285   10,276 
 
Financial assets at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive income 

PE ratio 5％ 

$ -  -   7,124   7,118  
 
Financial assets at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive income 

Market 

liquidity 

discount rate 

5％ 

$ -   -  17,391   17,412  

The favorable and unfavorable effects represent the changes in fair value, and fair value 

is based on variety of unobservable inputs calculated using a valuation technique. The 

analysis above only reflects the effects of changes in a single input, and it does not 

include the interrelationships with another input. 

(s) Financial risk management   

(i) Overview 

The Group is exposured to the following risks from its financial instruments: 

(1) credit risk 

(2) liquidity risk 

(3) Market risk 
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The note discloses information about the Group’s explosure to the aforemaentioned 

risks, and its goals, policys and procedurs regarding the measurement and 

management of these risks. For additional quantitative disclosures of these risks, 

please refer to the notes regarding each risk disclosed throughout the financial report. 

(ii) Risk management framework 

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks 

faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 

adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to 

reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered. The Group, through 

its training and management standards and procedures, aim to develop a disciplined and 

constructive control environment, in which all employees understand their roles and 

obligations. 

The Group’ s Internal Audit oversees how management monitors compliance with the 

Group’ s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk 

management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. Internal Audit 

undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, 

the results of which are reported to the Board of Directors.  

(iii) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to 

financial instruments fails to meet its contractual obligations that arise principally from 

the Group’s account receivables and securities investment.  

(1) Accounts receivables and other receivables 

The Group has established a credit policy, and according to the policy, the Group must 

analyze its individual credit rating for each new customer before giving the standard 

payment and delivery terms. The review of the Group includes, if available, an external 

review, and, in some cases, a note from the bank. Purchase quotas are established on 

individual customers. This limit is reviewed regularly. Customers who do not comply 

with the Company's benchmark credit rating are only allowed to advance the transaction 

with the Group.  

Accounts receivables cover a large number of customers and are dispersed in different 

industries and geographical areas. The Group will continue to evaluate the financial 

status of accounts customers and, if necessary, purchase credit guarantee insurance 

contracts.  

As the Group has a large customer base and does not significantly focus on trading with a 

single customer and the sales area is scattered, there is no significant concentration of 

credit risks on accounts. In order to reduce credit risk, the Group also regularly reviews 

the financial status of its customers, but usually does not require customers to provide 

collateral. 
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 (2) Investment 

The Group reduces credit risk by investing only in liquid securities with good credit 

ratings. As managers actively monitor credit ratings and the Group can only invest in 

securities with high-quality credit ratings, managers do not expect any traders to not be 

able to perform their obligations. 

(iv) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the 

obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or 

another financial asset. 

The Group maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents so as to cope with its 

operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group’s 

management supervises the bank loan facilities and ensures in compliance with the 

terms of the loan agreements. 

The loan was an important source of liquidity for the Group. As of December 31,2021 

and 2020, the Group has unused credit facilities for short-term and long-term loans 

please refer to note 6(j) and 6(k). 

(v) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, 

interest rates and equity prices, and credit spreads will affect the Group’s income or the 

value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management 

is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while 

optimizing the return on risk. 

(1) Currency risk 

The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchase that denominated in a 

currency other than the respective functional currencies used in these transactions are 

denominated in TWD, USD, RMB and HKD. The functional currency of the Group 

enterprise is NTD, with USD, RMB and HKD available as well. Around 30% of the 

Group’s sale is not priced in the functional currency of the individual company in 

which the transaction happens in, and approximately 60% of the cost is not priced in 

the functional currency of the individual company in which the transaction happens in. 

The immense currency exchange risk management of the Group is limited within 

permission of its policies, and makes use of long-term foreign currency contracts for 

risk management. 

(2) Interest risk 

Cash flow risk generated due to fund borrowings of individuals in the Group at floating 

rates. 
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(3) Other market price risk 

The immense risk in equity price generated by the Group measuring fair value of 

non-listed equity securities by the evaluation method, and measuring fair value of open 

fund investments by open prices. 

(t) Capital Management   

Through clear undersanding and managing of significant changes in external environment, 

related industrial characteristics, and corporate growth plan, the Group manages its capital 

structure to ensure its has sufficient financial resources to sustain proper liquidity, to invest 

in capital expenditures, as well as to repay debt, and to distribute dividends in accordance to 

its plan. The management pursues the most suitable capital structure by monitoring and 

maintaining proper fianacial ratio as below. The Group aims to enhance the returns to its 

shareholders through achieveing an optimized debt-to-equity ratio regularly.  

   
December 

31,2022 

December 31, 

2021 

 Total liabilities $ 1,989,648   1,898,614  

 Total equity  4,659,541   4,456,943  

 Debt to equity ratio  43%   43%  

As of December 31, 2022 the Group’s capital management strategy is consistent with 

the prior year.  

(u) Investing and financing activities not affecting current cash flow   

The Group didn’t have the financing activities not affecting current cash flow for the year 

ended December 31, 2022. 

1. Obtain the right-of-use assets by leasing please refer to note 6(h). 

2.The bonds issuance please refer to the note 6(k). 

3. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities was as follows: 
              Non-cash changes  

  

January 

1,2022 
Cash 

flows Acquisition 
 

Decrease 

Foreign 

exchange 

movement Others 

December 

31,2022 

 Short-term borrowings $ 199,090    (86,522)   -   -   -  -  112,568 

 

Long-term borrowings 

(including current 

portion)  11,968   (11,968)   -   -   -  -       -   

 Lease liabilities  62,223   (41,794)   88,316   (7,399)      681  -  102,027  

 Bonds payable           697,800       2,312               -         (70,988)    629,124 

 Total liabilities from 

financing activities $ 273,281    557,516   90,628   (7,399)    681     (70,988)   843,719  
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    Non-cash changes  

  

January 

1,2021 

Cash 

flows Acquisition  Decrease 

Foreign 

exchange 

movement 

December 

31,2021 

 Short-term borrowings $ 154,486 44,604 - - - 199,090 

 

Long-term borrowings 

(including current 

portion)  25,208   (13,240)   -   -   -   11,968  

 Lease liabilities  54,939   (40,702)   52,383   (4,251)      (146)   62,223  

 Total liabilities from 

financing activities $ 234,633   (9,338)   52,383   (4,251)    (146)   273,281  

 

 (7) Related-Party Transactions  

(a) Names and relationship with related parties   

The related parties that have trading relationship with the Company in the period covered by 

the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

 Name of Related Parties Relationship 

 Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. Corporate directors of the 

Company 

 Shin-Etsu Silicone International Trading (Shanghai) Co,. 

Ltd. (Shin-Etsu Shanghai) 

The Company’s corporate 

director, subsidiaries of 

Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. 

 Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. (Shin-Etsu Taiwan) 〃 

 Shin-Etsu Silicone (Nantong) Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Shin-Etsu Astech Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Shin-Etsu Film Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Shin-Etsu (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Shin-Etsu (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Shin Etsu Polymer Hong Kong Ltd. 〃 

 Shin-Etsu Polymer Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Shin-Etsu Singapore Pte Ltd. 〃 

 Chung-shin Limited Company An affiliate 

 Sign Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Kikukawa Metal & Engineering Co., Ltd 〃 

 Mr. Pan, Chen-Cheng Chairperson of the Company 

  Mr. Weng, Chun-Ming Director of the Company 

 Mr.Chang,Sheng-Ho CEO of the Company 

 Mr. Weng, Chih-Hung General Manager of the 

subsidiary, Topglow 
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 (b) Significant transactions with related parties   

(i) Revenues to related parties 

The amounts of significant sales between the Group and related parties were as follows: 
 

   

For the Years Ended December 31, 
 

 2022 2021 

 Other related parties $       93,495          97,248 

    

There is no significant difference in terms and conditions of the sales to associates 

between those provided to third parties. The credit lending period for other related parties 

are 30~90 days, which is not significantly different with the third parties. 

 

(ii) Purchases 

The amounts of purchase transaction between the Group and related parties were as 

follows: 
  For the Years Ended December 31, 

  2022 2021 

 Other related parties   

 Shin-Etsu Shanghai $ 2,051,222  2,251,141 

 Shin-Etsu Taiwan  2,482,318  2,648,516 

 Others  612,313  565,406 

  $ 5,145,853  5,465,063 

    

The Group’s related products of chemical material are mainly purchased from other 

related parties. There are no non-related party purchase prices for comparison.The 

payment period is 30~60 days for other related parties. 

(iii) Providing labor to other related parties 
   For the Years Ended December 31, 

  2022 2021 

 Commission revenue  

(reported other operating revenue) 

  

  Other related parties $ 616  647 

    

(iv) Receivables from related parties 

Receivables from related parties were as follows： 

  

Account 

Category of Related 

party  

December 

31,2022 

December 

31,2021 

 Notes and accounts 

receivable 

Other related parties 

$ 6,971   25,393 
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 (v) Payables to related parties 

Payables to related parties were as follows: 
  

Account Category of Related party  

December 

31,2022 

December 

31,2021 

 Notes and accounts 

payable 

Other related parties:   

    Shin-Etsu Taiwan $ 272,080   430,633  

    Shin-Etsu Shanghai  145,362  238,423  

    Others  50,672   70,279  

 Other payable   Other related parties           958         1,777 

   $ 469,072   741,112  
     

 (vi) Lease  

Group rents a warehouse from other related parties, the rent is decided by the Market. The 

contract value of the period from Jan. 1,2019 to Dec.31,2021 and Jan.1 2022 to Dec.31, 

2026 is 8,418 thousand and 11,612 thousand respectively. The lease liability and interest 

expense were as follows:  

 Lease Liabilty Interest Expense 

 

 December 31,2022 December 31,2021 

For the year ended December 31, 

2022 2021 

Other related parties $  9,350                 -  138   22  

 

(c) Transaction of major management personnel   

(i) Transactions with key management personnel: 

   
 

For the Years Ended December 31, 

  2022 2021 

 Short-term employee benefits $ 92,534  114,120  

 Post-employment benefit  1,808   1,808  

  $ 94,342   115,928  

(ii) Provide security 

For part of the Group’s credit lending contracts, the major management personnel of the 

Group serve as the association guarantor. 
 

(8) Pledged assets   

The book values of pledged assets were as follows: 
  

Pledged assets  

 

Object 
December 

31,2022 

December 

31,2021 

 Certificates of deposits 

(reported current other 

financial assets) 

 

Collateral of loans from bank  

$ 21,150 

  

 18,932 

  

 Property, plant, and 

equipment 

Long-term borrowings and 

quota collateral  

 127,737  128,758  

   $ 148,887   147,690  



 

166 

 

(9) Significant Commitments and Contingencies    

The amounts of unused letters of credit due to the Group’s purchase of raw materials are as 

follows: 
  December 

31,2022 

December 

31,2021 

 Unused letters of credit $ 34,008  73,207  

    

(10) Losses Due to Major Disasters: None.   

(11) Subsequent Events: None. 

(12) Others   

The employee benefits, depreciation, depletion and amortization expenses categorized by 

function were as follows:  

 By function For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 By item Operating 

expenses 
Operating 

expenses 

 Employee benefits   

  Salary and bonus  502,807  624,033 

  Labor and health insurance  26,177   24,156  

  Pension  19,347   14,858  

  Others  19,472   19,297  

 Depreciation  57,617   55,873  

 Amortization  577   1,224  
    

(13) Other disclosures:   

(a) Information on significant transactions   

The following is the information on significant transactions required by the “ Regulations 

Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers” for the Group for the 

year ended December 31, 2022: 

(i) Financing provided：None. 

(ii) Guarantees and endorsements provided:  
 

No. 

(Note 1) 

 

Name of the 

company 

Counter-party of guarantee 

and endorsement 

Limits on 

Endorsements/ 

guarantee 

amount 

provided to 

each  

guarantee party 

Maximum 

Balance for 

the Period 

Ending 

Balance for 

the Period 

Actual 

drawdown 

Property 

pledged on 

guarantees and 

endorsement 

Ratio of accumulated 

amounts of guarantees 

and 

endorsements to net 

worth of the latest 

financial statements 

Maximum 

amount for 

guarantees and 

endorsements 

Parent 

company 

endorses/ 

guarantees to 

third parties on 

behalf of 

subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

endorses/ 

guarantees to 

third parties on 

behalf of 

parent 

company 

Endorsements/ 

guarantees to 

third parties on 

behalf of 

companies in 

Mainland China 

 

 

Name 

 
Relationship 

with the 

Company 

  0  The Company
  

Topco 
Shanghai  

sub-subsidiary  903,533  124,840  -  -   -        -%   2,258,833  

(Note2) 

 v   -   v  

  〃   〃  Topco 

Guang Zhou  
〃  903,533   124,840  -  -   -        -%   2,258,833  

(Note 2) 

 v   -   v  

               

Note 1: Fill in the number as the following rules: 
1. Zero represents owners of parent. 
2. Subsidiaries are numbered starting from “1”. 

Note 2: The Company’s endorsement/guarantee amount limit to a single business shall not exceed 20% of the Company’s net worth in the latest financial 

statements; the total amount of external endorsement/ guarantee shall not exceed 50% of the Company’s net worth in the latest financial 

statements. 
Note 3: The companies in the transaction mentioned above are all reporting entities of the consolidated financial statements. 
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(iii) Information regarding securities held at balance sheet date (excluding investment in 

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures):    
 

Share number unit: thousand shares / thousand units 

 

Name of 

holder 

Category and name of 

security 

Relationship with 

the Company Account title 

Ending balance 

Maximum Balance for 

the Period  

 
Number of 

Shares/ Units Book value 

Percentage of 

shares 

 

Fair value  

Number of 

Shares/ 

Units 

 

Percentage 

of shares 

 

Note 

 The Company Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. 

(Shin-Etsu Taiwan) 

N/A Noncurrent Financial assets 

at fair value through other 

comprehensive income - 

 1,520    362,201   6.67   362,201   1,520        6.67   

 〃 Miho International Cosmetic Co., 

Ltd. (Miho International) 
〃 〃  756   6,713 

       

 0.82   6,713  756  0.82  

        $368,914        

            

Note: Dissolution on 2020.10.28 

(iv) Accumulated buying/selling of the same marketable securities for which the dollar amount 

reaches $300 million or 20% or more of paid-in capital: None. 

(v) Acquisition of real estate for which the dollar amount reaches $300 million or 20% or more 

of paid-in capital : None.    

(vi) Disposition of real estate for which the dollar amount reaches $300 million or 20% or more 

of paid-in capital: None.    

(vii) Buying/selling products with the dollar amount reaches $100 million or 20% or more of 

paid-in capital: 

 
 Name of 

company 
Name of 

Counter-p

arty 

  

Transaction details Transaction details 

Abnormal 

Transaction 

Notes and accounts 

receivables (payables) 
 

 

 

 

Relationship Purchase

/ Sale 
 

Amount 

Percentage 

of total 

purchases/ 

sales 

 

Credit 

period 

 
Unit price 

 

Credit 

period 

 

 
Balance 

Percentage 

of total 

accounts/ 

notes 

receivable 

(payable) 

Notes 

 The 

Company 
Shin-Etsu 

Taiwan 

The company is a subsidiary of the 

Company’s corporate director, 

Subsidiaries of Shin-Etsu Chemical 

Co., Ltd. 

Purchase 2,438,918 83% Open account 

30~60 days 

Not 

applicable 

Not 

applicable 

(267,604) (89)%  

 〃 Topco Hong 

Kong 

Parent-sub-subsidiary company Sales (153,895) (4)% Open account 

105 days 
〃 〃 6,318 1% Note 

 〃 Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai 
Parent-sub-subsidiary company Sales (223,886) (6)% Open account 

105 days 
〃 〃 22,905 3% Note 

 Topco 

Shanghai 
Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai 
The parent company of Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai is a corporate director of 

the parent company of Topco 

Shanghai. 

Purchase 1,141,717 62% Open account 

30 days 
〃 〃 (85,627) (58)%  

 〃 The 

Company 
Parent company Purchase 223,886 12% Open account 

105 days 
〃 〃 (22,905) (16)% Note 

 TopcoGuang 

Zhou 

 

Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai 
The parent company of Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai is a corporate director of 

the parent company of Topco Guang 

Zhou 

Purchase 909,505 74% Open account 

30 days 
〃 〃 (59,732) (73)%  

 Topco Hong 

Kong 

 

Shin-Etsu 

Hong Kong 
The parent company of Shin-Etsu 

Hong Kong is a corporate director of 

the parent company of Topco Hong 

Kong 

Purchase 306,285 41% Open account 

60 days 
〃 〃 (29,921) (64)%  

 〃 The 

Company 

Parent company Purchase 153,895 21% Open account 

105 days 
〃 〃 (6,318) (14)% Note 

 PT.Topco Shin-Etsu 

Singapore 

The parent company of Shin-Etsu 

Singapore is a corporate director of 

the parent company of PT.Topco 

Purchase 119,822 44% Open account 

30 days 
〃 〃 (7,276) (48)%  

             

Note：The aforementioned inter-company transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 

(viii) Account receivables from related parties reached $ 100 million or 20% of paid in capitals 

or more: None.     

(ix) Derivative transactions: Please refer to Note 6 (b) for related information.    

 



 

168 

 

 

(x) Business relationships and significant inter-company transactions:  

 
    Existing 

relationship 

with the 

counter-party 

(Note2) 

Transaction details 
 

No. 

(Note 1) 

Name of the 

company 

Name of the 

counter-party Account name 

No. 

(Note 1) Name of the company 

Name of the 

counter-party 

 0 The Company Topco Shanghai 1 Operating 

revenue 

 223,886 The price and credit 

term have no significant 

difference with that of 

the third parties. 

 2.57%  

 0 〃 〃 1 Account 

receivables 

 22,905  〃  0.34%  

 0 〃 Topco Guang Zhou 1 Operating 

revenue 

 42,715  〃  0.49%  

 0 〃 〃 1 Account 

receivables 

 2,109  〃  0.03%  

 0 〃 Topco Hong Kong 1 Operating 

revenue 

 153,895 〃  1.77%  

 0 〃 〃  Account 

receivables 

6,318  0.10% 

 0 〃 PT.Topco 1 Operating 

revenue 

 25,664

 

  

〃  0.29%  

 0 〃 〃 1 Account 

receivables 

 3,827  〃  0.06%  

 1 Topco Shanghai Topco Guang Zhou 3 Operating 

revenue 

 56,895  〃  0.65%  

 1 

 

2 

〃 
 

Topco Guang 

Zhou 

〃 
 

Topco Shanghai 

3 

 

3 

Account 

receivables 

Operating 

revenue 

 12,930  

 

65,921 

〃 

〃 
 0.19%  

 

0.76% 

 2 〃 〃 
 

3 Account 

receivables 

 10,507 〃  0.16%  

 
3 

Topco Hong 
Kong 

Topco Guang Zhou  3 
Operating 

revenue 
52,015 〃 

   
0.60% 

 

 
3 

〃 
 

〃 
 

3 
Account 

receivables 
5,000 〃 

 
0.08% 

 

 

3 

 
〃 
 

 
TOPCOVIETNAM 

 
3 

Operating 

revenue 
92,425 〃 

 

1.06% 

 3 〃 〃 3 Account 

receivables 

 20,734  〃  0.31%  

 4 

 

 

Topglow Topglow Shanghai 3 Operating 

revenue 

 60,359  

 

〃 
 

 0.69%  

 

 4 〃 〃 3 Account 

receivables 

 16,198  〃  0.24%  

 5 Topglow 

Shanghai 
Topglow 3 Account 

receivables 

 32,904  〃  0.38%  

Note 1: Fill in the number as the following rules: 

1. Zero represents owners of parent. 
2. Subsidiaries are numbered starting from “1”. 

Note 2: Relationships 
1. Transaction between parent company and subsidiary 
2. Transaction between subsidiary and parent company 
3. Transaction between subsidiary and subsidiary 
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(b) Information on investees：    

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the following is the information on investees 

(excluding investees in Mainland China)： 
  Foreign currency unit: in thousand 

Name of the 

investor 

Name of 

investee 

 

Major 

operations 

Initial investment 

amount Ending balance 

Maximum Balance for 

the Period 
Net income 

of the 

investees in 

current 

period 

Investment 

income 

recognized 

in current 

period 

 

Location 

Ending 

balance 

Beginning 

balance 

Shares (in 

thousands) 

Percentage 

(%) Book value 

Shares/Units 

(thousands) 

Percentage 

of 

ownership Remarks 

The Company 
Topco 

America 
Cayman 

Islands 
Holdings 

overseas 
642,120 642,120 22,260 100 3,362,930 22,260 100 248,939 248,939 Note 1, 2 and 3 

〃 Topglow Taichung 
Import and 

export trading 
82,258 82,258 9,146 65 261,327 9,146 65 23,343 15,250 Note 1, 3 

〃 
Topco 

Engineering 

Co., Ltd. 

Taipei 

 

Decorator and 

General 

Engineering 

7,000 7,000 700 70 7,449 700 70 117 82 Note 1, 3 

Topco 

America 
Topco Hong 

Kong 
Hong Kong 

Merchandising 

business of 

chemical 

material related 

products 

100,115 

(USD3,260) 

90,237 

(USD3,260) 
- 100 752,775 - 100 83,656 82,960 Note 1, 3 

Topglow Top Glory Belize 
Import and 

export trading 
1,537 1,537 50 100 22,296 50 100 (11) (11) Note 1, 3 

Topco Hong 

Kong PT. Topco Indonesia 

Merchandising 

business of 

chemical 

material related 

products 

50,672 

(USD1,650) 

34,600 

(USD1,250) 
- 100 94,837 - 100 31,600 31,600 Note 1, 3 and 4 

〃 
Topco 

Vietnam 
Vietnam 

Merchandising 

business of 

chemical 

material related 

products 

24,568 

(USD800) 

22,144 

(USD800) 
- 100 73,185 - 100 22,485 22,485 Note 1, 3 

              
Note 1: Subsidiaries with controlling power. 

Note 2: Original investment amount includes the reinvestment amount of US$ 1,600,000 with the cash dividends distributed from Topco Hong Kong. 

Note 3: The transactions on the left have been written off when preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Note 4: PT.Topco considers the requirements of Indonesia. The 0.04% shareholding in obtaining PT.Topco’s equity was held with the name of a third 

party. Topco Hong Kong signed a contract with the third party, in which the rights and obligations of the both parties are listed, to protect asset 

safety. 

Note 5: The NTD amount in this table is transformed with the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 

 

(c) Information on investment in Mainland China:   

(i) Related information of the business invested in Mainland China:   
Foreign currency unit: in thousand 

Name of the 

investee in 

Mainland China 

 

Major 

operations 

Paid-in 

capital 

Investment 

method 

Cumulative 

investment 

amount from 

Taiwan in the 

beginning of 

the period 

Current remittance/ 

recoverable 

investment (amount) 

Ending 

remittance 

balance - 

Cumulative 

investment 

(amount) from 

Taiwan 

 

Net income 

(loss) of the 

investee 

Shareholding 

ratio directly 

or indirectly 

held by the 

Company 

Maximum 

Shareholding 

ratio for the 

Period 

Investment gain 

(loss) recognized 

in the current 

period (Note 2) 

Book value 

of investment 

at end of the 

period 

Accumulated 

Inward 

Remittance 

of Earnings 

Remittance 

amount 

Recoverable 

amount 

Remittance 

amount 

Recoverable 

amount 

Topco Shanghai Merchandising 

business of 

chemical 

material related 

products 

353,165 

(USD11,500) 

(Note 4) 

Note 1 240,816

(USD8,700) 

- 

 

- 267,177 

(USD8,700) 

105,427 

(USD3,537) 

100% 100% 105,569

 (USD3,542) 

1,338,129

 (USD45,201) 

30,601 

Topco Guang Zhou 〃 353,165 

(USD11,500) 

(Note 5) 

〃 240,816

(USD8,700) 

- - 267,177 

(USD8,700) 

60,517 

(USD2,030 

100% 100% 60,410

 (USD2,027) 

1,227,085

 (USD39,957) 

Note 7 

Topglow Shanghai Import and 

export trading 

15,355 

(USD500) 

Note 6 13,840 

(USD500) 

- - 15,355 

(USD500) 

6,518 65% 65% 6,518 46,232 - 

              

Note 1：Direct investment in Mainland China with remittance through a third region. 

Note 2：Recorded per audited financial statements of the investees. 

Note 3：The NTD amount in this table is transformed with the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 

Note 4：Includes the capitalization of retained earnings of USD2,000,000 and the reinvestment of the stock dividends of USD800,000 distributed by 

Topco Hong Kong (in Hong Kong area) via the third region investment business, Topco America. 

Note 5：Includes the capitalization of retained earnings of USD2,000,000 and the reinvestment of the stock dividends of USD800,000 distributed by 

Topco Hong Kong (in Hong Kong area) via the third region investment business, Topco America.  

Note 6：The investee company of Topglow established with its own funds. 

Note 7：The boards of Topco Guang Zhou resolve to pay cash dividend CNY 8,214,000 to Topco America in November 2022.As the balance sheet date 

the inward has not completed.  

Note 8：The transactions mentioned above have been written off when preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
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(ii) Limitation on investment in Mainland China:                   Foreign currency unit: in thousand 

 

Company Name 

Accumulated balance from Taiwan 

to 

Mainland China 

Approved investment amount by 

Ministry of Economic Affairs 

Investment Commission 

Limitation on investment in Mainland China 

in accordance with regulations of Ministry of 

Economic Affairs Investment Commission 

The Company 
     534,354    

(USD 17,400) 

    583,490  
(USD 19,000) 

( Note 2) 
2,710,599 

Topglow 
15,355 

(USD 500) 

30,710 

(USD 1,000) 
240,006 

    

Note 1:The NTD amount in this table is transformed with the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 

Note 2: Includes the reinvestment of the stock dividends distributed by Topco Hong Kong (in Hong Kong area) via the third region investment 

business, Topco America. The amount for the subsidiary of subsidiary in Mainland China is USD 1,600. 

(iii) Significant transactions:   

The significant inter-company transactions with the subsidiary in Mainland China, 

which were eliminated in the preparation of consolidated financial statements, are 

disclosed in “Information on significant transactions” 
 

(d) Major shareholders: 

Shareholding 

Shareholder’s Name 
Shares Percentage 

TOPCO G & D CORP. 16,631,136 22.45% 

Note1: The table discloses shareholding information of shareholders whose shareholding percentage is more than 5%. The Taiwan Depository & Clearing 

Corporation (TDCC) calculates the total number of ordinary shares and special shares (including treasury shares) that have completed the 

dematerialized registration and delivery on the last business day of the quarter. The share capital reported in the Topco’s consolidated financial 

statements and the actual number of shares that have completed the dematerialized registration and delivery may be different due to difference in the 

basis of calculation.  

Note 2: As table above, the shareholder who delivers the shares to the trust is disclosed by the individual trustee who opened the trust account. In accordance 

with the Securities Exchange Act, the shareholders have to disclose the insider equity more than 10% of the shares, include their own shares and their 

delivery to the trust and have the right to make decisions on the trust property. Information on insider equity declaration is available on the Market 

Observation Post System website.
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(14) Segment Information   

The Group has three departments that shall be reported: Taipei Department, Overseas Department 

and Taichung Department. Taipei Department and Overseas Department are responsible for the 

merchandising business of importing and exporting chemical material related products according 

to different regions. Taichung Department is responsible for the general import and export trading 

business. 

The income or loss of the Group’s operating department is evaluated with net income before tax 

and is served as the basis for evaluating performance. The Group has not allocated assets and 

liabilities to the departments that shall be reported. For the accounting policy of the operating 

department, please refer to the illustration of Note 4. The reported amount is consistent with that 

reported by the operation decision maker. 

 

The Group’s operating segments financial information and adjustments were as follows: 

  For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
  

Taipei 

Department 

 

Overseas 

Department 

 

Taichung 

Department 

Adjustments 

and 

elimination 

 

 

Total  

 Operating revenue:                 

 Revenue from external customers $ 3,105,217   4,678,739   919,928   -   8,703,884 

 Inter-segment revenue  465,985   280,043   94,578  (840,606)   -  

  $ 3,571,202   4,958,782  1,014,506   (840,606)   8,703,884  

 Reportable segment profit (loss) $ 262,429   321,620  28,874   -   612,923  

 Reportable segment asset     $ 6,649,189  
       
       

  For the Year Ended December 31, 2021 
  

Taipei 

Department 

 

Overseas 

Department 

 

Taichung 

Department 

Adjustments 

and 

elimination 

 

 

Total  

 Operating revenue:                 

 Revenue from external customers $ 3,413,047   4,988,133   1,032,823   -   9,434,003  

 Inter-segment revenue  446,891   247,741   96,727  (791,359)   -  

  $ 3,859,938   5,235,874  1,129,550   (791,359)   9,434,003  

 Reportable segment profit (loss) $ 264,918   466,828   69,353   -   801,099  

 Reportable segment asset     $ 6,355,557  
       

 

 (a)Imformation about the products 

Imformation about the Group’s revenue from external customers for the year ened December 

31, 2022 and 2021, please refer to Note 6(s). 
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(b) Geographical information 

In presenting information on the basis of geograghy, segment revenue is based on the 

geographical location of customers and segment assets that are based on the geographical 

location of the assets. 

(i)Revenue from external customers:  

Imformation about the Group’s revenue from external customers for the year ened 

December 31, 2022 and 2021, please refer to Note 6(s).  

(ii)Non-current assets： 
 

Geograghy  
December 

31,2022 
December 

31,2021 
 

 Taiwan $ 274,298   248,111   

 Mainland China  306,533   300,706  

  $ 580,831   548,817   
     

(iii) Revenue from main customers 

Business of the Group has gained no operating income with customers with more than 

10% of the income as stated in the consolidated comprehensive profit or loss table in 

2022 and 2021. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

 

To the Board of Directors of Topco Technologies Corporation:   

 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Topco Technologies Corporation (“the Company”), which 

comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the statements of comprehensive 

income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

 

In our opinion, the accompany financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of the Company as at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and its financial performance and its cash 

flows for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 in accordance with the Regulations Governing 

the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and Certification of 

Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants, and Standards on Auditing of the Republic of 

China. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 

the company accordance with the Certified Public Accounts Code of Professional Ethics in Republic 

of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis of 

our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context 

of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 

provide a separate opinion on these matters. Key audit matters for the Company's financial statements 

are stated as follows: 

 

1. Inventory Valuation 

Please refer to Note 4 (g) Inventory of the individual financial statements for details of the 

accounting policy concerning inventory evaluation, Note 5 of the individual financial statements for 

uncertainties in the inventory valuation, and Note 6 (f) Inventory of the individual financial 

statements for the explanation of inventory. 

The Company measured the cost and net realizable value of inventory. Since the principal business 

of the Company is the import and export of chemical material-related commodities, there is a risk 

that the book value of inventory may exceed its net realizable value because of the fluctuation of the 

commodity sales price due to changes in the supply and market competition. Inventory valuation is 

therefore one of the important valuation items in our financial statement audit.  
 

How the matter is address in our audit: 

Our main audit procedures of the above-mentioned key audit matters include examining whether 

the inventory valuation policy of the Company is handled in accordance with the requirements of 

the IAS2 and concerned the impact of Covid-19 epidemic. In addition, the inventory age report is 

reviewed, the age changes of inventory of each period are checked, an interval classification test 
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of the inventory age report is performed, and a spot-check process is performed to check the sales 

prices adopted by the Company and assess the reasonableness of the net realization value of 

inventory. 
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and 

for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’ s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or 

to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance (including the Audit Committee) are responsible for overseeing the 

Company’s financial reporting process. 
 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China will always 

detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 

the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing of the Republic of China, we exercise 

professional judgment and professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 

of internal control. 

2.  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
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report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 

as a going concern.  

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

6. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the investment in 

other entities accounted for using the equity method to express an opinion on this financial 

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We 

remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 

the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 

precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 

that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 

would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

The engagement partners on the audits resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Kuan-Ying 

Kuo and Yu-Ting Hsin. 

 

KPMG 

Taipei, Taiwan(Republic of China) 

March 2, 2023 

 

 

 

 

Notes to Readers 

The accompanying financial statements are intended only to present the statements of financial position, financial 

performance and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the Republic of China and not 

those of any other jurisdictions. The standards, procedures and practices to review such financial statements are those 

generally accepted and applied in the Republic of China. 

 

The independent auditors’ report and the accompanying financial statements are the English translation of Chinese version 

prepared and used in Republic of China. If there is any conflict between, or any difference in the interpretation of English 

and Chinese language auditors’ report and financial statements, the Chinese version shall prevail. 
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(English Translation of Financial Statements and Reporting Originally Issued in Chinese) 

Topco Technologies Corporation 
Balance Sheet 

December 31, 2022 and 2021 
(EXPRESSED IN THOUSANDS OF NEW TAIWAN DOLLARS) 

 

  December 31,2022  December 31,2021   December 31, 2022 

 

 December 31, 2021 

            Assets               Amount  %  Amount  %  Liabilities and Owner’s Equity   Amount  %  Amount  % 

 Current assets:         Current liabilities:        

1100 Cash and cash equivalents (note 6(a)) $ 688,776  12   237,503  4 2100 Short-term borrowings(note6(j)) $10,000  -  $100,000  2 

1110 Current financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss (note 6(b)) 

-  -  239  - 2120 Current financial liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss (notes 6(b)) 

21  -  -  - 

1170 Notes and accounts receivable, net (note 6(d) 

and notes 6(p)) 

657,054  11  960,153  18 2170 Notes and accounts payable 20,752       -  5,869       - 

1180 Accounts receivables from related parties, net 

(notes 6(d), notes 6(p) and 7) 

42,531  1  84,817  2 2180 Notes and accounts payables - Related 

parties (note7) 

280,490  5  434,273  8 

1476 Other current financial assets (notes 6(e) and 7) 36,351  1  3,207  - 2200 Other payables and other current liability 

(note 7) 

265,368  5  341,710  7 

1300 Inventories- Merchandising (note 6(e)) 328,093  5  231,501  4 2230 Current tax liabilities 45,263  1  52,810  1 

1470 Other current assets  5,600  -  6,290  - 2130 Current contract liabilities (notes 6(p)) 5,252  -  2,786  - 

  1,758,405  30  1,523,710  28 2280 Current lease liabilities(note 6 (k) and 7) 16,803  -  11,381  - 

           643,949  11  948,829  18 

       Non-Current Assets:          Non-current liabilities:        

1510 Non-current financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss(note6(b)and6(k) 

70  -  -  - 2500 Non-current financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss (notes 6(b) and notes6(k) 

3,220  -  -  - 

1517 Non-current financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income(note 6(c))  368,914 
 

6  347,979 
 

7 
2530 Bonds payable (note 6(k)) 629,124  10  -  - 

1550 Investment using equity method (note 6(g)) 3,631,706  62  3,372,669  63 2570 Deferred tax liabilities (note 6(m)) 71,511  1  77,967  2 

1600 Property, plant and equipment (note 6(h)) 71,718  1  73,606  2 
 

2580 Non-current lease liabilities(note6(k)) 36,658  1  10,162  - 
1755 
 

Right-of-use assets (note 6(i)) 53,137 
 

 
 

1 
 

 
 

21,280 
 

 
 

- 

 

2640 Net defined benefit liability, non-current(note6(l)) -  -  1,851  - 

1840 

 

Deferred tax assets (note 6(m)) 4,647 

 

 - 

 

 3,375 

 

 - 

 

  740,513  12  89,980  2 

1900 

 

Other non-current assets 
 

7,993 

 

 -  5,782 

 

 - 

 

 Total Liability 1,384,462  23  1,038,809  20 

1975 

 

Net defined benefit asset - non-current (note6(l)) 

 

5,537  -  -  -  Equity:        

  4,143,722  70  3,824,691  72 3100 Capital stock (note 6(n)) 740,610  

 

13  740,610  

 

14 

         3200 Capital surplus (notes 6(n) and 6(o)) 1,521,003  26  1,454,075  27 

         3300 Retained earnings (note 6(n))               2,118,777  36  2,088,675  39 

         3400 Other equity interest (note 6(o)) 137,275  2  26,232  - 

          Total equity 4,517,665  77  4,309,592  80 

 
Total Assets $ 5,902,127  100   5,348,401  100  Total liabilities and equity $5,902,127  100  5,348,401  100 

 (Please see the accompanying notes to the financial statements.)
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(English Translation of Financial Statements and Reporting Originally Issued in Chinese) 

Topco Technologies Corporation 

Comprehensive Income Statement 

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except for Earnings Per Common Shares) 

 (Please see the accompanying notes to the financial statements.) 

  2022  2021 

  Amount  %  Amount  % 

4100 Operating revenue (notes 6(q) and 7) $ 3,559,733  100  3,854,538  100 

5000 Operating costs (notes 6(f) and 7) 2,882,668  81  3,089,140  80 

 Gross profit 677,065  19  765,398  20 

5910 Unrealized profit (loss) from sales (1,562)  -  844  - 

  675,503  19  766,242  20 

 Operating expenses (notes 6(d), 6(l), 6(m), 6(r), 7 and 12):        

6100 Selling expenses 241,029  7  271,826  7 

6200 Administrative expenses 202,487  6  247,418  6 

6450 Impairment loss (impairment gain and reversal of impairment 

loss) determined in accordance with IFRS 9 

 

1,533 

  

- 

  

(238) 

  

- 

  445,049  13  519,006  13 

 Net operating income 230,454  6  247,236  7 

 Non-operating income and expenses:        

7100 Interest revenue 1,355  -  119  - 

7230 Foreign exchange gains(losses) 24,631  1  102  - 

7235 Gains on financial assets (liabilities) at fair value through profit 

or loss(notes 6(k)) 

(3,785)  -  381  - 

7375 Share of income of subsidiaries, affiliates and joint ventures 

recognized by equity method 

264,271  7  387,613  10 

7510 Interest expense(notes 6(k), 6(l),7) (8,657)  -  (878)  - 

7020 Other interests and losses (note 7) 18,283  1  17,294  - 

  296,098  9  404,631  10 

7900 Income before income tax 526,552  15  651,867  17 

7950 Less: Income tax expense (note 6 (n)) 60,135  2  56,497  2 

8200 Net income $   466,417  13    595,370  15 

8300 Other comprehensive income :        

8310 Components of other comprehensive income that will not be 

reclassified to profit or loss 

       

8311 Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (note 6 (m)) 8,051  -  (1,014)  - 

8316 Unrealized gains (losses) from investments in equity 

instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive 

income 

20,935  1  53,006  2 

8349 Less: Income tax related to components of other comprehensive 

income that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  

-  -  -  - 

  28,986  1  51,992  2 

8360 Components of other comprehensive income that will be 

reclassified to profit or loss 

       

8361 Exchange differences on translation of financial statements  88,303  2  (24,594)  (1) 

8380 Shares of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries, 

associates and joint ventures accounted for using equity method 

1,805  -  (522)  - 

8399 Less: Income tax related to components of other comprehensive 

income that will be reclassified to profit or loss 

-  -  -  - 

  90,108  2  (25,116)  (1) 

8300 Total other comprehensive income 119,094  3  26,876  1 

8500 Total comprehensive income $   585,511  16    622,246  16 

 Earnings per share (in dollars),(note 6 (p))：        

9750 Basic earnings per share  $      6.30         8.04   

9850 Diluted earnings per share  $      6.24         7.96   
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Topco Technologies Corporation 

Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 
(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 
      

Retained earnings  Other Equity 

 

 Capital  

Capital 

surplus  

legal 

reserve 

 

Special 

reserve 

 

Unappropriated 

retained 

earnings 

 

Total 

 

Exchange 

differences 

on 

translation 

of foreign 

financial 

statements 

 Unrealized 

gains (losses) on 

financial assets 

measured at fair 

value through 

other 

comprehensive 

income 

 

Total other 

equity 

interests 

 

Total 

equity 

Balance on January 1, 2021  $740,610  1,454,075  615,254  89,338  1,108,189  1,812,781  (180,077)  178,419  (1,658)  4,005,808 

Appropriation of earnings:                     

Legal reserve  -  -  39,404  -  (39,404)  -  -  -  -  - 

Special reserve  -  -  -  (82,975)  82,975  -  -  -  -  - 

Cash dividends on common stock  -  -      (318,462)  (318,462)  -  -  -  (318,462) 

  740,610  1,454,075  654,658  6,363  833,298  1,494,319  (180,077)  178,419  (1,658)  3,687,346 

Net income  -  -  -  -  595,370  595,370  -  -  -  595,370 

Other comprehensive income (loss)  -  -  -  -  (1,014)  (1,014)  (25,116)  53,006  27,890  26,876 

Total comprehensive income   -  -  -  -  594,356  594,356  (25,116)  53,006  27,890  622,246 

Balance on December 31,2021  $740,610  1,454,075  654,658  6,363  1,427,654  2,088,675  (205,193)  231,425  26,232  4,309,592 

Appropriation and distribution of earnings:                     

Legal reserve  -  -  59.435  -  (59,435)  -  -  -  -  - 

Cash dividends on common stock  -  -      (444,366)  (444,366)  -  -  -  (444,366) 

  740,610  1,454,075  714,093  6,363  923,853  1,644,309  (205,193)  231,425  26,232  3,865,226 

Issuance of convertible bonds  -  66,928  -  -  --  -  -  -  -  66,928 

Net income  -  -  -  -  466,417  466,417  -  -  -  466,417 

Other comprehensive income   -  -  -  -  8,051  8,051  90,108  20,935  111,043  119,094 

Total comprehensive income   -  -  -  -  474,468  474,468  90,108  20,935  111,043  585,511 

Balance on December 31,2022  $740,610  1,521,003  714,093  6,363  1,398,321  2,118,777  (115,085)  252,360  137,275  4,517,665 

 

 (Please see the accompanying notes to the financial statements.)
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 (English Translation of Financial Statements and Reporting Originally Issued in Chinese) 

Topco Technologies Corporation 

Statement of Cash Flows 

For the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 
(Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 
 2022  2021 

Cash flows from operating activities:    

Income before income tax $ 526,552  $ 651,867 

Adjustments :    

Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss)    

Depreciation expense 20,475  20,006 

Amortization expense 168  796 

Expected credit loss (gain) / Provision (reversal of provision) for bad debt expense 1,533  (238) 

Net loss (gain) on financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (650)  (209) 

Interest revenue (1,355)  (119) 

Interest expense 8,657  878 

Share of loss (profit) of associates and joint ventures accounted for using equity 

method 

(264,271)  (387,613) 

(Unrealized) profit (loss) from sales 1,562  (844) 

Others 98  (11) 

Total adjustments to reconcile profit (loss) (233,783)  (367,354) 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:    

Change in operating assets:    

Decrease (increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss -  17 

Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable (including related parties) 343,852  (323,674) 

Decrease (increase) in other financial assets 2,597  113 

Decrease (increase) in inventory (96,592)  (70,107) 

Decrease (increase) in other current assets 690  911 

Others 663  697 

 251,210  (392,043) 

Change in operating liabilities:    

Increase (decrease) in notes and accounts payable (including related parties) (138,900)  95,041 

Increase (decrease) in other accounts payable and other current liabilities (76,342)  105,232 

Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities-current 2,466  (222) 

 (212,776)  200,051 

Total change in operating assets and liabilities 38,434  (191,992) 

Total adjustments (195,349)  (559,346) 

Cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 331,203  92,521 

Interests received 1,355  119 

Dividends received 58,039  27,439 

Interests paid (6,345)  (878) 

Income tax paid (75,410)  (30,816) 

Net cash inflows (used in) from operating activities 308,842  88,385 

Cash flows from (used in) investment activities:    

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (80)  (2,020) 

Decrease (increase) in guarantee deposits (11)  3 

Acquisition of intangible assets (2,038)  (849) 

Increase in other non-current asset (439)  - 

Net cash inflows (used in) from investment activities (2,568)  (2,866) 

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities:    

Increase(decrease) in short-term borrowings (90,000)  100,000 

Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds 697,800  - 

Payments of lease liabilities (18,435)  (17,248) 

Distribution of cash dividend (444,366)  (318,462) 

Net cash flows from financing activities 1,444,999  (235,710) 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the period 451,273  (150,191) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 237,503  387,694 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period $688,776  $237,503 

 

 (Please see the accompanying notes to the financial statements.)
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(English Translation of Financial Statements and Report Originally Issued in Chinese) 

Topco Technologies Corporation 

Notes to Financial Statements  

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

 (Expressed in Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Unless Otherwise Specified) 

 

(1) Company history 

Topco Technologies Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated in February 1994, as a company 

limited by shares under the law of Republic of China(R.O.C) . Its register address is 14F., No.102, 

Sec. 4, Civic Blvd., Da’an Dist., Taipei City 106, Taiwan (R.O.C.). The main operating items of 

the Company is import and export business of products related to chemical materials and business 

of general trading activities. 

(2) Approval date and procedures of the financial statements  

The accompanying parent company only financial statements were authorized for issuance by the 

Board of Directors on March 2, 2023. 

(3) New standards, amendments and interpretations   

(a) The impact of the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) endorsed by the 

Financial Supervisory Commission, R.O.C. which have already been adopted. 

The Group has initially adopted the new amendments, which do not have a significant 

impact on its consolidated financial statements, from January 1, 2022： 

– Amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment- Proceeds before Intended Use” 

– Amendments to IAS 37 “Onerous Contracts- Cost of Fulfilling a Contract” 

– Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 

– Amendments to IFRS 3 “Reference to the Conceptual Framework” 

(b) The impact of IFRS issued by the FSC but not yet effective 

The Group assesses that the adoption of the following new amendments, effective for annual 

period beginning on January 1, 2023, would not have a significant impact on its financial 

statements: 

– Amendments to IAS 1 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies” 

– Amendments to IAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates” 

– Amendments to IAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 

Single Transaction” 
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 (c) The impact of IFRS issued by IASB but not yet endorsed by the FSC 

The following new and amended standards, which may be relevant to the Company, have been 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), but have yet to be endorsed by 

the FSC: 

 

 Standards or 

Interpretations 

 

Content of amendment 

 Effective date 

per IASB 

 Amendments to IAS 

1 “Classification of 

Liabilities as 

Current or 

Non-current”  
 

 Under existing IAS 1 requirements, 

companies classify a liability as 

current when they do not have an 

unconditional right to defer 

settlement for at least 12 months 

after the reporting date. The 

amendments has removed the 

requirement for a right to be 

unconditional and instead now 

requires that a right to defer 

settlement must exist at the reporting 

date and have substance. 

The amendments clarify how a 

company classifies a liability that 

can be settled in its own shares – 

e.g. convertible debt. 

 January 1, 2024 

 Amendments to IAS 

1 “Non-current 

Liabilities with 

Covenants” 

 

 After reconsidering certain aspects of 

the 2020 amendments1, new IAS 1 

amendments clarify that only 

covenants with which a company 

must comply on or before the 

reporting date affect the 

classification of a liability as current 

or non-current. 

Covenants with which the company 

must comply after the reporting 

date (i.e. future covenants) do not 

affect a liability’s classification at 

that date. However, when 

non-current liabilities are subject to 

future covenants, companies will 

now need to disclose information 

to help users understand the risk 

that those liabilities could become 

repayable within 12 months after 

the reporting date. 

 

 January 1, 2024 
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The Group is evaluating the impact of its initial adoption of the abovementioned standards or 

interpretations on its financial position and financial performance. The results thereof will be 

disclosed when the Group completes its evaluation. 

The Group does not expect the following new and amended standards, which have yet to be 

endorsed by the FSC, to have a significant impact on its financial statements: 

– Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 “Sale or Contribution of Assets Between an Investor and 

Its Associate or Joint Venture” 

– IFRS 17 “ Insurance Contracts” and amendments to IFRS 17 “ Insurance Contracts” 

– Amendments to IFRS 17 “Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – Comparative 

Information “ 

– Amendments to IFRS 16, “Requirements for Sale and Leaseback Transactions” 

(4) Summary of significant accounting policies  

The significant accounting policies presented in the financial statements are summarized as 

follows. And the accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 

these financial statements.   

(a) Statement of compliance    

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 

Guidelines Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers. 

(b) Basis of preparation    

(i) Basis of measurement 

Except for the following significant accounts, the consolidated financial statements have 

been prepared on a historical cost basis: 

1) Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value 

2) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are measured at fair 

value; 

3) The defined benefit liabilities (assets) are measured at fair value of the plan assets less 

the present value of the defined benefit obligation, limited as explained in Note 4(n). 

(ii) Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of the Company is determined based on the primary economic 

environment in which the entities operate. The consolidated financial statements are 

presentfed in New Taiwan Dollar, which is the Company’s functional currency. All 

financial information presented in New Taiwan Dollar has been rounded to the nearest 

thousand. 

(c) Foreign currency    

(i) Foreign currency transaction 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currency of 
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the Company at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each 

subsequent reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 

translated into the functional currencies using the exchange rate at that date. 

Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 

translated into the functional currencies using the exchange rate at the date that the fair 

value was determined. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are 

measured based on historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 

transaction. 

 (ii) Foreign operating institutions 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value 

adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated into the presentation currency at the 

exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operationsare 

translated into the presentation currency at the average exchange rate. Exchange 

differences are recognized in other comprehensive income 

When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control the cumulative amount in the 

translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of 

the gain or loss on disposal. When the Company disposes of any part of its interest in a 

subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, the relevant proportion 

of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interest. When the Company 

disposes of only part of investment in an associate of joint venture that includes a foreign 

operation while retaining significant or joint control, the relevant proportion of the 

cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. 

When the settlement of a monetary receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is 

neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, Exchange differences arising 

from such a monetary item that are considered to form part of the net investment in the 

foreign operation are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

(d) Classification standard of current and non-current assets and liabilities   

An asset is classified as current under any one of the following conditions. All other assets 

are classified as non-current: 

i. It is expected to be realized the assets, or intended to be sold or consumed, in the normal 

operating cycle; 

ii. It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

iii. It is expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

iv. The asset is cash and cash equivalent unless the asset is restricted from being exchanged or 

used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the balance sheet date.  
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A liability is classified as current under any one of the following conditions. All other 

liabilities are classified as non-current. 

i. The liability is expected to be settled during the Company’s normal operating cycle; 

ii. The liability is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

iii. The liability is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

vi. The Company does not have any unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 

at least twelve months after the reporting period. Terms of a liability that could, at the 

option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by issuing equity instruments do not 

affect its classification. 

(e) Cash and cash equivalents   

Cash comprises cash on hand and cash in bank. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly 

liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Time deposits are held for the purpose of 

meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes are 

classified under cash equivalents. 

(f) Financial Instruments    

Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognized when they are originated. 

All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized when the Group 

becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A financial asset (unless it is 

a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially 

measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), 

transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable 

without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 

(1) Financial assets 

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized 

on a trade date basis. 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortized cost; 

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – debt investment; 

FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL. Financial assets are not reclassified 

subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model for 

managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified 

on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business 

model. 

(i) Finacial asset measured at amortised cost 

A finacial asset is measured at cost if meets both of the following conditions and is not 

designated as at FVTPL： 
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‧The financial asset is held under the business mode targeted at receiving contractual 

cash flows. 

‧All cash flows of specific date generated by the contract provisions of the financial 

asset are for paying the principal and interest of outstanding principal 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost, which is the amount at which 

the financial asset is measured at initial recognition, plus/minus, the cumulative 

amortization using the effective interest method, adjusted for any loss allowance. 

Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses, as well as impairment, are 

recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in profit or 

loss. 

(ii) Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions 

and is not designated as at FVTPL:  

‧it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and  

‧its contractual terms give rise on specific dates to cash flows that are soley payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may 

irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in othe 

comprehensive income. This election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis.  

Debt investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income 

calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and 

impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized in 

other comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other 

comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.  

Equity investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are 

recognized as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery 

of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized in other 

comprehensive income and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 

Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss on the date on which the Group’s right to 

receive payment is established. 

(iii) Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

All financial assets not classified as amortized cost or FVOCI described as above are 

measured at FVTPL, including derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the 

Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset, which meets the requirements to be 

measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI, as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
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These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including 

any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. 

(iv) Business model assessment 

The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a 

financial asset is held at portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business 

is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered 

includes:  

‧The policy and goal of the mentioned investment portfolio and the operation of the 

policy. These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual 

interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of 

the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows 

or realizing cash flows through the sale of the assets; 

‧The performance of the operation mode and how to evaluate the financial assets held 

under the operation mode, and how to report to the business’ major management 

personnel. 

‧The risk affecting the performance of the operation mode (and the financial assets held 

under the operation mode) and the management approach of the risk; 

‧The frequency, dollar amount and time point of selling the financial assets in each of 

the previous period, the reasons for the sale and the expectation of future selling 

activities. 

According to the above-mentioned operation goal, if the transaction of transferring 

the financial asset to the third party does not meet the criteria of derecognition, then 

they are do not belong to the sales mentioned above. This is consistent with the 

Company’s aim of continuing recognizing the asset. 

Financial assets held for trading and financial assets managed and evaluated based on 

fair value are evaluated at fair value through income or loss. 

(v) Assessment whether contractual cash flows are soley payment of principal and interests 

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the 

financial assets on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time 

value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding 

during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as 

a profit margin. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and 

interest, the Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes 

assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the 

timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. 

In making this assessment, the Company considers: 

 contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows； 
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 terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable rate features； 

 prepayment and extension features；and 

 terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets（e.g. 

non-recourse features）. 

(vi) Impairment of financial assets 

The Company recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on 

financial assets measured at amortized cost (including cash and cash equivalent, 

financial assets evaluated at amortized cost, note and trade receivables, other 

receivables, refundable deposits and other financial assets, etc.), debt instrument 

investments evaluated at fair value through other comprehensive income and contract 

assets. 

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 

loss (ECL), except for the following which are measured as 12-month ECL: 

‧Determining that the credit risk of the debt security is low on the reporting day; and 

‧The credit risk of other debt securities, other receivable and bank deposits (i.e., the 

default risk of the financial instrument during its expected lifetime) has not 

significantly increased since initial recognition. 

The loss allowance of account receivables and contract assets are measured at an 

amount equal to lifetime ECL. 

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the 

expected life of a financial instrument. 

 

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are 

possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or in a shorter period if the 

expected lifetime of the instrument is less than 12 months). 
 
The maximum period considered when eatimating ECLs is the maximum contractual 

period over which the Company is exposed in credit risk.  
 

When determining whether credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly 

since initial recognition and when eatimating ECL, the Company considers 

reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue 

cost or effort. This includes both qualitative and quantitative information and the 

analysis based on the Company’s historical experience and informed credit 

assessment as well as forward-looking information.  

 

If the credit risk of the financial instrument is equivalent to the global definition of 

“investment grade” (which is, or higher than, the BBB- rating of S&P, the Baa3 
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rating of Moody’s or the twA rating of Taiwan Ratings), the Company regards the 

debt security as having low credit risk. 

 

Since for the time deposits and other receivables held by the Company, the 

transaction parties and obligation fulfilling places are the financial institutions with 

ratings above the investment grade, they are regarded as having low credit risk. 

 

If the contract payment is more than 30 days past due, the Company would assume 

the credit risk of the financial asset has significantly increased. 

 

If the contract payment is more than 360 days past due, or if the borrower is not very 

likely to fulfill its obligation by paying the full amount to the Company, the Company 

would regard the financial asset as default.  
 

ELCs are the probability weighted estimate of credit loss. Credit losses are measured 

as the present value of all cash shortfalls. That is, it is the difference between the cash 

flows due to the Company in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the 

Company expects to receive. ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the 

financial asset.  
 
At each repotind date, the Company accesses whether the financial assets carried at 

amortized cost are credit-impairmed. A financial asset is ‘credit-impairmed’ when 

one or more events that have a determental impact on the estimated future cash flows 

of the financial asset have occurred.  

The evidence that the financial asset has realized credit-impairmened includes the 

observable data related to the following items:  

‧Significant financial difficulties of the borrower or the issuer; 

‧Default, such as delay or overdue over 360 days; 

‧Due to the economic or contractual reason related to the borrower’s financial 

difficulties, the Company gives the borrower concession that it would not consider 

originally; 

‧The borrower is very likely to file for bankruptcy or engage in other financial 

restructurings; or 

‧The active market for the financial asset has disappeared due to financial difficulties. 

The asset loss allowance evaluated at amortized cost is deducted from the book value of 

the asset. The loss allowance or reversed amount is recognized in the income statement. 

For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is recognized in other comprehensive 

income instead of reducing the carring amounts of the assets.   

The gross carring amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to 
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the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when 

the Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that 

could generate sufficient cach flows to repay amounts subject to the write-off.However, 

financial assets that are writen off still be subject enforcement activities in order to 

comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.  

(vii) Derecognition of financial assets 

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash 

flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the 

contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Company 

neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and 

it does not retain control of the financial asset.  

The Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized in its 

statement of balance sheet, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and 

rewards of the transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred assets are not 

derecognized. 

 (2) Financial liabilities and equity instruments 

 (i) Classification of debt or equity 

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Company are classified as financial 

liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements 

and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. 

          (ii) Equity transaction 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences residual interest in the assets of an 

entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued are recognized as 

the amount of consideration received, less the direct cost of issuing. 

(iii) Compound financial instruments 

Compound financial instruments issued by the Company comprise convertible bonds 

denominated in NTD that can be converted to ordinary shares at the option of the 

holder, when the number of shares to be issued is fixed and does not vary with 

changes in fair value. 

The liability component of compound financial instruments is initially recognized at 

the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The 

equity component is initially recognized at the difference between the fair value of the 

compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of the liability component. 
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Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity 

components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial 

instrument is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The 

equity component of a compound financial instrument is not remeasured. 

Interest related to the financial liability is recognized in profit or loss. On conversion at 

maturity, the financial liability is reclassified to equity and no gain or loss is 

recognized. 
  

(iv) Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. A financial 

liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative 

or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are 

measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are 

recognized in profit or loss. 

         (v) Derecognition of financial liabilities 

   The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 

discharged or cancelled, or expire. The Company also derecognizes a financial liability 

when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are 

substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified 

terms is recognized at fair value.  

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount of 

a financial liability extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash 

assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognized in profit or loss. 

         (vi) Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the 

statement of balance sheet when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally 

enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis 

or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
  

(3) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 

The Company holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency and 

interest rate exposures. Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are 

generally recognized in profit or loss.When the fair value of derivative instrument is 

positive, it is classified as a financial asset; otherwise, it is classified as a financial 

liability.  
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 (g) Inventories   

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories 

is based on the weighted average method, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the 

inventories, and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and 

condition.  

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 

estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. 

 (h) Investment in Associates   

The Company accounts the investee companies that it possesses control using the equity. Net 

income, other comprehensive income, and shareholder’ s equity in the financial reports of the 

Company and the net income, other comprehensive income, and shareholder’s equity that 

belongs to the Consolidated Company in the consolidated financial reports should be the 

same.  

The Company accounts the changes in equity, under the condition that control is still present, 

as equity transactions between the proprietors. 

(i) Property, Plant, and Equipment   

(i) Recognition and measurement 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, 

they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and 

equipment.  

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in 

profit or loss. 

(ii) Subsequent expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic 

benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Company. 

(iii) Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated on the cost of an asset less its residual value and is recognized 

in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 

component of an item of property, plant and equipment. 

Land is not depreciated. 

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and 

comparative periods are as follows: 

1) Buildings：39 years 

2) Machine and equipment：5 years 

3) Furniture, fixtures and other equipment：2~5 years 
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Depreciation methods, useful lives, and residual values are reviewed at each reporting 

date. If expectation differs from the previous estimates, the change is accounted for as 

a change in an accounting estimate. 

(j) Leases    

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. 

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 

identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

(i) As a leasee 

The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease 

commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises 

the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the 

commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to 

dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on 

which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 

commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the 

end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 

impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are 

not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, 

if that rate cannot be reliably determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. 

Generally, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

(1) fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 

(2) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the 

index or rate as at the commencement date; 

(3) amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 

(4) payments for purchase or termination options that are reasonably certain to be exercised. 

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is 

remeasured when:  

(1) there is a change in future lease payments arising from the change in an index or rate; or 

(2) there is a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under 

a residual value guarantee; or 

(3) there is a change in the lease term resulting from a change of its assessment on whether it 

will exercise an option to purchase the underlying asset, or 
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(4) there is a change of its assessment on whether it will exercise a extension or termination 

option; or there is any lease modifications 

(5) there is any lease modification 

When the lease liability is remeasured, other than lease modifications, a corresponding 

adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or in profit and loss if 

the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

When the lease liability is remeasured to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease 

for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease, the Company accounts for the 

remeasurement of the lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-use 

asset to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease, and recognize in profit or loss any 

gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of the lease. 

The Company presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment and 

lease liabilities as a separate line item respectively in the statement of financial position. 

The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 

short-term leases of warehouse, multi-function printer and company car that have a lease 

term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognizes the lease 

payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 

term. 

As a practical expedient, the Company elects not to assess whether all rent concessions that 

meets all the following conditions are lease modifications or not:   

(1) the rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic; 

(2) the change in lease payments that resulted in revised consideration for the lease that is 

substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately 

preceding the change; 

(3) any reduction in lease payments that affects only those payments originally due on, or 

before, June 30, 2022; and 

(4) there is no substantive change in other terms and conditions of the lease. 

In accordance with the practical expedient, the effect of the change in the lease liability is 

reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the rent 

concession occurs. 

(k) Intangible Assets    

(i) Recognition and measurement 

The expense of capitalized stage of development is the cost of which deducted by 

accumulated amortization and cumulative impairment. 

        (ii) Subsequent Expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic 
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benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditures, 

including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, are recognized in 

profit or loss as incurred.  
 

(iii) Amortization 

Amortization is calculated over the cost of the asset, less its residual value, and is 

recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 

intangible assets from the date that they are available for use. 

The cost of the Group’s main intangible asset, computer software, is estimated to have 

a durability of 1~5 years based on straight-line amortization since it is first available 

for use. The amortized value is recognized as profit or loss. 
 

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting 

date and adjusted if appropriate. 
 

(l) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets   

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets 

(other than inventories, deferred tax assets and employee benefits assets) to determine whether 

there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 

amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. 

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 

generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of 

other assets or CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or 

groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 

less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 

value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 

recoverable amount. 

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the 

carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying 

amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss 

is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment 

loss had been recognized. 
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 (m) Revenue   

(i) Revenue from customer’s contract  

Revenue is measured basing on the consideration to which the Company expected to be 

entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The Company 

recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performace obligation by transferring control of a 

good or service to a customer. The accounting policies to the Company’s main types of 

the revenue are explained below: 

1) Sale of goods 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable less 

estimated returns, trade discounts, and volume allowances. Our company recognizes 

revenue when persuasive evidence exists (usually by signing the sales agreement), when 

the significant risk and reward in the ownership of goods are transferred to the buyer, 

when the amount is very likely to be recovered, when the transaction-related cost and 

return of goods that has occurred or is about to occur can be reliably measured, when 

our company neither continues to participate in the management nor maintains effective 

control on the goods sold, and when the revenue can be reliably measured. If the 

discount is very likely to occur and the amount can be reliably measured, it is treated as 

a contra item of revenue and recognized when the sale is recognized. 

The timing of transferring the risk and reward depends on individual conditions of the 

sales contract. 

2) Commissions income 

When the Company serves as the agent but not the principal, revenue is recognized at 

the net commission received. 

3) Financing component 

The Company does not expect to have almost contracts where the period btween the 

transfer of the promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer 

exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Company does not adjust any of the 

transaction prices for the time value of money. 

 (n) Employee Benefits   

(i) Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an 

expense in profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees. 
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(ii) Defined benefit plans 

The Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately 

for each the plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned 

in the current and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of 

any plan assets. 

The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified 

actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential 

asset for the Company, the recognized asset is limited to the present value of economic 

benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future 

contributions to the plan. To calculate the present value of economic benefits, 

consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements. 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and 

losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if 

any, excluding interest), are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income, 

and accumulated in retained earnings within equity. The Company determines the net 

interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by 

applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the 

beginning of the annual period to the then-net defined benefit liability (asset). Net 

interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognized in 

profit or loss. 

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change 

in benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognized 

immediately in profit or loss. The Company recognizes gains and losses on the 

settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. 

(iii) Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are expensed as the related service is provided. 

If the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a 

result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated 

reliably. 

(o) Income Taxes 

Income taxes comprise current taxes and deferred taxes. Except for expenses related to 

business combinations or recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive income, all 

current and deferred taxes shall be recognized in profit or loss. 

The Group has determined that interest and penalties related to income taxes, including 

uncertain tax treatment, do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accounted 

for them under IAS37. 
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Current taxescomprise the expected tax payables or receivables on the taxable profits (losses) 

for the year and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. 

The amount of current tax payables or receivables are the best estimate of the tax amount 

expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is 

measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred taxes arise due to temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their respective tax bases. Deferred taxes are 

recognized except for the following: 

(i) Assets and liabilities that are initially recognized but are not related to the business 

combination and have no effect on net income or taxable gains (losses) during the 

transaction. 

(ii) Temporary differences arising from equity investments in subsidiaries or joint ventures 

where there is a high probability that such temporary differences will not reverse. 

(iii) Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred taxes are measured at tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 

differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date, and reflect uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities may be offset against each other if the following criteria 

are met: 

(i) The entity has the legal right to settle tax assets and liabilities on a net basis; and 

(ii) The taxing of deferred tax assets and liabilities fulfill one of the below scenarios: 

(1) the same taxable entity; or 

(2) different taxable entities which intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a 

net basis, or to realize the assets and liabilities simultaneously, in each future period 

in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be 

settled or recovered. 

The undistributed surplus profit-making income tax portion and is recognized as the income 

tax expense for the current period after the shareholders' meeting of the next year passes the 

surplus distribution. 

 (p) Earnings per Share   

The Company discloses the Company’s basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to 

ordinary equity holders of the Company. The calculation of basic earnings per share is based 

on the profit attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the Company divided by the 

weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding. The calculation of diluted earnings 

per share is based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company, divided 
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by the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for the 

effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, such as convertible bonds and accrued 

employee compensation.  

(q) Operating segments   

The Company discloses its information on operating segments in its consolidated financial 

statements, so it need not disclose such information in the parent company only financial 

statements. 

(5) Significant accounting assumptions and judgments, and major sources of estimates 

uncertainty    

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgments, estimates, and 

assumptions that affect the application of the accounting policies and the reported amount of 

assets, liabilities, income, and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The management continues to monitor the accounting estimates and assumptions. The 

management recognizes any changes in accounting estimates during the period and the impact of 

those changes in accounting estimates in the next period. 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of 

resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 

financial year is as follows. Those assumptions and estimation have been updated to reflect the 

impact of COVID-19 pandemic: 

(a) Valuation of inventories： 

As inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value and evaluation is based 

on an estimated future sales price, and therefore is subject to change due to changes in the 

industry and in the market. Please refer to Note 6(f) for further details on stock evaluation. 

(6) Explanations on significant accounts     

(a) Cash and cash equivalent   

  
December 31, 

 2022 
December 31, 

 2021 

 Petty cash and cash on hand $        289   396  

 Demand and check deposits       627,127   237,107 

 Short-term notes        61,360              - 

  $     688,776         237,503  

Please refer to Note 6(r) for the disclosure on the foreign exchange rate risk and sensitivity 

analysis of the financial assets. 

(b) Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss   

1. Details of financial assets and liabilities are as follows: 
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 December 31, 

 2022 
December 31, 

 2021 

Current Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 

mandatorily measured at fair value: 
      

Derivatives instruments not used for hedging:           

Foreign currency forward contracts $ -  239  

Non-Current Financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss, mandatorily measured at fair value: 

 

 

 

Derivatives instruments not used for hedging:   

Convertible bonds embedded options $ 70  -  

Current Held-for-trading financial liabilities:   

Derivatives instruments not used for hedging:   

Foreign currency forward contracts $ 21  -  

Non-Current Financial liabilities designated at fair value 

through profit or loss: 

  

  Convertible bonds embedded options $ 3,220  -  

 

The Company uses derivatives financial instruments to hedge the certain foreign exchange 

rate risk and interest rate risk the Company is exposed to, arising from its operating, 

financing and investing activities. The details of the derivatives financial instruments that are 

not recognized and reported as held-for-trading financial assets and liabilities since the 

Company is not applicable to hedge accounting are as follows.  

Foreign currency forward contracts: 
Foreign currency unit: in thousands 

 
 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

 
 Contract 

amount 

 

Currency 

Expiry 

duration 

Contract 

amount 

 

Currency  

Expiry 

duration 

 Derivative financial 

assets: 
      

 Forward foreign 

exchange sold 
   USD1,600 NTD/USD  2022.1.7~ 

2022.1.28  

 Derivative financial 

liabilities: 

      

  Forward foreign 

exchange sold  

USD500 NTD/USD  2023.1.6~ 

2023.1.19  

   

 

On December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company’s financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss were not pledged as collateral. 
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(c) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income   

   December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 
 
Equity investments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 

      

 Domestic non-listed companies $ 368,914  347,979  

    

The Company designated the investments shown above as equity securities as at fair value 

through other comprehensive income because these equity securities represent those 

investments that the Company intends to hold for long-term strategic purpose. 

No strategic investments were disposesd as of December 31, 2022, and there were no 

transfers of any cumulative gain or loss within equity relating to these investments 

For market risk, please refer to Note 6(s). 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income were not pledged. 

(d) Notes and accounts receivable   

  December 31, 

2022 

December 

31, 2021 

 Note receivables - measured at amortized cost $ 57,935  72,793 

 Account receivables - measured at amortized cost  601,022  887,730  

 Notes and accounts receivable - related parties - 

measured at amortized cost  42,531  84,817  

   701,488  1,045,340  

 Less: Loss allowance  (1,903)  (370)  

  $ 699,585  1,044,970  

 Notes and accounts receivable, net $ 657,054  960,153  

 Notes and accounts receivable - related parties, net $ 42,531  84,817  

    

The Company adopts a simplified approach to estimate expected credit loss regarding all 

notes and accounts receivable on December 31, 2022. Namely, the lifetime expected credit 

loss for measurement is used. For measurement purposes, notes and accounts receivable are 

grouped by mutual credit risk characteristics, including each customer’s ability to repay 

according to the contract provisions, as well as forward-looking information such as 

macroeconomic and industry prospects. The loss allowance provision as of December 31, 

2022 was determined as follows: 
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  December 31, 2022 

  

 Credit rating 

Book value of 
notes and 
accounts 

receivable 

Weighted- 
average 

expected loss 
rate 

Allowance for 
lifetime 

expected credit 
loss Expected loss 

 Level A $ 138,205 0.08%  110 N 

 Level B  563,283 0.32%  1,793 N 

  $ 701,488   1,903  

  December 31, 2021 

  

Credit rating 

Book value of 
notes and 
accounts 

receivable 

Weighted- 
average 

expected loss 
rate 

Allowance for 
lifetime 

expected credit 
loss Expected loss 

 Level A $ 313,394  0.03%  99  N 

 Level B  731,946 0.04%  271 N 

  $ 1,045,340    370   

    

The aging analysis for notes and account receivable were as follows: 

  For theYears Ended December 31 
  2022 2021 

 Current $ 666,088  1,041,454 

 Within 30 days past due  35,252  3,862 

 31 to 180 days past due  148  24 

  $ 701,488  1,045,340 

The movement in the allowance for nots and account receivable were as follows: 

  
For the years ended December 31 

  
2022 2021 

 Balance on January 1, $         370            608  

 Impairment loss recognized         1,533            (238) 

 Balance on December 31 $       1,903  $          370 

 

On December 31, 2022 and 2021, the notes and accounts receivable were not pledged. 

The credit risk of the notes and accounts receivable on December 31, 2022 and 2021, 

please refer to Note 6(s). 
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(e) Other receivables   
 

 

December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 
 Other receivables  

(reported other current financial assets) $ 36,351  3,207  

 
Less: Loss allowance  -   -  

  $ 36,351  3,207 

For the credit risk, please refer to Note 6(s) 

(f) Inventory   
 

  
December 31, 

2022 
December 31, 

2021 
 
Products 

$ 328,093  231,501  

    

Products incurred loss of the Company in 2022and 2021 are as follows: 
 

  For the years ended December 31 
  2022 2021 

 Losses(Gains) on inventory valuation $ 4,407 $ 484  

 Inventory profit or loss  43  43 

 Losses on inventory obsolescence            899           904 

  $   5,349 $   1,431  
    

From the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, inventory was written off to net 

realizable value. The inventory valuation loss were $4,407 and $484. This was recognized as 

operating costs.  

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the inventory was not pledged. 

 (g) Investments accounted for using equity method   

The components of the investments accounted for using equity method were as follows: 

  December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

 Subsidiaries $ 3,631,706  3,372,669  
    

1) Please refer to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 

2022. 

2) As of December 31, 2022 and 2021 the investment in aforementioned equity-accounted 

investees were not pledged as collateral. 
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(h) Property, plant, and equipment   

The movements of cost and accumulated depreciation and impairments of property, plant and 

equipment of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2021and 2020 were as follows: 

   

 

Land 

Buildings 

and 

structures 

Machinery 

and 

equipment 

Office 

equipment 

and others 

 

 

Total 

 Book value:                

  Blance at January 1, 2022 $ 56,746   38,906   3,184   16,723   115,559  

  Additions  -   -   -  80  80 

 Disposal  -   -   - 
 

 -   -  
 

 -   -  
 

    (2,610)     (2,610) 

  Blance at December 31, 2022 $ 56,746   38,906   3,184   14,193  113,029 

  Blance at January 1, 2021 $ 56,746   38,906   2,160   15,727   113,539  

  Additions  -   -   1,024   996   2,020 

  Blance at December 31, 2021 $ 56,746   38,906   3,184   16,723   115,559 

 Depreciation and impairment 

losses: 

               

  Blance at January 1, 2022 $ 4,020   21,161   1,358   15,414   41,953  

  Depreciation for the period  -   973  498  497  1,968 

 Disposal  -   -   -      (2,610)     (2,610) 

  Blance at December 31, 2022 $ 4,020   22,134  1,856  13,301  41,311 

  Blance at January 1, 2021 $ 4,020   20,189   950   13,946   39,105  

  Depreciation for the period  -   972   408   1,468   2,848  

  Blance at December 31, 2021 $ 4,020   21,161   1,358   15,414   41,953  

 Book values:                

  Blance at December 31, 2022 $ 52,726   16,772  1,328  892  71,718 

  Blance at January 1, 2021 $ 52,726   18,717   1,210  1,781   74,434  

  Blance at December 31, 2021 $ 52,726   17,745  1,826  1,309   73,606  

       

 As of December 31, 2022 and 2021 the property, plant, and equipment were not pledged 

as collateral. 
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(i) Right-of-use assets   

Information about leases for which the Group as a lessee is presented below: 
 

  

Buildings and 

structures 

Delivery 

equipment Total 

 Right-of-use assets cost：          

  Balance at January 1, 2022 $      22,279  40,833  63,112  

  Acquisitions  31,831   19,273   51,104 

   Disposal ______(3,869) ______(14,473) ______(18,342) 

  Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 50,241   45,633   95,874  

    Balance at January 1, 2021 $      21,869  36,484  58,353  

  Acquisitions  1,569   8,008   9,577 

   Disposal ______(1,159) ______(3,659) ______(4,818) 

   Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 22,279   40,833   63,112  

  

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses: 

         

  Balance at January 1, 2022 $ 19,275  22,557   41,832 

  Depreciation  7,414  11,093   18,507 

  Disposal  (3,869)   (13,733)   (17,602)  

  Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 22,820  19,917   42,737  

  Balance at January 1, 2021 $ 13,290  15,455   28,745 

   Depreciation  6,989  10,169   17,158 

  Disposal  (1,004)   (3,067)   (4,071)  

   Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 19,275   22,557   41,832  

 Book Value：          

   Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 27,421   25,716  53,137  

   Balance at January 1, 2021,  $ 8,579   21,029  29,608  

    Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 3,004   18,276  21,280  

(j) Short-term loans  

  2022.12.31 2021.12.31 

 Unsecured bank loans $ 10,000   100,000  

 Unused credit line $ 1,190,000   624,736  

 Interest rate 1.451% 0.99~1% 

1. For information on the Company’s interest risk and liquidity risk, please refer to Note 

6(s). 

2. The association guarantor for part of the loans is the major management personnel of the 

Company and its subsidiaries. 

3. The Company doesn’t have the collateral for bank loans at December 31, 2022 and 2021. 
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(k) Bonds payable    

   1. The Company issued the first domestic unsecured convertible bonds at 100.4% of the par 

value, with a total amount of $702,800 thousands on November 9, 2022.  

     (1) The significant terms of the convertible bonds were as follows: 

        A. Interest rate: 0% 

        B. Duration: 5 years. (November 9, 2022 to November 9, 2027) 

        C. Terms of conversion: 

a. The bondholders may request the conversion of the convertible bonds into the 

Company’s common stock at the par value and conversion price at the time of the 

request, at any time between three months after the issuance date (February 10, 

2023) and the maturity date (November 9, 2027), except for the following periods: 

1. The period in which transfer common stocks is suspended by laws; 2. The period 

starts from 15 business days before the book closure date for issuance of the bonus 

shares, book closure date for cash dividends, book closure date for rights issue, to 

the record date for distribution of entitlements; 3.The period starts from the base 

date of capital reduction to the day before th transaction of reissue of shares after 

the capital reduction;4. The period starts from the starting date of the suspension of 

conversion for the change of the stock's par value to the date before the trading 

date of the reissuance shares.  

b. Conversion price: NT$73.6 per share. Starting from the issue date. 

          D. Redemption at the option of the Company: The Company may redeem the bonds under 

the following circumstances: 

a. Within the period between three months after the issuance date and 40 days before 

the last convertible date(September 30,2027), the Company may redeem the 

bonds at their principal amount if the closing price of the Company’s common 

stock on the TPEx for a period of 30 consecutive trading days has been 30% more 

than the conversion price in effect on each such trading day.  

b. If at least 90% of the principal amount of the bonds has been converted, redeemed, 

or purchased and cancelled, the Company may redeem the bonds at their principal 

amount within the period between three months after the issuance date 

(February.10,2023) and 40 days before the last convertible date(September 30, 

2027).  

E. Redemption at the option of the bondholders： 

The bondholders have the right to request the Company to repurchase the bonds at 

a price equal to the face value, plus, an accrued premium three years after the 

issuance date(November 9,2025).The details of unsecured convertible bonds were 

as follows: 
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  December 

31,2022  

 Total convertible corporate bonds issued $ 700,000   

 Unamortized discounted corporate bonds payable  (70,876)   

 Unamortized discounted corporate bonds payable $ 629,124   

 Embedded derivative – call options, included in financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss $ 70   

 Embedded derivative –put options, included in financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss $ 3,220   

 Equity component – conversion options, included in capital surplus– 

stock options $ 66,928   

    

    For the year 

ended,2022 
 

 Embedded derivative instruments – call and put rights, included in 

financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss $ (910)   

 Interest expense $ 2,312   

    

3. The Company separated its equity and debt components as follows: 

 The compound interest present values of the convertible bonds’ face 

value at issuance $ 626,812   

 The embedded derivative assets at issuance – redemption rights  (70)   

 The embedded derivative liabilities at issuance – put rights  4,130   

 The equity components at issuance  66,928   

 The total amounts of the convertible bonds at issuance $ 697,800   
    

The effective interest rates of the first convertible bonds were 2.2332%. 

The transaction cost of $5,000 thousand that related to the issuance of aformantioned 

convertible bonds was allocated to the component of liabilities and equity instrunments 

in proportion to their relative fair value. The transaction cost of $4,518 thousand related 

to the liability would be amortized at the effective interest rate over the duration of the 

convertible bond; and the transaction cost of $482 thousand related to the equity 

component will not be measured after the initial recognition. 

 

(l)  Lease liabilities   
    December 31, 

 2022 
 December 31, 

2021 

 Current $ 16,803  11,381 

 Non-current $ 36,658  10,162  

     

For the maturity analysis, please refer to Note 6(r) 
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The amounts recognized in profit or loss was as follows: 

  For the year ended December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 
Interest on lease liabilities 

$    628     412  

 Variable lease payments not included in the 

measurement of lease liabilities 
$ 4,265  1,582 

 
Expenses relating to short-term leases 

$ 206  227 

 
Expenses relating to leases of low-value 

assets(excluding short-term leases of low-value assets) 
$ 124  123 

 

The amounts recognized in the statement of cash flows for the Group was as follows: 
 

  For the year ended December 31, 

 Total cash outflow for leases 2022 2021 

 
 

$     23,658  $      19,592  

    
    

1. Real estate leases 

As of December 31, 2022, the Company leases land and buildings for its office space, 

dormitory and parking space. These leases typically run for a period of 2~4 years. Some 

leases include an option to renew the lease for an additional period of the same duration 

after the end of the contract term.  

2. Other leases 

The Company leases company car with lease terms of three to five years. The warehouse 

and multi-function printer leases contracts are short-term or leases of low-value items. The 

Company has chosen to apply the exemption and not to recognize right-of -use assets and 

lease liabilities foe these leases. 

 (l) Employee benefit   

(i) Defined benefit plan 

The movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations and fair value of 

planassets were as follows: 
  December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

 Present value of benefit obligations $ 50,166   56,035  

 Fair value of plan assets  (55,703)   (54,184)  

 Recognized liabilities (assets) for defined 
benefit obligations 

$ (5,537)   1,851  
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The Company makes defined benefit plan contributions to the pension fund account 

with Bank of Taiwan that provides pensions for employees upon retirement. Plans 

(covered by the Labor Standards Law) entitle a retired employee to receive retirement 

benefits based on years of service and average monthly salary for the six months 

prior to retirement. 

1) Composition of the plan asset 

The Company allocates pension funds in accordance with the Regulations for Revenues, 

Expenditures, Safeguard and Utilization of the Labor Retirement Fund, and such funds 

are managed by the Bureau of Labor Funds, Ministry of Labor. With regard to the 

utilization of the funds, minimum earnings shall be no less than the earnings attainable 

from two-year time deposits with interest rates offered by local banks. 

The Company’s Bank of Taiwan labor pension reserve account balance amounted to 

$55,703as of December 31, 2022. For information on the utilization of the labor pension 

fund assets, including the asset allocation and yield of the fund, please refer to the 

website of the Bureau of Labor Funds, Ministry of Labor. 

2) Movements in present value of the defined benefit obligations 

The movements in present value of defined benefit obligations for the Company were as 

follows: 
  For the Years Ended December 31, 

  2022 2021 

 Defined benefit obligation at January 1 $ 56,035   53,376  

 Current service costs and interest  992   1,029  

 Benefits paid (3,048)              - 

 Remeasurement on the net defined benefit assets   

  ─Actuarial losses arising from changes in 

financial assumptions 

         (3,813)         1,630 

 Defined benefit obligation at December 31 $ 50,166   56,035  
 

   

3) Movements of defined benefit plan assets 

The movements in the present value of the defined benefit plan assets for the Company 

were as follows: 
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  For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 Fair value of plan assets at January 1 $ 54,184  53,236  

 Interest income  329   332  

 Benefits paid          (3,048)               - 

 Remeasurement of net defined obligation 

assets－return on plan assets (excluding 

interest income) 

          4,238             616 

 Fair value of plan assets at December 31 $ 55,703   54,184  

    

4) Expense recognized in profit or loss 

The expenses recognized in profit or loss for the Company was as follows: 

  For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2021 2021 

 Current service costs $ 652  696  

 Net interest of net assets for defined benefit 

obligations  11  1 

  $ 663  697 

 Selling expenses  221   232  

 General and administrative expenses  442   465  

  $ 663  697 

5) Remeasurement on the net defined benefit assets recognized in other comprehensive 

income 

The Company’s remeasurement on the net defined benefit assets recognized in other 

comprehensive income for the years were as follows: 
  For the Years Ended  

December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 Cumulative amount at January 1 $ (7,733)   (6,719)  

 Recognized during the period  8,051   (1,014)  

 Cumulative amount at December 31 $ 318   (7,733)  

6) Actuarial assumptions 

The following are the principal actuarial assumptions as of December 31, 2021 and 

2020: 
  For the Years Ended  

December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 Discount rate  1.750%   0.625%  

 Future salary increases rate  3.000%   3.000%  
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The Department of Labor, Taipei City approves the Company suspending to 

appropriation of contributions to the labor pension reserve during the year ended Dec.31 

2022.  

The expected allocation payment to be made by the Compnay to the defined benefit 

plans for the one-year period after the reporting date is 0. 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit plans is 12.45 years. 

7) Sensitivity analysis 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the effects of the present value of the defined 

benefit obligation arising from changes in principal actuarial assumptions were as 

follows:  
  Influences of defined benefit 

obligations 
  Increased0.25％ Decreased0.25％ 

 December 31, 2022       

 Discount rate $ (1,133)   1,172  

 Future salary increases rate  1,132  (1,099)  

 December 31, 2021   

 Discount rate  (1,367)   1,414  

 Future salary increases rate  1,349  (1,310)  

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change 

in the present value of the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in 

assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be 

correlated. The sensitivity analysis adopts the same methods for determining the pension 

liabilities (assets) at balance sheet date. 

The methods and assumptions used on current sensitivity analysis is the same as those 

of the prior year. 

(ii) Defined contribution plans 

The Company contributes an amount equal to 6% of the employee’s monthly wages to 

the Labor Pension personal account with the Bureau of the Labor Insurance in 

accordance with the provisions of the Labor Pension Act, under which, the Company is 

not required to bear the regulated or putative obligation subsequent to the payment of 

fixed-rate contribution. 

The Company’s pension costs under the defined contribution pension plan amounted to 

$5,227 and $4,583 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.  
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(m) Income tax   

 (i) Income tax expense 

1) The details of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, 

were as follows： 

  For the Years Ended  
December 31, 

  2022 2021 

 Current tax expense       

  Current period $ 63,409   55,777  

 Adjustment for prior periods (74) (3,390) 

 Surtax on undistributed earnings  4,528  5,957 

   67,863   58,344  

 Deferred tax expense       

  Origination and reversal of temporary 

differences  (7,728)   (1,847)  

 Income tax expense $ 60,135   56,497  

    

2) Reconciliations between income tax and profit before tax for the years ended December 

31, 2022 and 2021, were as follows: 

 

  For the Years Ended  
December 31, 

  2022 2021 

 Income before tax $ 526,552  651,867 

 Income tax calculated on pretax financial 

income at the statutory rate 

 105,310  130,373 

 Unrecognized Deferred Tax Liabilities  (49,788)   (70,030)  

 Tax-exempt income and investment income 

recognized under equity method 

 (3,066)   (7,495)  

 Additional tax on undistributed earnings  4,528  5,957  

 Others  3,151   (2,489)  

  $ 60,135   56,497  

    

(ii) Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

1) Unrecognized Deferred Tax Liabilities 

The Company did not recognize any temporary differences related to investment in 

subsidiaries since the Company has the ability to control the time point when temporary 

differences are reversed, and it is certain that the differences will not be reversed in the 
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foreseeable future. Related information for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 

2021, were as follows: 
 

 December 

31,2022 

December 

31,2021 

 Temporary differences related to investment in 

subsidiaries $ 419,067   438,955  

    

2) Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets： 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items: 
 

 
December 

31,2022 

December 

31,2021 

     Tax effect of deductible Temporary Differences $ 19,924   37,585 

    

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not 

probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can 

utilize the benefits therefrom. 

3) Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Changes in the amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the years ended 

December 31, 2022 and 2021, were as follows: 

 
 

Recognized 

gain on 

foreign 

investment 

for equity 

method  

 

Defined 

benefit plan 

 

 

Others 

 

 

Total 
 

Deferred tax liabilities     
 

Balance as of January 1, 2022 $ 76,060   1,859   48  77,967  

 Recognized in profit or loss  (6,275)   (133)   (48)   (6,456)  

 Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 69,785   1,726  -   71,511  

 Balance as of January 1, 2021 $ 78,258   1,999   9   80,266  

 Recognized in profit or loss  (2,198)   (140)   39   (2,299)  

 Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 76,060   1,859  48   77,967  
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  Unrealized losses on 

inventory valuation 

and obsolescence 

 

 

Others 

 

 

Total 

 Deferred tax assets:    

 Balance as of January 1, 2022 $              608  2,767  3,375  

 Recognized in profit or loss                313  959   1,272 

 Balance as of December 31, 2022 $              921  3,726  4,647 

 Balance as of January 1, 2021 $              777  3,050  3,827  

 Recognized in profit or loss             (169)  (283)   (452)  

 Balance as of December 31, 2021 $              608  2,767  3,375 

     

3. The tax returns assessment and approval 

The tax returns of the Company has been assessed and approved through 2019 by the Tax 

Authority. 

 (n) Capital and other equity   

(i) Capital 

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the total value of authorized ordinary shares amounted 

to $1,000,000, respectively. The par value per share was NT$ 10, and the share number was 

100,000 thousand shares respectively. The above-mentioned total registered capital was all 

common stock. The shares issued were 74,061 thousand shares, respectively. 

 
   

(ii) Capital surplus 

The details of capital surplus were as follows: 
   December 

31,2022 

December 

31,2021 

 Paid-in capital in excess of par value $ 1,124,732   1,124,732  

 Premium from merger  329,343   329,343  

 Convertible bonds – conversion options         66,928             -  

  $ 1,521,003   1,454,075  

    

In accordance with the amended R.O.C. Company Act, realized capital reserves can 

only be reclassified as share capital or distributed as cash dividends after offsetting 

losses. The aforementioned capital reserves include share premiums and donation 

gains. In accordance with Securities Offering and Issuance Guidelines, the amount of 

capital reserves to be reclassified under share capital shall not exceed 10% of the 

actual share capital amount. 
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(iii) Legal reserve 

When a company incurs no loss, it may, pursuant to a resolution by a shareholder's 

meeting, distribute its legal reserve by issuing new shares or by distributing cash and 

only the portion of legal reserve which exceeds 25% of capital may be distributed. 

(iv)Special reserve  

When the Company first adopted the International Financial Reporting Standards as 

approved by the Financial Supervisory Commission, due to the application of 

exemption items as stated in No.1 of the International Financial Reporting Standards, 

“Initial adaptation of the International Financial Reporting Standards”, the cumulative 

conversion adjustment under the original account’s shareholder equity is presumed to 

be zero, and increased retained earnings to $ 17,368. However, the adopted retained 

earnings increased by $ 8,680 on the conversion date as it was the first adaptation of 

IFRSs. In accordance with Ruling No. 1010012865 issued by the Financial Supervisory 

Commission on April 6, 2012, retained earnings are increased to $ 8,680. After the 

deduction of penalized relevant assets in 2012, which is $ 2,317 by proportion, the 

special reserve for its net value is $ 6,363, as recognized on January 1, 2013. The 

balance of special reserve for which on December 31, 2022 and 2021 is $ 6,363. 

In accordance with the guidelines of the FSC, net earnings after income taxes, plus any 

other item recognized in undistributed retained earnings and undistributed prior-period 

earnings shall be reclassified as a special earnings reserve during earnings distribution. 

Aforementioned amount equal to the difference between the carry net amount of other 

reductions from equity and the carrying amount of special reserve. Similarly, a portion 

of undistributed prior-period earnings shall be reclassified as a special earnings reserve 

(which does not qualify for earnings distribution) to account for cumulative amount of 

other reductions from equity pertaining to prior periods. The subsequent reversals of the 

contra accounts in shareholders' equity shall qualify for additional distributions. 

 (v) The restriction of earnings distribution and dividend policy 

The Company’s Articles of Incorporation provide that, when allocating the net profit for 

each fiacal year, the Company shall first offset its losses in previous years and then set 

aside the leagel reserve at 10% of net profit until the accumulated leagal reserve equals 

the Company’s capital; and also set aside special capital reserve in accordance with 

relevant regulations or as requested by the authorities.Any balance left over and the 

beginning balance of retaining earnings ,the Company’s appropriations of earnings are 

approved in the meeting of the Board of Directors and presented for approval in the 

Company’s shareholders’ meeting. 
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The Company’s dividend policy considers the Company’s future funding needs, and is 

decided based on the Company’s earnings, financial structure and the finding needs for 

future operating plans. 10%~90% of the cumulative distributable earnings are also 

appropriated and distributed after the Board proposes a resolution for the distribution of 

earnings which will be approved at shareholders’ meeting. Besides, for the distribution 

ratio of stock or cash dividends, stock dividends shall not exceed 50%. The annual 

shareholders’ meeting can still decide the most suitable way of dividend distribution 

depending on the industry condition, with the Company’s benefits and development 

served as the highest principle. 

The shareholders’ meeting approved the amendment of Articles of Incorporation on May. 

31, 2022, the Company authorize the distributable dividends and bonuses in whole or in 

part may be paid in cash after a resolution has been adopted by a majority vote at a 

meeting of the board of directors attended by two-thirds of the total number of directors; 

and in addition thereto a report of such distribution shall be submitted to the 

shareholders’ meeting and not applicable to the preceding paragraph shall be approved 

by shareholders’ meeting . 

The appropriation of 2021 and 2020 earnings that were approved at shareholder’s 

meetings on May 31, 2022 and July 5, 2021, respectively were as follows: 

 
 2021 2020 

 Distribution 

rate (Dollar) 

 

Amount 

Distribution 

rate (Dollar) 
 

Amount 

Diviends distributed to common 

shareholders: 

            

 Cash diviends $6.0 444,366 $4.3  318,462 
     

The appropriation of 2022 earnings that was drafted at Board of Directors on March 2, 

2023. Unappropriated retained earning is allocated as cash dividends, details of the 

dividends allocated to owners are as follows: 
  2022 
  Distribution 

rate (Dollar) 

 

Amount 

 Diviends distributed to common shareholders:       

  Cash diviends $4.41 326,609 
    

The 2022 surplus allocation is still awaiting resolution of the shareholders’ meeting, 

details of which can be found on Market Observation Post System website after 

shareholders’ meeting. 
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(vi) Other equities (net of tax) 
  

Exchange 

differences on 

translation of 

foreign financial 

statements  

Unrealized gain 

or loss from 

financial assets 

at fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income and loss Total 

Balance, January 1, 2022 $ (205,193)         231,425  26,632 

The Company 88,303    20,935 109,238 

Subsidiaries        1,805   -         1,805 

Balance,December 31, 2022 $ (115,085)   252,360      137,275 

     

Balance, January 1, 2021 $ (180,077)        178,419 (1,658) 

The Company  (24,594)    53,006 28,412 

Subsidiaries        (522)   -         (522) 

Balance,December 31, 2021 $ (205,193)   231,425      26,232 

 
    

(p) Earnings per share   

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 the basic and diluted earnings per share 

were calculated as follows 

  For the Years ended December 31 

  2022 2021 

 Basic earnings per share       

 Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company $ 466,417   595,370  

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic)  74,061   74,061  

 Basic earnings per share(in dollars) $ 6.30  8.04 

 Diluted earnings per share       

 Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 

Company(basic) $     466,417 $    595,370 

 Convertible bonds payable             -                -      

 Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 

Company(diluted) $ 466,417   595,370  

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic)  74,061  74,061 

 Effect of convertible bonds - - 

 Employee compensation  645   699  

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)  74,706  74,760  

 Diluted earnings per share(in dollars) $ 6.24   7.96  
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(p) Revenue from contracts with customers   

(i) Disagregation Revenue 

   

For the Years ended 

December 31,2022 

For the Years ended 

December 31,2021 

 Major markets     

 Taiwan $ 2,274,256  2,451,803 

 China  1,130,609  1,203,094 

 Other  154,868  199,641 

 
 $        3,559,733           3,854,538  

 
Major product：       

 Related products of chemical material $        3,559,733          3,854,538 

 

 (ii) Balance of contract 

   December 

31,2022 

December 

31,2021 

January 1, 

2021 

 Notes and accounts receivable $ 701,488   1,045,340   721,666  

 Less: loss allowance  (1,903)   (370)   (608)  

  $ 699,585   1,044,970   721,058  

 Current contract 
liabilities- Advance sales 
receipts $ 5,252  2,786  3,008  

     

For details on notes, accounts receivable and loss allowance, please see Note 6(d). 

The amount of revenue recognized for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 that was 

included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the period was 2,658 and 2,924, 

respectively. 

The major change in the balance of contract liabilities is the difference between the time of 

the performance oblgation to be satisfied and the payment to be received. 

(r) Remuneration of employees and directors   

Before the shareholders’ meeting approved the amendment of Articles of Incorporation on 

May. 31, 2022, if the compay has profit, 5%~10% of them shall be appropriated as employee 

remuneration, and a percentage not higher than 5% shall be remuneration of directors. In 

case of accumulated loss of the Company, the amount shall be reserved to compensate for 

the amount, followed by calculating the employee remuneration and director remuneration 

according to the balance. Employee remuneration can be stocks or cash, and the parties to be 

distributed include the employees of the associate companies who satisfy a certain criteria. 
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The shareholders’ meeting approved the amendment of Articles of Incorporation on May. 31, 

2022, if the company has profit, 5%~10% of them shall be appropriated as employee 

remuneration, and a percentage not higher than 5% shall be remuneration of directors. In 

case of accumulated loss of the Company, the amount shall be reserved to compensate for 

the amount, followed by calculating the employee remuneration and director remuneration 

according to the balance. Employee remuneration can be stocks or cash, and the parties to be 

distributed include the employees of the associate companies who satisfy a certain criterion. 

For the years ended December 31, 2022and 2021 the appropriated employee compensations 

amounted to $39,000, and $52,000 and directors’ compensations amounted to $17,250 and  

$23,000 respectively. These amounts were calculated based on the Company’s article of 

incorporation and the net profit before tax after deducting employee and director 

compensations, and was recognized under operating expenses, which were consistent with 

the actual distributions. Related information can be accessed from the Market Observation 

Post System website. 

(s) Financial instruments  

(i) Credit risk 

1) Credit risks exposure 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum amount exposed to 

credit risk. 

2) Concentration of credit risk 

As the Company has a large customer base and does not have a significant 

concentration of transactions with a single customer and the sales area is dispersed, the 

credit risk of accounts has no significant concentration. 

3) Credit risk of account receivables and debt securities 

Please refer to the Note 6(d) of the disclosure of the risk exposure information of notes 

and accounts receivable. Please refer to Note 6(e) for the details of certificate of 

deposits and other receivables and the recognition of impairment for the years ended 

December 31, 2022 and 2021.  

The following table lists the above-mentioned financial assets, loss allowance 

recognized on December 31, 2021 and whether there is credit impairment according to 

12-month expected credit loss or lifetime expected credit loss: 

  December 31, 2022  

  Evaluated at amortized cost  

  

12-month 

expected 

loss 

Expected 

loss - not 

impaired 

expected 

loss - 

impaired Total 

 Total Book value $ 103,395   701,488   -   804,883 

 Loss allowance  -   (1,903)   -   (1,903)  

 Amortized cost $ 103,395   699,585  -   802,980  

 Book value, net $ 103,395  699,585   -   802,980  
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  December 31, 2021  

  Evaluated at amortized cost  

  

12-month 

expected 

loss 

Expected 

loss - not 

impaired 

expected 

loss - 

impaired Total 

 Total Book value $ 8,880   1,045,340   -   1,054,220 

 Loss allowance  -   (370)   -   (370)  

 Amortized cost $ 8,880   1,044,970  -   1,053,850  

 Book value, net $ 8,880  1,044,970   -   1,053,850  

(ii) Liquidity risk 

The following were the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, not including the 

impact of estimated interests. 
   

Book value 

Contract 

cash flows 

Within 1 

years  

Within 

1~2 years  

More than 

2 years 

 December 31, 2022                

 Non-derivative financial liabilities                

  Unsecured bank loan $ 10,000   (10,145)   (10,145)  - - 

  Notes payable and trades (including 

related parties) 

 301,242   (301,242)   (301,242)  - - 

  Other payable  265,368   (265,368)   (265,368)  - - 

 Bonds payable (including embedded 

derivative financial instruments)     632,344  (700,000)     -      - - 

  Lease liabilities(including current 

and non-current)  53,461   (54,760)   (17,398)  (14,611)  

    

(22,751)  

 Derivative financial liabilities      

 Forward foreign exchange contract:         21     

 Outflow              (15,347)    (15,347)     -          -     

 Inflow               15,326      15,326     -        -   

  $ 1,262,436  (1,331,536)   (594,174  (14, 611) (722,751)  

 December 31, 2021                

 Non-derivative financial liabilities                

  Unsecured bank loan $ 100,000   (100,995)   (100,995)   -   -  

  Notes payable and trades (including 

related parties) 
 440,142   (440,142)   (440,142)   -   -  

  Other payable  341,710   (341,710)   (341,710)  -   -  

   Lease liabilities(including current 

and non-current)  21,543   (21,915)   (11,604)  (5,620)    (4,691)  

  $ 903,395   (904,762)   (894,451)  (5,620)   (4,691)  

The Company does not expect that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could 

occur significantly earlier or at significantly different amounts. 
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(iii) Currency risk 

1) Exposure to foreign currency risk 

The Company’s significant exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows: 

Foreign currency unit: in thousand 

  December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 

  Foreign 

currency 
 

Exchange rate 
 

NTD 
Foreign 

currency 
 

Exchange rate 
 

NTD 

 Financial asset                   

  Monetary items                   

  USD $ 14,421  USD/NTD= 
30.71 

 442,875  $ 22,863  USD/NTD= 
27.68 

 632,840  

 Financial liabilities                   

  Monetary items                   

  USD  7,144  USD/NTD 
=30.71 

 219,385   12,082  USD/NTD 
=27.68 

 334,442  

2) Sensitive analysis 

The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk arises from the translation of the 

foreign currency exchange gains and losses on cash and cash equivalents, receivables 

and other receivables, account payables and other payable that are denominated in 

foreign currency. Assuming other variable remain the same, a 5% depreciation or 

appreciation of the NTD against the USD, RMB, JPY, HKD and EUR, etc. as of 

December 31, 2022 and 2021, the before-tax income will increase or decrease by $ 

11,449 and $ 16,594, respectively. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain 

constant. 

3) Gain or loss on foreign exchange 

The Company deals with diverse foreign currencies, therefore, the gains or losses on 

foreign exchange were summarized as a single amount. For the nine months ended 

December 31, 2022 and 2021, the foreign exchange gain (loss), including realized and 

unrealized, amounted to gain of $24,631 and loss of $102, respectively.  

(iv) Interest rate analysis 

The Company's interest rate exposure as follows: 
  Carring value 
  December 31, 

2022 
December 31, 

2021 

 
Variable interest rate instruments:   

   Financial assets $ 627,039   236,978  

 

 
Financial liabilities  10,000 100,000 

The Company's sensitivity analysis in interest rates is based on the risk exposure to interest 

rates on the derivative and the non-derivative financial instruments on the reporting date. 

For variable rate instruments, the sensitivity analysis assumes the variable rate liabilities 

are outstanding for the whole year on the reporting date. 
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If the interest rate increases or decreases by 0.25%, the Company’s profit will increase or 

decrease by $1,543 and $342 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, 

respectively, due to the floating rate deposits of the Company. This analysis assumes that 

all other variables remain constant.  

(v) Other market price risk 

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the sensitivity analyses for the 

changes in the securities price at the reporting date were performed using the same basis 

for the profit and loss as illustrated below: 

 For the years ended December 31, 

 2022 2021 

Prices of securities 

at the reporting 

date 

Other 

comprehensive 

income after tax 

 

 

Net income 

Other 

comprehensive 

income after tax 

 

 

Net income 

Increasing 5% $  18,436   -   17,394   - 

Decreasing 5% $  (18,443)   -   (17,409)   - 

 

(vi) Fair value information 

1) Evaluation process 

The Company’s accounting policy and disclosure include evaluating its financial assets 

and liabilities at fair value. The Company’s management personnel are responsible for 

conducting independent fair value verification, making the evaluation result close to 

market conditions with data of independent source, ensuring the data source is 

independent, reliable, consistent with other resources and representative of strike price, 

periodically calibrate the evaluation model, renew the input values and data needed by 

the evaluation model, and other necessary fair value adjustment, in order to make sure 

the result is reasonable. 

The Company uses observable market data to evaluate its assets and liabilities when it is 

possible. The different inputs of levels the of fair value hierarchy in determining the fair 

value are as follows: 

● Level 1：quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identifiable assets or 

liabilities.  

● Level 2：inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 

for the asset or liability, either directly(ie as prices) or directly (ie derived 

from prices). 

● Level 3：inputs for the assets or liability that are not based on observable market 

data. 

2) The categories and fair values of financial instruments 

The measurement basis of the financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 

or loss and the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income is 



TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

222 

repetitive the carrying amount and fair value of the Company’s financial assets and 

liabilities, including the information on fair value hierarchy were as follows; however, 

except as described in the following paragraphs, for financial instruments not 

measured at fair value whose carrying amount is reasonably close to the fair value, and 

lease liabilities and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, disclosure of fair 

value information is not required : 

  December 31, 2022 

   Fair value 

  
Carring 

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss                

 Bonds payable- derivative 

financial instruments $ 70  -  - 70  70  

 Financial assets at fair value 

through other 

comprehensive income：              

  Domestic non-listed companies  368,914  -   -   368,914   368,914  

 Financial assets at amortised 

cost：                

 Cash and cash equivalent  688,776   -   -   -   -  

 Notes and accounts receivable 

(Including related parties)  699,585  -   -   -   -  

 Refundable deposit (reported 

Other non-current assets)  36,351   -   -   -   -  

 Other current financial assets  5,684   -   -   -   -  

   Total  1,430,396      

  $ 1,799,380      

 Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss: 

Derivative financial liabilities $ 21   -  21  -  21 

 Bonds payable- derivative 

financial instruments  3,220  

 -

  

 -

  

 3,220

  

 3,220

  

 Total $ 3,241      

 Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost：                

 Notes and account payable 

(Including related parties)     301,242   -   -   -   -  

 Other payables  265,368   -   -   -   -  

 Bonds payable     629,124     

 Lease liabilities      53,461     

   Total $  1,252,436              
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  December 31, 2021 

   Fair value 

  Carring 

amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss, 

mandatorily measured at fair 

value： $ 239   -   239   -   239  

 Derivatives not for hedging                

 Financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive 

income：  347,979   -   -   347,979   347,979  

  Domestic non-listed companies                

 Financial assets at amortised 

cost：  237,503  -       -       -       -  

 Cash and cash equivalent  1,044,970   -   -   -   -  

 Notes and accounts receivable 

(Including related parties)  3,207   -   -   -   -  

 Refundable deposit (reported 

Other non-current assets)  5,673   -   -   -   -  

 Other current financial assets  1,291,353      

   Total $ 1,639,571      

  

   

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 Financial liabilities at amortised 

cost： $   100,000 -  -  -  -  

 Notes and account payable 

(Including related parties)     440,142   -   -   -   -  

 Other payables  341,710   -   -   -   -  

 Lease liabilities      21,543     

   Total $   903,395              

 

3) Valuation techniques for financial instruments not measured at fair value 

A. Non-derivative financial instruments 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market is based on quoted 

market price. 

If quoted price of financial instruments can be obtained in tine and often from 

exchanges, broker, underwiters, industry union, pricing institute, or authorities and 

such price can reflect those actual trading and freauency happen in the market. If the 

financial instrument does not accord with the definition aforementioned, then it is 

considered to be without qhoted price in active market. In general, market with low 
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trading volum or high bid-ask spreads is an indication of non-active market.  

Measurement of fair value of financial instrunments without an active market are 

based on valuation technique or quoted price from a competitor. Fair value, measured 

by using valuation technique that can be extrapolated from either similar financial 

instrunments or discounted cash flow method or the market transaction prices of the 

similar companies or other valuation techniques, including models, is calculated 

based on available market data at the reporting date. 

The financial instrunment of the Group is not traded in an actine market, its fair value 

is determined as follows: The fair value is determined based on the ratio of the 

quoted market price of the comparative listed company and its book value per share. 

Also, the fair value is discounted for its lack of liquidity in the market. 

B. Derivative financial instruments 

Measurement of the fair value of derivative instruments is based on the valuation 

techniques generally accepted by market participants such as the discounted cash 

flow or option pricing models. Fiar value of forward currency is usually determined 

by the forward currency exchange rate. 

4) For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, there were no transferring from each 

level in the fair value hierarchy. 

5) Changes in level 3 of the fair value 

 
 

Fair value through profit or loss 

Fair value through 
other comprehensive 

income 

 

Derivative financial 

assets-convertible 

bonds 

Derivative 

financial 

liabilities-conve

rtible bonds   

Unquoted equity 

instruments 

Balance on January 1, 2022 $ -   -    347,979 

Issuance  70    (4,130)   -  

Total profit or loss          

In profit or loss  -   910   -  

 In other comprehensive income          

The variable amount of net value   -   -   20,935  
Balance on December 31, 2022 $ 70   (3,220)         368,914  

Balance on January 1, 2021 $ -   -   294,973
  Total profit or loss          

 In other comprehensive income          

The variable amount of net value  -   -   53,006
  Balance on December 31, 2021 $ -   -   347,979
   

The aforementioned total gains and losses were recognized in “unrealized gains and 

losses from financial assets fair value through other comprehensive income”. The 

details of the assets which the Company still held as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 

were as follows: 
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  For the Years Ended December 31, 
    2022 2021 

 Total gains and losses recognized：   

 In other comprehensive income (accounted as 

Unrealized gains on financial assets measured at 

fair value through other comprehensive income) 

 

$       20,935    

 

       53,006 

 In profit or loss (accounted as net of financial assets 

and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss)    

 

$          910    

 

            - 

 

6) Quantified information for significant unobservable inputs (level 3) used in fair value 

measurement 

The Company’s financial instruments that use level 3 inputs to measure the fair values 

include financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

-equity investments. 

The financial instruments of the Company is not traded in an active market, its equity 

instruments classified as Level 3 fair value have multiple significant unobservable input 

values. The significant unobservable inputs of the equity invsestments are independent 

from each other as a result there is no relevance between them. 

The quantified information for significant unobservable inputs is as follows: 
  

 

 

 

Item 

 

 

 

Evaluation 

technique 

 

 

Significant 

unobservable 

input value 

Relation between 

significant 

unobservable 

input value and 

fair value 
 Financial assets at 

fair value through 

other 

comprehensive 

income-equity 

instruments 

without active 

market 

Comparable listed 

company’s 

approach 

‧PB ratio 

(1.47~1.98and 

2.13~2.85 on 

December 31, 

2022 and 2021, 

respectively) 

‧PE ratio (12.75 

 and 13.6 on 

December 31, 

2022 and 2021, 

respectively) 

‧Market liquidity 

discount rate 

(25% on 

December 31, 

2022 and 2021) 

‧The estimate fair 

value would 

increase if the 

multiplier was 

higher 

‧The estimate fair 

value would 

decrease if 

market liquidity 

discount rate was 

higher 
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7) Sensitivity analysis for fair values of financial instruments using Level 3 inputs 

The Company’s fair value measurement on financial instruments is reasonable. 

However, the measurement would be different if different valuation models or valuation 

parameters are used. For financial instruments using level 3 inputs, the impact on the net 

income or loss and other comprehensive income or loss will be as follows if the 

valuation parameters changed: 
  

 

 

 

 

 

Input 

value 

 

 

Increase 

or 

decrease 

Impacts of fair value change 

on profit or loss 

Impacts of fair value change on 

other comprehensive income or 

loss 

  
Favorable Unfavorable Favorable Unfavorable 

 December 31, 2022           

 Financial assets at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive income 

PB ratio 5％ 

$ -   -  8,682   8,665 

 Financial assets at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive income 

PE ratio 5％ 

$ -  -   9,783   9,771  

 Financial assets at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive income 

Market 

liquidity 

discount rate 

5％ 

$ -  -   18,456   18,447  

 Financial assets and 

liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss- 

call and put options of 

convertible bonds Volatility 5％ $ 70   140   -   -  
 

December 31, 2021               
 
Financial assets at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive income 

PB ratio 5％ 

$ -   -  10,285   10,276 
 
Financial assets at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive income 

PE ratio 5％ 

$ -  -   7,124   7,118  
 
Financial assets at fair 

value through other 

comprehensive income 

Market 

liquidity 

discount rate 

5％ 

$ -   -  17,391   17,412  

 

The favorable and unfavorable effects represent the changes in fair value and fair value 

are based on variety of unobservable inputs calculated using a valuation technique. The 

analysis above only reflects the effects of changes in a single input, and it does not 

include the interrelationships with another input. 
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(t) Financial risk management   

(i) Overview 

The Company is exposured to the following risks from its financial instruments: 

1) credit risk 

2) liquidity risk 

3) market risk 

The note discloses information about the Company’s explosure to the aforemaentioned 

risks, and its goals, policys and procedurs regarding the measurement and management of 

these risks. For additional quantitative disclosures of these risks, please refer to the notes 

regarding each risk disclosed throughout the financial report.  
 

(ii) Risk management framework 

The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the 

risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor 

risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 

regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered. The 

Company, through its training and management standards and procedures, aim to 

develop a disciplined and constructive control environment, in which all employees 

understand their roles and obligations. 

The Company’ s Internal Audit oversees how management monitors compliance with 

the Company’ s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of 

the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company. Internal 

Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and 

procedures, the results of which are reported to the Board of Directors. 

(iii) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to 

financial instruments fails to meet its contractual obligations that arise principally from 

the Company’s account receivables and securities investment. 

1) Accounts receivables and other receivables  

The Company has established a credit policy, and according to the policy, the Company 

must analyze its individual credit rating for each new customer before giving the 

standard payment and delivery terms. The review of the Company includes, if available, 

an external review, and, in some cases, a note from the bank. Purchase quotas are 

established on individual customers. This limit is reviewed regularly. Customers who do 

not comply with the Company's benchmark credit rating are only allowed to advance 

the transaction with the Company. 
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Accounts receivables cover a large number of customers and are dispersed in different 

industries and geographical areas. The Company will continue to evaluate the financial 

status of accounts customers and, if necessary, purchase credit guarantee insurance 

contracts. 

As the Company has a large customer base and does not significantly focus on trading 

with a single customer and the sales area is scattered, there is no significant 

concentration of credit risks on accounts. In order to reduce credit risk, the Company 

also regularly reviews the financial status of its customers, but usually does not require 

customers to provide collateral. 

2) Investment 

The Company reduces credit risk by investing only in liquid securities with good credit 

ratings. As managers actively monitor credit ratings and the Company can only invest in 

securities with high-quality credit ratings, managers do not expect any traders to not be 

able to perform their obligations. 

(iv) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the 

obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or 

another financial asset. 

The Company maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents so as to cope with its 

operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Company’s 

management supervises the bank loan facilities and ensures in compliance with the 

terms of the loan agreements. 

The loan was an important source of liquidity for the Company. As of December 31, 

2022 and 2021, the Company has unused credit facilities for short-term and long-term 

loans please refer to note 6(j). 

 

(v) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, 

interest rates and equity prices, and credit spreads will affect the Company’s income or 

the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 

management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 

parameters, while optimizing the return on risk. 

 1) Currency risk 

The Company is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchase that denominated in a 

currency other than the respective functional currencies used in these transactions are 

denominated in TWD, USD ,RMB and HKD. The immense currency exchange risk 

management of the Company is limited within permission of its policies, and makes 

use of long-term foreign currency contracts for risk management. 
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2) Interest risk 

The company manages interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate fixed and 

variable interest rate portfolio. 

3) Other market price risk 

The immense risk in equity price generated by the Company measuring fair value of 

non-listed equity securities by the evaluation method, and measuring fair value of open 

fund investments by open prices. 

(u) Capital Management   

Through clear undersanding and managing of significant changes in external environment, 

related industrial characteristics, and corporate growth plan, the Company manages its 

capital structure to ensure its has sufficient financial resources to sustain proper liquidity, to 

invest in capital expenditures, as well as to repay debt, and to distribute dividends in 

accordance to its plan. The management pursues the most suitable capital structure by 

monitoring and maintaining proper fianacial ratio as below. The Company aims to enhance 

the returns to its shareholders through achieveing an optimized debt-to-equity ratio regularly. 

(v) Investing and financing activities not affecting current cash flow   

1. Obtain the right-of-use assets by leasing please refer to note 6(i). 

2.The bonds issuance please refer to the note 6(k). 

3. Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities were as follows: 

   December 

31,2022 

December 

31,2021 

 Total liabilities $ 1,384,462  1,038,809 

 Total equity  4,517,665   4,309,592  

 Debt to equity ratio  31%   24%  

  

As of December 31, 2022 the Company’s capital management strategy is consistent 

with the prior year. 
  

                    
 
    Non-cash changes  

  

January 

1,2022 Cash flows Acquisition Dcrease Others 

December 

31,2022 

 Short-term borrowings $ 100,000   (90,000)   -  -  -  10,000  

 Lease liabilities  21,543   (18,435)   51,104  (751)   -   53,461  

 Bonds payable  -  697,800   2,312  -   (70,988)   629,124  

 Total liabilities from 

financing activities $ 121,543   589,365   53,416  (751)   (70,988)   692,585 
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(7) Related-Party Transactions   

(a) Names and relationship with related parties   

The followings are entities that have had transactions with related during the periods covered 

in the financial statements： 

 Name of Related Parties Relationship 

 Topco America Inc. (Topco America) Subsdiary 

 Topglow Trading Co., Ltd. (Topglow) 〃 

 Topco Engineering Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Topco Trading (Shanghai Pu-Dong New Area) Co., 

LTD 

Subsdiary of Topco America 

 Topco (Guangzhou) Trading Co., LTD. 〃 

 Hong Kong TOPCO Trading Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Top Glory Trading Co., Ltd. (Top Glory) Subsdiary of Topglow 

 Topglow Advances Materials (Shanghai) Co., 〃 

 PT. Topco Trading Indonesia (PT. Topco) Sub-subsidiary of Topco 

America 

 TOPCO (VIETNAM) TRADING CO., LTD (TOPCO 

VIETNAM) 

〃 

 Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. Corporate directors of the 

Company 

 Shin-Etsu Silicone International Trading (Shanghai) 

Co,. Ltd. (Shin-Etsu Shanghai) 

The Company’s corporate 

director, subsidiaries of 

Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. 

 Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. (Shin-Etsu Taiwan) 〃 

 Shin-Etsu Astech Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Shin-Etsu (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Shin Etsu Polymer Hong Kong Ltd. 〃 

 Shin-Etsu Polymer Co., Ltd. 〃 

    
Non-cash changes   

  

January 

1,2021 Cash flows Acquisition Dcrease 

December 

31,2021 

 Short-term borrowings $ -   100,000   -  -  100,000  

 Lease liabilities  29,972   (17,248)   9,577  (758)   21,543  

 Total liabilities from 

financing activities $ 29,972   82,752   9,577  (758)   121,543  
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 Name of Related Parties Relationship 

 Shin-Etsu Singapore Pte Ltd. 〃 

 Chung-shin Limited Company An affiliate 

 Sign Co., Ltd. 〃 

 Kikukawa Metal & Engineering Co., Ltd 〃 

 Mr. Pan, Chen-Cheng Chairperson of the Company 

 Mr.Chang,Sheng-Ho CEO of the Company 

 (b) Significant transactions with related parties   

(i) Revenues to related parties 

The amounts of significant sales between the Company and related parties were as 

follows: 
  For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 Subsdiaries:   

  Topco Shanghai   $   223,886    228,154 

  Others  242,099   218,779  

 Other related parties  78,258   88,537  

  $ 544,243  535,470 

There is no significant difference in terms and conditions of the sales to associates 

between those provided to third parties. The credit lending period for other related 

parties and other related parties are 30~120 days and 30~90 days, which is not 

significantly different with the third parties. 

 (ii) Purchases 

The amounts of purchase transaction between the Company and related parties were as 

follows: 
   

For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 Subsdiaries: $ 6,051   12,774  

 Other related parties       

   Shin-Etsu Taiwan  2,438,918  2,594,107 

   Others  96,565  61,498 

  $ 2,541,534  2,668,379 
    

The Company’s related products of chemical material are mainly purchased from 

other related parties. There are no non-related party purchase prices for comparison. 

The payment period is 30~60 days for other related parties. 
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(iii) Providing labor to other related parties 
   

For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 Service income (reported other profits and 
losses): 

  

 Subsdiaries:   

  Topco Hong Kong $ 13,765  12,945  

(iv) Receivables from related parties 

The details of the amounts due from the sales and services provided by the company 

were as follows: 

  

Account 

Category of Related 

party 

December 

31,2022 

December 

31,2021 

 Notes and accounts receivable Subsdiaries $ 38,651   60,218  

 Notes and accounts receivable Other related parties  3,880   24,599  

 Other receivable  Subsdiary－Topco Hong Kong  3,602   3,207  

   $     46,133          88,024   
     

 (v) Payables to related parties 

Payables to related parties were as follows: 

  

Account 

Category of Related 

party 

December 

31,2022 

December 

31,2021 

 Accounts payable  Subsdiaries $ 928  3,423 

 Notes and accounts payable Other related parties:   

   Shin-Etsu Taiwan  267,604  417,542 

   Others  11,958  13,308 

 Other payable  Other related parties  958   1,777  

   $ 281,448  436,050 
  

   

(vi) Guarantees 

Guarantees to related parties were as follows: 

   December 31, 

2022 

December 31, 

2021 

 Subsdiaries $ -  241,040  

(vii) Lease 

The Company rents a warehouse from other related parties, the rent is decided by the 

Market. The contract value of the period from Jan. 1,2019 to Dec.31,2021 and Jan.1 2022 

to Dec.31, 2026 is 8,418 thousand and 11,612 thousand respectively. The lease liability 

and interest expense were as follows:  



TOPCO TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

233 

 Lease Liabilty Interest Expense 

 

 
December 31,2022 December 31,2021 

For the year ended December 31, 

2022 2021 

Other related parties $ 9,350                  -  138   22  

 (c) Transaction of major management personnel   

Transactions with key management personnel: 
  For the Years Ended December 31, 
  2022 2021 

 Short-term employee benefits $ 86,484  107,398  

 Post-employment benefit  1,700   1,700  

  $ 88,184  109,098 

(8) Pledged assets：None.   

(9) Significant Commitments and Contingencies：None.    

(10) Losses Due to Major Disasters: None.   

(11) Subsequent Events: None. 

(12) Others   

   The employee benefits, depreciation, depletion and amortization expenses categorized by 

function were as follows:   

 By function For the Years Ended December 31, 

  2022 2021 

 
By item 

Operating 

expenses 
Operating 

expenses 

 Employee benefits   

  Salary and bonus $ 285,700   342,574  

  Labor and health insurance  15,801   15,089  

  Pension  5,890   5,280  

  Remuneration of directors  17,000   20,840  

  Others  6,979   6,318  

 Depreciation  20,475   20,006  

 Amortization  168   796  
    

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the information on the number of employees 

and employee benefit expense of the Company is as follows: 
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  2022 2021 

 Number of employees  135   127  

 Number of directors (non-employee)  8   4  

 Average employee benefit expense $ 2475   3,002  

 Average employee salary expense $ 2,250  2,785 

 Percentage of average employee salary expense         (19.21)%     

 Remuneration of Supervisors $     250     2,160 

Compensation policies are as follows: 

1. The remuneration paid to managers and emploees is divided into fixed salary and variable 

salary. Fixed salary is the monthly salary regardless of a profit or loss. Variable salary is 

the compensation granted to employees, business development reward and year-end 

performance bonus, and the amount depends on the Company’s profitability and 

performance review. 

2. The Company is forbidden to guide managers to pursue remuneration by engaging in 

behaviors beyond the Company’s risk, in order to seek the balance between sustainable 

operation and risk management.  

3. Remuneration paid to the Company’s directors and supervisors refers but not limits to the 

Company’s past operating performance. It shall also be adjusted depending on the 

evaluation of directors’ performance. The standards, structure and system will also be 

adjusted accordingly on the basis of the payment level of same industry and other listed 

company to achieve the balance between sustainable operation and risk management.  

(13) Other disclosures:   

(A) Information on significant transactions   

The following is the information on significant transactions required by the “ Regulations 

Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers” for the Company for 

the year ended December 31, 2022: 

(i) Financing provided：None 

(ii) Guarantees and endorsements provided:   
 

 

No. 

(Note 1) 

Name of the 

company 

Counter-party of 

guarantee and 

endorsement 

Limits on 

Endorsements

/ guarantee 

amount 

provided to 

each  

guarantee 

party 

Maximum 

Balance for 

the Period 

Ending 

Balance for 

the Period 

Actual 

drawdown 

Property 

pledged on 

guarantees 

and 

endorsement 

Ratio of accumulated 

amounts of guarantees 

and 

endorsements to net 

worth of the latest 

financial statements 

Maximum 

amount for 

guarantees 

and 

endorsements 

Parent 

company 

endorses/ 

guarantees to 

third parties 

on behalf of 

subsidiary 

Subsidiary 

endorses/ 

guarantees to 

third parties 

on behalf of 

parent 

company 

Endorsements/ 

guarantees to 

third parties on 

behalf of 

companies in 

Mainland 

China 

 

 

Name 

 

Relationship 

with the 

Company 

  0  The 

Company  

Topco 

Shanghai  

sub-subsidiary  903,533   124,840  -  -   -   -%   2,258,833  

(Note2) 

 v   -   v  

  〃   〃  Topco 

Guang 

Zhou  

〃  903,533   124,840  -  -   -   -%   2,258,833  

(Note 2) 

 v   -   v  

               

Note 1: The Company’s endorsement/guarantee amount limit to a single business shall not exceed 20% of the Company’s net worth in the latest financial 

statements; the total amount of external endorsement/ guarantee shall not exceed 50% of the Company’s net worth in the latest financial 

statements. 
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(iii) Information regarding securities held at balance sheet date (excluding investment in 

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures):    
 

Name of 

holder 

Category and name of 

security 

Relationship with 

the Company Account title 

Ending balance  

 
Number of 

Shares/ Units Book value 

Percentage of 

shares 

 

Fair value  

 

Note 

 The Company Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. 

(Shin-Etsu Taiwan) 

N/A Noncurrent Financial assets 

at fair value through other 

comprehensive income - 

 1,520   362,201   6.67   362,201   

 〃 Miho International Cosmetic Co., 

Ltd. (Miho International) 

〃 〃  756   6,713  

_________       

 0.82   6,713  

         368,914      

Note: Dissolution on 2020.10.28 

 (iv) Accumulated buying/selling of the same marketable securities for which the dollar 

amount reaches $300 million or 20% or more of paid-in capital: None. 

(v) Acquisition of real estate for which the dollar amount reaches $300 million or 20% or 

more of paid-in capital : None.    

(vi) Disposition of real estate for which the dollar amount reaches $300 million or 20% or 

more of paid-in capital: None.    

(vii) Buying/selling products with the dollar amount reaches $100 million or 20% or more of 

paid-in capital 

 
    Name of 

company 
Name of 

Counter-p

arty 

  

Transaction details Transaction details 

Abnormal 

Transaction 

Notes and accounts 

receivables (payables) 
 

 

 

 

Relationship Purchase

/ Sale 
 

Amount 

Percentage 

of total 

purchases/ 

sales 

 

Credit 

period 

 
Unit price 

 

Credit 

period 

 

 
Balance 

Percentage 

of total 

accounts/ 

notes 

receivable 

(payable) 

Notes 

 The 

Company 
Shin-Etsu 

Taiwan 
The company is a subsidiary of 

the Company’s corporate 

director, 

Subsidiaries of Shin-Etsu 

Chemical Co., Ltd. 

Purchase 2,438,918 83% Open account 

30~60 days 
Not 

applicable 
Not applicable (267,604) (89)%  

  Topco 

HongKong 
Parent-sub-subsidiary company (Sales) (153,895) (4)% Open account 

105 days 

Not 

applicabl 

Not applicabl 6,318 1%  

 〃 Topco 

Shanghai 
〃 (Sales) (223,886) (6)% Open account 

105 day 

Not 

applicable 
Not applicable 22,905 3 %  

 Topco 

Shanghai 
Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai 
The parent company of Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai is a corporate director of 

the parent company of Topco 

Shanghai. 

Purchase 1,141,717 62% Open account 

30 days 
〃 〃 (85,627) (58)%  

 〃 The 

Company 
Parent-subsidiary company Purchase  223,886  12% Open account 

105 days 
〃 〃 (22,905) (16)%  

 TopcoGuang 

Zhou 

 

Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai 
The parent company of Shin-Etsu 

Shanghai is a corporate director of 

the parent company of Topco Guang 

Zhou 

Purchase 909,505 74% Open account 

30 days 
〃 〃 (59,732) (73)%  

 Topco Hong 

Kong 

 

Shin-Etsu 

Hong Kong 
The parent company of Shin-Etsu 

Hong Kong is a corporate director of 

the parent company of Topco Hong 

Kong 

Purchase 306,285 41% Open account 

60 days 
〃 〃 (29,921) (64)%  

 〃 The 

Company 
Parent-subsidiary company Purchase 153,895 21% Open account 

105 days 
〃 〃 (6,318) (14)%  

 PT. Topco Shin-Etsu 

Singapore  
The parent company of Shin-Etsu 

Singapore is a corporate director of 

the parent company of PT. Topco 

Purchase 119,822 44% Open account 

30 days 
〃 〃 (7,276) (48)%  

             

(viii) Account receivables from related parties reached $ 100 million or 20% of paid in capitals 

or more: None.    

(ix) Derivative transactions: Please refer to Note 6 (b) for related information.    
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(B) Information on investees：    

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the following is the information on investees 

(excluding investees in Mainland China)： 
Foreign currency unit: in thousand 

 

Name of the 

investor 

Name of 

investee 

 

Major 

operations 

Initial investment 

amount Ending balance 

Net income 

of the 

investees in 

current 

period 

Investment 

income 

recognized 

in current 

period 

 

 

Location 

Ending 

balance 

Beginning 

balance 

Shares (in 

thousands) 

Percentage 

(%) Book value Remarks 

 
The Company 

Topco 

America 
Cayman 

Islands 
Holdings 

overseas 
 642,120   642,120  22,260 100 3,362,930  248,939   248,939  Note 1, 2 

 
〃 Topglow Taichung 

Import and 

export trading 
 82,258   82,258  9,146 65  261,327  23,343   15,250  Note 1 

 

〃 
Topco 

Engineering 

Co., Ltd. 

Taipei 

Interior 

Decorator and 

General 

Engineering  

7,000 7,000 700 70    7,449 117 82 Note 1 

 

Topco 

America 

Topco Hong 

Kong 
Hong Kong 

Merchandising 

business of 

chemical 

material related 

products 

 100,115  

(USD3,260) 

 90,237  

(USD3,260) 
- 100  752,775      83,656   82,960  Note 1 

 
Topglow Top Glory Belize 

Import and 

export trading 
 1,537   1,537  50 100   22,296 (11)  (11)  Note 1 

 

Topco Hong 

Kong PT. Topco Indonesia 

Merchandising 

business of 

chemical 

material related 

products 

 50,672  

(USD1,650) 

 34,600  

(USD1,250) 
- 100   94,837     31,600  31,600  Note 1, 3  

 

〃 
Topco 

Vietnam 
Vietnam 

Merchandising 

business of 

chemical 

material related 

products 

 24,568  

(USD800) 

 22,144  

(USD800) 
- 100   73,185  22,485  22,485 Note 1 

             
Note 1: Subsidiaries with controlling power. 
Note 2: Original investment amount includes the reinvestment amount of US$ 1,600,000 with the cash dividends distributed from Topco Hong Kong. 
Note 3: PT.Topco considers the requirements of Indonesia. The 0.04% shareholding in obtaining PT.Topco’s equity was held with the name of a third 

party. Topco Hong Kong signed a contract with the third party, in which the rights and obligations of the both parties are listed, to protect asset 
safety. 

Note 4: The NTD amount in this table is transformed with the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 

(C) Information on investment in Mainland China:   

(i) Related information of the business invested in Mainland China:   
Foreign currency unit: in thousand 

Name of the 

investee in 

Mainland China 

 

Major 

operations 

Paid-in 

capital 

Investment 

method 

Cumulative 

investment 

amount from 

Taiwan in 

the beginning 

of the period 

Current 

remittance/ 

recoverable 

investment 

(amount) 

Ending remittance 

balance - Cumulative 

investment 

(amount) from 

Taiwan 

 

Net income 

(loss) of the 

investee 

Shareholding 

ratio directly or 

indirectly held 

by the Company 

Investment gain 

(loss) recognized 

in the current 

period (Note 2) 

Book value of 

investment at 

end of the 

period 

Accumulated 

Inward 

Remittance of 

Earnings 

Remittance 

amount 

Recoverable 

amount 

Remittance 

amount 

Recoverable 

amount 

Topco Shanghai Merchandising 

business of 

chemical 

material related 

products 

   353,165 

(USD11,500) 

(Note 4) Note 1 

 240,816

 (USD8,700) 

-  -   267,177  

(USD8,700) 

 105,427 

(USD3,537) 

 100 %  105,569

 (USD3,542) 

 1,338,129

 (USD45,201) 

    30,601  

Topco Guang Zhou 〃    353,165 

(USD11,500) 

(Note 5) 

〃 
 240,816

 (USD8,700) 

-  -   267,177 

       (USD8,700) 

 60,517  

(USD2,030) 

 100 %  60,410

 (USD2,027) 

      1,227,085

   (USD39,957) 

     - 

Note7 

Topglow Shanghai Import and 

export trading 
15,355 

(USD500) Note 6 
13,840 

(USD500) 
 -   -  

 15,355 

    (USD500) 
 6,518  65 % 6,518  46,232 

 -  

             

Note 1：Direct investment in Mainland China with remittance through a third region. 

Note 2：Recorded per audited financial statements of the investees. 

Note 3：The NTD amount in this table is transformed with the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 

Note 4：Includes the capitalization of retained earnings of USD2,000,000 and the reinvestment of the stock dividends of USD800,000 distributed by 

Topco Hong Kong (in Hong Kong area) via the third region investment business, Topco America. 

Note 5：Includes the capitalization of retained earnings of USD2,000,000 and the reinvestment of the stock dividends of USD800,000 distributed by 

Topco Hong Kong (in Hong Kong area) via the third region investment business, Topco America.  

Note 6：The investee company of Topglow established with its own funds. 

Note 7：The boards of Topco Guang Zhou resolve to pay cash dividend CNY 8,214,000 to Topco America in November 2022.As the balance sheet date the inward has not 

completed,booked on other financial asset-current 32,749.  
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(ii) Limitation on investment in Mainland China:    

 

Company Name 

Accumulated balance from Taiwan 

to 

Mainland China 

Approved investment amount by 

Ministry of Economic Affairs 

Investment Commission 

Limitation on investment in Mainland China 

in accordance with regulations of Ministry of 

Economic Affairs Investment Commission 

The Company 
       534,354    

(USD 17,400,000) 

     583,490  

(USD 19,000,000) 

( Note 2) 

2,710,599 

Topglow 
15,355 

(USD 500,000) 

30,710 

(USD 1,000,000) 
240,006 

    

Note 1:The NTD amount in this table is transformed with the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 

Note 2: Includes the reinvestment of the stock dividends distributed by Topco Hong Kong (in Hong Kong area) via the third region investment 

business, Topco America. The amount for the subsidiary of subsidiary in Mainland China is USD 1,600,000. 

(iii) Significant transactions:     

The significant inter-company transactions with the subsidiary in Mainland China, 

which were eliminated in the preparation of consolidated financial statements, are 

disclosed in “Information on significant transactions”. 

(D) Major shareholders: 
 
Shareholding 

Shareholder’s Name 
Shares Percentage 

TOPCO G & D CORP. 16,631,136 22.45% 

Note1: The table discloses shareholding information of shareholders whose shareholding percentage is more than 5%. The Taiwan Depository & Clearing 

Corporation (TDCC) calculates the total number of ordinary shares and special shares (including treasury shares) that have completed the 

dematerialized registration and delivery on the last business day of the quarter. The share capital reported in the Topco’s consolidated financial 

statements and the actual number of shares that have completed the dematerialized registration and delivery may be different due to difference in the 

basis of calculation.  

Note 2: As table above, the shareholder who delivers the shares to the trust is disclosed by the individual trustee who opened the trust account. In accordance 

with the Securities Exchange Act, the shareholders have to disclose the insider equity more than 10% of the shares, include their own shares and their 

delivery to the trust and have the right to make decisions on the trust property. Information on insider equity declaration is available on the Market 

Observation Post System website. 

(14) Segment Information   

Please refer to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,2022.


